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Preface

“Mr. President, I love the Senate,” Senator Edward E. (Ted) Kaufman began his farewell
address on the Senate floor. “It is not always a beautiful thing, and surely it is not a picture of a
well-oiled machine, but years ago I found a home here.” Kaufman had a long and unusual career
with the Senate, having served for 22 years on the staff of Senator Joseph Biden—19 of those
years as chief of staff—and then succeeding him to spend two years as a United States senator
from Delaware. Those experiences as staff and as a member gave him a unique perspective on
the Senate as an institution.

Ted Kaufman was born in Philadelphia on March 15, 1939, the son of Manuel and Helen
Carroll Kaufman. He attended school in Philadelphia and Washington, D.C., and graduated with
a degree in engineering from Duke University. In 1960 he married a fellow student, Lynne Mayo,
and took a job with American Standard Industrial Division, working in North Carolina. Then he
attended the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, where he earned an M.B.A. in
1966. A job with the DuPont Company brought him to Wilmington, Delaware.

In 1970 he became involved in Delaware Democratic politics to manage the campaign for
a candidate for county executive. He soon met county council member Joseph R. Biden. Jr., who,
although not yet 30 years old, was planning to run for the U.S. Senate in 1972. Biden’s sister
Valerie served as his campaign manager and recruited Kaufman to work in their uphill fight
against the incumbent Republican senator J. Caleb Boggs. Biden proved to be an extraordinary
campaigner. Going against the tide of Richard Nixon’s landslide reelection that November,
Biden upset Boggs to win the Senate seat. A month later, the senator-elect suffered a devastating
blow when his wife and infant daughter were killed and his two sons injured in an automobile
accident. At first uncertain about whether or not to enter the Senate, Biden eventually took his
oath as a senator in a hospital room in Delaware. From then on he commuted almost daily
between Washington and Delaware to spend as much time as he could with his sons.

Ted Kaufman took a one-year leave of absence from DuPont to join Biden’s staff in the
home state office—which turned into a 22-year career on the staff. In 1976 Kaufman became
Senator Biden’s chief of staff , commuting regularly with the senator, both by car and train. Over
the years, as Biden advanced in seniority on the Senate Judiciary and Foreign Relations
Committees, Kaufman became immersed in a multitude of issues relating to these committees,
from Supreme Court nominations to matters of war and peace. In 1987 Kaufman took a role in
Senator Biden’s campaign for the Democratic presidential nomination. When that campaign
ended in controversy, Senator Biden returned to chair the hearings on the nomination of Robert
Bork to be a justice of the Supreme Court. In 1988 Biden underwent surgery for two brain
aneurysms that temporarily sidelined him from the Senate, with Kaufman keeping his office in
operation.
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At the end of December 1994 Ted Kaufman retired from the Senate staff and took a
variety of positions, including appointment to the Broadcasting Board of Governors and teaching
a course on Congress at the Duke Law School. He returned to work on Senator Biden’s
campaigns for reelection, and in 2008 once again joined Biden’s presidential campaign. Although
Biden withdrew from the race after the lowa caucuses, he was tapped to run for vice president on
the ticket headed by Illinois senator Barack Obama. Kaufman once again became part of the
campaign, and after the Obama-Biden ticket was elected, he served on the transition team.

On November 24, 2008, Delaware governor Ruth Ann Minner announced that she was
appointing Ted Kaufman to fill the vacancy created by Senator Biden’s resignation. He took the
oath of office on January 15, 2009, and made it clear that he would not run in the special election
scheduled for November 2010. Instead of campaigning, he devoted himself to Senate service.

Opening during the “great recession,” the 111th Congress faced critical issues of restoring
the economy, regulating the financial excesses that had caused the collapse, and reforming the
nation’s healthcare system. Democrats held a large majority in the House of Representatives and
60 seats in the Senate, which enabled them to invoke cloture and limit debate. The Republican
minority opposed the president’s initiatives, making it essential for the Democrats to remain
united, which promoted debate and compromise within the Senate’s Democratic Conference. In
January 2010 Republican Scott Brown won a special election to fill the late Senator Edward M.
Kennedy’s seat, costing the Democrats their 60th vote.

In this dramatic setting, Ted Kaufman combined a brief career as a senator with a long
Senate perspective. In his oral history, conducted in the offices of a law firm in Wilmington,
Delaware, he recounts the ways in which the Senate operates, the relationships between senators,
and the influence of civility and partisanship on the institution. He also discusses the rules and
procedures of the Senate that were so much in contention during the 111th Congress. In his
farewell address he described the history of the Senate as “a struggle between compromise and
intransigence.” Senators were often frustrated by the Senate’s slower pace and when good bills
were blocked for the wrong reasons, but he pointed out that the Senate served a different
constitutional purpose from the majority-rule House, for the Senate was designed to insure that
the “fast train of majority” did not overrun the minority. “I love the Senate,” he concluded, “and I
will always cherish the unlikely opportunity I had to serve Delaware as its Senator.”
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About the Interviewer: Donald A. Ritchie is Historian of the Senate. A graduate of the City
College of New York, he received his Ph.D. in history from the University of Maryland. His
books include James M. Landis: Dean of the Regulators (Harvard University Press, 1980), Press
Gallery: Congress and the Washington Correspondents (Harvard, 1991), The Oxford Guide to
the United States Government (Oxford University Press, 2001), Reporting from Washington: The
History of the Washington Press Corps (Oxford, 2005), Electing FDR: The New Deal Campaign
of 1932 (University Press of Kansas, 2007); and The U.S. Congress: A Very Short Introduction
(Oxford 2010). He served as president of the Oral History Association and of Oral History in the
Mid-Atlantic Region (OHMAR), and received OHMAR's Forrest C. Pogue Award for
distinguished contributions to the field of oral history.
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ENGINEERING, BUSINESS, AND POLITICS
Interview #1
Wednesday Morning, August 17, 2011

RITCHIE: I wanted to start at the beginning. I note that you were born in
Philadelphia, and I wondered if you could tell your childhood in Philadelphia. What was
your family like?

KAUFMAN: Let me start with my present family. Lynne and I are truly blessed.
First are our three daughters, Kelly, Murry and Meg. They have grown into wonderful
people and three of our best friends. They also married three men we could not love
more. Kelly met Fritz Lance at Dickinson College. They live outside of Baltimore, and
have two daughters Ginna who went to Penn and Kirsten who went to Dickinson. We are
very lucky that they both now live and work in Washington and we see them a lot. Murry
went to Duke and met her husband Matt Pierce, a Michigan State graduate, when she was
working for General Electric and he was designing cars. They live in Birmingham,
Michigan and have two children; Natalie and Liam who we fortunately get to see a lot.
Our third daughter, Meg met her husband Tom Hartley at the University of Pennsylvania
and lives in Hammersmith outside of London. They have three children, Calvin, Martha
and Lincoln. Between our regular trips to London and their trips to the United States we
spend a lot of time together.

I was born in Philadelphia. My parents were both born and raised in Philadelphia.
My father, Manuel Kaufman, was Jewish and my mother, Helen Carroll, was Irish
Catholic. They both lived in South Philadelphia, on either side of Broad Street, and there
was no chance that they would meet each other. Back in those days, and even when I was
growing up, Philadelphia was a city of great ethnic divides, where the Italian, the Jewish,
the Irish,, the Polish, the black community, and—to the extent there was a Hispanic
community—the Hispanic community each lived in their own neighborhood (s) with
very little interaction.

They both went to the University of Pennsylvania, but didn’t meet there. They
met later on. They were both working in public assistance as social workers when they
got married. The biggest thing was that back in those days an Irish Catholic was not very
welcome in a Jewish family, and a Jew was not very welcome in an Irish Catholic family,

so it was interesting growing up with these two ethnic backgrounds.



At Penn, my mother was president of her sorority and was a big person on
campus. Interesting point, at that point the Daily Pennsylvanian, even though women had
been there for a number of years, never had a woman’s name in the newspaper. Even
though they were students there, they were never mentioned. My mother went to John W.
Hallahan Catholic Girls High School in South Philadelphia

My father went to South Philadelphia High School, and then went to Penn on a
basketball scholarship. He was six feet one-and-a-half inches which in those days made
him big enough for him to play center. He thought he may have been one of the first Jews
to play in the Ivy League. He played and started his first year, but he hurt his knee and
lost his scholarship—which is what they did back then. His picture with his team 1931-
32 is on the wall of the Penn Palestra. He went back and earned a degree in fine arts at
Penn. He then taught art in the city schools, and then returned to Penn and earned a
master’s degree in social work. He spent his career in social work and especially helping
children. He finished his career as Deputy Commissioner of Public Welfare for the City
of Philadelphia. My mother worked in a number of social work jobs and later was a
teacher in the Philadelphia City Schools. In 1942 my parents had the first of my three
wonderful sisters, Natalie Jane, who we called Lee Jane.

Philadelphia was a great middle-class or lower-middle-class place to grow up. I
spent most of my early years there. Then we moved to Washington, D.C. We lived out in
McLean Gardens, in a very nice apartment neighborhood. There were a lot of ex-military
people. This was in 1946 or ’47, or ’47 and ’48. My dad was down here working in social
work. We were there for two years. I went to Hearst Elementary School close to home.
My dad played tennis every weekend at Sidwell Friends. So I remember those years. It is
also where we were joined by my sister Helene. Then we moved back to Philadelphia.

My mother’s parents lived in a place called Logan, which is in North
Philadelphia. We moved into their house, at 1500 Ruscomb Street. This was a great
community, mostly Catholic. There was a big church, Holy Child. Just about all of my
friends were Catholic. There were mostly Irish-Americans, with a smattering everything
else. It was a great place. Kids went out after school and played in the street. Before we
moved to Washington I had attended first grade at Holy Child. Then we moved back I
went to a public school called Logan Demonstration School. It was called Logan
Demonstration School because in those days they would bring people there from around
the country and around the world to demonstrate what education was like in Philadelphia.



It was a neighborhood where everybody felt safe. It was a great place to grow up.

I went to Jay Cooke junior high school. I walked—I did not walk two miles
through the snow—I walked probably a mile or so to this school. It was a good school.
Two big things happened in 1952. One, was [ was accepted in Central High School,
which was about three miles from my home. It is the second oldest public high school in
the country. It was what they now call a magnet school; it had high entrance
requirements, and it was a great school to go to.

Second, we moved to West Mount Airy in northwest Philadelphia. Shortly
thereafter we had my third sister Susan Phyllis, who we called Suzy. A little about my
sisters. Lee Jane went to Penn and then received a PhD from the University of Virginia
and taught at the University of South Carolina for years. She and Dr. David Whiteman,
have two children Carrollee and Athey. They also have 3 grandchildren. Helene went
to Penn also and then to Bryn Mawr where she received a master’s degree in social work,
and worked for years at US AID. She and her husband John Rosenberg have a daughter,
Jessie. My youngest sister Suzy followed the family tradition and went to Penn, and
received a master’s and PhD from Penn. She is a clinical psychologist, married to Dr.
Peter Waldron, and has a daughter Miranda and a son Jacob.

I was the only member of the family who didn’t go to Penn undergraduate. My
father went to Penn and got a master’s in social work. My mother went to Penn. My three
sisters went to Penn. I’'m the only one that didn’t go to undergraduate school at Penn. I
went to Duke, but I did receive my MBA from Wharton at Penn. As I said before my
daughter, Meg and my granddaughter Ginna graduated from Penn, so we’re now four
generations that went to Penn.

Central was a great place to go to school. It was a school where you learned a lot.
It was a good academic environment. The large majority of the students were Jewish, and
there was a great deal of give-and-take of ideas, the Socratic method. It was like the polar
opposite of Japanese schools where you have rote education. There was a constant battle
between students and teachers on just about everything. It was like pitched warfare. One
of the great things about being a senator is that [ was asked to speak at Central’s annual
alumni dinner and my class’s annual alumni dinner. What I said was that never once in
my life, in all the things that I did, and all the people that I met, did I ever feel like
anyone could intellectually overpower me. Not that I was the smartest guy, and not that I



didn’t meet people that were a lot smarter than me, but coming out of that background,
you’d seen really, really smart people. | remember one time it was reported that Central,
during the period that I was there, was second, or third in the country in the number of
graduates going on to get Ph.D.’s The other two were the two in New York City. I can’t
remember the one—

RITCHIE: Stuyvesant?

KAUFMAN: Stuyvesant and Bronx High School of Science. Many of my friends
went on to get Ph.D.’s or go into law or medicine. So it was a wonderful place to go to
school. And West Mount Airy was a wonderful neighborhood. I think it was one of the
earliest racially integrated neighborhoods in Philadelphia. It stayed racially integrated. It
was again a great neighborhood. Central was a great place to go to school. It was a
wonderful experience.

RITCHIE: You had two different sides of your family, a Jewish side and a
Catholic side. How did that influence you?

KAUFMAN: Well, first off, it taught me that there’s no monopoly on prejudice.
When I was at an Irish event, like a wedding on my mother’s side of the family, there
were lots of people who were there who didn’t know I was half Jewish, and I learned that
they had certain feelings about other ethnic groups. And when I went to Jewish events, I
found out that they had pretty strong opinions about other different ethnic groups. One of
the things that I’ve tried to do in my life is try to understand—emphasis is on try—try to
understand what other people are like. Of course, it is impossible to really understand
what motivates people even if you know them for a long time. One of the important
things I learned on this was from a management consultant when I was working for
DuPont. He said that when you’re dealing with an employee do not assume you know
where they are coming from. He told the story, and it was perfect, about a manager who
had someone working for him who had great potential but he left every day at five
o’clock. The manager went to him and said, “Look, you have great potential. I’d like to
push you up the ladder to get the prestige and money and everything else. But look,
you’ve got to start staying later.” The guy says, “Sir, you have to understand, I want to be
a great professional bowler. So at five o’clock I'm going to go bowl.” So I aspire to
understand others, but I know when dealing with people it is always best to ask them

what their aspirations are and not assume you know.
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I think one of the great things coming out of that background was that I had a
head start in understanding two disparate—at that time very disparate—cultural groups.
Very distinct, very admirable in my opinion, to the extent that I picked up from them
certain talents, but that would be the big thing, to get me off on a track where I really
became fascinated by different people, different cultures. Not like studying anthropology
or sociology or anything like that, much more of a: “My name’s Jim.” “Hey, Jim, where
are you from? What have you done?” It is the ability to at least get on the same plane.
Like the old thing about maybe it’s like a baseball game analogy, I’'m not standing on
second base, but I just want to be in the right stadium. I feel that gave me a real head
start.

RITCHIE: What was it like having two parents who were social workers? How
did that influence you?

KAUFMAN: Mom stayed at home until Suzy started school and then she
became a teacher. What’s really interesting is that my parents and my three sisters all
worked in the public sector helping people—one teaching in South Carolina, one at US
AID, one a clinical psychologist, my father was a social worker, my mother was a teacher
for most of her career. I was the only one that went into the private sector. The big thing
was, how did I end up at the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania? That’s
the real question, and it came out of a lot of discussions with my Dad, who became
Deputy Commissioner of Public Welfare in Philadelphia, which is a big job and he was
in charge of all the children’s programs in Philadelphia. Somehow or other along the line,
I became kind of convinced that—and discussed with him—that a lot of people in the
business community in Philadelphia had a lot more to say about what happened with
children and those things than did my Dad. So I ended up being the only person in my
family to go into the private sector.

People say they were the first person in their family to go to college. Well, I was
not the first person in my family. One of my grandmothers, my mother’s mother, went to
college. So I’'m nothing new about that, but the one thing that I’'m different about is that
there’s nobody that I knew in my family that ever obtained an engineering or science
degree—one of the big things that I worked on in the Senate was promoting Science,
Technology, Engineering, and Math education, and I still do to this day as Co-Chair of
the Delaware STEM education council. [ was the only person in my family to go into

engineering or science.



RITCHIE: Well, that’s the question. What led your towards engineering?

KAUFMAN: At those days at Central, many of the really smart kids went into
the sciences or went to medical school. Some became lawyers. Business was—back then
many of the people who went into business said, “I couldn’t do anything else, so I went
to business school.” Which has totally flipped since the *50s. I made my decision before
Sputnik, but you could tell there was a technology boom coming. Another thing was I
was 17 years old! Even then when you’re 17 it’s like what looks good, “Okay, what’s the
big challenge? I'm going to show the world I’m smart.” I made the basic decision that I
was going to be an engineer, which makes no real rational sense. And then, to top it off, |
decided not to go to Penn but to go away to school. The reason for that is that at Penn the
tuition and fees were $850 and at Duke the tuition and fees and room were $650. I had a
great family, I always had great relations with my parents. I’ve always said my father and
my mother were the nicest people I’ve ever known. So I wasn’t in a rebellious stage or
anything like that, but for some reason I just felt it was time for me to get out of
Philadelphia. That’s when I went to Duke.

I’m sure part of that was engineering, but in a rebellion like you see in the
movies, or a rebellion most people have with their kids where they are trying to prove
something. Maybe | was trying to prove something, I don’t know, but I got interested in
the south. My father had a woman who worked for him whose grandmother was still
alive and was from Franklin, Tennessee. So I went down to visit her grandmother, and
she told me all about the civil war and the battle of Franklin. I’ve read since that more
people were killed per capita than any other battle up until that time. At one time there
were five confederate generals lying on her mother’s porch. It was the south, and I was
interested in the Civil War. So that’s why I went to Duke. I had never visited Duke.

The first time I went to Duke I got on the train in Philadelphia and rode 13 hours
to show up for the first day of class. But I had never visited and I never knew anyone
who went there. When I got down there, I found one other student at Duke that went to
Central that I met, that I bumped into. He was a senior when I was a freshman. So that’s
how I got to Duke and that’s how I got into engineering.

RITCHIE: Well, Durham is a lot different environment than Philadelphia. What
was it like going to the South in the *50s?



KAUFMAN: You know, it’s a terrible thing, and I’m sure that anybody who’s
my age or around my age can really understand how institutionalized segregation was. |
went to Duke, which was a good school, and the only African Americans that [ saw were
the maids that came and made our beds very morning. I was not involved with the black
community at all—I mean at all. It was really later in the 60s that the demonstrations
started and things like that. So I just lived in a white world, much like I lived in in
Philadelphia. I lived in a very ethnically divided environment, which was the way things
were back then, not just in the South but in the North. One of the things that I found out
early was that, the kids at Duke who were most prejudiced, the kids who regularly used
the N word were the kids from the North and not from the South. I learned that many of
the kids from the South had been raised in small towns, where they did know the black
community, because they were just small towns where everybody knew each other and
they interacted. It didn’t mean there weren’t problems, because there were, big problems.
But my friends from the North, they by and large had never met a black person. We
didn’t play sports against African Americans. It was totally insulated.

Durham, even though probably because of the university was there one of the
more, | wouldn’t say liberal but I’d say left of center places. But Durham was also the
headquarters for the Ku Klux Klan in North Carolina at that time, at least eastern North
Carolina. I can remember them demonstrating. But it was different. After I left Duke and
went back and lived in North Carolina for four years, 1960 to 1964, I saw a lot more.
That was a period when there was a lot going on and we had demonstrations and they
passed the Civil Rights Act in 1964. My wife tells the story, she went to Duke and was a
year behind me, that she and her friends went to a Fats Domino concert at the Armory in
Durham. I don’t think that I went, but I think some of my friends went to other different
events like this one. But the way it worked then, this was in 1956 or ’57, the African
Americans would be on the ground floor and the whites would be in the balcony.
Everything was segregated.

It was a southern experience in that there were a number of students there who
were clearly from the South, but I had four roommates while I was there—the first year, I
had one for my freshman year, he flunked out; I had one for my sophomore year, he
flunked out; I had one for my junior year, he flunked out; in my senior year my
roommate graduated. One of my roommates was from Memphis, Tennessee. Again, it
was a great experience to meet people from the South. It’s one of the things that enriched
my life. We are a much less of a regional society now. Everybody reads the same books



and watches the same TV shows. But back then there really were dramatic regional
differences in culture and the way people approached problems. I’'m not talking about
just the racial problem, I’'m talking about all the other problems. Clearly there were big
differences in racial problems, too, although again I have to say that many of the super-
prejudiced students were from the North. But it was fascinating. I spent four years at
Duke and then four more years in North Carolina, and I learned a lot about people in the
South.

RITCHIE: If you had three roommates that flunked out, was Duke a pretty
intense place?

KAUFMAN: Yeah. It was very different than it is now. And this is not just
Duke— I've had friends at other universities who tell exactly the same stories. That is,
they had an auditorium at Duke and at the first orientation meeting for freshman we had,
I don’t know whether it was the president or the dean of students or whoever got up there
and said, “Look to your right, look to your left, and after a while if they’re here you
won’t be.” Now over the years, it’s hard to get into the university, but once you get in
you can stay. When I was in college lots of students flunked courses and flunked out. We
had students—there was a big band leader called Les Brown whose son went to Duke. He
flunked out by Thanksgiving of his freshman year. At the end of two months he was
gone. In engineering, especially, you really had the feeling that it was a hurdle. You were
going to learn a lot but they were going to put hurdles up to weed people out. And they
weeded a lot of people out. One of my best friends from high school went to the
University of Virginia, and then the University of Virginia had to accept anybody who
graduated from a University of Virginia accredited high school. He said they sent droves
of people home after the first report period. So the university was a different kind of
experience, and Duke was insistent about that. Getting in was a ticket of admission but as
demonstrated by my three roommates—they were not dumbos, they were smart fellows,
but it was a tough school. I'm sure it wasn’t as tough as going to MIT or something like
that, by any means, but a lot of students did leave.

RITCHIE: What kind of engineering were you studying?
KAUFMAN: I majored in mechanical engineering. When I was in the Senate I

met with a lot of engineering groups and I used to tell them a story, to put in context my
remarks, I said that in engineering school back in those days, every student had to take a



year of engineering drawing. Engineering drawing used to use this linen paper. You’d lay
it out and they’d give you this package of tools that you needed to use to put the ink
down on the linen paper. They had a way to make lines, circles and squares and spirals.
But the heart of the matter was a pen—they didn’t have pens like they have now—it
wasn’t quite a quill pen but it was something like a quill pen with two metal pieces at the
end. What you had to do was you had a little container of ink with a sharp fine-point on
it. You put a drop of ink between the two metal pieces and you had to draw all your lines
that way, whether you were using a compass or whatever you were using, that’s the way
you did it. Well, if you just made the littlest jot the ink drop would come out and you had
ruined the paper. At the year, it may have been a semester but I seem to remember you
had to take a year of it. It was a laboratory class and I think it met once a week for three
hours in the afternoon. We were getting ready to end the class and the teacher says,
“Everybody go, I want to talk to Kaufman.” I went up and said, “Yes, sir?” He said,
“You’re awful. But I’ll tell you what, ’'m going to give you a D, but there’s a condition.”
I said, “What’s the condition?” I was so pleased I was getting a D! He said, “You can
never tell anybody that you ever took this course with me.” And that’s the honest to God
truth. He gave me a D.

The first year I was there, just to show how different it was, I was an engineer and
I'was in Air Force ROTC. Air Force ROTC took the normal class and then held a drill
once a week. Because of the science labs, a freshman engineer at about any school back
then was going to class something like 28 to 30 hours a week. It was very different than it
is now. And they had changed from a program where freshmen engineers took chemistry
and physics, they decided that year it would be better to flip and have freshmen take
physics and then chemistry. What that meant was in the physics classes that year—and
everything in engineering was done on a curve, and on a curve where so many students
had to flunk—in that mix were freshmen engineers, sophomore engineers, physics
majors, and then some pre-meds, like third-year and fourth-year pre-med, and then some
science majors and math majors. Well, you can take a look at that bundle and figure out
who was going to be at the bottom of the pile, and it really was the bottom of the pile! In
fact, a number of students that later graduated flunked physics right out of the box and
had to take physics all over again. So it was tough and we lost a lot of students in
engineering in the first year.

Now, the one thing that—I don’t know if this was determinative for me, but I

know it was a factor in all the engineers’ minds, was that at that point, to graduate from



Duke in anything but engineering you needed three years of a foreign language. So if you
got to your sophomore or junior year and decided you didn’t want to be an engineer
anymore, you had to figure out how you were going to take three years of a language. So
it was an incredible disincentive to leave engineering once you got to the end of your
sophomore year. [ don’t know if that’s the reason why I finished. I don’t think so. Again,
I'was 17 to 21 and ’'m going to accomplish this, to finish this. And I’'m glad I did. There
are parts of engineering that I really was fascinated with and enjoyed. But it was a hard,
tough slough.

The other thing about Duke was that [ used to come home at Thanksgiving and at
Easter, and Penn used to be still cold, you’d be indoors, while at Duke, come March
you’d walk down the Quad and the sun would be shining and the music would be
blasting. Every weekend there was a party—a very different kind of a party than there is
now, from what I understand, but the same in that there was a lot of drinking. No drugs,
but it is a miracle that more students were not killed. Just about everyone was driving
drunk. It was a tough place to study in that great weather, especially if you were doing
labs every afternoon. It was more of a southern tradition than it was in the North, there
was a lot of socializing. I always fall back on that saying that there’s more to education
than just what you learn in the classroom. I really believe that I learned a lot at Duke not

in a classroom.

The other problem was that coming out of Central I had such a good education.
They didn’t have Advanced Placement back then—at least I don’t remember them having
it—but I had a big advantage in that my high school chemistry and physics and math
classes were much more advanced that what most of the other students had received. So
my freshman year wasn’t as hard as it was for the other students because I had covered
most of this ground before. So I developed a lot of very bad study habits. I like to
rationalize—one of my favorite sayings is “Never underestimate the ability of the human
mind to rationalize”—so I don’t know whether this is just rationalization, but I felt I
learned a lot at Duke even thought I did not receive great grades. However, I also learned
a lot at Wharton and received excellent grades.

RITCHIE: Later on, you were distinct from a lot of senators who had law

degrees and came from different backgrounds. Do you think engineering trained you to
think differently?
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KAUFMAN: Absolutely. Engineering is really fascinating, and the classic is |
worked for 22 years with non-scientist Joe Biden. I think if you ask him, he’ll say the
same thing, that we were kind of right-side of the brain/left-side of the brain team. 'm
more left side of the brain — a scientist, and Joe Biden is more of the right side - a poet.
That’s what he used to say, and that was really true. We would approach many of the
same problems differently. And remember, he was on the Judiciary Committee for
practically his whole career, and he was ranking member or chairman of the Judiciary
Committee for a lot of that time, plus there were a lot of lawyers on the staff. They took a
legal approach. They were interested in the logical approach but seasoned by experience
of how human beings behave. In law school you clearly learn a lot of laws and rules and
take courses where you learn precedent and how judges have ruled and probably will
rule. Tough courses like torts, intellectual property, constitutional law and many others.
But there is also a lot of work on individual cases which introduces human or more
irrational considerations. My experience in business school was very much like law
school. Engineering was all rules. It was all laws. It was all rational. I’'m not using
irrational as a pejorative. 'm just saying when you do engineering you start out with a
formula, and then you work out the formula the same way you do in mathematics. It’s a
very numbers, rational, logical approach. That doesn’t mean you come up with the right
answer, or it’s a better way to get to an answer, but many times you end up with the same

answer but you come at it from a very different way.

My experience in dealing with other senators, with staff, and with others was I
brought a different view to many of the discussions, a different approach. That being
said, when I became a senator one of the questions I was asked in practically all my early
media interviews was: “Where are you going to be different from Joe Biden?” I said, “I
don’t know”. I spent time trying to think about that because I was getting asked that
question a lot. Loads of people asked me, but I could not think of an issue where we
differed. I would say, that” I am sure over these two years there will be something I
disagree with him on.” But it really never happened. A lot of it, I like to think that over
all those years with him it was a collaborative effort. He was definitely the person in
charge. He was definitely driving the show. And he was where we ended up. But he and I
many, many times—I mean even to this day, if you give us a problem, we will not start
out in the same place. If it’s a problem we’ve already covered, and we talked about,
that’s different. But if it’s a whole new area, where all of a sudden we start talking about
Zanzibar. If Zanzibar becomes an important place. What should we do about Zanzibar?
We’d be guided by some overriding shared principles about what we should do about
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foreign policy, but by and large we’d start at different places.

What was extraordinary, truly extraordinary, was how many times not just Joe
Biden but other lawyers that I dealt with and I ended up at the same place. As you know,
since 1991 I’ve been teaching at the Duke Law School, as one of the many things I’'m
doing, teaching lawyers. So to answer your question, yes, engineers and lawyers really do
start out in a very different place. That doesn’t mean they end up with a different solution
to problems.

RITCHIE: The two most famous engineers in politics were Herbert Hoover and
Jimmy Carter. Both were brilliant men but they had a lot of problems in office, I think
because they thought the political world was going to be more rational than it was, or that
the solutions were going to be more rational.

KAUFMAN: Idon’t know about that. Let me put it this way: China is run by
engineers. I don’t know if you know that. The top management in China, I think two of
the last three leaders have come from Tsinghua University, which is China’s best
engineering school, not Peking University (which is Beijing University but they call it
Peking University). You look at Harvard and MIT, Tsinghua University is China’s MIT
and Peiking University is China’s Harvard. Their major leaders are not from Peking
University, they’re from Tsinghua. So I don’t know. We were very close to Jimmy
Carter. Joe Biden was the first elected official outside of Georgia to endorse Jimmy
Carter—when nobody endorsed Jimmy Carter. Nobody endorsed Jimmy Carter until long
after Joe Biden did in terms of that campaign. I like to think that I was a pretty good
manager, and I’m an engineer. Jimmy Carter just turned out to be a very poor manager,
in my opinion. But there are all kinds of stories about Jimmy Carter, and of course
Herbert Hoover ended up not doing well, but there are just way too many incredibly
successful engineering managers in U S industry to not believe that engineers make as
good managers as lawyers. In fact, there are some people who think the reason the
automobile business went in the toilet was because of hiring accountants and lawyers to
run the major automobile companies instead of having engineers run them. It was
interesting being on senate staff with very few scientist or engineers it was even more
interesting being the only engineer in the Senate.

RITCHIE: You mentioned earlier that you were in Air Force ROTC. Did you
have to do any reserve duty?
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KAUFMAN: No, what happened was [ was in it for two years, and then I
couldn’t schedule it. When I got to my junior year, I had failed a course in the first two
years and in order to make it up, it didn’t fit with the Air Force ROTC schedule. So I
gave up ROTC only because I couldn’t fit it into my schedule.

RITCHIE: The draft was still on at that stage, right?

KAUFMAN: No, not really. I graduated from Duke in 1960 and no one was
being drafted. The other thing was when I graduated it was a tough economic period.
There weren’t a whole lot of jobs. I did not have a distinguished undergraduate record.
So I had decided—because of Air Force ROTC I was interested in flying—I had decided
I wanted to fly. I signed up to go to Pensacola as a naval aviator. [ went through all the
paperwork to go, and was accepted. Then I got a call from the Placement Office at Duke
in August. They said, “There’s an outfit looking for an engineer. They want to hire you.
You’d do engineering work but you’d be working with consultants and architects and
folks like that.” So I interviewed for the job. They were going to give me an expense
account. They were going to give me a company car. So, [ went to the navy and I said,
“Look, can I put this off for a year or do I have to go through all this again?” “No, no,
you can put it off. If you want to put it off for a year, that’s okay.”

So I went to work for American Standard Industrial Division and found it really
challenging and enjoyable and never went back. But at the time no one was being
drafted. In 1961 Kennedy first introduced the Green Berets into Vietnam, and shortly
after that the real draft started. By the time I was married and had two children.

RITCHIE: So you got married right out of college?

KAUFMAN: Yes, I was married right out of college, exactly right. Best thing I
ever did. Lynne Mayo and I were married in Durham and then I went to work in Detroit,
Michigan for the American Standard Industrial Division. Lynne stayed at Duke for her
last year. I went to work in a six-month training program in Detroit. This company made
two main groups of products. One was power plant equipment for big electric power
plants, like electrostatic precipitators to take the pollutants out of the emissions, and
mechanical draft fans, and other power plant equipment. Then the second piece of the
business was equipment for commercial heating and air conditioning. What I did was to

meet with the contractors, consultants, and architects and tried to convince them that our
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equipment was the best equipment to put in their power plant or hospital, or new
building. The six-month training program in Dearborn, Michigan, was pretty intense, and
then I moved to Charlotte, North Carolina. I was there for two years. I traveled mostly in
western North Carolina.. The engineering part of it was very interesting. I found the
business part of it fascinating. I liked sales. I met some incredibly interesting people.

The biggest excitement while we were in Charlotte was that our daughter, Kelly
was born. We really enjoyed Charlotte. We lived in a community called Selwyn Village
with about 200 couples who had just graduated from college and were starting families.

But after two years the company decided they wanted to branch out and do more
in eastern North Carolina. They asked me to open an office in eastern North Carolina,
which I did. I opened an office in Raleigh, North Carolina. It was just a one-person
office. We moved to Raleigh and I spent the next two years in Raleigh. At the end of our
stay our excitement was that our second daughter, Murry was born. We enjoyed Raleigh
every bit as much as Charlotte. We bought our first home, and traveled regularly to
Durham for football and basketball.

While I was doing that, I found that I was really enjoying business. I also realized
that the engineering part of it was good to have, but to really make the right decisions,
which I thought were incredibly interesting, complex decisions about business, you really
had to know something about business. So I decided to go back and get an MBA. We
lived in Raleigh and the University of North Carolina then had a program in close by
Chapel Hill, where you could get an MBA in a year. I had two kids, and so I figured I
could take a year off and go back there. Then, in one of those things you do, I thought,
“Well, if I'm going to business school, and everybody in my family, except me, had gone
to Penn, I ought to apply to Wharton”. So I did and was accepted. Then it was one of
those things that makes life decisions so interesting - that is the safe choice versus the
road untraveled. I was saying to myself, “Oh my God, if I pass up going to Wharton, and
I’'m really interested in this stuff, it’s going to be a nightmare. If I pass that up, will I
regret that for the rest of my life?” In the end Lynne and I decided that we’d take our two
children and go back to graduate school at Penn. That’s how I got to the University of
Pennsylvania.

I took a very different approach to Wharton than I had at Duke. After all I had
worked for 4 years in the interim and I was married with a family. I took the whole

14



experience on as if it was a job. No matter what time my class started, I commuted first
thing in the morning and except for time off for exercise or squash, I worked the whole
time. I logged a lot of time in the Van Pelt library. I never missed one class during the
whole time. I thought every class they handed out lessons for life, dollar bills or both.
The vast majority of the classes were on topics you would expect such as finance,
marketing, and administration. One of the most off beat and interesting courses I took for
a whole year every Wednesday for two hours was called “A Seminar in Managerial
Philosophy”. It was a freewheeling course taught by Professor William Gomberg. It had
great readings from most of the major philosophers and economists and looked into the
philosophy of operating a business, but even more what was important to employers and
employees. In the intervening years I have found myself going back to what we read and
talked about In that class while working in the senate, but also in the other parts of my
life.

One final point: Many today put great importance on “going to the right school to
make the right contacts for life.” I, for one, if having to choose between my Wharton
contacts and my Wharton education, would pick the education in a second. Contrary to
Duke I did very well academically at Wharton, and learned a lot of things in the
classroom which complimented very nicely what I had learned at Duke. It was a great

experience.

The major reason that made going to Wharton relatively easy was that my parents
lived in Philadelphia. We rented an apartment about three blocks from where my parents
lived. I took the train or drove into school. One of the problems is that when were in
Raleigh we had a company car and an Austin Healey 3000 sports car, and I had to give
up the company car.

How I got the Austin Healey is a story I always tell when I meet with engineering
groups. Everyone agrees that to get students involved in science, technology,
engineering, and math, you have to get them when they are young. You have to convince
them to take the tough demanding course like physics, or chemistry and especially
calculus in high school. To make that sacrifice they need an incentive. I find one of the
most important questions to answer for everyone before they start a new venture is,
“What’s at stake for me in this venture?” I would say to STEM audiences “I don’t know
about you, but I hear these stories about making education more fun and relevant. That’s

great, but [ always laugh when I hear about making calculus more fun.” Engineering
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groups all laugh. One time someone came up afterwards very upset about it. I said,
“Look, there are some people who love calculus, but the United States cannot survive
with the small number of engineers who love calculus and find calculus to be fun.
Calculus is just one of those things you just have to buckle down and do in order to be
successful in STEM. To students in high school there has to be a reason for taking the
hard course, when their friends are sticking to the easy course; there has to be something
at stake to make it worthwhile.

When I was a junior at Duke I was having a hard time in engineering and as I said
earlier [ was trying to decide what I wanted to do and I was talking with my mom, a very
wise woman. I said, “This is a lot of work, and I don’t see why I am doing it” And she
said, “What’s the single most important thing you want to get when you get out of
college?” In a flip comment, I said, “A sports car.” She said, “Well, get a picture of a
sports car and put it up over your desk. And every time you’re sitting there doing this
stuff, look up at the sports car.” Back in those days engineers were making a good living.
When I got out of engineering school I think I started at $475 a month. That doesn’t
sound like a whole lot of money, but it was a lot of money back then. So, when I got out
of school, as soon as I could afford it, I bought an Austin Healey 3000 which was a two
seater with two jump seats in the small back. It worked out fine because, as I said before,
we also had a company car. The problem was that when I went back to Penn I lost the
company car. So, God bless Lynne, we lived in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, with Kelly,
Murry and a car that if she put the two kids in there she could barely get the groceries in.

RITCHIE: How did you afford to go back to school?

KAUFMAN: Fortunately for us, Lynne’s grandfather was a veterinarian for the
Seventh Cavalry. He was involved with Abbott Laboratories in Chicago when they were
first getting started. Abbott Laboratories did very well, and he was a wise man. Her
grandparents and parents gave Lynne and her brothers Abbott stock, which turned out to
be very good. It turned out to be a true blessing. It wasn’t a fortune, but it was enough so
that when we came to make a decision about whether we could afford for me to go back
to school or not, I could do it. So for two years it was sparse living, but we didn’t have a
whole lot of expensive tastes that we had gotten used to. So we were really thankful for
these gifts that had been given to Lynne.

RITCHIE: You graduated in 1960, when a Catholic was running for president.
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Were you politically aware back then?

KAUFMAN: No, I was not politically aware. My parents both were, especially
my mother who was a Democratic committeewoman. She was involved in the party. [
always tell the story about my mom in 1952. On the election day morning before I got on
the trolley car I was riding to Central my mother told my sister Lee Jane and me, “Just
hope that Eisenhower doesn’t get elected, because if he gets elected he’s going to change
this country so we won’t recognize it.” She was a real Yellow Dog Democrat. The
biggest thing I did was in 1952 in Philadelphia, the only political involvement I had—and
I had forgotten about it until this moment—was Joe Clark ran for mayor of Philadelphia
and Richardson Dillworth ran for District Attorney. They ran on a reform, home-rule
platform. Philadelphia was very corrupt and very Republican—I’m sure that was just
coincidental—it was very corrupt back then. Clark and Dillworth ran on a home-rule
charter and I was involved in that, [ hadn’t thought about that, it was probably because of
my parents. But [ went around door-to-door, not any major thing. Then when Clark got
elected, he asked my father to become Deputy Commissioner of Public Welfare in
Philadelphia. Dad was not involved in politics practically at all. Mom was involved in
local politics.

In 1960 I wanted John Kennedy to win. I voted for Kennedy. But I was not
politically aware, and I would say not really partisan. I was a Democrat and voted
Democratic. I went through the *60s when there were a lot of concerns about a lot of
different things, but I didn’t look at the party as the way to fix it. In fact really until 1971
I had not done anything outside of petitions for the home-rule campaign. I had not done
anything with political parties and frankly was not very aware of who was running
outside of Philadelphia. Clark went on to be U S Senator and Dillworth became mayor, I
was aware of them. One thing I do remember is when [ was a freshman, the Air Force
ROTC marched in the inaugural parade for, I believe it was Governor Luther Hodges.
The reason I remember is because we had wool uniforms and it rained the whole length
of the parade. The ride back in the bus we practically suffocated.

The other thing I remember is Terry Sanford, who became Governor, then
President of Duke University and later U S Senator, a great man and very liberal for
North Carolina—in fact, people talked about him running for president for the
Democrats, a very liberal guy. The first time I ever saw an ad for him, they ran a full-
page ad in the Durham Morning Herald. A bunch of us were sitting down eating lunch,
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and someone said, “Who is this guy?” He showed us this full page picture in the ad of
Sanford when he was a paratrooper in the 82" Airborne, top to bottom with his machine
gun across his chest, his helmet on, and it said, “A Leader in War and a Leader in Peace:
Vote for Terry Sanford.” Years later | always harkened back to that. Terry Sanford, 'm
sure he was against the Vietnam War, being the type of guy he was. But that’s the only
politics I remember.

The other thing I remember, and it wasn’t politics, was when we were in Raleigh
for two years. They had just started editorials on the local television shows. The guy who
gave the editorials on the Raleigh radio and TV station was Jesse Helms, who ended up
being U S Senator from North Carolina. But I was not involved in politics.

RITCHIE: Well, what were you thinking as you finished up at Wharton? What
did you hope to do?

KAUFMAN: That’s a good question. For most graduating MBAs back then, the
first big choice was the split between: Do I go to Wall Street or management consulting
which were based in New York, or do I go to work for a corporation? I interviewed with
the big management-consulting firms, McKinsey, and Booz Hamilton, and with A.T.
Kearney. A number of the guys who graduated with me did go to work on Wall Street,
but after some thinking I decided that I really was interested in the business part of
business, [ was really interested in the big corporation part of business, but after that, I
never really thought about going to work on Wall Street. It was a different world back
then. Most of the big Wall Street firms were like family firms. But a lot of people went
there from Wharton. But my big decision was that [ wanted to learn business. Do I do it
as a consultant at one of those business-consultant firms or do I go to work for a
corporation?

After I talked to the consultants, I just didn’t think that’s what I wanted to do. I
wanted to be involved in something, get my hands dirty early in my professional career.
It was a totally different economic situation in 1966 than when I graduated from Duke.
I’ve said many times when [ have spoken to graduating students, that I'm really glad I
graduated from college in the tough economic climate in 1960. Because of that, I always
appreciated having a job because it was so hard to get one then. When I graduated from
Wharton, it was entirely different with booming economic times. Some of the MBAs
wouldn’t wear a coat and tie to their interviews. They wouldn’t shave. They would pick
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companies to interview because they wanted to go to New York and see their aunt. The
ego inflation that went on among the students was incredible.

Really, my final decision came down to—after I had interviewed with a number
of companies— DuPont and IBM. IBM was probably the top marketing company back
then, and I was interested in marketing. It was a tough decision, but in the end I picked
DuPont because at DuPont during your career you could do marketing, then you could
do finance, you could do manufacturing, you could get all into all areas of the business.
At IBM you’re in marketing almost until you became senior vice president level or
higher. So I went to work for DuPont.

RITCHIE: What did you do for DuPont?

KAUFMAN: I was an engineer. I started out working for a year at the Chestnut
Run Technical Services Labs in Wilmington, Delaware in the Plastics Department. It was
engineering plastics, not like plastics for toys. People made gears and products that had
engineering properties. If you had a customer come in and you wanted to show them a
new plastic resin - how to design their part or manufacture it, or how to turn it into a
product, or if they were having a problem, you brought them into this lab. Also, You
traveled to their design or manufacturing locations. If they were having a problem, you’d
be the expert from out of town. There was an old joke that “an expert is someone from
more than 50 miles away with a suitcase in his hand”. I’d be the guy with a suitcase in his
hand, who would come and tell them why a machine wasn’t working or why this wasn’t
happening. I did that for a year. Then I went to work in the Boston office, doing
essentially the same thing in the New England area. After a year there I was transferred
to Los Angeles—

RITCHIE: Oh, boy.

KAUFMAN: Yeah. Lynne and [ moved seven times in the first nine years we
were married. We used to say that every June our furniture would start moving toward
the door. In California, I was doing more marketing. It was technical, it was all technical,
dealing with designers, but it was more trying to figure out: How do we convince you to
use our resins? I worked in LA and traveled to San Francisco. After a year there, we
moved back to Wilmington. The best thing that came out of California was we had our
third daughter, Meg, who was born when we lived in the Los Angeles suburb of La
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Canada, way up in the foothills. It had a very good school system, a nice place, but Los
Angeles was not the place for us. I really got the feeling that I had learned just about all I
could learn in that kind of a job. So I came back, which was the great thing about
working for DuPont. I went to work in financial analysis, which was fascinating. One of
the things that made DuPont great was that Pierre S. DuPont had developed the financial
system required to create the modern highly decentralized corporation. DuPont had
owned General Motors, and if you ever read Alfred Sloan’s books on managing General
Motors how he made it the number one corporation in the world, a lot of it was based on
the DuPont financial system. So it was fascinating working with DuPont. They’ve
changed a lot since then but back then I worked with the original DuPont financial
system.

I spent two years there and then [ went to work on a product called Corian, I don’t
know if you’ve ever seen it, but it’s a product used on bathroom and kitchen sinks. It was
still in the research and development stage. I went to work in the Development
Department to help figure out whether Corian was a product that could be a commercial
success. | spent two years on that and then days before I went to work with Joe Biden
literally right when I left they went commercial and it has turned out to be a very good
business for DuPont.

RITCHIE: So you were really peripatetic at this stage.

KAUFMAN: Seven moves in nine years. Now, since then, we’ve lived in
Wilmington, Delaware, for the intervening 43 years!

RITCHIE: I was going to ask, out of all these places, did you like Wilmington
the best?

KAUFMAN: Wilmington is just a great place to raise kids. And then after you
have raised the kids, a great place to be. You can get on the train and be in New York, get
on the train and be in Washington. The Philadelphia orchestra, opera, museum, you’re 45
minutes away from Philadelphia. But there is also a lot of things to do in Delaware. No,
no, Wilmington is a wonderful place to live and raise kids.

RITCHIE: I noticed among your accomplishments that you were part of the
Brandywine String Band.
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KAUFMAN: Yes. This started when [ was at Duke. Back then in the 1950s the
ukelele was popular, so I learned the ukelele and guitar, self-taught. My boss at DuPont
was in the Brandywine String Band and they asked me to come and play guitar. The best
I can say is that I didn’t do a whole lot of damage, and they invited me back. They used
to perform before all types of groups— many of their performances were before shut-ins.
Disadvantaged kids, orphanages (back when there were orphanages), a lot of senior
centers, senior homes. It was fun, and I love the music. It was all string-band music, and |
loved watching some of the banjo players and guitar players we had who were really
good. I did that for a few years.

RITCHIE: It seemed like you were getting community-oriented. I noticed you
were on a church parish council as well at that stage.

KAUFMAN: Yes, [ was on my church, Saint Mary Magdelan’s, Parish Council.
It was a great honor. Fascinating dealing with the two very different views in the Church
at that time on just about everything.

At the same time I moved from marketing to being in Finance and Development,
which was very different than marketing. In marketing, I traveled and worked long hours.
I moved back to Wilmington and it was incredible. In the Headquarters, at a quarter to
five, everybody went to get in their car pool. Even back then, lots of people had car
pools. I can remember at five o’clock you could roll a bowling ball down the halls. When
I came back to Wilmington I did little traveling in financial analysis to the plants where
we did manufacturing. All of a sudden, I had time. I’d be home relatively early, even
though I worked later than most. I was ambitious, plus I found the work fascinating. But
you’re right, I got more involved in the community, and more time with the kids. There’s
a time in your life when the kids are coming along and you can do more things together.
So it was great. It was a wonderful time. Then in 1970 I decided that I could start getting
involved a little in politics. I called around and found out who was the Democratic chair
of my local election district. I called him and he said, “We’re having a meeting of the
election districts in our representative district next Thursday, why don’t you come?” [
went to the meeting and it was a small operation and I got involved pretty quickly.

RITCHIE: What kinds of things were you interested in doing?

KAUFMAN: I had just reached the point in my life where I was following my
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father’s advice: Okay, I’'m in business but I care a lot about these things, what’s the best
way to influence change and do some of the things I believe in? So I got involved in
some of the things with the party, and it was a very welcoming group. In fact, they had a
group out in the Brandywine area of Delaware where there were four representative
districts that got together and called themselves the Brandywine Hundred Democrats.
William Penn had divided Delaware into “hundreds” for taxation and the name stuck for
politics. They used to meet as a group and they were of common mind on a lot of things.
The leader was a fellow named John Daniello. John was a county councilman in our New
Castle County Council, which is where this group was located. In 1970, he had run
against a DuPont family member named Pete DuPont for the lone Congressional seat ,
and almost beat him. He lost by 14,000 votes or something like that. I got to be friendly
with John. Incidentally, he was serving on the county council was this brand-new, young,
27-year-old Joe Biden.

John decided that he wanted to run for county executive, a step up from the
county council. He asked me to help him. I became his campaign manager for a very
short campaign. We had a Democratic straw vote of the county to pick the Democratic
candidate, and I learned a lot about politics right out of the box. You learn from your
mistakes. Well, I made a lot of mistakes, big time. I really did. I learned how important
and difficult it is to count votes. You go to one of these things and you learn that when
you don’t hear from somebody, the answer is probably no. I learned body language and a
lot more. John lost and later that year I became chairman of one of the four representative
districts.

The next big thing that happened was the campaign for the Governor’s seat then
held by Republican Russell Peterson. He had worked at DuPont before I was there in the
same Department where I had worked. He was up for reelection with a very difficult
financial situation in the state, and everyone was pretty sure he was not going to be
reelected. There was a five-way Democratic contest. This was in the day of caucuses,
when we didn’t have many primaries. Candidates were selected by a convention made up
of those who were active in the Democratic Party and had been selected by their local
representative committees to be delegates to the state Democratic convention, which was
held in Dover, our capital. Those 250-some-odd people picked the Democratic candidate
for governor, for senator, for all those posts, there was rarely a primary. You could have a
primary, in fact we had a primary in 1970, but in reality they were the people who
selected the candidates. It was pretty well assumed that whoever received the Democratic
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nomination would probably be elected. The four representative district chairs in
Brandywine hundred got together and we supported Sherman Tribbitt, who was the
lieutenant governor, for governor, and Sherman won the nomination. That really set off

the beginning of my work with Joe Biden.

I met Joe Biden in 1971 or early in *72. I lived in an upper-middle-class
development outside of Wilmington. John Rollins, who was a major figure in Delaware
had built a building near our neighborhood. He was CEO of number of companies he had
started and was very wealthy. He had run unsuccessfully for lieutenant governor, he was
an interesting guy, very big contributor to the Republican Party, very wealthy. Back in
1972 they didn’t have campaign financial reporting, no one knew who raised how much.
At the Presidential level they used to have an informal system much like what developed
in Russia during the Communist years, where at the May Day parade you could see
where someone fit in the hierarchy, based on where they stood at the top of Lenin’s tomb.
Well, the story goes at Richard Nixon’s inauguration; Rollins was just two people away
from Nixon. He was just someone who was very wealthy and a very big supporter of the
Republican Party. The problem was that he wanted to put a helicopter platform on the
building he had built near our neighborhood. Well, there was a school not too far from
the building, and people were worried about the noise and things like that, so there was a
major effort to stop him.

The President of my civic association, by the way my area was heavily
Republican, called me and said, “We’re having a real problem.” I said, “What’s that?”” He
said, “We want to stop the helicopter pad, but Rollins is so important to the Republican
Party that none of the Republican county councilmen will take this on. I know you’re
involved with the Democratic Party, can you help us?” I said, “Well, I think you’re in
luck. There’s a Democratic county councilman who is thinking of running for the U S
Senate, and you might want to talk to him. Maybe he can help you.” He said fine and |
contacted Joe Biden and we set up a meeting for all the leaders of the civic associations
of the developments around our area in my living room, and Joe Biden came out with his
brother Jim. I had seen him at some Democratic events, but I didn’t know him that well.
He came out and sat with a group of these development people and said, “Yeah, sure, I
think that’s outrageous. There’s a school right underneath it. This would be a real
problem.” In fact, one of the issues he ran on was how he stopped the helicopter platform
on top of the Rollins building. That’s how I met Joe Biden.
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What happened next was Joe Biden’s sister Valerie, who was his campaign
manager, called me. This was in June of 1972, so the campaign was well along. I just
have to tell this story about Joe Biden: I was sitting around with a bunch of these people
in the Brandywine Democrats in 1971and they said, “Who’s going to run for the U S
Senate, because nobody can beat [J. Caleb] Cale Boggs. Who’s going to be the sacrificial
lamb?”” Someone said they thought it would be Joe Biden. Then someone said, “Well,
who’s going to be his campaign manager?” They said, “His sister, Valerie.” Another guy
said, “Great ticket. They ought to reverse it!” Valerie had been a top student at the
University of Delaware. She’d been homecoming queen. She was an absolutely
incredible person. Anyway, Valerie called me and said, “Look, Ted, I know you worked
for Sherman Tribbitt and he will cruise to election. Would you think about helping our
campaign?” I came down and met with Joe Biden in his office. He had started his own
law firm. We talked about it and I said, “I’ll be happy to help you. You’re right where I
am on so many issues.” These were issues that not a lot of elected officials had been
talking about: The Democrats didn’t say much about balancing the budget. No one was
saying that we have to do something about the environment. He was for a strong criminal
justice system. That was a no-no among Democrats. The Republicans were the people
who were concerned about crime. But Joe Biden talked about the fact that the people who
were getting hurt by crime were our people. The people who were for us were the ones
who were hurt by the criminals. He was strongly for civil rights and felt we should have
a system that absolutely sticks to the rules on civil liberties, but once you’re convicted of
a crime you should go to jail. So there were a number of issues like that.

I told him that, “I’ll be happy to help you, but I’ve got to tell you that you have no
chance of winning.” To give you some idea of how lopsided this race was, Cale Boggs
had been a congressmen, then a governor, then a senator. He was beloved throughout the
state. Joe Biden was at that point 29 years old. He started out the campaign when he was
28. The southern part of our state is very southern. That’s where a lot of the Democrats
were, but they were conservative southern Democrats. He was Irish Catholic, which was
considered anathema in that part of the state. He was a Kennedy-liberal from the northern
part of the state. Cale Boggs had won by beating the Democratic incumbent Allen Frear
because Cale had the support of the unions and Allen Frear was the right-to-work guy, so
Cale started the campaign with good support among the unions. Biden was not only
young, he looked young. The only thing he had ever run and won was for the county
council. And then the most difficult challenge was it was 1972 and George McGovern
was at the top of the Democratic column and Richard Nixon was at the top of the
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Republican column. The problem is that in the northern part of Delaware the Democrats
were pretty liberal. It’s more like Philadelphia and Baltimore, right along I-95. If you
weren’t for McGovern, you were in deep trouble. The first question was: “Okay, are you
for McGovern? We’re for McGovern.” The Democratic Party back then was pretty much
like the Republicans today. If you know anything about the tea party, you can think about
the liberal Democrats: This is our party, this is the way we want to do it. [Snaps fingers]
Coming out of 1968 and the riots at the Chicago convention and the rest of that, they
were not to be crossed. You had to be with them. At the same time, in southern
Delaware, if you were with McGovern you might as well have just hung it up.

To this day I am amazed that Joe Biden could ever overcome that massive
problem—but he did. He worked it all out. He had support from Democrats both north
and south of the canal. The canal runs right down the middle of our state. He went back
and got the total support of labor. He had no money. He just had absolutely totally no
chance. I remember on Labor Day, I think the polls showed that he had only 17 percent
of the vote—Labor Day, 1972. He turned out to be an absolutely incredible candidate, as
has been demonstrated since then, and Valerie was absolutely incredible in running his
campaign. His whole family was involved in it. And he just caught on.

We had a fellow named John Martilla who came down and did our media—and it
was great media. Pat Caddell was a pollster. He came and did our polling. It was really a
ragtag group of people, all young. The race got very close, and by God, he won. It was by
3,600 votes. On election night we had our postelection party at the Hotel DuPont which
was ironic because practically no one in the upper management supported Biden in
DuPont outside of some folks in the legal department led by Jack Malloy, Roy Wentz and
Irving Shapiro. One of the things in my life that I always remember was that night, in the
Gold Ballroom of the Hotel DuPont when they announced he had won. I can remember
just as distinctly as if it just happened. I thought to myself, “I will never, ever believe
anything is impossible again.” That was in 1972, it’s been almost 40 years. I’ve seen a lot
of campaigns, I’ve been in a lot of campaigns, and I have heard about a lot of campaigns,
but to this day the greatest upset was that race. The come-from-behind, 29-year-old (he
wasn’t even 30 years old on election night) running with George McGovern at the top of
the ticket, up against an icon in the state. I’ll put that race up against any race I’ve ever
heard of in terms of an upset.

RITCHIE: What do you think did it for him?
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KAUFMAN: Oh, I think it was a number of things. Number one, he turned out to
be an extraordinary candidate and an extraordinary person. The thing about Delaware is
that it is so small that it’s all retail politics. Even in medium size states like North
Carolina TV is key. [ remember there was a candidate in North Carolina named John East
a number of years ago who was in a wheelchair. Jesse Helms was the senior senator and
wanted East to win. He bought a whole bunch of advertising for him so he could run on
the advertising, and something like 85 percent of the people in North Carolina never
knew he was in a wheelchair. In Delaware, it’s all face to face. There were no TV ads in
1972. There were some radio ads. We had this printed paper, like a tabloid newspaper,
that we put out just about every week that we distributed around the state. But it’s face to
face. It’s not like hale-fellow-well-met. But, you’ve got to have a good personality, I
think, but it’s one on one. We did a survey in the late *70s and something like 150,000
people in Delaware said they had personally met Joe Biden. Well, he knew a lot of
people there’s no way that ever could have personally met that many people.

He was an incredible person, and so was his family. His wife, Neilia, was
wonderful person and campaign representative. Everybody who met her was impressed.
Valerie, his sister, as I said was well known. His brothers, Jimmy and Frank, his parents
were well known and liked. His Uncle Frank was here. People just knew him, and knew
him to be a good person. And he was the new wave of the Democratic Party. They talk
about 1974 but most of the things that happened in 1974 Joe Biden ran on in 1972. So he
ran on the issues. He ran a nationally creditable campaign. It is not exaggeration that he
had thousands of dedicated hard working volunteers. He had wonderful help from John
Martilla and Pat Caddell. But it was really the force of his personality, which happens in
Delaware. That’s one of the great arguments for small states. If you’ve got blemishes in
Delaware, or Rhode Island, or Wyoming, or Nevada, you’re in deep trouble because
people really can get to know you, and that’s what happened. It also creates the
possibility for upsets, but the other side is Cale Boggs had been working the state for
years, | can’t even remember when he was first elected, but he had been a congressman,
governor, and senator. Everybody knew Cale Boggs.

RITCHIE: What did you do during the campaign?

KAUFMAN: Since I was an officer in the Delaware Democratic Party they asked
me to be the campaign liaison to the Democratic Party, which worked out very well. My
two main jobs back then were registering voters, which was a big deal for Democrats that
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year. We had a lot of people, which resulted in an incredibly successful registration drive,
because we worked with the McGovern organization with all their volunteers. We had
loads of volunteers. I’ll never forget there was this one family in Delaware—I won’t
embarrass them by giving their name—but they didn’t agree with Joe on a single thing,
but they were all out working for him. He played football with them and that sort of
thing. So we had this incredible registration drive. I forget how many we registered, but
we registered a lot of people. And when I say “we,” I really mean we, it’s not like self-
deprecating. The McGovern campaign especially, we really worked together well in
registering a lot of people. The second part of my job was to get out the vote. Again,
because of our volunteers, the enthusiasm of the Biden and McGovern supporters we had
a wonderful turnout. To give you some idea of what a tough year it was, while we won
by 3600, McGovern lost by almost 50,000.

The rest of the campaign we really didn’t do much with the Democratic Party. It
was an independent campaign, which was another new thing. Most candidates were very
much tied to the party back then because caucuses picked the candidates by and large and
the party was really important to you. But Joe Biden was one of the really first
entrepreneurial candidates. He was out there working on his own. A big part of my job
was to smooth over things with the party so that they didn’t feel like he was running
away from the party, which they didn’t. Then we had this get-out-the-vote effort. The
race turned people out, but I spent a lot of time on that. I had great people coming in.
Back in those days you really used to get a lot of volunteers, and a lot of way-out quality
volunteers, so that helped.

RITCHIE: The Boggs people were mad at President Nixon because he flew over
the state but never stopped to campaign. Do you think that made a difference?

KAUFMAN: Well, I think up until the end it would be crazy for him to stop
because Cale was so far ahead. Nixon had really been responsible for talking Cale into
running to avoid a primary between the Congressman Pete Dupont and Wilmington
Mayor Hal Haskell. Cale was of an age where, like a number of recent politicians, he
wanted to retire. | think that Cale’s retirement was one thing that is discussed about why
Cale lost, but he ran the hardest, best race he could. It is overstated, the fact that Cale
wanted to retire The big advantage that Joe Biden had was that there was a whole series
of senators back then that had never really run a modern campaign. I remember there was

a picture of Cale, on election night getting election returns on a wall phone in his home.
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There was a whole group of senators, Democrats and Republicans, during the *70s—
starting with *72 right on through 1980—who got knocked out because they just didn’t
know how to do modern campaigns, and they couldn’t change enough. Gaylord Nelson,
Clifford Case in New Jersey, [Gale] McGee, there was a whole series of candidates who
didn’t know how to run modern campaigns. Cale was one of those who did not run a
modern campaign.

And when [ say a “modern campaign,” I don’t mean a media campaign like right
now. I’m talking about modern in the 1970s. Philadelphia was the third largest media
market, and Delaware was only 6 percent of the market, so 94 cents of every dollar we
would have spent on TV went to New Jersey and Pennsylvania. I think we raised a total
of $230,000, and we had a debt when the campaign was over of over $70,000. The
person who was probably most helpful in raising money was Al Gore’s dad, former
senator [Albert] Gore from Tennessee, who headed up a group called the Council for a
Liveable World. They didn’t actually raise money, but they sent out letters—they do this
a lot now, but back then it was unique almost—to people who were interested, saying
“Look, there’s a race in Delaware, send money to the Biden campaign.” And they did.
So we got a lot of money and profile from the Council for a Liveable World,.

One of the keys to success was when he hired John Martilla’s consulting firm.
John was from Boston and brought credibility and extraordinary talents to the campaign.
He is another person that stayed involved in all the Biden efforts for almost 40 years. His
plan helped because we had practically any money. John had had success in using
newsprint tabloids in his campaigns. When I said we handed out these tabloids every
week, they were on newsprint. We got them at the lowest price we could from some firm
with a union label, in northern New Jersey. We actually had to have someone every week
get in a truck, drive to New Jersey, pick up 150,000 of these newsprint brochures, bring
them down to Delaware. Then we had to put them in the different headquarters. Then we
had to have volunteers to come in and pick them up. Then the volunteers had to get out
and distributed them. We didn’t have the postage.

RITCHIE: Delaware, at least, was a small enough state that you could hand
deliver them.

KAUFMAN: This was Delaware. A lot of this you couldn’t do in another state.
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RITCHIE: Billboards were still a way of advertising.

KAUFMAN: Yes, billboards were still a way, and we had some billboards. We
may have had a few, but I just look back and see how few dollars we had. The big thing
back then, in late 1971 or early 1972, were things called coffees. His mother ran the
coffee programs. She and his Dad were both amazing people, and among other talents
great at campaigns. Back in those days, most women were stay-at-home-moms. A
woman could volunteer and say, “Okay, Joe Biden come to my house at three o’clock in
the afternoon. I’ll have 30, or 50, or 70 women here. We’ll have coffee here and he’ll
have a chance to talk to them.” I don’t know how many coffees the campaign did, but it
was way more than 100. They used to just spend a day doing five, six, seven coffees a
day. That’s another thing you couldn’t do in a big state.

RITCHIE: John Kennedy used that device when he was running for the Senate in
1952.

KAUFMAN: That was Matt Reese, I think Matt Reese was his consultant.

RITCHIE: Well, Biden won, much to your surprise. Did he offer you a job right
away?

KAUFMAN: No, no, no. Oh, no, I was not thinking of that. On election night we
had no idea—and by the way, most Americans don’t have any idea what kind of staff
does a senator get. Remember, up until fairly recently senators didn’t have much staff.
Up until 1947, I think, they had a secretary. It was much like the British system where
senators had two or three people, something like that. It was only in the *60s that it
started to grow in size. For instance when Biden was elected most congressional staff
was in DC. I think maybe Cale had a one-person office in Delaware, but I don’t think the
other congressmen even had an office in Delaware. We were the first to have big offices
and major staff in Delaware. But on election night we had no idea what staff was and I

was not interested in becoming staff. This was totally out of mind, so no, I was not.

And then, obviously, the big game changer for him, the big, big, big game
changer for him, was that on December 18, six weeks after the election, his wife Neilia
was bringing the Christmas tree home, with their two sons and daughter in the car and
got hit by a tractor trailer. She was killed, and the daughter was killed, and the two sons
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were in the hospital. I went to the memorial service. It was awful. I mean, he and Neilia
were a real love match. They walked around holding hands. The worst thing is, you’re on
top of the world. You’re 29 years old. You’ve been elected to the United States Senate.
And then, bang, you get hit with this thing, blind-sided with this thing. He was really
devastated. Later on, one of the reasons I thought he should be president and worked for
him to become president was because he had so much character, and I saw that then. It
was awful watching him go through it. It was just awful.

In January, Valerie called me and said, “Would you come and talk to my
brother.” So I went and talked to him, and he said, “Look, what I want to do is I want to
change the way things are done in the Senate.” Most of the Senate offices, there were a
few but like 95 of the Senate offices didn’t have anything back in their home state. He
said, “I think with all this new communication equipment”—we had new things called
fax machines, to compare it to a fax machine right now, back then it was a machine with
a roller and special paper which operated very slowly. He said, “I’d like to have more of
my staff back in Delaware where they can meet with constituents instead of on the
telephone when they do case work and things like that.” He said, “What I’d like you to
do is come to work for me to help me set up the Delaware side of my operation.”
Because I told him I couldn’t move, I’'m working at DuPont. He said, “Would you do it?”
How could you say no? So I went to my bosses at DuPont and said, “He just wants me to
get it started. It may take six months or a year.” They said, “Oh, yeah, sure, we’ll give
you a one-year leave of absence.” So I took a one-year leave of absence and was one of
the first employees hired, to set up an office here in Wilmington, Delaware, and stayed
for 22 years. They say life is what happens while you’re planning for it. This was not
ever a part of any plan that I had. Even when I took the job it wasn’t part of any plan that
I had. It was just happenstance.

RITCHIE: What did you do to set up a state office?

KAUFMAN: Joe Biden had hired a wonderful chief of staff, back then they
called them administrative assistants, named Wes Barthelmes, who had been working for
Senator Frank Church. He had been the first press secretary to Bobby Kennedy, before
[Frank] Mankiewicz. He had written books with Congressman [Richard] Bolling, with
Congresswoman [Edith] Green. He had been the city editor of the Washington Post. He
was in the 82" Airborne and jumped into Normandy on D-Day. When Joe told me his
resumé I said, “You’ve got to be kidding me, there’s nobody like that.” But he was really
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a great guy, a wonderful guy to work with. So I just set up the office in Delaware.
Nobody knew the Senate better than Wes did, nobody knew the press any better than he
did, so he set things up and because of my work experience I was doing a lot of the
management—not that there was a lot of management. I was spending a day or two days
a week in Washington, and setting up offices here, and Dover, and Georgetown,
Delaware.

I remember when I told Lynne about the job. She said, “Is there enough to do?”
Turned out there was a lot to do. It was a great job. If you ever want a job where you
really can help people one on one, being in a district office for a United States senator is
a wonderful place to be. The federal bureaucracy, as we know, is gigantic. I’'m a big fan
of the vast majority of people who work there, but it is big, and sometimes a word from
the office of a United States senator can get a Social Security check delivered at the right
time, or some young person can come back from the military overseas for one of his
parents’ funerals. We just cut through the bureaucracy, and could do it. You would go
home at night feeling pretty good about it. Another thing is you got involved in a lot of
things in the state to make sure that the federal presence is doing a good job, in terms of
projects that the federal government is involved in.

There used to be something that Nixon, of all people, had put in, Title 20 of
Health and Social Services. The way [ remember it, and it’s been a lot of years, was that
any social service agency could go to the federal government and get practically half of
any program paid for. I mean, it was an incredible program. Cooler heads prevailed
around that time, I think before the election, and they said, “We can’t do this anymore.”
So the first thing I got to do was to go around to all the social service agencies and tell
them that the money isn’t there anywhere. They would say, “When Senator Boggs was a
senator we got the money. What’s wrong now?”

But I got started and after a year I said, “Oh, God, I love doing this work.” I loved
working for United States Senator Joe Biden. I mean, you had to pinch yourself. Working
for the Senate? I had never thought about that. I never thought I’d have a chance to work
in the Senate. Many times, people would say, “It must be a lot of fun.” I’d say, “No, it’s
not a lot of fun, but it’s very interesting. And more important I never go home at night
and wonder what I’m doing with my life.” Up until today, when I was working as the
chief of staff to a senator, or even when I was working in Delaware, traveling to

Washington, you come out of that door down in the Russell Building and start walking
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down to the train station. You turn around and look up at the Capitol, lit up like that, and

you say, “God, I’'m part of that!” To this day I get goose bumps. When I was in the
Senate, driving to work—we had an apartment at 7th and E Streets, NW. I’d drive down

Constitution Avenue and look straight up at the Capitol every morning, God Almighty!

So after a year, I decided that I really wanted to keep doing this. DuPont was
going to give me another year’s leave of absence, but I said, “No, I think we’re going to
have a conflict of interest here.” So I didn’t take it. Then, tragically, in 1976 Wes
Barthelmes got a brain tumor and died. Joe Biden asked me to become his administrative
assistant and chief of staff. And I did. I stayed until December 31, 1994.

RITCHIE: You started off running a state office for a senator who came back to
the state every night. Did he have a big presence in the state office when he was here?

KAUFMAN: You know, he really didn’t spend time in the state office, even
though he was in the state a lot. One of the reasons is because we were blessed with great
people who came to work in the district office early on, and stayed for decades. The
beauty of them staying so long is that everybody knew that when they were talking to
them it was just like talking to Senator Biden. Bert DiClemente, was the state director for
many years, was universally liked, and brought a business approach to the office. Dennis
Toner had so many talents, and had made a big difference in the senate campaign. He
was invaluable in both Delaware and DC offices. Tom Lewis, was always with him,
when he was in the state, and did great work for the Delaware veterans. Norma long was
excellent at scheduling, Terry Wright was a jack of all trades and became a legend over
the years to the Biden interns, Bob Cunningham was press secretary and an integral part
for most of Senator Biden’s early speeches, Vince D’ Anna headed up the project work
from early on and was the most knowledgeable person in the state on federal grants and
funding. I will put the Biden staff over the years up against any group for their
competence, loyalty, and length of service. I made the comment many times when asked
about Senator Biden and his staff, that he is someone who wears well which is shown by
the number of people that stayed involved with him for decades.

Back to the campaign; one of the reasons why I first thought he could win was
because he was the first candidate I had known during a campaign who never came to the
headquarters. The biggest reason was that Valerie was there and he could meet Valerie
every night and talk to her. So, he was always out working with people. That was
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unusual. The same with the Senate, he wasn’t in the Wilmington office or the other state
offices very often—Wilmington more than others because he was commuting from there
every day. He lived in Delaware, so if the Senate was out of session on Friday, he was
coming home Thursday night anyway, so Friday he would be here. So sometimes you
had to be fast on your feet. But he commuted every day. That was one of the reasons why
he kept getting reelected. First of all, people saw him there, and they knew that he was
around the state. They knew that he cared about his family because he commuted every
night, which was very difficult. Commuting every night was just horrible. When I was
working for him in Washington, I used to take the 6:30 train home every night. People
used to say, “What’s the commuting like?”” I’d rationalize and say, “Well, you know, it’s
not so bad. Going down in the morning I get an hour and a half to two hours to lay out
what I’'m going to do for the day. When I come home, I usually get home at a quarter to
nine.” Then, after I left his office, about two weeks later I took the train down in the
morning and went through all that, rushing downtown, get the ticket, board the train, and
ride down. I walked into Union Station and I said to myself, “You had to be out of your
mind!” The thing about me was, 6:30 PM every day, I came home. I’ll bet you easily a
majority of the times, when I left, the Senate was still running. So he didn’t take the 6:30,
he took the 7, the 7:30, the 8, the 10, and he’d take them. He did not stay in Washington.
The last few years he was in the Senate his son Hunter and his family was in DC, and
sometimes he’d go and see them, but even then many times he didn’t stay over, he’d go
back to Delaware. It sent a real message to the people: Lots of politicians talk about
family values, Joe Biden lives family values.

Plus it put him back in the state. As he’s said many times, in Delaware you’re
standing on that train platform and somebody comes over and says, “Mr. Senator, sir, can
I please ask your opinion on what you’re doing?”” Or more often: “Hey, Joe, what the hell
are you guys in DC doing about this bill?”” People see you on the street and they want to
talk to you. He was out in the community a lot.

RITCHIE: In the beginning, didn’t you drive down?

KAUFMAN: Yes, in the beginning—and I mean the very beginning—the rule
was that Beau and Hunt sat in any meeting they wanted to. I remember when he met with
[Henry] Kissinger when he was secretary of state, one of the kids sat in on the meeting.
He said, “If the kids ever call me, no matter where I am, you find me. I don’t care if 'm

in a hearing, I don’t care what I’'m doing, you bring me out so I can talk to them. I never
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want to be out of communication with the kids.” This was well before cell phones of any
kind. The only mobile phones were the phones that you could get if you were wealthy, or
were in a company, or had a real need in business, you could have a phone installed in
your car. But it took up about half of the trunk. So the only way this worked for Joe
Biden was to have a car phone. So we used to drive him back and forth. When he was on
the train, he couldn’t talk to the kids. The other thing was AMTRAK was doing the
Northeast Rail Expansion, which I will never forget. My God, it was like Russian roulette
when you were going to show up in Washington every morning. So, yes, I rode down and
back a lot of times in the car, and the train.

RITCHIE: What did that do to your family back here?

KAUFMAN: Fortunately my daughters were a little bit older. What I would try
to do when I got to be chief of staff—remember I had half the staff here in Delaware—I
would try to spend more time here. I probably was the first person to initiate the
Tuesday-Thursday Club, where now the Senate goes in Tuesday and goes out Thursday.
But I tried to spend Monday and Friday in Delaware, and Tuesday, Wednesday and
Thursday in Washington. I see it now with my sons-in-law. At that age you’re working
long hours almost no matter whatever you’re doing, if you’re into something
complicated. The beauty of my schedule was I was home on weekends, I was home
nights. I did very little traveling. I propounded my theory a long time ago, and that is:
You can have a really interesting job, you can really take care of your family, but you’ll
never be a great golfer. As long as you concentrate on the job and the family, and
understand that the family comes first, you can do it. One of the great things about
working for Joe Biden, one of the great things about being his chief of staff was it was a
rule in the office from day one: Family comes first. [ used to tell staff all the time, “If you
miss a major family event because you’re working, and he finds out about it, you’re in
deep trouble.” Because his rule was, “I’m not going to miss the big family events. 'm
not going to do everything, but if there’s a big family event, I’'m going to be there. If
something happens to my kids, ’'m going to be there.” In the office, we had loads of
examples of people who got into a tough family situation, we would say, “Do your job,
but we want you home at night with your spouse and kids until the trouble blows over.”
There are always trade-offs, but in the end, the trump was your family.

As I say to people, “The Senate really is a different place.” It’s not like being in
the executive branch where the president has to decide whether to go to war with Libya
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tomorrow. The Senate is a place where most of the time there isn’t an absolute urgency at
a particular moment to do a particular thing. You’ve got to be there for votes. You’ve got
to be there for things. You want to attend meetings like that, but you only have to be in
Washington to vote. That’s the biggest thing cutting down on spontaneity. The Senate is
a different kind of place. The founding fathers designed it that way, and that’s the way it
is.

RITCHIE: Did you find that you could use the train as an office on wheels?

KAUFMAN: Yes, going down in the morning it was really good, and it was very
helpful for the senator because he was the most prepared senator at practically every
morning hearing. The hearings were usually at ten o’clock, and he’d show up for the
hearing having read the material and having gone through most of that stuff. Oh, yes, you
could work on the train, but you would set up your day and what would happen was kind
of like fate. You’d be on time. You’d be on time. You’d be on time. So you’d say,
“Okay, I’'m going to schedule something first thing in the morning.” Because once you’re
down in Washington, back when you’re chief of staff, you’re just as busy as a senator or
maybe even more so in some ways, so you’re trying to figure out how you can get more
minutes in the day. But you’d be on time, on time, on time, and so you’d set up
something for right when you get off the train, and then bang-o, the train’s late, you’re
late, and your whole schedule goes down like a stack of dominos.

The trip was close to two hours, when the trains were on time, from when I left
my home, got to the train station, got on the train, went up the Hill to the Capitol. Then
you reversed it coming back, two hours each way, so that was four hours out of your day,
so obviously you did a lot of work on the train. One of problems when you are in DC is
that from the time you walked into the office until the time you left, there was no time for
thinking. You’re sitting with people and trying to reason things out, but there was no
contemplative time. If you didn’t do the contemplation on the way down or the way back,
you were in deep trouble. So the train was very helpful, and obviously a thousand times
better than driving. Ben Cardin, the senator from Maryland, drives [from Baltimore]. He
and I used to talk about it. Of course, he doesn’t have nearly as far to drive, but the train
was Godsend for us. However, you did keep bumping into constituents on the train. The
number of people who told me, “I was on the train the other day and I spoke to Senator
Biden for an hour and a half.” I’'m thinking, “Oh, my lord!”
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RITCHIE: Senator Cardin said that one of the disadvantages of living so close to
Washington is that people expect you to be back for events.

KAUFMAN: Exactly, and if you think Ben Cardin has to be back, take it and
multiply it by a thousand in Delaware. In Delaware they expect elected officials to be
here. Two things: number one, they expect their people to be there, and two, they’re
going to travel down to DC and they’re going to come to the office and they’re going to
be treated special. And there’s a lot of them. [ used to say, when 75 people get together in
Delaware, they expect the governor and the senators and the congressperson to be there.
It hasn’t changed in 40 years. We had a deployment to Afghanistan when I was a senator.
I think there were somewhere between 20 and 40 troops being deployed. At that
deployment ceremony was the governor, the lieutenant governor, the two senators, the
congressman, and the wife of the vice president of the United States. In New York they
can have hundreds leaving and nobody’s there except the troops themselves.

I used to have people come up to me when [ was chief of staff and say, “God, it
must be great. How many counties do you have?”” I would say, “We have three counties,
and four subdivisions, because we consider Wilmington a separate political subdivision.”
They would say, “That’s great! Four subdivisions. I’ve got to deal with 75 counties and
75 county chairmen.” I’d say, “Okay, I’ve got it, but how often do you see those country
chairmen?” They’d say, “Some I see three or four times a year, some I don’t see for a
whole year.” Id say, “Let me explain something, when you’ve got a problem with a
country chairman in your state, it’s a problem. You got a problem with a county
chairman in our state, you’re going to see that chairman practically every day or at least
once week, so you’ve got a big very big time sensitive problem and you have to deal with
it.”

If you want to use the old saying, everything is a mile wide and an eighth of an
inch deep in a big state like California. You know what Delaware is like? An eighth of an
inch wide and a mile deep. Everything is an interpersonal relationship. The staff person
who does the mail, until you get the hang of it, really is a nightmare. People really do
think that Joe Biden signs the letters that come back to them. It’s very satisfying. You get
to deal a lot with the substance of things as opposed to appearances because your press
releases don’t make it. It’s not a state where you’re going to get a whole lot out of a press
release. It’s a lot of hands-on, face-to-face. But the big advantage is if you have an issue,
you can literally get four or five or six or eight people in a room and find out what the
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people really think. When I was doing healthcare in the Senate, I had three or four
groups. I met with the hospital people. I met with the insurance people. I met with the
docs’ and the patients’ organizations. I could sit down and find out, “Does this make any
sense? “No, that doesn’t make any sense at all. Let me tell you what’s going to happen.”
And most of this stuff is not Delaware-centric. It’s just about how difficult it is to get a
policy in Washington—because this is a big country—that works for hospitals on the
basic level. Washington spends a lot of time on that, and they do a good job on the
hearings and the rest of it, but it’s still very difficult.

Another big advantage of Delaware is when I was doing the Dodd-Frank banking
legislation, there was a banker here in town and I would just call him up. He never
changed my position, but I would ask him, “Just tell me the alternative view.” I wasn’t in
alignment with the big bankers very much when we were doing Dodd-Frank. But, he’d
tell me his point of view. He wasn’t like a lobby operation. I think there’s a reason why,
when you look around at the senators who are generally recognized for quality, a
disproportionate number of them are from small states. Obviously, when you pick two
senators from a state as big as New York, or California, or some of those other states,
you’ve got a much bigger bundle to choose from. But it’s extraordinary -look at the
Democratic senate majority leaders for the last 40 years Mike Mansfield-Montana,
Robert Byrd—West Virginia, George Mitchell-Maine, Tom Daschle—South Dakota, and
Harry Reid—Nevada, pretty impressive and all small states. I think small states turn out
some pretty extraordinary senators.

RITCHIE: There’s been a big debate lately about whether or not senators are
ambassadors from their states. The question always is that you’re representing your state
so that even though you’re dealing with national issues, you’ve always got to be thinking
about how is this going to impact back on the state. So you’ve always got to know what
the state really needs and what it wants.

KAUFMAN: And that’s not easy. For over 20 years, I have taught a course on
the Congress at The Duke Law School and we spend a lot of time talking about how do
you find out what your priorities are and part of that is what they want back in the state?
You cannot even say just go with the majority. For if you have a majority of people who
feel lukewarm about something, but you have a minority of people who feel really
strongly, which ones best reflect the opinion in the state. And all different shades in
between. Another thing, what do you believe is the basic philosophy of senators? Should
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a senator be a delegate or a trustee? A delegate is someone who goes to Washington, who
represents totally what’s going on back in the home state? There are a lot of people who
believe that, a lot of senators believe that is what you should be. In fact, the studies all
show that a majority of senators believe that. Or are you a trustee? That is, are you hired
by your state when you win the election, and then you go to Washington for six years,
and then your state decides whether to rehire you or not? There are all kinds of decisions
on how do you decide what it is you’re going to do.

In this course, I use a lot of “if you’re elected for life.” Because people believe
that a lot of things that senators do is totally so they can win reelection, but I believe they
would do these things even if they weren’t running for reelection. There was a great
political science professor from the University of Delaware, Jim Soles, who died
recently. Jim and I had this argument back and forth on over the years before I was a
senator. After I was appointed Senator I said, “Well, Jim, I’ve got a chance to try figure
out, how much do you do as a senator because you’re worried about reelection, and how
much do you do because you want to do a good job to represent the state?” I decided I'm
going to be a great test because I’'m not running for reelection. For instance, | marched in
parades. Now, I will bet you people sitting on the side of the road when a senator
marches by in a parade will think, “The senator’s doing that because he wants my vote.”
And a lot of senators are doing it because they want their vote. But they are also doing it
because that’s a responsibility of the office. When you start asking students, over the
years, “If you were elected for life, what would you do?”” outside of eliminating fund

raising and actual campaigning, not much changes in what a senator does.

I was lucky as a senator. There were a lot of issues that effected Delaware, but
there were very few issues where my position was different from Delaware’s. By the
way, most senators’ positions aren’t that different from the state they represent because
they are from that state and they represent its culture. Where they’re different is from
senators in states. For years they used to say the great conundrum of polling is that when
you ask people if they support Congress, 13 percent approve of the Senate. When you ask
them, “Do you approve of your member of Congress,” 65 percent approve. They say,
“Why is this happening?” Well, it’s real simple in my opinion: Your senator is like you.
On the simplest level, I mean, if you’re from Louisiana, you sound like Mary Landrieu. If
you’re from New York, you sound like Kirsten Gillibrand. Now, if you’re from New
York and you hear Mary Landrieu, you say, “Oh, I don’t like what she’s saying.” And if
you’re from Louisiana and you hear Kirsten Gillibrand, “Oh, I don’t like what she’s
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saying.” I don’t like them, but my senator is okay.

But anyway, there was this one issue. In my opinion the people of Delaware’s
position and my position were totally in alignment. But there were some people that
thought this was just me voting because it was a Delaware issue. [ was talking to a very
smart reporter—most reporters are very smart—and he said, “Why did you vote this
way?” I said, “Because I really believe it and my Delaware constituents believe it.” But
also, I said, “I represent Delaware. When you see my name up there, it doesn’t say Ted
Kaufman, U.S., it says Ted Kaufman, Delaware. I have a responsibility to represent the
people of Delaware. I have a responsibility to make sure the people of Delaware get as
good an education as anyone else. I have a responsibility to make sure that things happen
in Delaware.” But that has to be worked out with a lot of concerns and opinions that I
have as an individual. One of the best things I ever heard for a new elected official at any
level was what Congressman Henry Hyde use to say at the orientation of new members
of congress. He would say you have to figure an issue or issues that you are willing to
lose reelection over. He was absolutely right.

I don’t know whether it’s that people aren’t taking civics courses anymore or
what it is, but lots of things that used to just roll off our tongue, like checks and balances,
sometimes it would be clear from questions that students asked—Ilaw students—that they
didn’t really understand the things you get in Civics 101, like checks and balances and
other basic principles of our government.

But it’s clear that there are so many things that a member of Congress—I call
them conflicts—I’ve got about 10, 15 different conflicts. Is this a good time to run
through a bunch of them? Okay. Do I do what’s right for the state or for the nation? You,
know, Edmund Burke’s a legislator’s job was to look after the nation, not the state you
are from. An example is defense contracting because a lot of defense contractors now are
smart enough to put a little bit of every weapon in every state to get people to vote for
them. So I think another of the conflicts you have on every piece of legislation is: Is there
conflict in my role as a senator and as a person? There’s a conflict between me and what
my party wants. I’'m a member of the Democratic Party. I can remember there was a
senator who got elected and really got in trouble because there was a transportation bill
and the leadership came to him and said, “I really need your support on this
transportation bill. It’s just a small bill, but we really need you.” They asked all the
freshman to vote for this bill, and he voted for it. And then all hell broke loose in his
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state. “Why would you ever do that?”” Another conflict is it may help the president of the
United States. The president calls up and says, “Hey, Ted, I'm sending up a nominee for
some position. I know you don’t like him. I don’t ask you for very much. You are a
member of my party. Will you vote for this person?” Then you’ve got the House and
Senate like we went through with the healthcare reform. “We’ve got to support the
House.” “We’ve got to support the Senate.” “You have to support your committee, and/or
your Chair”. We’ve got to support the President. How are we going to do that? You have
your primary responsibility to your constituents. But also to your key supporters, to the
people in your kitchen cabinet, and last, but by no means last to your family and friends.
The successful campaign to stop the use of gillnets which were killing thousands of
dolphins started with Ashley Biden coming home from school with a crayoned picture of
dolphins caught in the gillnets which hung on Joe Biden’s senate office wall for years
and resulted in notices on tuna cans that gillnets were not used to catch the tuna in this
can.

I remember on the Brown-Kaufman amendment to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
reform Bill, just about every one of the committee chairs voted against me to support
Chairman of the Banking Committee Chris Dodd who opposed our amendment. In
addition, most of the members of the Banking Committee did not support my bill. So as a
member of Congress you have a lot of different conflicts come up in how you make your
decisions. It isn’t just about you and your conscience. Now, [ never in my two years as a
senator had to compromise any principle that I hold, but you do have a bunch of different
matrix of decisions, choices you make when you make your decisions as a senator.

RITCHIE: You weren’t running for reelection, so you weren’t raising campaign
funds, either, which is another factor.

KAUFMAN: You are right, although I raised a lot of campaign funds over the
years for Joe Biden. My theory on campaign money is a little bit different. If there’s one
thing I could do it would be to change the way we finance our campaigns, but the
Supreme Court has made it extremely difficult, almost impossible, which is for another
time in our discussions. But people don’t walk into your office and say, “I’ll do a fund
raiser for you if you vote this way.” Not to say that people don’t try, but many people I
have met over the years who aren’t in the Senate perceive that. But what really happens
was explained in Joe Biden testimony before the Senate Rules Committee in 1973about
this when he was running in 1972. It was so good , it was on the editorial page of the
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Washington Post. He was for public financing of campaigns even back then. He told the
story about going to a meeting in Delaware, it was down to the end of his campaign, and
he was closing the gap in the polls. We weren’t raising very much money, and there were
a bunch of people in the room who could make a serious contribution. They talked very
nicely, and they had a drink, and one fellow said, “By the way, just for our edification,
what do you think about capital gains?”” Joe Biden said later, “I knew the right answer for
$20,000. I needed money for my campaign. I could get $1,000 from each person in the
room.” He said, “It was a real test. I like to think I would do the right thing, and maybe I
would, but I knew if I went home and told my wife that I had given them the answer they
wanted, Neilia would have killed me, so I didn’t do it.”

Most of the decisions on whom and what you are going to support and oppose are
made when you run. You make a basic decision when you run about what positions you
are going to take. And then, like the old saying, “You dance with the one that brought
you.” There was also a quote from Simon Cameron of Pennsylvania who said, “An
honest politician is one who, when he is bought, will stay bought.” Where the corruption
comes is this, in my opinion: If Tom wakes up one morning, and Tom has spent his
whole life worrying about the poor and disadvantaged, and children, and social services,
and things like that, and decides he wants to run for the Senate; and Mary wakes up, and
Mary has spent her whole time in corporate America, She believes that the only good tax
is a low tax, that we should have no capital gains tax because that’s how we’re going to
grow. Now when Tom and Mary run, Mary is going to start out with a lot more money
than Tom. She is not going to be taking positions in order to get the money, but because
she honestly believes that’s what we should do. When you look at most members of
Congress, and when you look at the big interest groups, and you look at where they are,
that pretty much defines it. The problem is it’s corrupting from the beginning because
clearly politicians that agree with people who have a lot of money have a much better
chance of getting elected than those who don’t. That’s the corrupting influence.

Now, are there issues—and I can talk about this for hours—but are there issues if
you’re on the East Coast of the United States and there’s a water issue that doesn’t affect
you, you don’t have any principles involved, you don’t even have time to sit down and
figure out what the water issues are, and Joe Brown comes here from the Water Institute
of America and says, “Would you come to a fund raiser for $15,000 for the Water
Institute of America?” Does that go on? I’m sure things like that go on. Not Joe
Biden—and I really mean not Joe Biden—and as you say, I didn’t have to raise money.
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One of the things I get asked a lot is, did I regret making the decision not to run?
I’ve made a lot of tough decisions in my life and that was, without a doubt, one of the
very easiest. There are a number of reasons for why I did not run. I know campaigns. I've
done seven senate campaigns, two presidential campaigns and one vice presidential
campaigns, just for Joe Biden, and then helped other people on campaigns, so I know
more than the average bear about campaigns, and how campaigns function. I know that if
you are appointed to a seat in the Senate for two years, the opposing party knows that
their best time to knock you out is that first election after two years. So you’re going to
have a tough race in two years if you’re sitting. If you look back on the races last year,
Kirsten Gillibrand and Michael Bennet ran, and from day one they had to be involved in
their campaigns. It’s a /ot more than just raising money. It’s strategy. It’s being back in
the home state more than you would be otherwise. It’s incredible.

The way I find best to express my feelings is what I said to Roland Burris when
he came to me. Roland, as you remember, was appointed in that crazy mess in Illinois to
take [Barack] Obama’s place. He came to me after we had been there about three or four
months and he said, “Ted, I’'m really having a hard time making this decision whether I
should run for office. You announced right out of the box that you weren’t running and
seemed very comfortable with it. What’s going on?” I said, “Roland, look, you have two
choices. One is you can decide to run for election to the Senate. If you do, you will spend
65 percent of your time, mark my words, and 85 percent of the last two months, when a
lot of important things are going to be done, involved in running for the United States
Senate. If you lose, you’ve never been a United States senator. Your other choice is to
announce you’re not running and spent the next two years actually being a United States
senator. Now, that to me is the easiest decision in the world.”

It is a different decision for young appointed senators like Michael Bennet and
Kirsten Gillibrand. There was a much bigger advantage for them of running for
election—because if they were elected for that first term, both of them are very able
people, they could spend 20 or 30 years in the United States Senate. Clearly for Roland
and me, if we got elected, because of our ages, we’d serve maybe one additional term. So
the upside wasn’t as great for us as the downside was. It was really a very easy decision
for me. And I’ll tell you that, it was a wonderful, wonderful two years. It was a great
experience.

RITCHIE: Well, I wanted to go back to the 1970s, but I wondered if you’d like
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to take a break now

KAUFMAN: Do you want to get some lunch?

RITCHIE: That would be good.

End of the First Interview
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CHIEF OF STAFF
Interview #2
Wednesday Afternoon, August 17, 2011

RITCHIE: I thought maybe we could start when you moved from Delaware
State Director to DC as Biden’s Chief of Staff which was then called Administrative
Assistant. What was the Senate like when you first got there?

KAUFMAN: [ was already coming to DC a lot. There was a big change in *74.
We were just beginning to go through this expansion of staffs. I remember there was a lot
of discussion about the need more staff. There was one factoid that some 15,000 people
prepared the defense budget and sent it over to 15 people on the Senate Armed Services
Committee. The Senate really needed more people in order to compete, if in fact we were
going to compete, with the Imperial Presidency. Because remember we were coming off
of ’72 , with Nixon and the Imperial Presidency and it had picked up steam in *74. In
fact, we did increase staff regularly until the Republicans won in 1980 and we have
remained level in numbers ever since.

So staff was growing and it was very crowded. The Hart Building wasn’t open
then. I remember Joe Biden’s office when he first got there [laughs], it was on the sixth
floor of Dirksen and the furthest corner from the Capitol. We used to say, “We think
we’re in Maryland.” The elevators were just awful in Dirksen, and they’re still not that
great. There was his office, there was another room, then there was a third room, a long
narrow room with a desk that ran along the long wall. It had five staff people in it, and if
the staff person farthest from the door wanted to go out, everybody had to get up to step
aside and let them out. It was really quite extraordinary. That was his hold-over time
while they were figuring out where his office was going to be. Then he got his office and
the space was a little better. But space was a real problem. That was another advantage of
moving all that stuff to Delaware, because you opened up space in DC or staff.

There were still a lot of senators who were not campaign-oriented. I remember,
this was a little bit later, but I was at a meeting one time with senators and staff and some
group, and [Charles] Mac Mathias had just been reelected, so we can figure out what year
that was. The meeting had just begun and he said, “I’m Mac Mathias and I’m looking
forward to the next two years. The two years after an election of a senator is the closest
thing we have in America to a statesman. The next two years I don’t have to worry about
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the politics of anything I’'m going to do.” I think there was a lot of truth in that. The first
two years senators didn’t worry about election. We did, and a lot of the new guys started
worrying about election because when you first got there, the first two years were when
you made an impression. So we did a lot of things and spent a lot of time worrying about
communicating with people back home and those kinds of things.

At that time, I think we were allowed two squawk boxes. We had two little boxes,
one was in the senator’s office and one was in a staff person’s office, where you could
hear what was going on to the senate floor. There were still a number of the old southern
senators who had been there for years. Back then, the South had the strategy of electing
somebody and keeping them in office. That all fell apart over time, but you had James O.
Eastland of Mississippi as chairman of the Judiciary Committee. Senator Biden, who
didn’t agree with Eastland much, worked with Eastland. Senator [Herman] Talmadge of
Georgia was Chair of the Agriculture Committee. Senator [John] Sparkman of Alabama
was head of the Banking Committee at that time. Senator [John] Stennis was Chair of
Armed Services. A lot of the old segregationist senators were there. The interesting thing
about them was their chiefs of staff, by and large, had been with them a long time, too.
That’s kind of what I did. I stayed for 22 years and that’s very unusual. There are still
some people in the Senate now, Marty Morris who is Dick Lugar’s AA has been with
him for 20 or 30 years. That’s the way the place used to work. Now staff stays for much
shorter terms.

It was very much of a “junior senators should not be seen or heard.” It was
dramatic the way it’s changed now. I can remember that Senator Biden did not get to
chair a hearing until, oh Lord, he had been in for well over a year. Ed Muskie was head
of the environmental subcommittee of Public Works, and allowed Joe to chair a
hearing—oh, there was a big movement to deal with lead in gasoline, which was a big
issue with DuPont. DuPont had the main person testifying, so Muskie let Joe chair it. But
you were not seen or heard. Joe said he didn’t get up in the caucus to speak. It was
months before the freshmen went on the floor to speak. That’s basically the way the place

worked. It was kind of a bridge, I guess, from earlier times when it was even worse.

They didn’t have the Tuesday-to-Thursday club, the Senate was in session most
of the week. There’s a story I’ve heard a hundred times, in different ways, but the way I
heard it, they asked James O. Eastland when the country went downhill. He was asked:
What’s the thing that most changed the Senate and the country? And he said “air
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conditioning.” He pointed out that there used to be, in the ceiling of the Senate Chamber,
glass windows where the sun could shine through, and when the sun came up, especially
in June, July, and August, it would turn the place into a hothouse and everybody would
go home. The other side of it is that at that time, when you look at what they were
dealing with, when you look at what President Kennedy had to deal with, in terms of the
issues the federal government was involved in, just the foreign policy issues the federal
government was involved in, there is a lot more now. But back then they used to go
home. We were in after that. The senate was in most of the year and in most weekdays.

There were only two Senate office buildings then, so space when you were junior
was a problem. There were very few hideaway offices for the senators [in the Capitol].
Only the most senior senators had a hideaway. But still there was a very strong tradition
that junior senators should be seen but not heard, and you worked your way up through
the ranks, kind of like in high school where when you’re a freshman you listen to the
seniors on top, and then when you get to be a senior, you’re on top.

When people start talking about civility, there are a number of things that I think
have created civility problems. (I’'m not one who believes that civility problems are that
big, but we can get into that later on, that’s an issue in itself.) But in relation to what the
transition was like that, as we moved on into the ’80s and the term limit movement
started, you had a situation where senators were elected believing in term limits, which
essentially said that the senators were staying too long. When you came in 1972 it was,
“Hey, these are the older guys. They’re experienced. They know what’s going on. And
that’s the way the system works anyway.” And that’s what you do, just like if you go to
work for a law firm or a corporation, you start at the bottom and you listen to those who
have more experience. What happened when term limits got started, you got a bunch of
people in the Senate, and in the House even more so, who believed in term limits. They
thought, “If you’ve been here more than 12 years, you’re the problem. So I'm not going
to listen to you, and I’m not going to be deferential to you.” Some of the senior senators
really said, “Wait a minute, this is the way [ worked my way up.” Now there were a lot of
other reasons, too, but I think that was one of the reasons.

Civility really was excellent. People got together to have a drink. People actually
stayed in town. A big difference was that families were in Washington. Back then, the
Senate didn’t cover a lot of expenses to go back to the state, so it would have been
economically impossible for most senators to have done what senators do now. People
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say that one of the reasons for the civility was that families were here, and I think that’s
part of it, but in some ways some of the senators see more of each other now on the
nights they’re in town because their spouses aren’t here, so they go out and do things
together at night. Another thing that hurt the family thing was the same thing that made it
easier for us to have a Delaware office, and that is communications. You can
communicate back home. That’s why so many of the senators’ families are back in their
home states. That was a big change.

The committees—you know, Woodrow Wilson said, “Congress in committees is
Congress at work,” and that was true. That was where most of the work went on. Now, it
wasn’t until *73 or ’74 where they passed the government in the sunshine rules that
opened up all the committee hearings. Of course, there were major unintended
consequences of doing that. Senator Biden had been a big advocate of that and pushed for
open committee hearings. We had the first open hearing and all the people were there.
Boy, this is really great. Well, three or four weeks later you looked out there [in the
hearing room] and all you saw were lobbyists. I think one of the things that increased the
power of interest groups was that lobbyists could now get information they could send
back home and people would say, “Oh, I’ll pay for that.” “Senator X at the committee
hearing of Armed Services said we shouldn’t have that airplane. Write Senator X today
and tell him he shouldn’t have said that in the subcommittee hearing.” So there was a
downside.

We also had changes in the campaign finance law, Buckley v. Valeo was handed
down in *74. All of us were spending a lot of time learning about how the new rules
worked. We were putting in real gift restrictions and all kinds of ethical changes. I agree
with all of this, but the unintended consequence was that people had a lot more
information about what senators do and don’t do, and they can get more upset about it.

One of the things that was great about the Senate was that there are a lot of
women in powerful staff positions and that really grew from ’72 and that grew more
during the *70s and ’80s. We changed the term from administrative assistant to chief of
staff. There were a lot more female chiefs of staff. The secretary of the Senate was a

woman.

There were new committees. When Senator Biden came they started a new thing
called the Budget Committee and he was put on the Budget Committee. They started the
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Intelligence Committee, and he was put on the Intelligence Committee. He used to say,
“I’m the token young person and tokenism is great if you’re the token.” Then you had a
whole bunch of post-Watergate babies, the Class of *74. The Class of *72 to some extent

but even more in ’74.

RITCHIE: Senator Biden had some advantage in that Mike Manstield took a
liking to him when he arrived, and perhaps because of his wife’s death went out of his
way to help him adjust to the Senate, and one of them was to give him some fairly
attractive committee assignments.

KAUFMAN: Back in those days there was a steering committee to make
committee assignments. Now the leader really picks who goes on those committees, but
back then the steering committee really functioned. You’re absolutely right, Mike
Mansfield liked Joe Biden and one of the things he did was put Biden on the steering
committee. Well, it was unheard of to have a freshman on the steering committee. And
once you’re on the steering committee, you’re sitting around the room and all the
requests would come in. As soon as you got elected you sent your requests off to the
steering committee for committees you wanted to serve on. He was on the steering
committee and he got a blizzard of calls from new senators wanting his help. Then they
sat down and actually decided on the committee membership. He was initially assigned
to his first 2 committees; Labor and Banking. As soon as the steering committee made
the next selections in 1974, he moved onto Foreign Relations and Judiciary, and that’s
what he wanted. And then, because he was on the steering committee, and because he
was young, and because of Mansfield, put him on the two new committee, Budget and
Intelligence.

In fact, there’s a great story about the Intelligence Committee. Mansfield came to
him and said, “Joe, we’re starting an Intelligence Committee and I would like to put you
on the Intelligence Committee.” Joe Biden came back to the office, and Wes and I were
there. He said, “Mansfield asked me to do this, what do you think?”” Wes and I said,
“Well, first you’re on a lot of committees, and second your style has been candid, you
say what’s on your mind, you say what you think. The Intelligence Committee—all of a
sudden the whole world is going to change.” So he went back and talked to Mansfield, he
thought the world of Mansfield, and he said, “Look, Mr. Leader, I just don’t think that’s
my style. I’'m already on these other committee and I just don’t want to be on
Intelligence.” Mansfield shook his head, didn’t say yes, but said “Okay” and just puffed
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on his pipe. The way Senator Biden tells the story, he was in the cloakroom off the floor
and Sam Nunn came through the door and said, “Hey, Joe, congratulations!” Senator
Biden said, “For what?”” And Nunn said, “You’re getting on the Intelligence Committee.”
He went out and on the floor and found Mansfield. Mansfield put his arm around him and
led him off the floor and said, “Joe, we need some people on that committee who are
smart and say what they think, behind closed doors, and will do the right thing. You’ll be
fine. I know you’ll be fine. But I really think it’s important that you be on that

committee.”

When people start getting nasty about Joe Biden’s gaffes, I say, “You know, he
was on the Intelligence Committee for 10 years and there was not a single time that
anything he had ever said was open to question by anyone that he had ever done
anything.” So when anyone says, “He says those things, he doesn’t know what he’s
saying, he’s out of control,” I say, “Well, we can talk about that, case by case, and see
what went on, but in terms of Joe Biden not being in control of what he says, he was on
the Intelligence Committee for 10 years.”

It turned out to be great, because a number of senators have figured out since then
that being on Intelligence and Foreign Relations is a great mix. I was fortunate enough to
serve on Foreign Relations and Armed Services, which is a great mix. It gives you a great
view. But in some ways Foreign Relations and Intelligence is an even better mix.

RITCHIE: They used to complain on Foreign Relations for years that there was
so much about foreign policy they didn’t know because of national security issues.

KAUFMAN: They say that, but one of the things I miss about being a
senator—people say, “Do I miss it?” I say, “No, [ don’t miss it, [ knew it was a two-year
deal, I absolutely had a great experience in so many different ways, had a chance to try to
make a difference, but it was two years and I have other things I want to do with my
life.” Because most people, when they say, “Do you miss it?” If I say no, they say, “Oh,
yeah, because it was such a terrible place, aren’t you glad to be out of there.” I say, “No,
the Senate is a wonderful place to work.” But it’s interesting, this is the first time I've
thought about this, but the one thing I do miss is that when you’ve been dealing with
these issues for as long as [ have, it’s almost like—I like to read for relaxation crime
novels, and it’s almost like a crime novel, where you have a bunch of facts and you’re

trying to figure out what happened, who actually did what to whom. If you’re dealing
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with healthcare reform, there’s a lot of that: What does the public option mean? What
really happens here? In those situations, having access to the information you have as a
United States senator is just extraordinary. It just makes the hunt for what the truth is and

what’s right a lot more interesting.

This is especially true in foreign relations. When you get into foreign relations,
having the ability, if you read something in the newspapers that [ was interested in—it
wasn’t like I was doing this as a lark, it was only on issues that I was really concerned
about and it was something that was central to what we were doing, in Afghanistan or
Iraq, Iran, and others. I would just ask my staff person to set up a CIA briefing, or a
briefing, and you go over to [the Security Office in] the Capitol, into that room and close
the door, and they tell you, “This is exactly what’s going on.” And before I would take a
trip I would get a briefing before I left. Then when you were “in country” you could get a
briefing, and I always asked for it, from the local CIA people. So I think any member of
the Foreign Relations Committee who wants to keep up on intelligence in order to inform
our foreign policy decisions can do it. The intelligence agencies are extremely
forthcoming to requests that you make and they are, in my experience, some of the most
qualified people I’ve ever worked with.

RITCHIE: Going back to Senator Biden’s first committee assignments, you
mentioned that he had been on the Labor Committee. We talked about this at lunch, but I
wondered if you could tell me that story again about how he was invited to speak so
frequently.

KAUFMAN: Sure. When he was elected, and after the accident, he was in tough
shape for a number of years. But he was a great speaker and he was the token young
person, so he was invited to speak at the big Democratic dinner in just about every state.
They call it the Jefferson-Jackson Day dinner in the vast majority of states. So he
traveled around speaking and he did very well. The chairman of the Labor Committee
was Jennings Randolph of West Virginia, and he had been there forever. Ibelieve he
was in Congress when [Franklin] Roosevelt was president. He was a big guy from West
Virginia, and very plain spoken. He asked Senator Biden to come and speak at some
dinner in West Virginia. He said, “Joe, I hear you’re a real good speaker. They’ve asked
me to invite you, would you please come?”” From a chairman back then, that was like a
command performance. I don’t know what else was on your schedule, but if it didn’t
have something to do with your wife or kids, you went. Plus, Joe liked Jennings a lot.
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You were saying earlier about people being nice to him, they were all nice to him. Fritz
Hollings was great to him, Hubert Humphrey was incredible, Ted Kennedy, all of them,
and Jennings was one of those guys. So Joe said yes and Jennings told him what the
weekend was. Wes Barthelmes and I were wondering because the staff couldn’t tell us
what the logistics were. They couldn’t tell us whether to get airplane tickets or how he
was going to get there. We said, “You ask Senator Randolph.” Well, Senator Biden was
junior and he was reluctant to ask Senator Randolph, but he did, and Randolph said, “Be
on the corner right outside the Russell Building at three o’clock and bring whatever stuff
you need.” So he was down there standing on the corner, and I’ll never forget it, with his
garment bag over his shoulder, and at three o’clock up comes a car. Driving it is Jennings
Randolph. “Hey, Joe, get in.” Joe Biden gets in with Jennings Randolph and they drive to
Charleston, West Virginia.

Another one was Senator Stennis. A typed letter came in from Senator Stennis,
after about a year, a year and a half. I hope they still have that somewhere, it’s priceless.
There were a couple of typos in it. It was back before we had the machines that
automatically correct the typos, so when you made a mistake you could either type it
again or you kind of put a white substance called “snowpake” over it, and this had
“snowpake”. And this was a southern thing, this was the way it went on, this would not
be unusual. Stennis essentially said, “I’ve been watching you on the floor. You’ve been a
real credit to the Senate. 'm proud to be serving with you.” It was an incredible letter to
get from a very senior senator at that point. Wes showed it to me, and I said, “That’s
extraordinary. Who do you think wrote it?”” Wes said, “Oh, Stennis wrote it. He not only
wrote it, he typed it.” [Laughs]

One of my favorite Senate stories is that in the vice presidential office in the
Dirksen Building, right now there’s a great big table. Before that for years the table was
in Joe Biden’s senate conference room in the Russell Building. The table had been a gift
from the Philippines to Harry Truman for U.S. help in the war. I’'m sure it was one of
many things they sent Truman. Truman gave it to Richard Russell, who was chairman of
the Armed Services Committee. If you read Lyndon Johnson’s biography, Master of the
Senate, in the center of the book there’s a bunch of pictures, and in one of the pictures are
a group of senators in the 1960s sitting around this table. It was called the Southern
Caucus. Richard Russell would call it and all the southern senators would come. And
that’s where they plotted to stop the Civil Rights Act. A lot of the senators there were

serving when Senator Biden came: Senator Talmadge, Senator Eastland, Senator Stennis,
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and that’s where they plotted the filibusters against the Civil Rights Act. So when Russell
left he gave it to Stennis. Stennis used it as the desk in his office—it’s a gigantic table.
When Stennis was leaving, he called Senator Biden and asked if he would come down to
see him. He went down and Senator Stennis said, “I’ve had this table,” and he explained
the history of the table. He said, “I know when you came here, I know you were big for
civil rights, and I can’t think of anyone I’d rather have this table than you.” He gave
Senator Biden that table, which Senator Biden kept in his conference room. Stennis also
said something—and I may be butchering the quote but essentially he said, “Civil rights
freed us, t00.”

By the way, the other thing that was different about the Senate was—I remember
there was a study done that said that something like 92 percent of all bills favorably
reported out of committee were passed by the Senate. That goes back to the idea that it
was in the committees where all the work was done. That’s what happened. The way the
Senate worked back then, they delegated. Just like if you’re a good corporate manager,
you delegate to two or three different people. What the Senate did, no one could
understand all of the foreign relations, and the finance, and the labor, and all these
different issues, no one person could understand it all. What they did was they delegated,
they put people on committees and then listened to what the committees had to say. Now,
there were some bills with problems that you could amend on the Senate floor, but
essentially once a bill was passed out of committee, it was pretty much passed by the
Senate. Of course, there’s been a constant erosion of that as we got entrepreneurial
senators—Joe Biden was one of them. Senators more and more said, “I’m not willing to
take your word on that.” Vietnam and the Foreign Relations Committee? “I’'m not willing
to listen to William Fulbright on what we should do in Vietnam.” So that changed the
whole dynamic of how the Senate functioned, where more and more of the decisions
were made on the floor, and you saw a constant erosion of the committees over the years.
The Clean Air Act bypassed committee and was essentially written by the leadership, so
you had a loss of “regular order.” Regular order became if not extinct, pretty close to
extinct. Regular order was typified by the “how a bill becomes law” explanation of how
legislation is passed, and in fact most of that has changed.

The other big difference back then was the amount of money involved in
campaigns was very small. I think it was 78 or ’80 before we had the first million dollar
House race. After that, more and more time had to be spent raising money, and then it

had to be raised earlier, and then since you were worried about campaigns, campaign
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strategy took more time out of your legislative schedule, as campaigns became more
complex. And you had ongoing relationships with your pollster and your media person
and everybody else. They would be coming in and give you advice on things for six

years.

Since I mentioned pollsters, which have become a dirty word, I believe that one
of the functions of a senator (how important it is a long discussion) is to represent your
state, and determining how to represent your state requires information. [Benjamin]
Disraeli said there are three kinds of lies: lies, damn lies, and statistics, and polling is
kind of that third lie. But that being said, it is the best way there is to find out what
people are thinking. It’s better than anecdotes from individuals. You should talk to
people, too, that’s part of it too, your own little focus groups. But you also should do the
surveys. What I always teach in my course is: polling is to a politician what a compass is
to a captain at sea. That is, when you’re at sea with a compass, it tells you where north is.
That doesn’t mean you sail north, but if you don’t know where north is, If you want to
sail east, you don’t know where east is. And if a politician doesn’t know where his
electorate is, he doesn’t know where to sail. [ will tell you that from my experience,
contrary to being negative impact, but knowing what your constituents think makes for a
better government.

I’m absolutely convinced—as I said earlier, we were very close to Jimmy
Carter—I’m absolutely convinced the quality of decision-making that came out of the
Carter White House improved during the last two years of his presidency when he started
to think about reelection. President Carter and his staff came into office very upset in
1976. Let me say a little bit about Carter. Joe Biden had gotten involved early with
Carter’s campaign and was head of his national steering committee. He was the first
elected official outside of Georgia to endorse Carter. I remember when Mondale went
down to meet with Carter to talk about being vice president, before he went, he met with
Joe. They sat on the floor and talked for a long time, because Joe was the only senator
other than the Georgia delegation who knew Carter. The amount of heat that Joe Biden
took when he endorsed Carter was absolutely incredible. Lots of people called and said
“What are you doing? This guy can’t win.”, What s Joe thinking about”, “who is Joe
listening to,” We had a lot more friends supporting [Morris] Udall than supporting
Carter. So we were very close to Carter and his people after he got elected. We knew all
those guys because we worked with them in the campaign, Hamilton Jordan, Jody
Powell, and the rest of them. They came into office really in a get-even mode with a lot
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of the constituencies in the Democratic Party that did not support them. The first two
years, they were pretty insular and I think made a bunch of bad decisions. By the time
they got to the second two years, they were listening more to what people had to say.
People went to the White House who they should have listened to from the beginning,
and they did a much better job. So I’'m not saying that having a pollster work for you for
six years is a bad idea. I think it’s a damn good idea if you really care about representing
your district.

RITCHIE: Carter and Biden used the same pollster, Patrick Cadell.

KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: What was it that attracted Biden to Carter so early on?

KAUFMAN: Oh, I think he thought that Carter was on to new ideas that Biden
believed in—remember, a lot of the things I talked about, the reasons why I was
supporting Biden to begin with, were things Carter supported. He was for fiscal stability.
He was for the environment. On his presidency, hindsight is 20/20. Jimmy Carter had
been an incredibly successful naval officer. The stuff he did on nuclear submarines, he
was really well respected. Then he was governor of Georgia, and by all accounts a very
good governor of Georgia, somebody who helped bring Georgia out of segregation. So
he had a beautiful resume. The reason people weren’t supporting him was because most
of the liberals were looking for a more liberal candidate. They were looking for
Humphrey to run, they were looking for Udall. I'm trying to think of the others who were
running in ’76.

RITCHIE: Jackson.

KAUFMAN: Scoop Jackson, that’s right.

RITCHIE: Frank Church. Birch Bayh. Half the Senate was running.

KAUFMAN: That’s right, and all the liberals. You had Birch Bayh, who was a
fabulous senator. You had McGovern, who was running again in *76. Church was great.
Jerry Brown got into it in the end. Outside of Scoop Jackson, there weren’t a lot of non-
liberal candidates. Joe Biden, I think you’d have to say, back then was a liberal on civil
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rights and civil liberties, although he wasn’t liberal on the crime issue, although he did
believe in all the protections. He was outside the Beltway. And Carter was talking about
how we had to get the country out of its terrible times—what he eventually ended up
giving in his “malaise” speech. We’ve got to come together and we’ve got to move
forward. Everybody has to be involved. So he thought the message was a good one.
Carter had a great background in the military. He understood the military side having
been in the navy. He thought it was time for a change, and Jimmy Carter was the big
change.

RITCHIE: Carter was an outsider and I wondered, when Biden came to the
Senate, he was the youngest senator. Was he an institution man or was he a little
skeptical of the institution? Some of the other senators had been there since before he
was born.

KAUFMAN: No, no.
RITCHIE: Did he fit in right away?

KAUFMAN: Right at the beginning it was a nightmare. But the good thing was
that a lot of people really cared about him and really went out of their way for him. But
no, no, he didn’t mind going over and sitting with James O. Eastland. He didn’t mind
being nice to senior senators. One of the reasons why I didn’t think he would have a
problem being vice president, even though he had really never worked for anyone else,
was that he was very comfortable in a hierarchical organization. He felt very comfortable
being nice to the chairmen. If Jennings Randolph is the chairman, I’'m going to listen to
Jennings Randolph. If James O. Eastland is the chairman, I’'m going to listen to him.
Now, I’'m not going to do anything against my principles but in terms of paying
deference, no he was very comfortable there. He was young and he had a lot of energy.
He was intelligent. He had a mind like a sponge. He may have taken an economics course
at Delaware, but when he got on the Banking Committee he very quickly picked up a lot
of the economics.

It’s always been popular to run against the Senate, that’s okay. But to really
believe in it is another thing. When I left his office I was teaching at Duke. Another
professor, Chris Schroeder, and I started the Center for the Study of the Congress. At that
time the approval ratings were just about what they are now, 12 or 13 percent. It was
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coming off the Gingrich attacks that led to the *94 take over, where they just drove down
the approval of the Congress. Then people said, “Why do we have Democrats? We hate
the Congress, let’s replace them.” So we started and the basic mantra we had was: It’s
perfectly okay to be skeptical about the Congress, you should be, that’s what the founders
wanted, to be skeptical. But it’s not right to be cynical. I think that back then there was a
healthy skepticism about the Congress, and about power—right then it was more about
power and the executive branch because you had Nixon and the Imperial Presidency—
but let’s not be cynical. He was a Senate guy, and we all were. Wes Barthelmes was, I
was, all of us were kind of like, Wow!

RITCHIE: I just wondered because in ’76 there were all these senators running
and he sided with a governor.

KAUFMAN: Yes, that’s a good point. It was strange. He liked the senators.
Birch Bayh especially, but he liked them all. He had gotten Wes Barthelmes from Frank
Church, during the campaign he was our Senate liaison guy and then became Joe Biden’s
chief of staff. We had also gotten our press secretary, Cleve Corlett, from Church, so we
were very close to Church.

RITCHIE: At least in siding with Carter he didn’t have to pick among the
senators, which one he was going to endorse.

KAUFMAN: Right. I don’t want to turn this into just all stories, but there is a
very entertaining story about when he was running for the Senate. At the very end of the
race, when the numbers had closed, in 1972, there was a fellow who had been an intern in
the campaign who went to work for the local newspaper. On the Thursday before the
election day Tuesday he wrote an article that appeared on the front page of the paper
saying that he had sat in a meeting where Joe Biden said the only reason he was
supporting Israel was because it was going to help him politically, that he really didn’t
care about Israel. Clearly, this was a concern. The governor of Pennsylvania was Milton
Shapp. One of the fellows who worked in the campaign, who ended up marrying Valerie,
Jack Owens, was close to Shapp. He talked to Shapp, and Shapp agreed to come to
Delaware to help this young U.S. Senate candidate. So on Sunday before election day,
Milton Shapp agreed to come to Delaware and help this young US Senate candidate. We
had a reception in the Hotel DuPont. We had all the leaders of the Jewish community
there. Milton Shapp came in and put his arm around Joe and said, “I know Joe Biden, and
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that’s just not true. Everything he says he believes.” Now, remember, the Jewish vote
was not a big vote in Delaware, but it was the momentum of the race, plus it was not
what Joe believed in. So that all went fine, and the Jewish community disregarded the

article.

Fast forward to 1975 and Milton Shapp calls Joe Biden and says, “Hey, Joe, I’d
like to ask a favor. Will you come up and see me?”” So he went up to see him, and he
said, “Joe, I'm getting ready to run for president and I want you to endorse me.” Joe
Biden liked Shapp, plus Shapp had really been there for him when he needed it. He
couldn’t say no, so he said yes, he endorsed him. Go forward to the early part of *76 and
Joe Biden is getting more and more interested in Carter and tells Carter that he was going
to endorse him. I think it was right after the Wisconsin primary. It was about a month
away. We sat down and he said, “I’ve got to call Milt and tell him.” Because Milt Shapp
was going nowhere. “I’ve got to call him and tell him I’m endorsing Carter. It’s not
going to be a fun phone call but I’ve got to call him.” Wes and I said okay, but every time
we talked to him about it, he didn’t call. This falls into the category of it is better to be
lucky than good. So finally there’s a day, some short number of days before he’s going to
go to a press conference with Carter, and Wes and I tell him, “Today, you have to call
Shapp.” He said, “I tell you what, I’ve got a hearing and this lunch, so I’ll call Shapp at
two o’clock.” At one o’clock across the tapes comes: Milton Shapp has dropped out the
presidential race. [Laughs]

He just thought that Carter was the right person at the right time. I don’t think any
of us thought that he would end up being as poor a manager. A lot of it went to what
happens to a president every time. First off, I think they were way too insular to start
with. They weren’t insular to us, they let us inside everything. The other thing was, and
this happens a lot in campaigns, the more I see about the White House the more this
becomes true, and that is as the campaign grows, the people who become involved are
less and less committed to the candidate personally and more and more interested in the
power that is going to accrue to them. You have presidents that are very anxious to hire
people that they know are completely committed to them, for a lot of reasons, not the
least of which are leaks and things like that. But they want someone who is committed to
them. So they tend to stick with people who they have known before they became
president. Carter did this to an extreme. The team that he brought in when he came into
office, several of those people at very high levels, several of those people were just
totally incompetent, and identified as totally incompetent early in his presidency but he
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stayed with them for four years. With everything else they talk about, my personal take
on his management flaw was just way too much loyalty, and a lack of wanting to fire
people.

Of course, I'm always reminded whenever I say that, they did an interview with
Jim Baker, who was chief of staff in the White House under [Ronald] Reagan and then
secretary of treasury under Reagan and secretary of state after Reagan’s presidency. They
said to him, “President Reagan always was hesitant to fire people.” He stopped them and
said, “President Reagan never fired anyone.” Like, we had to fire them all. So I think it
doesn’t come naturally for presidents to fire people to start with, and then you add this
kind of loyalty, and then you add how the Carter campaign was a very small—very
small—corps of people, who worked together every day and who were responsible for
that presidency. Look how long he stuck with that fellow who wound up getting in
trouble, the banker.

RITCHIE: Oh, Bert Lance.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, right, that whole Bert Lance thing was a perfect example of
sticking with somebody long after you should have pulled the plug. But there were a
number of people way up in that administration who were totally way over their heads,
and identified as way over their heads early in his presidency, but he stuck with them.

RITCHIE: In retrospect, Carter came in with solid majorities in both houses and
Democrats who were ready to go, because they had been dealing with Nixon and Ford for
eight years. They thought they were going to move together, and instead you got the
White House versus the Congress.

KAUFMAN: Well, the other thing is, as long as we’re talking about Carter,
remember that he had run from being “outside the Beltway.” Early on there was a rumor
that he was going to pick Cy Vance for secretary of state, who he eventually did pick.
Hamilton Jordan, his chief of staff, was quoted as saying, “We’ll have failed if Cy Vance
is our secretary of state.” Then they picked Joe Califano to be secretary of HEW. Now,
Joe Califano, if you went to the Smithsonian and asked for the perfect replica of an Inside
the Beltway DC Liberal, you could not do any better than Joe Califano. If there had been
a cardboard cutout of who Jimmy Carter was running against in 1976, it would have been

Joe Califano. So he filled the administration up with people who did not agree with him
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on substance. I can remember the people who called me upset when Joe Biden endorsed
Carter, it was mainly Udall people, and all of them ended up with jobs in the
administration, and many of the lower-level Carter people did not. He hired people that
weren’t on the Carter message, and then allowed them to hire their people. The whole
administration was full of people who were not on message. It was very difficult to run.
That’s why Reagan was so effective. One of the reasons Reagan was so effective was
everybody in that administration was a Reaganaut. Everybody understood what the game
plan was, and everybody signed on the game plan. That is how you get an administration
to roll. And then Reagan had the House and Senate.

RITCHIE: He had the Senate, but not the House.

KAUFMAN: Not the House, right.

RITCHIE: But he manipulated the House. The Carter administration
accomplished a lot, there was quite a lot of major legislation that came through, but it
often seemed to be Carter versus Congress.

KAUFMAN: Well, but the other thing was Carter had a bad economy. If he had
been reelected it might have been a different story, which is a really ominous thing for
Obama. You just don’t win if you have a bad economy. That’s what happened to
[George] H. W. Bush, too. You can talk about all of these other things, but—and then
you had the primaries with [Ted] Kennedy. A lot these things, on where he was, was how
much of it was based on his not being a good, competent president, the hostage crisis. Pat
Cadell who was Carter’s pollster believed, absolutely to the bottom of his being, that if
the hostage issue had not been raised going into that last weekend, Carter would have
won. It’s hard to lose reelection if you’re the incumbent president, but it is easy to lose if
you have a poor economy. The two recent presidents who had poor economies at the time
of their reelection, H W Bush and Carter both lost.

RITCHIE: Speaking of Kennedy, I think it was Carter in his memoirs who wrote
that Joe Biden was the first person to tell him that Ted Kennedy was going to run against
him.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, Joe went down and talked to him. It’s funny how people
don’t understand how personal politics is at all levels. As [ remember at the time, one of
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the big mistakes the Carter White House made was they started going after Kennedy.
Like “bring it on.” They had some senior member of the administration get quoted as
saying , “We’ll kick his ass.”

RITCHIE: Carter said that, actually.

KAUFMAN: Yeah? Well, early on, before Carter said it, somebody else said it.
One of the things that both Joe Biden and I felt was: Get off that! Ted Kennedy, and the
people around Ted Kennedy are the most competitive people in the world. You’re totally
barking up the wrong tree by saying something like that. I’'m sure that’s not the only
reason why Kennedy ran, but in 1980 I went to lowa and worked for Carter. I always
held Kennedy in the highest respect, but I did think that Carter could win the presidency
and Kennedy could not. If Kennedy got the nomination, the Republicans would win the
presidency. I never thought that if Carter won the nomination the Republicans could win.

RITCHIE: And his winning lowa was very important for him.

KAUFMAN: Oh, yeah, it was a juggernaut in lowa. They used everything a
president can bring to bear. I was in Sioux Falls and the economic development people
were all over lowa. Of course, my favorite story on using the presidency to win
reelection was when Ronald Reagan ran against Gerald Ford in 1976. Ford was president,
and Reagan lost the Florida primary and the next primary was North Carolina. Right after
the Florida primary, the next day, Reagan was up and held a press conference at I think
the airport at Raleigh-Durham. He said, “By the way, if there is anybody here who’s
interested in anything from the federal government, be sure and be here tomorrow when
Gerald Ford arrives because you’re going to see Santa Claus coming down the steps.”

RITCHIE: When you went to lowa, what did you do for Carter?

KAUFMAN: I just did the straight old blocking and tackling. A group of us
went. We all took vacation time, a number of us from Joe Biden’s office. We went to
Sioux Falls and worked the last two weeks of the primary, knocking on doors and talking
to people, it was really mundane. Oh, my God, you should have seen the people who
were out there! The quality of people they had knocking on doors! I had never been
involved in a presidential reelection campaign—there haven’t been very many for

Democrats—but man, the full power and prestige of the presidency was evident. Plus,
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Carter’s people knew campaigns, they were good at campaigns. They built loyalty in the
Peanut Brigade and they had loads of volunteers in lowa. The same thing in New
Hampshire.

Of course, Kennedy had a pretty awesome machine back then, too. But the thing
that really did Kennedy in was Chappaquiddick. When you got out into a lot of the
Catholic areas—in Sioux Falls there were a lot of Catholics there—and they were not
happy. A lot of people were not happy but they were especially not happy. But that
Carter-Kennedy race went back and forth and back and forth. Every primary it seemed as
though a different person won. There were so many negative things about Carter,
negative things about Kennedy. | remember, they came down the eastern seaboard. Jerry
Brown had entered the race, and [Frank] Church got into the race. I think Jerry Brown
won every primary he entered. If Kennedy won a race, it was “Oh, my God,
Chappaquiddick, we can’t vote for him!” so the next primary they’d pick Carter. “Carter,
oh my God, he’s done a lousy job, we can’t pick him!” Then they’d pick Kennedy. And
then they moved over and started voting for Church and Brown, both came into the race
late.

RITCHIE: And the election was right down to the wire in the end, so the voters
hadn’t made up their minds for most of that year.

KAUFMAN: Yes, and it was a bad economic time, t0o.

RITCHIE: Going back to Senator Biden, he was getting some good committee
assignments, as you mentioned. You were in his Senate office. What’s the relationship
between a senator’s staff and his committee staff?

KAUFMAN: Well, there’s a lot different models on how to organize it. I
remember that Kennedy’s office had a reputation of being like a shark tank. They’d just
throw the things in and play one against another. I’ve heard that Bobby Kennedy used to
have three people write a speech and play one against the others. I had pretty much the
“we’re all on a team” approach, which was designed for a Joe Biden Senate office. It was
true in most things: everybody works together, number one. Number two is you can’t
operate on a corporate model, where all information flows down and back through all the
layers and the hierarchy. You had a hierarchy. One of the things I learned in business is
everyone has to know who they report to. We had a thing we called the “one-fanny
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system,” which is whenever something goes wrong, whose fanny is on the line, we used
to use that as a joke. But essentially, everybody in office has to know what their job
description is. This is straight business-school stuff that I actually believe whatever
you’re doing, running a hot dog stand, you don’t need to be as formal about it but you’ve
got to understand: What is your job? Who do you report to? I’ll tell you, in the Senate
that’s tough because most of the offices are pretty horizontal as opposed to vertical, with
people on an equal level. But you have to know who you report to.

Then the other thing was the information does not flow up to the senator through
different layers. So it isn’t like, if it’s a school issue, the legislative assistant who handles
schools doesn’t tell the legislative director who tells the chief of staff, who tells the
senator. Now, some things flowed like that, but with basic information you want the
legislative assistant talking directly to the senator, because the stuff is so complex. You
have to be very careful. It’s like “whisper down the lane,” one of these games where you
have five people stand in a row and each one whispers to the other until you get to the
end and it’s very different from what was said at the beginning. Now, if there’s
information the senator wants the staff to know about something, most of these were
mechanical, administrative things, you could go down the chain.

The way it worked was there were some senators who had their committee staff
report to them separately, some have them report through the chief of staff. In our
committees, they reported to me as chief of staff. But that was part of the way the
organization chart looked. I very rarely pulled rank on the staff director of a committee.
They didn’t hire or fire anybody important without talking to me. We talked about
planning for the committees. Senator Biden knew that he could come to me and tell me
something. He could say, “Here’s what [ want to do. I want to change this or [ want to do
that.” Or “I want to spend less time on the Foreign Relations Committee and more time
on the Judiciary Committee.” He didn’t have to go through them and adjudicate that. I
would say, “Look, that’s what we’re going to do.” If there was a Supreme Court
nominee, Foreign Relations Committee had to back off. He didn’t have to go around and
do that. That’s the way it worked. It really was one big operation.

Some senators keep the staff on committee totally separate. That has the potential
to complicate things for the senators, if they have to be worried about conflicts. If the
Foreign Relations Committee says they’re going to have a meeting next Tuesday: Well,
am I supposed to be in Delaware next Tuesday? Am I supposed to be at the Judiciary
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Committee, or the Budget Committee? Or am I supposed to be meeting with the
leadership? With the schedule, our approach was: You’ve got to have one central
scheduler. My basic rule was that the only person that can change the senator’s schedule
is the scheduler. We all work for the scheduler when it comes to scheduling. I had a
whole bunch of rules like that. Like I said, it’s a very uncorporate-like organization.
Outside of a university it’s the most uncorporate. At the same time, it’s amazing how the
few basic principles that apply to corporate management apply to the Senate just as well.
Now, to the Senate itself, that’s a different story, because no senator works for anybody
else. The Senate is unique in all the world.

RITCHIE: When you described the Senate as being organized horizontally, I
talked to a press secretary once who said the trouble with being a press secretary was that
everybody on the senator’s staff thought they were the press secretary.

KAUFMAN: You know what the rule was on our staff? It worked very well.
When it comes to the press, we all work for the press secretary. Anybody can talk to the
press, but before they talk to the press they have two requirements. One is, they have to
call the press secretary, because many times what happens is a reporter will work the
staff. They will have a story and will try it on different people. If someone on the staff is
called by the press, talk to the press secretary and find out if there is something going on
with that reporter, and then after you finish talking to that reporter, report back to the
press secretary. It’s just like the one-fanny system. The press secretary is totally the czar
of the press operation. He works for me. I give him a raise or tell him or her when he or
she can have a vacation. But when it comes to the press, I never talk to the press without
calling the press secretary first, and then when it’s done I brief the secretary on what
happened. The same thing when it came to scheduling. Nobody did any scheduling, even
the senator. The only person who could schedule was the scheduler. On the committees,
if there’s something going on at the Foreign Relations Committee, nobody did anything
on the Foreign Relations Committee without checking with the scheduler.

RITCHIE: Did you have relatively stability in your office or was yours with a lot
of coming and going?

KAUFMAN: We had a lot of stability. One of the arguments I make when I'm
talking to the press about Joe Biden, I say, “Look at how many people that are around
him today have been with him for 20 or 30 years. I mean, the guy wears well.” People
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will talk to me about the gaffe stories and I say, “This is a caricature, this is not Joe
Biden.” It’s interesting the gaffe stories have dropped off and I think the biggest reason is
because they now know who Joe Biden is. I point out that so many of the people around
him have been with him for 20 or 30 years. For a time, when they started the
Congressional Management Foundation, I was one of the early people they talked to.
They put together— I don’t know if you ever saw it, I don’t know if they ever do it
anymore—but a chart of how long people stay, what’s the average time that someone’s
chief of staff stays. Every year they come out with a book about what the pay is, and how
long to people stay. [ remember at one point, AAs and chiefs of staff, it was like 2.2
years. In my early days we had people who stayed 20, 30, 40 years, right from the first
day. We had much, much, much fewer turnovers than any of the Congressional

Management Foundations studies that I saw.

There are different positions in a Senate office in terms of turnover. If you hire
someone right out of college, they’re hired as a legislative correspondent, which means
they’re going to be doing legislative mail. [ used to say to them, “If you’re still sitting
here two years from now, we’ll all have made a mistake. Everything you can learn you
can learn in 18 months to two years.” I used to say, one of the great things about the
Senate is that you have such wonderful people to pick from. The quality that you can
pick is absolutely extraordinary. That’s the good news. The bad news is they leave. So it
depends a lot on what the job is. The list of key positions, the positions where you need
to have some stability, is a funny list: There’s the scheduler, the legislative director, the
chief of staff, the receptionist, and the press secretary. Those are the people. Also the
district director and all of the people back in the state, you want them to stay as long as
they can. But in terms of legislative assistants, legislative correspondents, no, with some
notable exceptions, they are not going to stay a long time.

My thinking about young people is you stay until you stop learning, and that only
takes a year and a half. Our deal was if someone got a better offer, we never stood in
their way. The exception was if you made a commitment that you were going to stay for
a period of time. Even then, if you made a commitment when you became a legislative
correspondent and said, “I’m going to stay for 18 months,” that’s the deal. The big thing
you want to do is get on the Senate payroll and then go to the Senate cafeteria and find
out where all the jobs are. You sign on as a receptionist or a legislative correspondent and
then work your way up. But if someone came as a legislative correspondent and six

months after they were in there, someone offered them a better job, no problem. Now,
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conversely, if after six or eight months you start looking, that’s a different story. But we
never had that problem. We never did have people that came and broke their promise to
stay for a while.

RITCHIE: When you listed the key players, you included the receptionist—

KAUFMAN: I was just saying in terms of staying a long time. What happens in
the Senate—and I’ve given this advice to young people for years: Just get a job in the
Senate so you’re on the payroll and can go to the cafeteria and find out where the better
jobs are. As a result, Senate receptionists are the most over-qualified people anywhere in
the world. They’re all college graduates from the best universities, with wonderful
records. They’re just there to get started. The receptionist is important because when
people come in from the home state, or friends of the senator, or friends of staff. Just
making all that work is a very tough job. When we first started we had a string of
receptionists. It took them a while to figure out who everybody was, and the process. So |
said to the office manager, “I will guarantee you that somewhere on Capitol Hill there is
a woman (I’d take a man or a woman so ask everybody) who, based on where our society
works now, whose kids are starting school, who is looking for a job, and looking for a job
to keep for a long time. Let’s go over to the placement office and see if we can find
someone who fits that mold.” And we did. We had the most absolutely wonderful woman
who stayed as a receptionist for 14 years. It made a world of difference. She just knew
everything. She knew the people coming in the door. So that’s why I mentioned the

receptionist as someone you’d want to stay for a long time.

In terms of legislative areas, especially when you get more senior you really do
want people to stay. Staff directors, you’d like someone to stay for a while, but that’s
hard.

RITCHIE: It does create an impression for an office, too. You go into some
offices and the front office is pretty scattered, some young people working the phones
and are preoccupied. You go into other offices and you’re welcomed in as a guest.

KAUFMAN: That’s important, those people in the reception area. [ had some
problems when we first started—boy, it really caused me problems back home. It’s a
tough job. You also have people just walk in off the street. You can get in a Senate office
building and walk into an office and start giving the receptionist a hard time.
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RITCHIE: I’ve spent time sitting in anterooms waiting and having to listen to
these poor staff on the phone, clearly having to deal with some very agitated callers but
dealing with them as politely as possible.

KAUFMAN: Yes, especially back here in the district offices. Back then they
didn’t like to make long-distance calls.

RITCHIE: As Senator Biden was progressing in seniority, did you think that you
were going to stay with him for a very long stint or did you think you might take another
office?

KAUFMAN: No, he’s the only elected official I would ever work for. We had
just an incredible relationship. Issues are really important to me, and I liked him a lot and
we shared so many values. Even that wasn’t planning. I went with him in °72 and
expected to stay for one year. I stayed through the first election. After the first election he
had married Jill, so after he was re-elected in 1978, he and Jill and Lynne and I came
down and independently gave our own search with the idea that we would get off the
commute and buy a house in Washington. We went around and looked, quite extensively,
and found a lot of nice areas, but in the end, for both, when we sat down and actually
worked it out: Lynne had a good job in Wilmington working for the Delaware Arts
Council. Jill was teaching and going to school at night for her master’s degree. The kids
were in good schools. They liked their schools, they liked their neighborhoods. For
everybody except the two of us in the commute, it was Wilmington 10, Washington
nothing. Not that Washington isn’t a great place, for us it didn’t work out that way. So we
all decided we were going to stay. Then, if you read any of the books about Joe Biden,
they talk about the fact that even in 1980 there were people who came to him and thought
he should get involved in that primary between Kennedy and Carter. So even in 1980 it
was clear that at some point he was going to run for president. In 1980 he became
ranking member on the Judiciary Committee, so it was kind of like his development was
like this [slants hand upwards], it wasn’t a plateau. He was a senator for all that time, but
the challenge of being ranking member of the Judiciary Committee was a gigantic
challenge. We had a wonderful person, Mark Gitenstein, who was chief counsel, he and I
got along great. And Biden was on Foreign Relations, and I got along with those folks. It
was very challenging and very interesting, and it was fulfilling my one rule, which was
you’re always still learning. The amount of learning was just like with Joe Biden, we

were both learning a lot.
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Then 1980 passes and again, in 1984, there’s talk of him running in 1984. That
goes right down to the limit. He decides he’s not going to run, but the decision was made
that he’s going to consider a run in 1988. He runs but he’s out in September of *87. Then
I was in a unique position. In February of 1988 he develops two aneurisms and had to
have brain surgery twice. For six or seven months, I was in charge. [ mean, I wasn’t the
senator, but when the aneurism hit him, we talked to the doctor and basically the doctor
said, “If he doesn’t do anything job related, I'm pretty sure he can be back by Labor Day.
He can come back before Labor Day, but then he’s got to be very careful that he only
works two days a week, or he could have a reversal and that would be bad.” So we went
through the whole thing and the basic decision was made: What he’s going to do is he’s
not going to do anything as senator until Labor day.”

An interesting sidelight to that is when he went in the Walter Reed hospital for
the operation, a lot of people were calling, including President Reagan. We talked it
over, Jill, and Jimmy, and me. We decided to say that “He’s not going to return the
president’s telephone call.” It was a beautiful example of how when you talk things
through you realize some things you might not have considered. Because when the
president of the United States calls, you call the president back. But what we quickly
figured out was—and this is the advantage of having been in Washington for a long
time—if you call Ronald Reagan back, then if the majority leader calls, you have to call
the majority leader back, and if he ends up making more and more telephone calls, we’re
in deep trouble. So he didn’t call anybody back. Ted Kennedy finally got upset about this
so he just took the train to Wilmington, got a cab, came out to his house, got out and
knocked on the door. [Laughs] He borrowed a pair of swimming trunks and they went
swimming. We were just fortunate that nobody else tried that.

He had the aneurism, and we’d come off the [Robert] Bork nomination. Very
close after that we had the [Clarence] Thomas nomination. There were all the crime bills
from that period, where he completely turned the Democratic caucus around on crime.
What happened in the Democratic caucus was back in those days you had the southern
Democrats and the northern Democrats and they didn’t agree on crime. They didn’t agree
on capital punishment, to start with. The Republicans had this kind of Nixon approach,
really tough on crime. We had this weak position, which Joe Biden never adhered to. He
went through this process of convincing the Democratic caucus That the overwhelming
victims of crime were our people—I think it was in the mid-’80s. And I’ll never forget, |
never thought this would happen, he had a press conference and the entire Democratic
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caucus endorsed his crime bill. Howell Heflin and Sam Nunn were sitting at the table,
and Howard Metzenbaum and Ted Kennedy were sitting there. He got the whole
Democratic caucus. Then he sat down with Strom Thurmond and he got all the
Republicans to sign on. So he started passing crime bills, topped with the Crime bill of
1994. So that was going on.

Early on, he had forged relationships with just about everybody that’s involved in
foreign policy, not just in the United States but around the world. He would travel to the
NATO Parliamentarians meeting. I had gone with him on a couple of trips. We got
involved in the SALT II treaty. So there was a lot of gravitas to what he was doing. Then
we got to the 1990s and about, oh, I don’t know, 1992 or 1993, I started thinking, I
know I want to do something with the rest of my life. I do not want to retire and play golf
and tennis. To do that the way I want to do it is going to take a lot of energy, because
change is very stressful and change is very difficult, and I’ve got to build a bridge to
what I’'m going to be doing next, and it’s going to take a lot of work to do that so I’ve got
to start on that ”—not young but 55, 56, 57. At the same time Bill Bradley left, John
Danforth left, Nunn left, a lot of people reached the same idea. At 54, 55, 56, 57, if you
leave then you could have another career. Like George Mitchell. I didn’t want a career
where I went to work for a corporation or a law firm or something like that. I wanted to
have a career where I had four or five different things, where no one else had a string
attached. So I started to think about that, and when that would happen.

Then in about *92 or 93 it seemed like the best time to do it would be after the
’94 election. Biden was up in *96, so in *95-’96 I would help him in that campaign, it
would be one of the five things [ was doing. I was already teaching part time at Duke
Law School. I had a number of different things. So that’s when I decided that it was time
to go. Because what I wanted was to do five things, so I sat down and wrote down a list
of ultimately 28 things that I could do, like little pieces of a puzzle. I got to eleven before
I got the five that I needed. I thought, “Well, I could be lobbying.” I went downtown and
I found out two things. One was I started talking to former chiefs of staff and they said
that people thought they were very friendly with their former senator, the person they
worked for, but they weren’t friendly, and that’s because they had gone into lobbying and
the members were very hesitant to help them because it would look like they were
passing out favors, and in fact they bent over backwards to not do much of anything for
them. Plus, when they sat in meetings with the senator, they were conflicted because of
their clients interests. But the biggest thing of all was when I went down I found out that

68



just about anybody that wanted to pay me the money that would make it worthwhile were
people that I totally disagreed with. I couldn’t find any group that supported my positions
that had any money, which is a pretty scary thing. It’s gotten worse. Now, for instance,
since the Wall Street thing, it’s been clear that it’s very difficult for any organization
that’s opposed to Wall Street to generate the funds to be competitive. I'm not talking
about campaign financing, I’m talking about just having the staff, and the thinkers, and
the think tanks to be able to compete in the intellectual battle and the political battle. So I
found out that’s not what [ was going to do.

But I was teaching. Fortunately, they were just starting the Broadcasting Board of
Governors, which was overseeing all U S international broadcasting, which was the result
of another Biden-Helms bill, where he had worked with Jesse Helms. They had taken all
U.S. international broadcasting and put it under this one organization, and took it out of
the U.S. Informational Agency. They had a board with nine members: four Republicans,
four Democrats and the secretary of state. They were just starting that up and there was a
real problem with who they were going to get on it. Senator Biden said, “Ted, would you
like to serve?” And I did, I served for 13 years. That was a nice piece of the puzzle. The
Duke teaching was a nice piece of the puzzle. I did some consulting, and I also was
working on his campaigns. So it made a very good exit.

RITCHIE: Going back to when he came in as the youngest senator. A lot of
those senators had been there forever. There had been a long stability of Democratic
majorities and people had been chairmen for many years, while others were waiting to
move up. And then in 1976, °78, *80 there were huge changes, 20 or so new senators in
each Congress, so that he went from being junior to being fairly senior in a very short
time.

KAUFMAN: Yes. We had kind of doped this out, too. We had looked at the
Judiciary Committee member seniority list, when he was picking his committees. He
liked to be on Judiciary, but one of the big reasons he got on it was because he looked at
the list and the senior senators were Kennedy—so Joe would probably get a
subcommittee pretty quickly. Byrd, he’d never stand in the way. Eastland was at the end
of his days. So he had been in the Senate for only eight years when he became ranking
member of the Judiciary Committee. It was fortunate that Kennedy decided he’d rather
go over and do Labor and not take Judiciary, but he would have been number two to
Kennedy, which would have been great. Part of it is just the passage of members, but part
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of it, too, was the strategy of the committee he selected.

RITCHIE: Then the other big thing was the election of 1980, when the
Republicans won the majority for the first time in 26 years. How did life change for a
Democratic senator who had been in the majority for all that time and was now in the
minority?

KAUFMAN: First off, where you are in the minority matters. He became the
ranking minority member of Judiciary, so in terms of actually influencing things, he was
in a good position. Number two is, and it’s one of the funny things about the Senate, you
are better off, in terms of being able to put your ideas into the game, and be successful,
and move where you want to go, when you are ranking minority member of a committee
with the president of the United States of the other party, than if you are chairman of the
committee with a president of your party. I would hazard a guess that from 1981 through
1991 there was no one on the Sunday talk shows more than Joe Biden. Clearly, during
the Reagan and Bush eras, because he was on Foreign Relations and Judiciary, he was
asked a whole lot. Now, Joe Biden was chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee
during the Bush years and he set a record, I think, for being on the Sunday shows. When
Clinton was president, Biden was on a lot, but not as much because the secretary of state
was on, the national security advisor goes on, the secretary of defense goes on, you had
all these people in the administration who were spokespersons on those shows. And you
have to realign whatever it is you’re saying—I’m not talking about violating your
principles, but you have to realign whatever it is you say to the administration. So I’'m
sure that John Kerry—I’m not saying that he would change his position or anything, but
just watching him I’m sure what he would be saying would have more edge on it, more
appeal, and get more headlines, if there was a Republican president right now.

Then Biden was a presidential candidate. We had the Supreme Court wars. We
had the crime bill. We had a lot of stuff in Foreign Relations, we had South Africa. He
was big, as I said, on SALT II. In 1984 he made the basic decision that he was going to
serve on just two committees. It was fascinating that no senator is on two or three
committees. Everybody’s on four, five or six committees. They start making waivers.
You’re only supposed to be on a small number of committees but they waive that, which
is one of the big problems in the Senate now. They have put in so many waivers that
senators are on too many committees. They don’t have time to really look into things
because their responsibilities are spread so thin. Then they take on a subcommittee and
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don’t have time to chair the subcommittee because they’re over being busy with being
chairman of another committee, and that whole area just lies fallow. But he cut back to
two committees and really put time into both those committees, hired good staff. So it
was really challenging during that period and really gave you a feeling that you were
accomplishing a lot being part of that, trying to make a difference. He and I used to say,
“What did you do during the war, Daddy?”” When the country needed you, what did you
do? We felt good about our answer to that question.

RITCHIE: Before you mentioned the fact that he had some amendments with
Jesse Helms. He also had an interesting relationship with Strom Thurmond. He seems to
have been able to make alliances across the aisle, on certain issues at least.

KAUFMAN: When he was running for president, as shorthand, I would say to
people, “One of the big reasons he should be president is because I’ve never met anybody
who could go into a room full of disparate views, find out what the common ground is,
and get everybody to agree to move forward.” He’s done that time and time again, and
without betraying his principles. You know, Strom Thurmond was one of the most
conservative members of the Senate ever, and he did a number of major issues with
Strom Thurmond. The same thing with Jesse Helms, who was called “Senator No,” and
yet Joe Biden got the Chemical Weapons Treaty, the Broadcasting bill, and loads of other
things he passed with Jesse Helms. The thing that’s fascinating about it is that both of
those senators, when they died, had asked that he be one of the people to eulogized them.
He just has an extraordinary ability to bring people of disparate views together and find a

common ground.

RITCHIE: Senator Helms had devised that process of introducing amendments
on emotional issues, on everything from school busing to abortion, to try to put other
senators on the spot, force them to take a stand. Those were difficult issues for Senator
Biden at the time—

KAUFMAN: Not really. That’s overdone. Again, Joe Biden’s never been one to
parse issues. His basic approach is how you deal with issues. It really was the best thing
to let people know where you stand and then stand there. He wasn’t someone who spent
hours sitting around worrying that “Helms has got an amendment, what should I do about
it?” It may have been a problem for some other senators. Of course, now it’s been raised

to an art form. In the two years [ was in the Senate, you look around at these amendments
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and you just want to laugh. They weren’t designed to ever be passed, they were totally
designed just to able to be wrapped up into a 30-second spot. A lot of that started in the
’80s. Max Cleland was much later. Bob Morgan was defeated by John East because of a
vote that implied he was opposed to the military. It was some phoney-baloney
amendment that was not at all what it was about, but it sounded that way. NCPAC, 1
guess, the National Conservative Political Action Committee, back in the *70s and ’80s,
they were the ones that got senators to do things like that. But I can remember Joe Biden
would sit with Helms for hours on the Chemical Weapons Treaty.

RITCHIE: I noticed that in the 1980s you were a member of the Democrats for
the *80s and the tactical committee of the DNC. Were you getting more involved in
national politics?

KAUFMAN: The Democrats for the *80s was a group that was started here in
Delaware to win the House and Senate and help bring candidates along. The Democrats
for the *80s was a totally Delaware thing. But I was more involved in the DNC. The DNC
had a committee to look at different ways to improve—I can’t remember what year it
was. But I was much more involved with the DNC, and the Senate in terms of working
with the sergeant at arms, the secretary of the Senate, and other chiefs of staff, the
Congressional Management Foundation, and things like that, because I was a pretty
senior guy, and I think because of my Wharton training people thought that maybe I
knew more about how to organize the Senate, having been in the Senate for a number of
years, not general organization and administration but specifically to the Senate. I used to
meet with the different reform committees that were dealing with what we should be
doing, yes.

RITCHIE: I was wondering if the fact that the Democrats were in the minority
from 1980 to ’86, there was some rethinking of what the party should be doing.

KAUFMAN: On the national level? Not really. It’s really amazing. The DNC, in
terms of what it’s doing in terms of strategy, has become almost irrelevant. Today, the
presidential candidates set the tone. If you have an incumbent president, that sets the
tone. We didn’t have either of those things. Elected officials today, as I said before, are
very entrepreneurial. I don’t think there was anything that went on during that period
where the party made much of a difference. | know Howard Dean put people in the
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districts and things like that, and I think that was helpful, and he doesn’t get enough
credit for that. But the Senate Campaign Committee became just a total money machine.
We used to have meetings at least every two years where candidates would sit down and
go over what the last election was like. We did it after *78. We did it after ’80.
Somewhere along the line they just said, “Look, what we need the Democratic Senatorial
Campaign Committee to do is raise as much money as it can.” So there isn’t a lot of
Democratic Party strategy—I mean even until this day the DNC doesn’t direct things. Let
me put it this way: over the years since I’ve been involved, starting in 1971, there’s been
a constant erosion of parties having any impact on just about anything. Outside of the
organization of the House and senate, parties have become effete.

There are two big reasons for the change from when I was first involved in *70.
One is patronage. On the local level, parties used to be a lot more powerful because they
had a lot of people involved, and the reason that a lot of people were involved was
because if you’re lower middle class or middle class, it’s a chance to get a job. It was
good we did away with patronage, but all of a sudden going into a working class district
and trying to get committee people was very difficult. The other problem was we moved
to primaries, another good idea, and did away with the caucuses. There were a lot of
people at the upper middle class and above who were involved with the party to actually
affect ideas. The way you did that was you got to pick who the candidates were. Well,
when you did away with the caucuses, and went to primaries, the candidates stopped
showing up at the party events. The Republicans have always been more party-centric
and more party organized than us. We’ve just atrophied to the fact where the DNC and
Democratic Senatorial Campaign Committee are just about raising money for the
candidates. It’s funny because you read in the paper that “the Republican Party is putting
pressure on so-and-so to run for office.” I'm like, “Oh, yeah, really?” Forty years ago the
Republican and Democratic Party could tell someone, “Hey, Ted, you want to run for
governor some day? Well, we need you to run for the Senate this time.” If you turned it
down, when it came time to run for governor you have to go by the same party people,
and you weren’t there when they wanted you. That is totally gone. There is no way any
party can put that kind of pressure on someone. Now, when you get into the Congress,
the congressional leadership can put pressure on you. But the only place where the
parties really function anymore, in my opinion, is—I assume the state legislatures—and
the Congress. That’s the only place where we’ve got the aisle with Republicans on one
side and Democrats on the other. But outside of there, my personal feeling is the parties
are effete.
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RITCHIE: Mentioning that the parties are stronger inside of Congress, what was
your impression of the Democratic Party leadership during the *70s and *80s?

KAUFMAN: Good leaders. Mansfield was great. Byrd was great. Mitchell was
fabulous. I wasn’t around with [Tom] Daschle. I was trying to think when Mitchell left.

RITCHIE: He left in ’94.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, he left with me. I wasn’t around with Daschle, but I hear
good things about Daschle as leader. I believe to the bottom of my being the selection of
Daschle and Reid as majority leader was when we really decided that it was more
important to have an inside person, someone who could make the Senate function,
although Robert Byrd never went on any of the Sunday shows, and Mansfield wasn’t,
there wasn’t much of that back then.

RITCHIE: They always had to have three or four times as many questions for
Mansfield when he went on TV because he would always answer “yep” and “nope.”

KAUFMAN: Exactly, he was great. But I think they had great leadership and I
think they had great senators. A friend of mine, Ira Shapiro, is writing a book about how
great the *60s and *70s were. I think he is right in most respects, people should not forget
about a lot of the misuse of power by committee chairs during that period. I think that a
lot of our problems are our move to more and more transparency. People can now see a
lot more about what’s going on. I do not think it’s a coincidence that the institution in
Washington held in the highest regard is the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court is the
least transparent of the three. I think a lot of the reforms on campaigns and gifts now puts
it in the public record, where press, media either responsibly or irresponsibly present data
that puts a negative spin on the Congress. But I also think one of the biggest problems
with Congress is that neither legislation nor sausage looks good being made. It was
counterintuitive to me until I thought about it for a while and that is that most of the
people who watch C-SPAN hold the Congress in the least regard. There are so many
people who believe that Congress is what’s on C-SPAN. Anecdotally it’s always, “No
one is on the floor,” and the rest of it, which is what you hear a million times. You say,
“Well, that’s not really where the Senate does its work, that’s the place of record. Do you
watch the committee hearings?” I get that blank look, “Committee hearing? What the hell

is a committee hearing?”’
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So the Congress has been through a difficult time. I think one of the biggest
problems has been the fact that we controlled the House—I’m a Democrat but we
controlled the House way too long. In the last years of those 40 years we did some things
to the minority that just set them off on a tong war. Then we’re back at them, they’re
back at us. It’s kind of like what went on with the judicial nominations in the Senate. The
pendulum swings and the Democrats are in charge and they do this, that, and the other
thing. The Republicans are in charge and they’re going to do it back and one more.
That’s part of the problem.

To talk about civility, which we’re going to talk about at some point, I think
civility was worse in the mid *90s when I left. I think a lot of it was the term limit folks.
And a lot of the Republicans came over who had been victims of some of the draconian
rules the Democrats put in during their last years in power. They came over with a real
chip on their shoulder and there was real dislike between people. I think there are people
who are annoyed at what senators do, but I don’t detect—although my colleagues believe
it—I don’t detect a lot of personal animosity being in the way of getting things done. I
think what’s in the way of getting things done is there’s a very distinct difference in the
country over how to proceed. If you look at the concentration of people, the red states are
becoming redder, the blue states bluer. If you look at the polling data, and look at these
issues, and you look where the split is, this is not something that is fabricated in
Washington.

One of the things I teach in my course is one of the big things that makes people
mad, what they hate more than anything practically, is partisan bickering in Washington.
“It’s all partisan bickering. It’s all politics. If they ever get away from partisan bickering .
.. look what happened on 9/11. Everybody worked together.” Well, everybody agreed
after 9/11 that we should do something. There was total unanimity about what we should
do. Find me another issue like that! Cap and trade? Abortion? Guns? Find me another
issue that over 50 percent of the people agree on. You’ve got 40-40-20: 40 percent for, 40
percent against, 20 percent undecided. Debt limit extension, healthcare reform, you name
it, this country is split right down the middle. This is my engineering background: Okay,
I got it; the people are split; this is a representative democracy; members are supposed to
represent what the people think; they’re not getting along; it’s them! I don’t get it. It’s
written so often, and the media is just slavish to this. “John Boehner has never done a
single thing in his life that wasn’t political. He has no principles. He doesn’t care about
anything.” I mean, they write these stories about the debt limit bill like everything is
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about positioning in politics. Now, is some of this positioning in politics? Absolutely
right. Are they trying to win the election? Right, they’re trying to win the election so that
their idea can be conveyed, that’s why they’re doing it. But they are reflecting the very
stark differences between their constituents. There’s a difference between that and a lack
of civility. Lack of civility is when you just don’t like people, and I’ll tell you what, in
the mid-"90s there were a bunch of senators that lots of senators just didn’t like. Again, I
think there are some members who got people upset. Members who got me upset. But it
wasn’t personal. It wasn’t “I think they’re bad people.” That’s the problem. There are a
number of people, including people in my own caucus, who just hold very different
opinions. It isn’t about their personality. I don’t go out and vote against an amendment
they offered because I don’t like them. I didn’t see much of that in the two years I was
there. I saw more in the late *80s and early "90s.

RITCHIE: One of the biggest changes was in the nature of the parties
themselves. In your caucus, when you were a senator, there really wasn’t a huge
difference between the furthest to the left and the furthest to the right, and the same thing
in the Republican Conference. There’s a lot more unanimity in both conferences.
Whereas when you came to the Senate in the *70s those two parties were internally split
with liberal and conservative wings.

KAUFMAN: Yes, [ used to have a saying—in fact [ wrote an article about this in
the Delaware Lawyer about this—it had to do with Delaware but it also was a national
trend. That was in the *90s when I started saying to people, “The bad news is the
Democrats lost the South. The good news is the Democrats lost the South.” What was
becoming clearer to me was that the Democratic Party had been a split party, and a lot of
the problems of the *60s and *70s had been that the southern Democratic Party was very
conservative while the northern Democratic Party was very liberal. This was especially
true in Delaware. We talked about the canal that goes down through the middle of the
state. There’s their side of the canal and our side of the canal. Our side of the canal is like
New York and Philadelphia and Baltimore and Washington, right down I-95. Below the
canal is the Delmarva Peninsula, which culturally and politically is more like Alabama
and Mississippi. One of the reasons why when Joe Biden ran for president in 1987 he did
very well in the South, and did very well in Mississippi, in fact, even though he was out
of the race early, he had the Democratic governor of Mississippi and the Democratic state
chairman in Mississippi endorse him for president. People would say, “That’s
astonishing.” I would say, “No, he goes down there and it’s just like Sussex County, it’s
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about family values and things like that.”

My point was, okay we’re going to lose the South, but we’re going to pick up a
lot of these northern states. Starting at the Atlantic Ocean and going Ohio, Indiana,
Michigan, straight on out there. For the Democratic Party - guns are impossible in the
South. I saw the numbers on [Michael] Dukakis, with his position on guns he couldn’t
win one of those southern states, not one. What you had was a regional consolidation of
the parties. You have people in neighborhoods and communities more and more agreeing
with what their neighbors thought. So the Democratic Party caucus moved, as you said,
we went from eight congresspersons from Georgia to losing seven of them. But at the

same time we were gaining in the North.

What I wrote in my piece about Delaware was that you were going to see more
and more Delaware becoming a Democratic state. Up until 2000, for 60 years, if you
knew how Delaware did in a presidential race, the percentages, you would know within
one or two percent what the percentages were in the United States. It was a perfect
microcosm of the United States. Then in 2000 it went with [Al] Gore. But by the time
you get to 2004 it went with [John] Kerry by six percent. In 2002 Joe Biden was up.
There’s a technique in campaigning called targeting, I don’t know if you’re familiar with
it, but what you do is you don’t use any polling data, you just look at the voting results,
and you begin to find out what districts are Democratic districts, what districts are
Republican districts, but more important where the persuadable voters are. There’s a
computer program you can buy that says, “Look if you can only campaign in one district
in the state, this is the one, because these people will split their votes. The Democrats will
vote Democratic and the Republicans will split their votes and vote Democratic if they
get the right candidate. So that’s where you want to be because that’s where the
persuadable are and you’re trying to get the persuadable voters.”

We did a targeted analysis, because you make a lot of your decisions on
scheduling because you want to be in the persuadable areas. There’s a guy that does it for
the Democratic Party who’s just absolutely wonderful, I’ve known him for 30 years, a
guy by the name of Mark Gersh. So we get the stuff in 2002 and we open it up and I say,
“Oh, my God, this is wrong! This is crazy!” The district where I lived, where I told you I
was the chair, was a totally Republican district in the early 70s. When we did targeting
for the 1972 race, this district was the most Republican in the state. Two thousand and
two comes and it’s now the most persuadable district in the state. I called Mark Gersh
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and I said, “Mark, this data is wrong.” He said, “Tell me about the district, is it
suburban?” I said, “Yes.” He asked me a few more questions and he said, “Yeah, you
look around. All those districts like that are going Democratic.” The same in
Pennsylvania. I think Pennsylvania in 2008, something like 600,000 people left the
Republican Party, because the Republican Party by uniting around a southern base had
become a party where most of the Republicans in the party back when it was split North
and South, the northern ones were fiscal conservatives, but more moderate on the social
issues. They were country club Republicans. They were George Herbert Walker Bush
Republicans. A lot of them were libertarians. What happened was, they started turning
Democratic.

I was talking to a guy I know, a pollster, and I said I really think it was Hurricane
Katrina that moved people. A lot of people were moved by Katrina because it goes to
competence. The Republicans think they were competent, but in fact they were
incompetent on Katrina. He said, “You’re right, but you really know what did it? Terri
Shiavo.” He said, “When those moderate, social conservative, libertarian Republicans
north of the Mason-Dixon line saw the Republican president of the United States, who
never called a special session of Congress, came to DC from his ranch and called a
special session and brought the Congress back to Washington to determine whether a
tube should be pulled from a woman in Florida, it went against states’ rights, it went
against libertarianism, it went against everything.” He said, “That’s the thing where they
just decided this ain’t my party anymore.” You could just see it, that’s how it happened.
So I don’t think the problem is so much that the Democratic caucus is more Democratic
than it was. But I also think there was a lot more party discipline.

Clearly, Sam Nunn was more conservative than Arlen Specter, got it. Arlen
Specter is more liberal than Sam Nunn, so you had that split. But right now you look at
that Democratic caucus and you look at where it really matters, you’ve got a bunch of
people who are more conservative—it’s a little bit like—this is a very good point—I
have figured something out that I have been tussling with. The Republicans are more
solid and the Democrats are more solid. You don’t have the overlap like Sam Nunn and
Arlen Specter. The Republicans, if you look at the spectrum, which used to have the bulk
of the people at either end and then the curve went down and right in the middle you had
Republicans like Specter who were over in what would normally be Democratic airspace,
and Democrats who were over in Republican airspace. I think what’s happened is, and I
need to think more about this, is the Republicans have moved further to the right. It’s not
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like the two of them have consolidated. So you’ve got a guy like Ben Nelson, who’s a
pretty conservative guy. You’ve got Evan Bayh, who’s a pretty conservative guy. You’ve
got Mary Landrieu, Blanche Lincoln. You’ve got some pretty conservative people, who
when Arlen Specter was a Republican there would have been overlap. But what’s
happened is Olympia Snowe and Susan Collins have moved.

The discipline in the Republican caucus is incredible. You’ve got a much tighter
bunch of the Republicans further to the right. The Democrats really haven’t changed that
much. By the way, now that I think about it, I don’t think that the Democratic makeup
has changed. There were southern Democrats, it’s changed a lot since Sparkman and
Eastland, since 1973, but I think recently it’s much more about the Republican Party
becoming much more uniformly conservative. But, the Democratic Party hasn’t become
more uniformly liberal.

RITCHIE: I remember that in the late *80s even Barry Goldwater was being
described as a moderate because his party was shifting underneath him, even though he
hadn’t changed his positions.

KAUFMAN: Barry Goldwater was more like H. W. Bush. Barry Goldwater was
not a social conservative. Barry Goldwater would not vote to restrict abortion or those
kinds of issues. Strangely, he was in the Southwest, but his conservatism was not about
the social issues, so he was out of step with the social conservatives.

RITCHIE: It’s an interesting phenomenon on politics that if you stand still, you
can appear to be changing.

KAUFMAN: I think at certain times that happens, but normally that’s not what
happens. What’s going on now is a real realignment. What’s going on now in
Montgomery County, Pennsylvania, is not that people are leaving the Republican party,
it’s the Republican party is leaving them. And I think to a certain extent what’s happened
in certain districts in Georgia is—although the Democratic Party has not really moved.
We did our movement in the *60s and ’70s. The Democratic Party did a lot of moving in
the *70s. If you look at the Watergate babies, you see a lot of those Eastland, Stennis,
Talmadge guys being replaced by Wyche Fowler, Max Cleland, and a lot more moderate
Democrats coming out of the South. Dale Bumpers coming in. Of course, he took
Fulbright’s place, so that’s not fair to say, now that I think about it. I’'m trying to think
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more about Louisiana with Bennett Johnston or Lloyd Bentsen in Texas.

RITCHIE: To some degree there was a difference between the personalities
there now and those in the 1970s. There’s been a shift since then of where people are
located politically, which has resulted in the Democratic Conference more and more
voting as a whole versus the Republican Conference voting as a whole.

KAUFMAN: Yes, but I think one of the mistakes that all of us who are students
of the Senate and the House make is we that underrate how much what’s happening in
the country is driving what’s happening in the Congress. And of course, in many issues,
what happens in the Congress does drive it, but I always think back to pay raises. We
came back one year, I can’t remember what year it was, and House Speaker Jim Wright
had this strategy for voting to pass the pay raise. You remember what it was, we’ve got it
all doped out, it’s the whole deal. I can’t remember who was majority leader in the
Senate but it was Jim Wright’s deal. He was going to get it through the House and
everybody was going to get a pay raise. I'm talking to people and they’re already
spending the money. I was saying, “I don’t think that Jim Wright can deliver on this
one.” One of the issues that I think the American people are most energized by is pay
raises. Sure enough, Jim Wright got everybody lined up and somebody in the House or
Senate got up and resolved that no money in this bill should be used for pay raise and the
whole thing went down the tube. Because the American people were furious about it.

I think the Congress is to a large extent a reflection of what’s going on in the
country, and I think what’s going on in the country is a consolidation of Republican
positions. One of the things that’s going on, that’s really fascinating, is everybody now
keeps talking about the independents. But the independents are now disproportionately
Republican because they’re the ones who moved. The Democrats aren’t moving. When
you move, from talking to pollsters over the years, when you’re in a race and you see
people move from undecided, they don’t move from Republican to Democratic, they
move from Republican to undecided, and then to the Democrats. You have this whole
movement. For instance, the independents in Pennsylvania, I’'m sure are much more
heavily Republican. Because you look at the numbers, like in Delaware, Delaware for
years was 35 percent Democratic, 33 percent Republican, and the rest independents. Now
it’s 47 percent Democratic—47 percent! Now I’'m sure those independents are a lot more
Republican than way back.
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The other thing to keep in mind—one of the things I learned from being there—is
a lot of Democrats complain about why we can’t do anything about guns. It is fascinating
to see what kind of gun bills can pass the Senate. This thing about being able to carry
guns in a national park. And being able to carry guns on trains. Anything that comes out
on guns, people vote for it. What became clear right from the beginning was the reason
we had 60 Democratic votes was because of a whole group of very attractive Democratic
candidates who were Democratic in every way, shape or form but just said yes on
guns—the Udalls, Mark Warner, Jim Webb, I think Mike Bennet—there are a whole
bunch of Democrats who if they had not taken the gun position wouldn’t be senators
today. Some of this is very difficult to broad stroke what’s going on.

RITCHIE: There’s always compromise in politics. Alben Barkley once said that
the way to become a great senator was first to get elected to the Senate. You have to
compromise just to get elected.

KAUFMAN: I think that’s right, but one thing I use in my class, and sometimes
when I’m speaking now, is if you came from Mars and read the press for a while, you
would absolutely believe that as a matter of fact, a hundred percent of the time that all
members of Congress care about is reelection. I mean, this goes back to talking about
John Boehner and all that, that there’s never a thing that’s done that’s not all about
reelection. I say, “There are several contradictory ideas here.” I say to the audience,
“How many people think senators have big egos?”” Every hand goes up and they laugh. I
say, “They do have big egos. In order to believe that all they care about is reelection you
have to believe the following: that someone with a gigantic ego decides to run for the
Senate, go through raising money, kissing babies, and all the things you have to do to get
elected, gets elected, comes in and sits down in his office and says, ‘Okay, bring me the
polling data because the whole time I’m here I'm just going to vote the way my
electorate wants me to vote. I’'m not going to take into account anything I want to do.” Do
you just think they just want to have senator by their name?” That’s just totally
incomprehensible. They come to the Senate because there are things they want to get
done.

Most of the time what they want to get done—this goes back to the whole cultural
thing—Ilike the gas tax. In Delaware, many of my friends say, “Why can’t we do
something about the gas tax? We should raise the gas tax.” Go and explain that to the guy
from Wyoming. Do you think that he’s just selling out by opposing a tax increase, or do
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you think the fact that he’s from Wyoming means he just doesn’t believe that the farmers
and ranchers from Wyoming should have to pick up this gigantic burden when they’re
driving 100 to 150 miles a day. Even members of Congress almost buy into this, but I
think that most members of Congress are the kind of people who are going to do very
much without getting to do it the way they want to do it. As a group, they just don’t strike
me as a “I’'m going to take my Castor oil” group. They aren’t Castor oil guys. The fact of
the matter is, most of the time they agree with what their back-home constituents want. I
go back to what we talked about earlier: I think if they were elected for life most
members would vote the same way as they do now. They’ve done a number of studies on
people who have announced their retirement. Their voting record turns out to be a whole
lot similar to the way they voted before. I think that most of this is a manifestation of the
change in the position of the electorate, and therefore who the electorate will elect, and
what the people they elect believe. Does that make sense?

RITCHIE: Mmm-hmm. You mentioned earlier that the voters don’t like so much
bickering, but then they elect people who don’t agree with each other.

KAUFMAN: And there have been so many studies that show that people really
don’t want to compromise. Like, for instance, people say they don’t want to cut Medicare
and Medicaid. Then they say, “Medicare, oh the seniors are just selfish.” No, no, you
know what the problem is? Some incredible number of people, over 45 percent of the
people think that if they cut foreign aid they could balance the budget. Foreign aid is
about 1% of the budget. Well, if you’re thinking that cutting foreign aid can balance the
budget, why in the hell would you cut Medicare and Medicaid or Social Security? Right
now, [ don’t think there’s a whole lot of feeling among the electorate for compromise.

RITCHIE: You mentioned earlier the salary issue, which caused a huge political
explosion and led to the constitutional amendment. There were in the late *80s efforts to
control outside earning by senators and to do away with honoraria, and raise the salary as
compensation. Does that put a burden on someone like Joe Biden, who really wasn’t
wealthy when he came to Congress?

KAUFMAN: Oh, yes, there’s no doubt. He took honoraria and he did it for years,
but he got to the heart of it, which was he didn’t take honoraria from anyone who lobbied
before the Congress. The problem with honoraria was it started out being like so many
things in life, not so bad, and then some senator would get take an honorarium for going
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down to the Hyatt Regency and speaking to 10 people and get $2,000. I'm in the process
of writing a piece on the revolving door. There are massive problems with regard to
conflict of interest. If you had to say what are the things that have been going on in the 40
years that you’ve been doing this that most disappoint you, one of them is that nobody
recognizes conflict of interest. You see so often potential conflict of interest. There’s
rarely a potential conflict of interest, there’s conflict of interest. There’s “potential”
because conflict of interest has taken on this kind of “you’re calling me a crook”
response. No, I’m not calling you a crook, I’'m just saying that if your wife is a lobbyist
for a company and the company comes to you and asks you for something, you have a
conflict of interest. Whether you do something bad or not is a totally different thing.

If you make a ruling, like what happened on the FCC on the Comcast-NBC issue,
if you’re a member of the FCC and you rule that Comcast should win, and then six
months later you go to work for them, that is not a potential conflict of interest, you were
involved in a conflict of interest. If you’re on the FCC and you’re looking for a job,
there’s maybe five, ten, fifteen, twenty—a lot less than that—companies you can go to
work for. For you to make this decision, you know if you vote no, the chance of you
getting to work for Comcast is zero. So there’s a conflict of interest there. People don’t
recognize this. I’ve been in these situations where someone says, “Yeah, there’s conflict

of interest, now what are we going to do?”

You’ve got the revolving door, and all kinds of conflicts, and members have
conflicts, too. Honorarium can potentially create a conflict and we did away with that. It
was really smart to do away with it. You really want to get sick? Go and look at during
the healthcare reform, where they have a healthcare forum, and they’ve got the top
newspaper columnists in American coming out there and getting paid $25,000 to give a
speech by someone who has a distinct interest in what’s going on in the healthcare bill.
That’s the kind of thing. I think one of the reasons why the Congress—and I used to be
able to say this until we got what’s his name? Jack whatever. I like to forget these bums’

names.
RITCHIE: Abramoft?

KAUFMAN: Yes, Ilike to forget their name, that’s a senior right. You have
these guys who have the potential—see, I just said it myself, potential conflict of interest
with old House Ways and Means Committee chairman, Charlie—
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RITCHIE: Charlie Rangel.

KAUFMAN: That’s not a potential conflict of interest when you’re writing
letters on your committee stationery asking people to contribute, that’s just straight out
conflict of interest. I used to say it, and I believe it, that when you start talking about how
bad the Congress is from a corruption standpoint, you go look at any legislative body in
the world. Let’s start with the big ones, let’s start with England, with all the problems
they’ve had like that expense scandal, which was out of this world. You have Japan,
where they seem to have one every week. You’ve got Germany. France, oh, my God! So
we have all those rules and I think in a strange way since there’s so much transparency
it’s easier for people to write their stories being critical and put the Congress in a bad
place. The Knesset, you have a hard time finding a legislative body, that is as corruption
free as the United States Congress.

RITCHIE: The other interesting thing about members of Congress is that some
of them leave office when they realize that their former staff are earning more money
than they are on the outside as lobbyists. I think of Don Nickles who gave up being
chairman of the Budget Committee. He had a safe seat but decided to leave to earn some

money.

KAUFMAN: I’ll tell you what, I’'ll be very interested to see how many of these
guys who left are happy. Don Nickles used to show up at the senate prayer breakfasts
every Wednesday morning, I do not know, but I felt he really missed being a senator. A
lot of the people who left, John Danforth didn’t need the money, Bill Bradley didn’t need
the money. Here’s my analysis on money, in the contrast between Jim Wright and
George Mitchell. Jim Wright and George Mitchell were extreme examples, one was
Speaker of the House and the other majority leader of the Senate, very powerful people.
Some of his Jim Wright’s friends gave the rationale for what he did as: he has these
friends who have their own plane, they have their own island, they have all these things,
and he’s more powerful than all of them. Why shouldn’t he be able to have these things?
Jim Wright had to resign because of the scandal.

This was why George Mitchell was so great. He said that when you’re in a
position in government, or any position, and you have to make a decision between what’s
unethical or even worse illegal, you have to make that decision, and George Mitchell
looked at exactly that same situation when he was majority leader. He couldn’t travel and
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do all these other things these other guys were doing, so he left the Senate. That’s what
Jim Wright should have done. He should have left the House. Don’t cry for me
Argentina, the people I feel bad for are those senate members and staff whose kids get to
college age and they have to leave the senate to pay for their kid’s college. But, I tell you
what, the great thing about the federal government is it’s like a moveable feast, you can
come back. I just think this is a standard decision that everyone has to make, and that is
what is important to you.

I have a thing I say to young people—it doesn’t apply to others—but I say to
people who come and talk to me about trying to do public service or not, and whether
they can afford it because they’ve got college loans, a lot of my students. I say,
“Everyone is on a continuum with Mother Teresa on one end and Gordon Gekko of Wall
Street on the other. Gordon Gekko would do anything for money. Mother Teresa didn’t
care about money a bit. You’re on that continuum somewhere, and I believe where you
are is hardwired into you. I believe that most of it us are born with, with maybe a little is
an acquired nature, but when you reach maturity you’re hardwired on that and your
happiness is going to relate to where you are on that continuum. Some people can work,
not make a dime their whole lives, scrimp and save, and die happy. Other people can
make a zillion dollars and be unhappy. It depends on what you are.

I think a guy like George Mitchell sat there and said here’s where I am on this
continuum, I’ve been doing this for a long time and it’s time to leave. Of course, George
Mitchell is my idol, I used to watch the Senate, especially the last few years when I was
working staff. It would be evening and they couldn’t get an agreement on something. I’d
see Mitchell on the floor. The camera panned to him and I swear to God you could read
his mind. You just looked at his face and it was like, “Why did I ever take this job?
George, what were you thinking about when you took this job.” I don’t think George left
for money. I think he thought, I’ve done a lot, I’ve given a lot, it’s time for me to kick
back and live a little. I think it’s the same way about federal judges. It’s one of the most
personal decisions of all time, not how much money do you have but how much do you
need. How much money do you need and then how much money do you want. By the
way George Mitchell gave up a lifetime appointment as a federal judge to take Ed
Muskie’s seat in the senate. He and I are, I think, the only Senate chiefs of staff in history
who were appointed to their senator’s seat.

I always tell young people, who say that they want to do public service but have
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student loans and especially law students who can go to work for law firms for two or
three years and pay them off. I say, “Here’s one test: it isn’t how much you make, it’s
how much you spend. If you allow your needs and wants to grow to your salary, as
opposed to maintaining your needs and banking the difference, then you don’t have a
future in public service. I’ve seen all kinds of good people who had to turn down really
good jobs in the federal government. They were almost crying when they said they
couldn’t do it. But they had two homes, they had a country club membership, they had
kids that they were sending to private school. I'm talking about the necessary things.
They had a lifestyle, they had a monthly nut that they just couldn’t go below. There are
more and more people like this because of the disparity between public and private pay.
Back in my day, when I came to the Senate I got a slight increase in pay, but there really
wasn’t a whole lot of difference. If you’re a vice president for some company you can be
paid two, five, seven million dollars a year. To go back and be paid $170,000 or slightly
more, you just can’t afford to do that. So I think it’s a continuing kind of problem,
probably exacerbated by the tax breaks that have allowed such a small number of people
to have such a disproportionate amount of wealth.

RITCHIE: The irony is that senators are raising millions of dollars to run for an
office whose salary is less than $200,000. It seems out of whack.

KAUFMAN: Well, with all these things, it’s only out of whack to the extent that
money determines things. One of the problems we have in society today is that money,
money, money is the most important thing in the world. You know, I’'m 72 years old. I
have financial wherewithal and all the rest of that stuff, but most of the things for me, the
way I’m hot-wired, and what I’'m happiest about what I did, were not related to money.
I’m not ready to say that it’s unusual for someone to raise two million dollars to get a
$176,000 job, because it’s not the two million dollars or the $176,000, it’s, I want to
make a difference. This is the job that makes a difference, and this is what [ have to do to
get there. Because I don’t give a damn about the money—not that I don’t care, but the
money’s not driving me.

I’ll tell you, when you go up to New York and Wall Street, so much of it is,
“You’re making $200,000 and he’s making $400,000, he’s twice as good as you are.” |
remember a reporter told me, “How could a Securities and Exchange lawyer ever win a
case making $400,000 a year working against one of these white collar crime guys up in
New York making three million dollars?” I said, “Well, there isn’t anybody at the SEC
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making $400,000 a year, just to start there.” It was so out of touch with what’s going on.
I always say to people that I enjoy going to Mass on Sunday morning and one of the
reasons why I enjoy going it is because it’s still a place where you can say “do unto
others as others do unto you” and people believe it. “Be my brother’s keeper” and all
those kinds of things. I do think that when I sit down with people who say, “I want to be
a federal judge but I can’t afford to take it,” when a federal judge is guaranteed a salary
for the rest of their life, of like $184,000 a year, I’'m not going to feel sorry for you if
you’re not taking a federal judgeship. I don’t believe the quality of our judges is
suffering. I believe that anybody who says its all about money, that they wouldn’t take a
federal judgeship because $184,000 for life isn’t enough—that’s the best deal. Now, does
it compare to being a partner at Skadden and making five millions dollars? No. Although
I’ll tell you what, if you’re about 60 or 65, it’s damn close. One of the interesting
things—what time do you have to go?

RITCHIE: My train is 4:26 and it’s 20 minutes to 4 now. You know the route.

KAUFMAN: Yes, we’re pretty close, but I hate running for trains, so I’d say 10
more minutes.

RITCHIE: Tomorrow I’d like to talk about your service in the Senate.

KAUFMAN: Yes, this will be great, I’ll give it to Joe Biden. Senator Biden
here’s your life.

RITCHIE: Well, this was lead-up to your service.

KAUFMAN: No, let me say that when you’re chief of staff to a United States
senator, you are inextricably tied to that senator. That’s just the way it is. So this is my
story. My memoirs for those 22 years, extracting my personal life, it was Joe Biden every
day, all day.

RITCHIE: I was interested in something you said earlier about there being a
period when you were in a sense acting as the senator because he was ill. But there was
also a long period when he was running for president. What’s the role of a chief of staff
in an office when the senator is going to be absent either for political reasons or health
reasons?
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KAUFMAN: Well, I was not even close to being a senator and would like to
strike that. There was no senator. The right way to say it was I had to run a Senate office
without a senator, because I ran the office. We had our legislative director answer the
mail. I was in communication with him all the time about what we did. I couldn’t vote or
do anything that a senator did. I was just using shorthand.

But what happens in a presidential campaign is in fact you just walk away from
your Senate office. It would be interesting to follow Obama’s record in terms of
measurables. Here are committees he was on, how many meetings did he attend? Here’s
how many votes there were, things that you could measure, not anything substantive.
Daffy Duck could have managed the office during that period. [Laughs] Now, he’s out in
Ilinois, which is a big state, and Delaware is a small state. But once you commit to
running for president—I spent a lot of time thinking about this, because you spend a lot
of time on airplanes and doing things in the campaign thinking, “What am I going
through this for?” My mother had a saying that nothing in life that’s worthwhile comes
easy, which I totally ascribe to. I rearrange that to say if it’s really important, it’s really
hard. When you look at what the most worthwhile thing you can be it’s got to be
president of the United States, therefore it’s got to be the hardest thing to do. And it is the
hardest thing to do. It’s incredibly stressful. It’s the toughest thing there is to do. That’s
the reason people are attracted to it and want to get involved in a campaign. It’s like six-
dimension chess, because everything is perception and reality, and perception,
perception, perception. The mechanics begin to dominate the whole thing, so it’s very
hard. When you’re flying somewhere in the middle of a campaign, and it’s very
stressful—I’m sure everybody does this, I know I did in the *87 campaign—you ask
yourself, “What is this all about? What’s going on here?”” And you say, “By its basic
nature it’s worthwhile.” If you think that you can play in the finals at Wimbledon and at
the same time work your BlackBerry, then you’ve got a little bit of the flavor of a
presidential candidate.

I remember Marcia Aronoff, who was Bradley’s chief of staff, when he ran for
president she said, “Tell me what it’s like.” I said, “Well, 'm at a point of where I don’t
believe we’re ever in control of things. The AA thing: give yourself to a superior being.
I’'m Catholic, I give myself up to God. If you think you’re controlling your life, you’re
smoking dope. But presidential campaigns take that to a whole new level. Here’s the
analogy. You’re standing on the banks of a creek that is in flood. And you have to get
across to the other side of that creek. That’s the job. So you jump in the water, and all of
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a sudden there’s all these rocks in the water. You’re dodging the rocks, trying to get to
the other side. And then they throw telephone poles in the water, so you’re dodging the
telephone poles and the rocks. The idea that you can get to the other side is totally
illusory. You’re just trying to keep yourself from getting hit by a telephone pole or hit by
a rock or drowning. You are a success if at some point you get to the other side” I said,
“That’s the way a presidential campaign is.” God, when I got back after the presidential
campaign, the reason I have curly hair is because some of the things the staff people did
while I was away, there was a gigantic vacuum and people moved into it and were doing
things they shouldn’t have been asked to do. So running a Senate office when the senator
is running for president is the easiest job in the world. It’s like the Maytag repairman.
You’re never going to hear from the senator. Every once in a while there will be a vote
on the floor that he’ll want to know about, and you have to keep track of things to make
sure that nothing happens that embarrasses you, but you can usually find a good person to
do it. Alan Hoffman did it on our last race. He had formerly been chief of staff to the
senator. He was very good and very special. We’d better go.

RITCHIE: Okay. I was just thinking that there are a lot of senators who run, but
it’s only the ones who say, “I’'m going to spend my time campaigning” who get there.

The senators who try to be a senator and run for president—

KAUFMAN: It’s like: Okay, I'm going to play at Wimbledon but in addition to
that I’'m going to do my BlackBerry. It ain’t going to happen.

End of the Second Interview
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KAUFMAN: Is the Senate a much more civil place because we’ve had turnover?
I remember Joe Biden and Dick Lugar on the European Affairs subcommittee. Lugar was
chair from 80 to ’86, then Biden was chair from ’87 to *94, then Lugar took it back. The
same thing happened on the Judiciary Committee criminal affairs subcommittee, where
Joe Biden and Mac Mathias went back and forth as chairman. What it meant was, Okay,
if I don’t give them staff, when he or she is in charge they do not have to give me staff.
So what we ought to do is come up with the best solution regardless of whether I’'m the
chair or the ranking member. What happened in the House was the Democrats were in
control for 40 years. There was one committee over there, a big committee, where I think
the Democrats controlled 85 percent of the staff and they gave the Republicans 15
percent. So one of the things that has made the Senate a more civil place in recent years,
contrary to what everyone else says, is “There but for the grace of God go I.” The idea
that two years from now I may be in the majority or the minority, and I think that effects
a more rational and thoughtful approach to Senate rules.

RITCHIE: From the outside, people look on rules questions as a Republican or
Democratic position, but it seems to be really a majority party and a minority party
position. And the world looks different depending on what that status is.

KAUFMAN: Yes, and we’ve also talked about how being in the majority can be
a negative thing in terms of if you’re in the majority and you have the presidency. Joe
Biden always used to say, and I believe to the bottom of my being, I didn’t work for the
president of the United States when I was a senator. It’s a separate and equal branch of
government. But in fact, when you’ve got an administration, one of the responsibilities—
which I think John Kerry did a wonderful job of parsing the differences, 'm incredibly
impressed with the job he did as chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, where all
these foreign relations issues came up, where maybe he didn’t agree with where the
Obama administration was going, but he was always able to deal with being a senator and
being independent, but at the same time realize that the 300-pound gorilla in the room on
foreign policy is the executive branch.

RITCHIE: Well, today, I thought we might go back because I was looking at
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where we left off yesterday in the *80s and we touched on a number of occasions relating
to the presidential campaign in 1987-’88 but really didn’t talk about it per se. I wondered
what your role was in that campaign. It must have started well before ’87.

KAUFMAN: In 1984. Basically after the *84 election we started preparing for a
presidential election. Essentially what was done was there was a decision made. The first
decision always was personal and family with Joe Biden, and by the way I think it’s
underrated in terms of all politicians, there’s a number of misperceptions out there with
the public, just like I’m sure it is in trying to understand baseball players or understand
academics, but when you’re inside you realize that what drives most politicians’ decision
is personal. How does it affect my family? If my family’s not going to be onboard for
this campaign, I’'m not running. We just saw that with Mitch Daniels. Here’s a guy who
is incredibly qualified to run for president of the United States, positioned properly,
governor of a good state, but in the end it was clear that his family didn’t want him to do
it. It’s a practical and a personal problem. You will probably fail, if you run without
having your family squared away— we can go back through history and look at people
who had done that, or tried to do that. So the first decision was: was the family ready to
do this.

I think after the *84 experience, I don’t know if it’s documented, there have been
a number of books written about him, but the basic decision was we’re going to go out
there, we’re going to do what needs to be done, but we know that in the end he can
always pull the plug. They had not decided to run for president in 1984 (and when I say
“they” I mean the family) but they decided to put themselves in the position that if we
decide to run, we can run. Again, he was on the inside of the 76 campaign, we’d been
through the 84 campaign, and I think we knew better than most people what was
required. We knew that for this incredibly complex enterprise, getting started early was
essential. You could run at the end, like Gore ran at the end in ’88 and did very well, so
you don’t have to but it really was better to do it over the long pull. So we started in *84
in terms of national scheduling.

In ’84 we decided that he was going to get off all his committees except two,
Foreign Relations and Judiciary, which was a decision that started out partly because of
running for president, but after we looked at it, it became a decision we made whether he
was running for president or not, because one of the problems with the Senate is that

senators are on too many committees. This was really on steroids when I went to the
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Senate, because the senators are spread so thinly that they can’t spend time drilling down
into things. If you’re on four major committees there’s no way you can get in depth into
these issues. So the decision moved forward on that, and the decision to start building a
network and start thinking about fund raising people.

My title in the *88 campaign was chief of staff and treasurer. I had two functions,
one was there was to be on a committee of people, family and others, who sat down on a
regular basis and talked about what we should be doing, like an executive committee, and
I was on that. It wasn’t called an executive committee, but I was involved in all the
meetings to figure out what we’d do next. The second thing was raising money.
Essentially what I did was I spent a lot of time putting together the network to raise
money. [’m very proud of the fact that in the first quarter of *87, when the other
candidates were in, we raised more money than anyone else. We raised more money
during that period than any presidential candidate had, except for Walter Mondale, a
former vice president. And we raised more money outside of our state than all of the
other presidential candidates combined. It was really incredible. So I was involved in the
management of the campaign and raising money.

RITCHIE: His campaigns had been almost family operations until then—
KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: In a small state. So how do you go from that to running a national
campaign?

KAUFMAN: Remember that the campaign chair was his sister Valerie. She
continued to run things. Jim Biden was very involved in the fundraising. But, what
happened was we had developed a number of relationships over the years. First off, we
had Pat Caddell and John Martilla, who were involved in the *72 campaign. One thing
you can say for Joe Biden is that he doesn’t burn bridges and he wears very well. If you
look around at most senators—now that I say that, ’'m not sure, but it seems to me that
most elected officials don’t have one consultant for their entire career, and doesn’t have
good relationships with consultants through their entire career. But Joe Biden just had a
very good relationship with a number of consultants. One of the problems they said our
campaign had was that sometimes our campaign looked like this gigantic head on little
spindly legs. John Martilla was involved in it, Pat Caddell was involved in it. Tom
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Donilon who is national security adviser was involved in it. Bill Daley, who is now chief
of staff to the president, was involved in it. David Doak, was involved in the beginning.
The campaign manager was Tim Ridley. These were also seasoned, very successful, hot
consultants. Bob Squier did the media . I'm just doing this from memory so it’s not in
order of who was the most important. In fact, Pat Caddell turned out to be probably the
biggest problem in the campaign, brilliant, but it’s been pretty well documented in a
number of books that whole Pat Caddell thing, so there’s no sense getting into that, but
we had the best line-up of consultants and advisors. Valerie was the campaign chair, and
she was still numero uno in the list. Jimmy Biden was involved, helping to raise money,
so it was still a family affair. And Jill was fabulous. We had real fire power. And we did
very well until we didn’t do very well. [Laughs]

RITCHIE: The way that campaigns get started, they’re retail politics. You have
to be on the street in lowa and New Hampshire, and Delaware would have been a great
experience for doing that kind of early campaign. It’s not great for running in California
and New York, perhaps, but in lowa and New Hampshire it fit.

KAUFMAN: See, we had an advantage there because Philadelphia is the nation’s
fourth largest media market, so we knew how to do media. We had good people helping
us with the media. So we also had the advantage of understanding how big state media
worked. But you’re right, in lowa and New Hampshire Joe Biden was a great candidate
because, as it’s been documented over and over again in the profiles that have been
written since he became vice president, he’s just the kind of person that people think is
genuine and he gets their support. He understands retail politics, which is what lowa and
New Hampshire, which are key, were all about. If you look at where we were when the
campaign ended, the campaign was very strong in both lowa and New Hampshire.

RITCHIE: One of the handicaps that senators have when they run for president
is that they have to vote on every controversial issue that comes down the pike. Was that
a problem for Biden?

KAUFMAN: I'm sure it was. [ had a whole discussion that I used to go through
on why senators hadn’t been selected, because the only two senators elected president, up
until Obama, were [Warren] Harding and Kennedy. I’d ask people, “Do you know the
two senators?” And practically no one got Harding. Then I’d say, one of the big reasons
is that governors pretty much get to set their own agenda and their own schedule, and
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people who aren’t governors or senators really get to set their own agenda. When
governors decide they’re going to do something, they call a press conference. We’ll have
the press conference next Tuesday, and if Tuesday doesn’t work we’ll do it on Thursday.
If that doesn’t work we’ll do it a week from Tuesday. Senators are much more controlled
by what goes on in the Senate because you never know what’s going to come up in the
Senate. One of the great truisms about the Senate, which you learn very early as a chief
of staff, is that the Senate is like a war. You have to be ready for a great opportunity or an

enemy attack at any time.

The best example I've found to explain this is the play by Tom Stoppard,
Rosencrantz and Guildenstern Are Dead. In that play, as you know, Rosencrantz and
Guildenstern are bit players in Hamlet, and what Stoppard did was say: Okay, let’s do a
play about Rosencrantz and Guildenstern. For most of the play they’re playing cards or
dice or something like that, and then every once in a while Hamlet comes onto the scene
and the klieg lights go on, and they are on the air and they say their lines and move on to
other things. That is basically the Senate. As I learned early on, you can be working on an
issue for years and then something would happen and bang, the klieg lights would go on.
For a one-week, two-week, one-month, two-day period, everybody in America is
interested in this. The Senate is interested. This is what’s going to happen [snaps fingers].
What you have to do at that point is you have to have a staff than can continue to do the
basic operations. Just like the military you have to have people to protect the whole line,
but the attack is coming over here and you have to move as many forces as you can to
deal with that attack when it happens, because you don’t control when the attack starts
and when it ends. It just comes on and then it’s gone, and when it’s gone, nobody’s
interested in that.

The perfect example of that is the Biden crime bill, because he started that in
1984, and in fact crime increased in the late *80s and then peaked and started down in the
early ’90s, actual. But what happened was the public’s perception was that crime was
highest in the early 90s. There are a lot of different reasons for this but the one I give is
that somehow it became the interest of local TV and people began seeing more and more
television shows about crime. You can look at the data. The data shows that people’s
reactions to crime was much more driven by the perception of crime than it was by the
actual crime. What happened was that in 1993 or 94 we came from a recess and Senator
Biden came back from the first caucus and said, “Ted, you won’t believe it. Everybody in
the caucus is talking about what we are going to do about crime.” By God, all of a sudden
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it was the issue, the *94 crime bill. You’ve been working on it and working on it. Senator
Byrd at the caucus said “Where are you going to get two billion dollars to fight crime?”
All of a sudden it was, “Why is it only two billion? Why don’t we do three billion?” So it
hit us like that.

When you’re running for president, the first thing you decide when you get way
down the road (not 1984 but somewhere in 1986), you say, “I’m not a senator anymore,”
and you leave. What happened with John Kerry, “I was for it before [ was against it,” it
happened to Hillary [Clinton] and Obama on appropriations bills coming up. You put
your finger right on it, one of the problems for running as a senator as opposed to running
as a governor is that all of a sudden you’re in Iowa and they want to vote on ethanol.
[Laughs] Or you’re in Iowa and a gun vote comes up. Clearly, one of the big
disadvantages of a senator is having to vote. I don’t know what most senators’ voting
records are in terms of absenteeism, but those running for President are pretty much all
absent for all of the election year. But they do have to come back and vote on certain
things. That’s a real problem with being a senator. Senator Biden, I don’t think I'm
saying anything out of school, but Senator Biden met with former president [Bill] Clinton
before this last run and former president Clinton thought one problem senators have,
which is a big deal, is that they have “Beltway speak.” You’ve been a senior senator and
you just start talking about programs. I think there’s a lot of truth to that. Fortunately for
Joe Biden, one of the advantages of coming home every night was that he couldn’t get
too far into “Beltway speak.”

Now, what turns out to be the big issue, which I did not put high up on my chart
in 1987, but which I would put at the top of the chart now, is very simple: it depends on
whether the issues are domestic issues or foreign policy issues. Clearly, in 2008 the
senators were all drawn to the race because of the foreign policy concerns, the war on
terrorism and all that. I think the reason why governors weren’t running in 2008 was
because the electorate was very concerned about foreign policy. For instance, take Mark
Warner, who is very attractive. I consider him a friend, and I hold him in the highest
regard. He was governor of Virginia. In a normal year, like this year, in this campaign
he’d be an ideal candidate for president. But he found that wherever he went he was
getting very detailed questions on foreign policy. I think that—he even said at the time he
dropped out that he felt that national security was an area that he did not have enough
expertise on. So I think that’s really what happened. But the other part of the problem is,
and the best example I can give of this is about Bob Dole, if you want to understand why
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it’s difficult for senators to run for president. When Bob Dole ran against H. W. Bush in
’88 he was the majority leader of the Senate. That’s right, isn’t it?

RITCHIE: In ’88 he was the minority leader.

KAUFMAN: That’s right. So in ’88, this was after our campaign was over, there
was a debate in Chicago with Vice President H. W. Bush, Pete DuPont was in it from
Delaware, and Dole. I think Dole was the only senior senator. The days leading up to the
debate, what you normally did in a presidential debate was spend all your time preparing-
we had this problem, too. I can remember, just to put it in context and go back to the
Biden campaign. Our first big debate was in Texas. We had set it up to spend two days in
Chicago on debate prep, then fly to Texas, I think to spend a day and a half or two days
there getting acclimated for the debate. So we started to have the debate prep in Chicago
and after a day and a half Justice [Lewis] Powell stepped down, and the President of the
United States, Reagan, wanted to talk to Joe Biden, who was the top Democrat on the
Judiciary Committee, about who he should pick for a Supreme Court justice. We
shortened the stay in Chicago, spent what time we had in Chicago not talking about
debate prep but talking about Supreme Court justices (we had a kind of brain trust there).
Then rather than fly to Texas, he flew to Washington, met with the president. I think [Ed]
Meese was there, George Mitchell, [Strom] Thurmond. They talked about the whole
[Robert] Bork nomination, which is in a number of books that have been written about,
because it was some pretty complex discussion. Then he got on a plane and flew to
Texas, arrives, and has a press conference with the entire national press corps, not about
the debate but about Bork. Then he went in and was in the debate. The governors didn’t
have to worry about that, in fact the senators who weren’t involved in it didn’t have to
worry about that.

To get back to the Dole story, because in my mind it’s such a good example of
that, Dole was in the Senate the entire day of the debate, working on the floor much of
the time. I forget what bill was up, but he was working it. Then he jumps on a plane, flies
to Chicago, and walks into the debate. The other candidates did what we had been
planning to do. They were in Chicago three days in advance, totally thinking about the
debate. I’'m sure that Dole’s debate prep was flying out in the plane, if in fact it was that,
because I'm sure flying out in the plane there was some “What are we going to do
tomorrow in the Senate, what’s coming up?” talk, and all the rest of that. So Dole, who
should have been a great candidate for president of the United States—didn’t turn out to
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be a great candidate for president but potentially was a great candidate—did not do well
in the debate. Of course, H. W. Bush was vice president of the United States, so he was
going to be tough. But Dole had a very bad performance.

As long as we’re on Dole, [ use Dole as an example when people would say to me
in a presidential campaign—TIike they’re saying about the Republican candidates, I don’t
agree with a lot of Republican candidates and I don’t think this is an especially
distinguished field of Republicans, but you have to put in context that whoever runs for
president is going to be destroyed by the media. I can remember Bill Bradley calling Joe
Biden when his name was being mentioned for president, this was while he was still in
the Senate. He said to Joe Biden, “Joe, I don’t know what’s going on. No one has ever
questioned my integrity before, and here [ am, my name has been mentioned and they’re
questioning my integrity.” Joe said, “Welcome to the club. This is it.” The example |
always use is Bob Dole, because Bob Dole had an incredible sense of humor, a very
funny man, but more important, Bob Dole had more character in his little finger than
most people have in their whole body. Bob Dole, if you read Richard Ben Cramer’s
book, What It Takes, he went though Dole’s being wounded, almost dying in Italy, the
incredible rehab he had to go through.' This is a guy who has demonstrated character. I
put Joe Biden in this class, but Dole had so much character, and integrity, and humor, and
the rest of it, but by the end of the campaign he was a laughing stock. People joked about
Bob Dole as a presidential candidate (of course, afterwards he did the Viagra ads, and
that didn’t help). But I said if you can take someone like Bob Dole and turn him into
someone who is a buffoon and a joke, it just shows you where presidential politics are.
But that’s what they’re looking for in presidential politics. In terms of this long answer to
your question about what it like being a senator running, it was very difficult being a
senator running, but I’1l tell you this: it wasn’t half as bad as a senator running who is a
majority or minority leader of the United States Senate.

RITCHIE: Yes, it seems to me that in *84, ’85, and ’86, Biden had the advantage
of being in the minority, but after 1987 he was not only in the majority but chairman of a
major committee, dealing with Supreme Court nominations. Did that throw a monkey
wrench into his campaign?

'Richard Ben Cramer, What It Takes: The Way to the White House (New York: Random
House, 1992).
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KAUFMAN: Yes, in the end it did. We thought the Bork nomination was going
to be an incredible positive experience, which is one of the reasons why in my opinion
what happened, happened. We were doing very well. There were surveys in lowa that
were showing that he was breaking out. That was the reason why this all happened. First
of all, our basic game plan went like this: breaking out in lowa, doing well in New
Hampshire. The Bork nomination was going to be the opportunities for Americans to see
Joe Biden for the first time really thinking about him as a president. It was a Supreme
Court nomination and he was very experienced in Supreme Court nominations. He had
done a number of them before. He was very comfortable on the Judiciary Committee,
very comfortable being chairman, and very articulate. They had an picture in the New
York Times of Biden and Bork nose-to-nose, and said, “This is the first primary.”

What we were thinking is, we’re in great shape! We’re doing great in lowa. He’s
going to do the Supreme Court nomination, an area where he is comfortable. Our position
on the Bork nomination was we felt that Bork was a flawed candidate for the Supreme
Court. A wonderful person, smart, but the arguments that could be made against him
were valid arguments. Our argument was that President Reagan in 1986 congressional
campaigns said, “I’m going to put on the court people who can change things. I’ve been
president for six years and I really haven’t moved a social agenda. I’'m going to appoint
ideological judges who can move the social agenda.” Our basic approach was: We don’t
want to be ideological, but if the president of the United States decides he’s going to
appoint somebody for political reasons, in order to advance an ideology, then clearly we
have a responsibility and an opportunity to deal with this when that person is selected.
Bork was clearly an ideological candidate. Our point was we could then deal with all
these political and ideological issues because Bork was up to be a Supreme Court
justice—not a circuit court judge, not a district judge, but when you’re talking about a
Supreme Court justice you’re talking about somebody that can do exactly what Reagan
said. If you fill the Supreme Court with nominees of a certain ideology, they can actually
make decisions and change the social direction of the country. So we felt very
comfortable on that part of the nomination fight.

Senator Biden had good relations with Strom Thurmond, who was ranking
member. He had good relations with all the Judiciary members. In fact, if you read the
accounts of what went on with all his colleagues while this was under attack, it really was
very nice. Members of the committee, I remember Alan Simpson and Arlen Specter,
while all this was going on, talking about Joe Biden’s integrity. Ted Kennedy. So a lot of
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people weren’t buying what was being said out there.

But what happened was, and this is one of the things I learned from this in terms
of politics, again it should be simple, and everybody should understand it. If you
believe—I’m sure it’s in Sun Tzu’s The Art of War, and I’m sure it’s in Von Clauswitz’s
discussions on war—is that when you think that you’re in a position to make great gains,
your opponent probably has figured out that you’re in a position to make great gains, and
your opponent is not going to let that happen. What essentially happened was the eyes on
high in the [Michael] Dukakis campaign, the [Richard] Gephardt campaign, they could
see what was happening. They could see exactly what we could see. That’s why Dukakis
did what he did. He would not have done this if he didn’t think Joe Biden was about to
break ahead, and the same with Gephardt. We had not thought about that. We didn’t put
this in context when these things started happening. Then the worst thing that happened
was the White House looked at this and said, “Look, this is the first primary and it’s
between Biden and Bork. If we want to build Bork up, we sure as hell have to drive
Biden down.” The White House really did a lot of damage. They were the ones that got
the Syracuse story started after the [Neil] Kinnock story. So we were kind of caught
between two firing squads. Howard Baker was White House chief of staff, who liked Joe
Biden, and Joe Biden liked him. I don’t think any of them thought—I know none of them
thought that this was the program to knock Joe Biden out of the race. But nobody else
knew what the other person was doing. Gephardt didn’t know what Dukakis was doing.
Dukakis didn’t know what the White House was doing. So all of a sudden you end up
with all of these attacks.

When the story broke on Kinnock in the New York Times, nothing really
happened. But then these other charges were fired out, that’s when things got bad. In the
end, as has been documented in a number of books, the decision, from my standpoint, the
decision to leave the presidential race was an incredibly obvious decision. The reason
was that here he was the chairman of the Judiciary Committee involved in an important
nomination. He was faced with an avalanche of charges, the vast majority of them had no
substance. But once this was started by the White House and the Democratic candidates,
every investigative reporter in America was out there trying to find something. The stuff
that was said was so ridiculous. But every charge had to be met, and they were all
personal charges against him. So it wasn’t like you could have a war room off to the side
generating the data. If they alleged that something happened at his high school
graduation, he was the only one who could say, “Well, these are the three people to talk
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to.” It began to submerge the Bork nomination. He was spending all his time in the
campaign mode, and the press was all about him and his campaign. The answer in normal
circumstances if you’re under attack like this is to move to lowa and spend 100 percent
of your time dealing with the attack, which would have meant resigning from the Senate
or walking away from the Bork nomination, go to Iowa and defend yourself, and fight
this out. His was not like what happened to Gary Hart. This was not something that we
could not deal with. With Gary Hart there were pictures, and history, and the rest of that
stuff. But all these charges were something we could deal with if we had the time to do it,
but meanwhile, he’s dealing with the Bork nomination.

So the decision to get out was clear. What kind of a person would you be if you
were running for president and you decided that the most important thing was to keep
your political career going? Leaving the Bork nomination was never really an option.
When you talked about it for a while it became clear that if you’re going to keep working
on the Bork nomination, this is going to keep up, and it’s not only going to hinder your
chance to be president, it’s going to hinder the Bork nomination.

We had a meeting in Wilmington of the family and a few advisors. I compared his
position to that of Winston Churchill who had to resign after the incredible losses in the
Dardanelles, and then he came back to be Prime Minister, and suggested it was best to
get out now and Biden was young enough to come back later.

In the end, the decision was unanimous to end the campaign. You can read about
the books on the *88 campaign by Richard Ben Cramer, Jules Witcover , and others and
Biden’s book Promises to Keep. It was a horrible experience, but the truth did come out
and he did return to have a great life and career.

I have said many times, if you ask me, who is the luckiest person I have ever
known? I would say Joe Biden. If you ask me, who is the unluckiest I have known? I
would say Joe Biden.

He was unlucky in the confluence of events that ended his campaign, but he was
lucky that he was not in the campaign the following February when he went to the Doctor
with a headache and through emergency surgery avoided dying from a brain aneurism.

He was lucky to have been elected senator at the almost unprecedented age of 29,
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but then shortly afterwards had his wonderful wife and daughter killed in an auto
accident and his two boys put in the hospital.

But, he was extraordinarily lucky to have convinced Jill Biden to marry him, and
then have their daughter Ashley. And I mean lucky because of two things; one Jill was
not a bit interested in marrying a senator and it was only through the intervention on
Beau and Hunter that she was convinced. Second, Jill is one of the most extraordinary
people I have ever met. She has an impressive education with two masters’ degree and a
doctorate in education, and an accomplished career as a teacher; and a wonderful wife,
mother, daughter, daughter-in-law, mother and grandmother. She has been a great second
lady. She has been a rock through all the ups and downs.

RITCHIE: You see this in a lot of campaigns, where the media struggles to
figure out: Who is this person? They did this with Dan Quayle and to a degree with Sarah
Palin.

KAUFMAN: They do it with everyone. There’s a wonderful book, by someone |
think is one of the best experts on media and politics, Kathleen Hall Jamieson of the
Annenberg School at the University of Pennsylvania. She did a book on the 2000
campaign. If you ever want to read this, it’s ten times better than I can explain, but she
goes through the fact that now this is just standard procedure. One of the reasons for it is
that it’s a lot easier to write about presidential campaigns. First off, people are interested
in it, just like they’re interested in reality shows. It doesn’t really have to do with whether
you’re qualified to be president, in my opinion. It has to do with what the media writes
about—and, boy, writing about healthcare reform is just so incredibly boring and
uninteresting. One of the great things that comes out of these studies is that the media
does cover these issues, but they cover the issues early in the campaign. When it gets to
the time when people are finally focused on the campaign, then they move to the scandal
issues and the personality issues. The New York Times may have a fabulous series on
healthcare reform, but by the time you get to the lowa caucuses they’re not talking about
healthcare reform any more. And when they talk about healthcare early on, nobody’s
interested, only the people that study the issue year-round are following it. It’s been
pretty well documented, and Kathleen Hall Jamieson has done a great job of
documenting that the vast majority of coverage of campaigns is about strategies,
scandals, and personalities.
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The best example of it is she did a wonderful study on the race when Ed Rendell
was running for mayor. He ran against a fellow I knew, who was a really great guy.

RITCHIE: It wasn’t Bill Green, was it?

KAUFMAN: No, Bill Green earlier. This guy used to head up the Philadelphia
Industrial Development Corporation. It was Joe Egan. Polls had shown that 13 percent of
the press coverage of the mayoralty race was about the issues and 67 percent was about
appearances and scandal, and who’s ahead and who’s behind. She put together two
different kinds of media histories. One was what was out there, which was only 13
percent about substance. The other was all about substance which they cobbled together
TV, and print ads, and radio ads, where they took everything else out and just had
substance. They went to somewhere in the Midwest, away from Philadelphia, and they
gave group A the standard coverage of the campaign and they gave group B the special
coverage just on substance. Then they ran the actual debates between the two, and asked
people for their opinions. What came out was Group A who had seen the actual footage
of who’s ahead, who’s behind, and who fired their campaign manager — when they talked
about the debate they talked a lot about how the candidates looked, how the candidates
dealt with each other, whether they were good people or not, a lot about the personality
of the candidates, but they didn’t know these candidates. The Group B people who got
the special coverage that dwelled on substance, actually listened to what the candidates
said. Rendell had a proposal to privatize the garbage workers, and they were interested in
the substance of the debate.

Sometimes observers of the media will say, “Well, it’s really important to know
about this because it has to do with their character and that’s what it’s all about.” That’s
okay, let’s do that, but it’s like Gresham’s Law, that the bad money drives out the good.
If you’re in a system where people print money that doesn’t mean anything, you’re not
going to see any gold coins on the street. Gold coins are going into the bank or buried in
your backyard. So with all this coverage on the personality of candidates, there’s a price
to be paid. It crowds out the discussion on the substantive part of the campaign. That’s
what Kathleen Hall Jamieson demonstrated. The problem with these presidential
campaigns goes back to what it was like with President [Andrew] Jackson, where most of
the campaign was about personality. But as these presidential campaigns become more
and more about personality and background, it crowds out the ideas that candidates have
about the issues. So, it is like Gresham’s Law, the more the superficial bad money is out
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there, the more the gold disappears. Who is the best person to deal with our major issues?

RITCHIE: It’s a little like watching the Olympics, where they spend more time
talking about the back stories of the athletes, some tragedy in their family, than they do
about the events they’re supposedly covering.

KAUFMAN: And the reality shows are a perfect example of the fact that this is
what people are interested in. I can understand that. It’s not complicated. If I was a
reporter and just got out of college, I can write the story about whether the campaign
manager is doing a good job, or what the polling data is. You can just walk right out of
school and write that. Writing a story about what we should be doing about the deficit is
a very difficult story to write. This used to be a real problem back in the ’87 campaign,
when people would ask “What does Biden think?”” And “How does Biden compare with
the rest?” We would send them our brochures so they would have our point of view. This
is the big difference with the 2008 election. People would say, “What’s Biden’s position
on the Middle East?” I’d say, “I'll tell you what, go to your home, go on Google and type
in ‘Biden Middle East,” and just read. What’s great is you’re going to get not just what
we’re telling you about Biden. You’re going to get people who say ‘Biden is the worst
thing that’s happened to the Middle East in history,” and other people who say, “Biden is
great on the Middle East.” Then you have an opportunity to sit and read this and you can
come to an opinion about it.” No one can complain, “Oh, the media doesn’t give us any
facts, we don’t know what’s going on!” If you want to find out the positions of
candidates on issues, you can go on the Internet. Now, some of the stuff on the Internet is
just flat-out lies, but I think most Americans are in a much better position to evaluate the
substantive positions of candidates today than they were when Senator Biden ran for
president in 1987.

RITCHIE: The information is there, if you want to look for it.

KAUFMAN: Exactly. But you’ve got to be interested in looking for it. |
remember the *87 campaign, we had been in the campaign for a while and a reporter for
the Atlanta Constitution was doing a profile on Joe Biden. At that point, the reports in the
national press were not good. I said, “Are you going to be the last person to write the ‘Joe
Biden’s Campaign is in Trouble’ story or are you going to be the first one to write ‘Joe
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Biden’s Campaign is Great.”” The example I gave was this incredible experience we had

when Joe Biden was in New Hampshire and the “boys in the bus,” the men and women
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who follow the presidential race in pack journalism—they absolutely do move in packs,
so if David Broder writes a good story about you, then there’s a good story in the LA
Times, and a good story in the Dallas paper, and the whole pack goes one way. In fact,
right before he got out they were writing great stories about him. But we were in a
particular lull, and they were writing, “Joe Biden’s irrelevant. He’s not going to be a
factor in this race. He’s from a small state.”

Biden took a trip to New Hampshire and we did a house party. The national press
was covering it, but the Boston Globe was covering it not with a pack journalist, not with
somebody who was on the bus, but with a political reporter from the Globe who went up
to New Hampshire and watched the vote. And it was great, because you read the reporter
in the New York Times who wrote, “Well, there weren’t too many people there, he wasn’t
very good, and he spoke too much.” It was another example of the fact that Biden’s not
going to be a factor. The Boston Globe ran a story that said, “The place was packed. He
connected with the people and the people really liked him.” I was there and that’s what
happened, but the New York Times reporter got off the bus with the attitude of, “Oh, my
God, why do we have to sit through this? He’s going to talk too much. He’s dead in New
Hampshire.” So she wrote that kind of a story. I'm not picking on the New York Times
reporter, it happens with all of them, and it happens with all of the campaigns and all the

ups and downs.

You see that right now with the Republican campaigns. When [Rick] Perry
announces, Perry’s now way ahead of [Mitt] Romney. Two weeks ago it was [Michelle]
Bachmann who was way ahead of Romney. Candidates come, shoot like a superstar, and
after they die Romney is still rolling. He’s 18 percent when Perry’s 26 percent He’ll be
18 percent when Perry’s 14 percent. He was 18 percent when Bachmann was 23 percent.
He’s 18 percent now that Bachmann is 16 percent. So there are the ebbs and flows of the
campaign and a lot of it is driven by conventional wisdom. I really do understand it. If
you’re working with your colleagues, if every day you’re getting up and going to work
with your colleagues, and your colleagues decide that ice cream is a bad thing today, you
don’t want to be the one person there at lunch eating an ice cream. If you’re in a
newsroom, and the newsroom is basically of the opinion that you are very good, or very
bad, it’s very difficult to be the contrarian.

My favorite example of that was when Dan Quayle was vice president and
couldn’t spell “potato.” Dan Quayle, I can remember when we had a meeting of our
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supporters here in Delaware with Chris Dodd and a bunch of Democrats, Quayle had
been vice president for a while and somebody in the audience started denigrating Quayle.
Dodd said, “Dan Quayle was a damn good senator. He’s a quality person, and I’m not
going to listen to people putting him down.” It was classic Chris Dodd, saying what he
thought. The conventional wisdom was: Quayle’s nothing. Then I read in the Post that
there’s going to be a series by David Broder and Bob Woodward on Dan Quayle. I knew
that story was going to be that Dan Quayle is a lot better than people think he is, because
another story that says Dan Quayle’s a bum is not news, and the secret to news is news is
new. All the Washington Post had to do was say there was going to be this piece. Before
I had even read the piece I knew it was going to say: “Everybody thinks Dan Quayle’s no
good, but the news is he’s not been that bad, so let’s go back and look at Dan Quayle.”
Remember, Dan Quayle beat one of my all-time favorite Senators, Birch Bayh to get to
the United States Senate.

Birch Bayh was an incredibly difficult candidate to run against. He ran for
president and I think was one of the truly quality people I’ve ever met. He knew Indiana,
I remember he used to go down to southern Indiana, which is a lot like southern
Delaware, and be in the turkey shoots. Beating Birch Bayh was not easy, even though
1980 was a big year for the Republicans. Dan Quayle was relatively new in the Senate, [
think he was in his second term when he ran for vice president, but he had been there for
eight years and did a lot of good things. But that was a good example of this kind of
conventional wisdom. If you want to write the story that everybody will read, then it’s
not going to be a story that reinforces the conventional wisdom. It’s got to be something
that’s new and has news. Therefore in a presidential race you’re going to go through
cycles. I'm not blaming the reporters on the bus, the pack journalism. I just think that’s
the way the human mind works and human experience works.

Again read Kathleen Hall Jamieson’s book on the 2000 presidential campaign.

RITCHIE: It’s very hard for a reporter sometimes to run stories by the editor, if
it goes against conventional wisdom.

KAUFMAN: Let me make a point out of that. One of the things about teaching a
course is you get to read a lot of interesting books, and Elaine Povich, who is with the
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Chicago Tribune, wrote a wonderful book on the Senate.' I don’t know if you ever read
it.
RITCHIE: Yes.

KAUFMAN: It may be in her book, or in another book by [Doris] Graber, but
they did a very simple study. They asked reporters who covered the Congress what they
thought about members of Congress, and by and large it was pretty complimentary. Then
they asked them what their editors thought, and the editors were very uncomplimentary.
What came out of the survey information analysis was, and I found this to be the case,
that the reporters covering Congress were constantly being badgered by the editors back
home saying, “Why do you keep writing these stories about our member of Congress?
He’s a scallywag, or she’s a scallywag, just like the rest of them. What’s he doing on this
or that?” I think that is the conventional wisdom around the country, and newspaper
editors aren’t any different. They have a very negative opinion of Washington. Right now
it’s very negative, but it was pretty negative during the impeachment trial of Clinton, and
Gingrich really drove down the approval rating of the Congress in 1994, and the
Congress hurt with the bank scandal. So it’s interesting that the reporters thought highly
of them and were ready to write favorable stories, but the editors were saying write a
negative story because out here nobody thinks Congress is worth something.

Congress is not held in high regard now—Congress has not been held in high
regard for a long, long time. I think we had a good upturn after September 11, but over
the years people have been skeptical. As I've said before, people should be skeptical of
the Congress. They should be skeptical of the president, skeptical of the Supreme Court,
and skeptical of all the power brokers in the country. The problem is when skepticism
turns to cynicism.

RITCHIE: Nicholas Longworth said it was the God-given right of every
American to look down on his member of Congress.

KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: Well, when Senator Biden left the race he came back to face the Bork

"Elaine S. Povich, Partners & Adversaries: The Contentious Connection Between
Congress & the Media (Arlington, Virginia: Freedom Forum, 1996).
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nomination. Could you tell me about the Bork nomination from your perspective?

KAUFMAN: I talked earlier about Bob Dole and his character, and a number of
people who have put themselves in the public eye—but [ was there, and Joe Biden had
thought about being president for a long time. But for Joe Biden the most important thing
for him was his integrity. It showed real character for him to come down to Washington,
hold a press conference and say that he’s leaving the presidential race, with a lot of
feeling that it was over for him, he’d never be president. I did not agree that it was over
for him. I told him this was like Churchill and the Dardanelles. This was a bad experience
but you can come back, which was another reason why it was an easy decision to get out.
And I’'m telling you, if this had been me, I would have been curled up in the fetal position
crying. If I had undergone a barrage like that on myself and my personal integrity, and all
the things I believe about myself, and unfairly attacked, and then come down and
announce I was leaving and take questions and answers, if [ wasn’t in a fetal position
crying before, after it was over I would have gone someplace—I’m not a drinking person,
but I would have seriously considered drinking.

You know what he did? After that press conference was over, he went down to
the Judiciary Committee and he questioned Warren Burger, the former chief justice of
the United States, on the Constitution. Do you know what character that takes to do that?
Obviously, I'm biased about him. He’s my friend and I hold him in very high regard. I
jokingly say I gave him the best years of my life. But it was incredible. He and Jill just
held up. I don’t know personally, and I wasn’t there when other major political figures
faced crises. I don’t know what Andrew Jackson was going through, or Nixon was going
through, others who had these incredibly bad things happen to them in politics, and
personally even worse. What happened to Joe Biden was overkill. But the ability to be
able to do your job under incredible pressure and incredible adversity, it was really
extraordinary.

Now, the one good thing for him was that people in Delaware didn’t question his
integrity. This was Joe Biden. What happened was not some character flaw. They had all
these psychologists on television, I didn’t like it at the time and I still don’t, they did this
to Mike Dukakis: “I don’t know Mike Dukakis and I’ve never met him, but I’m a trained
psychologist and clearly he’s—" Or “Bill Clinton, I don’t know him and I haven’t talked
to him, but I’'m a trained psychologist and clearly his father was such and such, and his
mother was so and so,” this kind of psychobabble, instant analysis that went on. It was
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very offensive. But the people in Delaware never doubted him.

There was a great story, and also a funny story. We did a survey afterwards and
our pollster, Mike Donilon, called and said to him—I was in the room at the time—and
said, “The good news is that 74 percent of the people of Delaware think you ought to run
for president again.” That was extraordinary. He said, “The bad news is that 43 percent of
the people in Delaware think you’re too arrogant.” He said [shouts], “Find those people!”
He started laughing, it was a joke. “Find those people! Who are those people? I’'m not too
arrogant!” And I can remember, there’s a restaurant called Atillio’s here in Wilmington. I
rode back with Jill and him on the train to Wilmington and that night they went to dinner
at Atillio’s. He walked into the restaurant and people gave him a standing ovation. The
good thing is he came home.

I really believe that a lot of the early criticism of him, about gaffes and the rest of
it, it isn’t that he stopped having gaffes. I think people when they get to know who he is
and what he is, they put in perspective what it is that he’s saying. And they listen a little
more carefully to what he’s saying, as opposed to just hitting the top line. I think that’s
what’s happened to him nationally, and it’s why people have a favorable opinion of him.

He came back to the Senate, and after that, the following February he had the
aneurism. I think many people got it right. If he had been in the presidential campaign he
would never have acted on the headaches—if you understand what an aneurism is, most
aneurisms are diagnosed on the autopsy table. Most people who have an aneurism don’t
live to tell about it. But the people who really don’t live to tell about it are the ones who
don’t go to a doctor as soon as they start having headaches. If he had been in a
presidential campaign there was no way he would have gone to a doctor because he was
having these terrible headaches. But he did here, and they were able to save his life.

Dr. [Eugene] George who did the operation, was telling us what the operation was
going to be like. He said, “It’s essential to move as quickly as possible, because it can
go like that [snaps fingers], and once it goes there’s nothing you can do.” So he went to
Walter Reed and had the operation, and then it turned out that aneurisms are such that it’s
like your left hand and your right hand. If you have something in your right hand, you
might have something in the same place on your left hand. It turned out that on one side
of his brain he had a congenital fault that caused the aneurism, and he had the same thing
on the other side. So they took the top off his head and put a clip on the first one, that was

109



in February, and then I think that was in May they had to go back and do the same thing
on the other side.

RITCHIE: Did a serious illness like that and an enforced period of rest have any
impact on him? Did it change him in any way, or was he just itching to go?

KAUFMAN: I'm laughing, because first of all we totally followed the doctor’s
orders. I’ve talked about this already, but he just didn’t contact anybody and did nothing
in the Senate until the day he came back. We have this wonderful event every August in
Sussex County, the southern county, it’s called Beach Jamboree, and all the Democrats in
Delaware are there. He came back for that. I'm laughing because there were all these
pieces written afterwards, and it was very much in our interest to have all these pieces
written about how he had changed and the rest of that, but you know what? I didn’t really
see any change at all in Joe Biden after he came back. What’s so remarkable is when Dr.
George before the operation said what the results could be, I don’t remember the
percentages, but it was pretty scary. But without the operation there was zero chance,
because they knew he had the aneurism, and the aneurism had actually broken. Just by
pure happenstance it had been forced up against the inside of his head, so it didn’t bust
wide open. But the doctor said it could bust open at any second.

But the thing that was one of life’s ironies—I’m half Irish, he’s half Irish, kind of
the black Irish comes out every once in a while. Here he was, his integrity was his single
greatest asset and he was knocked out of the presidential race because of integrity. The
most probable bad result of the operation, if he didn’t die, was that it would affect the
section of the brain that would have affected his speaking ability. The irony of something
hitting his speaking ability, if you’re anybody if you’re Irish, oh, my God. But you know
what? I never saw a single physical change in him or a change that affected any of his
abilities. My father had always said that most of all the advances in medicine were
because of pharmacology, and it was, but I’ll tell you what, this microsurgery they were
able to do, it was just miraculous. It was miraculous that they could go in and do this
twice and not affect his brain or his faculties and abilities at all. I've never seen anything

that indicated a change in his abilities.

RITCHIE: Could we go back to the Bork nomination again? Tom Korologos
was the White House handler who walked Bork through the nomination, and he always
said that he told Bork, “If you’re doing the talking, you’re losing. If the senators are
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doing the talking, you’re okay.” But he could never get Bork to see that. Is there truth to
that?

KAUFMAN: First of all, I’'m prejudiced in favor of Tom Korologos. I served on
the Broadcasting Board of Governors with him and he’s really extraordinarily competent.
It became Korologos’ rule. He told nominees, “If you’re speaking 20 percent of the time
and the Senators are speaking 80 percent of the time, you’re doing fine. If you’re
speaking 50 percent of the time and they’re speaking 50 percent of the time, you’re in
trouble. If you’re speaking 80 percent of the time and they’re speaking 20 percent of the
time, you’re dead.” Korologos was absolutely right, Bork was speaking too much. But
Bork’s problem wasn’t that he was speaking too much. The problem was what he was
saying. Just go back and read what he said, about the whole privacy issues. I can
remember that Kennedy went to the floor and talked about “Bork’s America” and all
these issues, and it really hurt our effort. Because what we were trying to do was
convince moderates like Howell Heflin to come over. Our basic problem with Bork was
not that he was too conservative in general, we thought that he was, but he had such an
unusual point of view. We just wanted to talk about privacy, and that’s eventually how
we won, we beat Bork on the privacy issue. So it was really what he said.

When I became a senator and was placed on the Judiciary Committee and I was
questioning these nominees, I learned that everybody had been indoctrinated with the
Korologos Rule. If you go back and look at my questioning, I then decided, “Okay, this is
what I am going to do. I am going to put together many more questions than anybody has
asked a Supreme Court justice in recent times. 'm just going to ask short questions and if
I don’t speak, they’ll have to.” Because the vast majority of time—Joe Biden was
criticized for the [John] Roberts and [Samuel] Alito nominations because he spoke too
much—but he is no different from all the senators. It isn’t because the nominees are so
smart and they understand Korologos’ Rule. It’s just because the senators talk too much,
in my opinion, because that’s what every senator does.

So what I did, for both the [Sonia] Sotomayor and [Elena] Kagan nominations, I
sat down and said, “Okay, these are the things I’d like to know. I’'m going to ask
questions and let them speak.” By the way, I did this on a// my nominations and all my
issues. The staff would come back to me with these long questions, and I would say to
them, “I don’t want to demonstrate at all that I’'m a genius on this issue. I just want to ask

questions that get to the facts.” One of my favorite quotes in politics is from Lawton
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Chiles, a former senator from Florida. He said, “It’s a truly beautiful thing in politics
when conscience and convenience cross paths.” If I was running for office next week, I
would do exactly the same thing. People are so tired of senators getting up and talking
about how much they know. So politically it’s a good idea to have short questions, but
practically it’s good because you actually get some good answers. It was very difficult
for my staff—and I had a great staff—because everybody does it. I would say, “If your
question is more than a sentence, just strike it. ’'m not going to do it.” So that is what I
did when it came to Supreme Court nominations. I asked Sotomayor, I think I set the
record of anybody who was sitting on the Judiciary Committee at the time, I asked 19
questions in my half hour. And when we got to Kagan I asked 21 or 22 questions. And
they spent 80 percent of the time talking.

The other thing I learned, and it wasn’t just Supreme Court justices but everybody
when they come up for hearings. I remember asking a deputy attorney general: “What are
the main objectives that you would be fulfilling if you got to be deputy attorney general.”
In the old days they would think, “Well, Kaufman’s only got ten minutes to ask
questions, this is one I can filibuster on.” Senators are always worried about witnesses
filibustering, but they don’t filibuster anymore. He said, “It’s this, this, and this,” and
then he shut up. So you asked another question, and another question, and another
question. So Korologos’ Rule became such a powerful part of the process. Anybody who
is ever helping on nominations quotes Korologos’ Rule. Now, if you’re a questioner, in
my opinion, you should use that rule to find out what’s going on with a candidate instead
of filibustering yourself. The main thing you want to do is get the candidates to make
commitments in the hearing as to what they’re going to do. So anyway, that’s a long
answer that covers a lot of ground, but I think Korologos’s Rule is essential for most
candidates because the senators will talk 80 percent of the time if they just shut up and
give them a chance.

RITCHIE: Do you think the Bork nomination changed things or were things
already moving in that direction?

KAUFMAN: Oh, I think there is pre-Bork nomination and post-Bork
nomination. No, it really changed things. The Republicans blame it on the committee and
the way it treated Bork. I put the blame on the midterm elections in 1986, when Ronald
Reagan decided as a point of strategy of: Give me senators so I can reach my social
agenda by appointing very conservative and socially ideological judges. If you follow the
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discussion since then, the “Hammer” in the House, from Texas—

RITCHIE: Oh, Tom DeLay.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, Tom DeLay, recently just came out and said: “We’re going
to change things by the judges.” That philosophy was key to the Bork nomination. “We
are going to put younger judges on who will serve longer.” It just changed it. Then it
didn’t take long for us to go from having these contentious fights for the Supreme Court
nominees to have it break down to the circuit court. Well, it’s not nearly as applicable on
the circuit court because they have to follow the positions of the Supreme Court. One of
the things that happened, and this happened before the Bork nomination, I’ve said many
times, we didn’t keep our eye on the ball. We got so involved in this ideological thing,
appointing judges for ideological backgrounds, we now have a Supreme Court that about
has no diversity in terms of life experience. I think five of them now went to the Harvard
Law School, and four of them had taken administrative law from the same professor. Out
of the whole country, out of nine Supreme Court justices, we can’t find one justice that
didn’t go to Yale or Harvard Law School? It’s just not diverse. And the idea that to be a
Supreme Court justice you need all this technical knowledge is just not true. The circuit
court judge needs all this technical knowledge, but Supreme Court justices have to have a
grasp of life. You need somebody like Sandra Day O’Connor, that brings life to the court.
Like [William] Douglas. Now we have these nine technocrats.

Even some of the Democratic appointees, when it comes to campaign finance
reform, have had strange discussions. If you read [Stephen] Breyer, who worked in the
Senate and was chief counsel of the Judiciary Committee for Kennedy, who I knew, his
discussion of the Republicans versus Colorado [FEC v. Colorado Republican Campaign
Committee], where you could have a party making independent expenditures. The
argument was “Well, labor unions make independent expenditures, why can’t parties?” [
found that totally impossible to explain to a group of students. No one believes that
parties can have independent expenditures from candidates. Parties pick the candidates.
Parties meet with candidates. The last eight weeks of the campaign, in every precinct and
district in this country, the Democratic party and the Republican party are sitting down
and working with their candidates to coordinate what’s going on in their campaign. The
idea that in any way they could be independent is absurd. But the fact is, these guys have
never been involved in a campaign. They don’t know what a campaign is all about.
Again, you have the Citizens United decision where they say corporations are people!
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The idea that you are going to allow corporations to just pour money into campaigns!

So we lost the Supreme Court, not just Democratic-Republican division, we lost it
when we peopled it with circuit court judges. When Clinton asked then Senator Biden
about potential supreme court nominees, Biden pushed hard for going back to appointing
elected officials and people who stood for office, and get on the Supreme Court some
people in there who could deal with what we should be doing—campaign finance reform
is just one, but what we should be doing about the Constitution, and all the different
decisions. Whether Democratic elected officials or Republican elected officials, get some
people in there who better reflected society and had some life experiences that would
give them a better position to decide what the law of the land should be on these cases.
That is what I said to President Obama when he asked my advice on what turned out to
be the Sotomayor and Kagan nominations. Neither of us were successful.

RITCHIE: There used to be governors and senators who served on the Court.

KAUFMAN: And by the way, we’ve had some great justices who came up from
being judges. And you should have judges. But when you have a court where mostly
everyone has gone to two law schools and all have been judges, and have spent their
whole lives being judges, it’s like the criticism of career politicians, career senators and
career congressmen. I think it’s much more relevant, because politicians actually live out
in the community, and they are involved in and have to deal with policy issues. When
you get to the circuit court of appeals you’re locked up in an office.

One of the most interesting experiences I had in the Senate, and in my life, was
when [William] Rehnquist was nominated for chief justice up from being a justice. Joe
Biden at that point was ranking on Judiciary. Rehnquist was scheduled to come by for his
courtesy meeting, which was a lot different back then. Now, when Kagan came by to see
me, it was like a circus, loads of people and press. But back then, Rehnquist came with
someone from the Justice Department who was the person shepherding his nomination,
much like what happens now if a district court judge comes to see you for a nomination,
or an ambassador. If it’s an ambassador they’ll show up with a staff person from the State
Department; if it’s a nominee for judge or a U.S. attorney, they come with a
congressional liaison person from Justice.

Rehnquist and someone from the Justice Department showed up, and Marianne
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Baker, our scheduler, had been told by the senator that he was over meeting with
Thurmond and the majority and minority leaders of the Senate. They were trying to
figure out when to have the hearings. So Marianne said to Rehnquist, “The senator is
over there. He doesn’t know how long he’s going to be, so we can reschedule.”
Rehnquist said, “Well, I’d really like to find out when the hearing is going to be, so if
you don’t mind can I just sit here? When he comes back, he can tell me when the hearing
will be on.” She said fine, and then she called me. She said, “Ted, we’ve got a problem.”
I said, “What’s up?” She said, “Rehnquist is here and he’s sitting in the senator’s office.”
I said okay, and I went in and I sat with Rehnquist for an hour and a half. It was
fascinating. The two really big things that I learned, that have stood me in good
stead—one of them stood me in good stead for everything, the other one helped for

judicial nominations.

The first one was we got to talking about what it’s like to be on the Supreme
Court. He said, “You know, it’s very lonely.” He said, “When you get to be like me, most
of your friends are lawyers and judges.” There had been a number of articles about
people meeting with Supreme Court Justices, I don’t remember what year it was. But he
said, “They’re kind of worried about going to lunch with me or anything like that.” I used
to notice at the federal court building in Wilmington, the circuit court and district court
judges usually went to lunch with their law clerks. So it’s just an incredibly lonely job. I
hadn’t thought about it that way, but it really gave me insight. But then the thing that
gave me bigger insight—and by the way, he was a very nice man. Obviously, I didn’t
agree with him on a lot of things, but a very nice man. I don’t know how we got on it,
maybe he was just feeling contemplative, but I was asking what it’s like to be a Supreme
Court justice and he said, “You really wonder whether you’re making a difference or
not.” I was like what? He said, “No, really, I’m just one of nine votes, and you just
wonder if you’re going to make a difference.” Boy, I’ll tell you what, it completely
turned around for me for the rest of my life, when someone who was making a
difference, someone who was doing something that they couldn’t determine what was
going on, all kinds of people that I ran into in the intervening years who said to me, “Am
I going to make a difference?” If I believed they were making a difference, I would tell
them the Rehnquist story. You know, if you said to me, “Who has the best potential to
make a difference, outside of the president of the United States or the majority leader?”
Supreme Court justice would be right up there at the top of the list. And he didn’t think
he was making a difference. So it kind of puts it into perspective when you say you don’t
make a difference, because a lot of people do get discouraged. It really does affect their
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view of themselves. I’'m sure some of the senators we talked about, I think part of the
reason why Bill Bradley left the Senate was, “Am I really making that much of a
difference?” I think if you asked him now—I don’t know because I never asked
him—but I think he would say, “Yeah, I didn’t understand how much of a difference you
can make as a United States senator”.

RITCHIE: There’s a difference between one out of nine and one out of a
hundred.

KAUFMAN: Exactly, one out of a hundred. All the conflicts we talked about as a
senator, you want to make a difference but you’ve got all these conflicts. You’ve got to
be with the party. You’ve got to be with the president. You’ve got to be with your district
back home. You’ve got the national interest. You’ve got all of these things that may lead
you to do things that are not in your interest, not what you want to do. But as a Supreme

Court justice you can do whatever you want to do.

RITCHIE: You’ve talked about the different level of justices. Could you tell that
story that you mentioned earlier about Senator [Jeff] Sessions and the district court
judges, because we didn’t get that in the record.

KAUFMAN: Well, we were talking about the problems that started with
Supreme Court justices after Bork. Every nomination became a battle, and just about
every battle was like World War III. The two battles I was in as a senator were Kagan
and Sotomayor and both were big deals. But Senator Sessions, who I have a great deal of
respect for—I think he’s a very smart man although I don’t agree with him on a lot of
things. Whether it was Democrats when H. W. Bush was president, or Republicans when
Clinton was president, we started the tong wars over the judges. Sessions was especially
upset about a Hispanic American judge [Miguel Estrada] who was nominated for the
circuit court, who everyone acknowledged had super qualifications. Sessions and a lot of
Republicans felt he had been treated badly, and he eventually withdrew. When I was
there we had a wonderful young man named [Goodwin] Liu from California who had an
incredible record and would have made a great circuit court judge, and Republicans just
said “We’re not accepting him.” Anyway, we were in a hearing and historically what has
happened was that district court judges were usually picked by the senators. The senator
of the party of the president says, “I want Joe Smith or Mary Brown,” and they are
nominated. What happened in the Judiciary Committee for years was they have a “blue

116



slip.” Whenever a district court judge is nominated by the president, they send a blue slip
to both of the senators from that state and say, “Do you sign off on this person?” They
will not move that district court [nominee] until they get the signed blue slip back, and
that’s the way it’s been for years and years. We had some problems. There were
individual senators that held up district court judges for ideological reasons, but by and
large the vast majority of senators just sent the blue slips back and the hearings were
perfunctory. They go on and get to be district judges.

Sessions had raised in the committee the issue that there were some district court
judges that he just thought were ideologically wrong, and wouldn’t agree with them. He
wanted to start holding those judges and making it more difficult for them to get
confirmed. After the hearing, I went up to him. He and I had a number of discussions on
these kinds of issues. Earlier in the meeting that he raised this, he had been talking about
how Estrada had been mistreated, and he was very emotional about. Every time he talked
about the battles for the circuit court judges and the Supreme Court justices, he was
emotional about it. He really believed that Republican judges had been mistreated by the
Democrats, and on every case he got emotional. After talking about that he said, “Now
we ought to talk about district judges.” After it was over, I pulled him aside and I said,
“Jeff, you are very articulate and very emotional about the circuit court judges and what’s
gone on. I wasn’t here then, but clearly what’s going on, starting with Bork”—Sessions
himself had been defeated. Sessions had been nominated to be a judge and had to
withdraw. I said, “But Jeff, don’t do this to the district court judges. They’ve got to be
competent and all that, but let’s not start the same tong wars for the district court judges
as we have for the circuit court judges. Because I'll tell you, Jeff, and you know, because
you’re upset about what the Democrats did to Bush nominations on the circuit court
judges, I will guarantee you that if you start in on the district court judges, when a
Republican becomes president—and unfortunately a Republican will become president
again—the Democrats will do it back to you. We can’t break the logjam, we can’t get
beyond this, even though everybody knows it’s bad.” You didn’t want this contagion to

grow.

RITCHIE: It’s somewhat ironic that when George W. Bush was president,
Republicans in the Senate were really upset about the logjam on his nominations. They
kept demanding an “up or down vote,” and talked about the “nuclear option.” But when
Obama became president they adopted exactly the same practices they had objected to.

It’s a majority perspective versus a minority perspective.
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KAUFMAN: Yes, although there have been some senators—all generalizations
are false including this one—Ilike Lindsay Graham who said “Elections have
consequences.” And then even though it was very unpopular in his state, he voted to
confirm Sotomayor and Kagan. Orrin Hatch kind of went back and forth. But one of the
great joys of spending so many years in Washington is the irony, watching people have to
twist their position around to deal with changing circumstances. That’s one thing about
Joe Biden, and what I tried to do, and that is to be process senator. To be a senator who is
consistent and tries to deal with the process. I just believe it’s the right thing to do, to not
use the process one way if you’re in the majority if you’re not willing to live with it when
you’re in the minority. On the filibuster, my basic approach was that the filibuster should
only be used in extraordinary circumstances, and if I had served when the Republicans
were in the majority [ would have had the same position. That doesn’t mean you forego
the use of the filibuster. But on motions to proceed and things like that, that’s not the
place to filibuster.

Another thing that we caucused about when [ was in the Senate was the question
of what is the responsibility of members to support a cloture vote. There were a number
of members who used the fact that their votes were needed to achieve cloture—Ben
Nelson, Joe Lieberman, Evan Bayh, the moderates would not go along with cloture. I
argued in the caucus all the time, and a number of other people did too—someone in the
caucus stood up and said this was a rule of the House Democrats when Tip O’Neill was
the Speaker that the caucus should vote together on procedural issues. If the caucus
decides something, it isn’t up to each member to make up his mind. This was a
responsibility of being in the caucus. When you’re in the caucus you get to be chairman
of a committee. You get all kinds of things for being in the caucus. Therefore I wanted to
institute—Harry [Reid] never bought into it, but I know any number of people who will
be leaders in the future—again, we may be in the minority the next time—but I think a
majority of members of the caucus would have voted to require members as a price of
membership in the caucus to vote with the caucus on procedural motions. But
unfortunately, we never did that.

RITCHIE: There was one time in Senate history when the Democrats had a
“binding caucus” rule, from 1913 to 1920. It was very effective—Woodrow Wilson used
it effectively.

KAUFMAN: That was on everything, right?
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RITCHIE: On everything, but they especially invoked it on the tariff, which
could have been a very divisive issue. We have the records from that caucus and it’s
quite remarkable. But in 1933 Joe Robinson tried to reinstate it and it was rejected.

KAUFMAN: Even today. You couldn’t go home to your state and say, “I voted
on this bill because I was required by my caucus.” The independence of members is
paramount. You could never go home and explain, “I voted this way. I really believe the
opposite would be good for my state, but the caucus said we should vote that way, so I
voted with the caucus.” No, what I’'m talking about would be procedural motions. If there
was a vote on cloture and a majority of the caucus wanted to vote for cloture, then
everybody would vote for cloture.

RITCHIE: After the Bork nomination, the next big, controversial nomination
was the Clarence Thomas nomination. How different was that?

KAUFMAN: Oh, my God! As the kids say, that was a real “OH My God”. We
had some fussing back and forth after Bork, but we ended up getting [ Anthony] Kennedy
and there wasn’t too much of a fight about that. So this was kind of new and I don’t think
that any of us appreciated the fact that Bork had changed things so much. It’s very
difficult to—I do a lot of investing and it’s very difficult to figure out when a stock has
turned. It’s very difficult right now to figure out whether the housing market is going to
turn up or down until after it’s turned up or down. This is a classic example. So when
Thomas was nominated, I don’t think that right off the bat the senators who had been
around for Scalia and other nominations that went right through expected anything else. I
remember a press secretary came in at some point early in the process and said there had
just been an announcement on NBC that they were moving to “Desert Storm Footing.” I
had this mental picture of these correspondents down in the bowels of the press gallery
putting on camouflage and boots. That was an indication right out of the box that this was
going to be a fight.

A lot of big things happened with Bork. The biggest was that people had learned
that the klieg lights were on, so if you were interested in an issue, and it was involved in
a Supreme Court nomination, you would get a lot of attention if you talked about that
issue. You would have a welcome audience. You could build memberships. You could
raise money. So what happened was the extremes of the far left and right on the spectrum
had raised a lot of money off the Bork nomination. In fact, cottage industries began to
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grow up. We didn’t know it at the time, but it was clear after Thomas that people had
said, “Ah, Supreme Court nomination coming up? Get the printing press out, set

'79

everything out, we’re going to war

A venial story that came out of the Bork nomination was Ralph Nader’s
testimony. We wanted to have a discussion about privacy. We asked a lot of the more
liberal groups not to come and testify against Bork, but Nader demanded to get to testify.
I don’t know whether we ever let him testify or not, but he was just totally: “I’ve got to
testify. I’ve got to testify.” It looked clear to me—I never said it publicly, but I think in
the interim, watching Nader’s behavior, it rings true—is that the main reason he wanted
to testify was so he could do direct mailing and increase his base. So you had these
cottage industries that grew up, and people who really cared on the left and right.

One of the things I had learned from the Bork nomination, but was really driven
home on the Thomas nomination, is that when you get to the edge of the political
spectrum, the ends really do justify the means. People will make outrageous arguments,
even people I agree with. I’'m to the left of the spectrum on a lot of issues. I’'m pretty
liberal on non-social issues, some of them I’'m not. But it’s incredible the kind of process
arguments that came up, and obviously a more sensitive one this year. But I can
remember during the Thomas nomination when it got down to he said/she said, a number
of very liberal groups, people who were involved in the process, whose membership had
been totally committed to outlawing lie detectors in the courtroom, came in and argued
with the chairman that Thomas should take a lie detector test, but it wasn’t a problem
because this wasn’t a court of law. This was going to be the greatest vindication of lie
detector tests since the beginning of time, and it was going to advance everybody who
wants to do lie detector tests in the courts, but you should do it because it’s very
important who gets on the Supreme Court. Watching this thing unfold, the behavior of
people on both sides was just outrageous.

It got incredibly venial and small. I can talk at length about what went on with the
supporters of Thomas and the things they said about the chairman, and the committee,
and the process, including Thomas. That was just, “I can say anything I want because
that’s going to help me get through the process.” But it was also some friends, or good
acquaintances, who were opposed to Thomas. I can remember the staff director on the
Judiciary Committee was a wonderful guy named Jeff Peck. When Anita Hill came to
testify, the other side—and I’'m certain they did this on purpose—but when Jeff asked
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them how many chairs they would need, they said six or eight. When they showed up
they had fourteen or eighteen people, and made a big deal about the fact that they had
been disrespected because the committee had not had chairs for them and they had to
stand around. Clearly, it was a ploy to make the committee look bad, and make the
chairman look bad. And Peck worked with these people all the time. It was just a
example of what went on.

It was one of those things of where you stand is where you sit in terms of viewing
what happened, just to go through the high points of what happened, and you can read the
books, but from where I stood, I was contacted by people on [Pat] Leahy’s staff. Leahy
was on the committee. They wanted to sit down and talk about something really unusual
that had happened. Several people from Judiciary and I sat down with Leahy’s staff, and
they said that there were two people who were alleging that—one person was alleging
that they had been sexually harassed by Clarence Thomas, but they would not come
forward. I said to them, “This is pretty simple. This is not a star chamber proceeding.
People write letters and allege all kinds of things. We can’t move forward with this. Just
tell the person that we will protect them.” All the things you go through in an abuse case.
It was really a standard case of domestic abuse or sexual harassment. “We will protect
you. We will not say who you are at this point. But the first step has to be an affidavit
where you say ‘This is what happened and I'm willing to talk to committee staff and
members or somebody about what went on.”” They wouldn’t do it. It was right when
Thomas was being reported out. Senator Biden and the committee met, and he told them
about this. It was simple, what can you do? Of course, there were books written
afterwards that said they should have done this or they should have done that. They
should put pressure on her to come forward. Wait a minute, pressure her to come
forward? I said, “If you’re in a police station and somebody who comes in who’s been
raped, you put pressure on them to bring a case? That’s sexist and that’s not going to
happen.” So we met and we said, “Can we have an affidavit or something? Will she do
that?” They said no. So right when they were ready to report Thomas out, what’s her
name who covers the Supreme Court [for National Public Radio]—

RITCHIE: Nina Totenberg.

KAUFMAN: Nina Totenberg and someone at Newsday [ Timothy Phelps] broke
the story. Then we got affidavits and we went through the process of asking the questions
and holding the hearings and the rest of it. But it was really extraordinarily interesting
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that in my experience, this he said/she said, I never talked to a single person whose
opinion on who lied was different from their opinion on who should be on the Supreme
Court. Every single person I knew who thought that Clarence Thomas should be on the
Supreme Court said that she was lying. Every single person I talked to who said that
Thomas shouldn’t be a Supreme Court justice said he lied. This was 100 percent sample.
So we went through all this and nobody really changed what their position was.
Afterwards, people wrote these incredible books, again people who came forward but
wouldn’t say who they were, people who had information and then talked about it
afterwards and said they would come forward, but at the time would not come forward
and would not testify. Then we had the whole leak issue.

The special prosecutor they hired was a guy named [Peter] Fleming. When I
heard about him, I said, “He’s going to do a leak investigation? He’s going to not just
talk about the leak but everything that went on?” I mean, just think if Kenneth Starr had
the leak investigation. (By they way, Kenneth Starr graduated from Duke Law School.
As I say the two most famous graduates of Duke Law School, where I teach, are Kenneth
Starr and Richard Nixon.) Funny, when he asked all the questions and did the whole
study, he came out and said there was really no way to determine what happened. I think
that guy is one of my heroes, because there aren’t many people who wouldn’t have done
some grandstanding on this thing. It was a very difficult experience.

RITCHIE: It got incredible media attention. I was at a history conference. I can
remember coming back to my hotel room and finding a half dozen people sitting on the
edge of the bed watching the Clarence Thomas hearings.

KAUFMAN: It was like Watergate. It may even have been bigger than
Watergate because it goes back to what we said earlier about campaigns. Watergate was
incredibly complex, but everybody can understand he said/she said. It was just, listen to
the people and see what you believe.

We had a real bad experience, to add to that, in terms of the people to the left of
the spectrum. We had these groups that were opposed to Bork—Iet’s go back to
Bork—who met with Senator Biden. After the meeting, they went public and talked
about what went on in the meeting, how they were putting pressure on Biden. Biden
made a rule after that, that once someone was nominated he would not sit down with any

group to talk to them about the nomination. He would not go on television. He was asked
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to be on all the shows. He wouldn’t do the take-outs after the hearings. He wouldn’t do
anything. He just said, “This is what ’'m not doing.” I can remember one group came to
the staff, with stories that Bork had rented pornography. There were books written
afterwards that just excoriated Senator Biden for not bringing the whole pornography
thing into public. Wait a minute, you’re the civil liberties groups. Because the guy takes
out pornography, somehow we should tell that, that he legally rented pornography, we
should tell that as part of the public hearing? No.

RITCHIE: Senator Biden came out of both of those hearings with his reputation
as chairman intact. I can’t remember any complaints from the minority party that the
hearings weren’t run fairly.

KAUFMAN: Oh, no, his colleagues in the Senate always said nice things about
him. It was really one of those many examples we can get into, where Washington
interest groups had an opinion. Both the far right and far left interest groups were furious.
Many of them wrote books and excoriated the chairman, especially on Anita Hill. These
books fell into the old [Daniel Patrick] Moynihan saying that “you have a right to your
own opinion but not to your own facts.” But there was a survey done after that by Gallup.
The one thing that Senator Biden said before those hearings that he wanted people to
think that he was fair. Some incredible percentage of the American people felt that he
had been fair as chairman.

So I think there were two different views, the insiders and the public—which
brings me to this point, this is something that has shaped my opinion of the Senate, and
that I’ve used in my course, and that is there was a series done by Hedrick Smith, it was
done on PBS in the early 90s about media and lobbyists and their impact on the
government. The one piece that had to do with the difference between what the
Washington insiders thought about Senator Biden’s performance and what the public
thought about Senator Biden’s performance. They had this piece that Smith put together
about Clinton’s first State of the Union speech, which went about 80 minutes. They
showed on the film the different Washington commentators on each one of the networks
saying, “Oh, he spoke way too long. It was a washout as a speech. It was just awful.” But
one of the networks had focus groups, and the focus groups all said it was a great speech.
One of the cable companies had gathered 30 people, who said, “I thought it was very
interesting what he said about jobs.” “I thought it was good that he talked about that.”
“He’s talking about things I really care about.” It was about issues, which the pundits
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didn’t talk about. After that, the networks started putting on more of these shows
afterwards and cutting the pundits out. When you look at what goes on with the
punditocracy, especially now, they have a totally different view on many things than
from the public, which is one of the things that builds this public hate of Washington.

One of the best examples of that is I was teaching down at Duke when the Monica
Lewinsky story broke. They went on and on and on and the local paper, the Durham
Morning Herald, went for a whole week, late in the process, when the Washington media
was totally focused on this thing (and really what it was about was the media and the
Washington insiders said, “He didn’t resign! He should resign! By God, we know what’s
going on here and he should resign!”). That was ludicrous and builds this kind of
antipathy about Washington. But the Durham Morning herald went for a whole week
when the Lewinsky story was not covered on its front pages. To the extent that it was
covered, it was covered in the back. For a whole week. And then Sunday, on all the
Sunday morning shows they had somebody talking about Monica Lewinsky. Somebody
made a good point then, which I think turned out to be true. They said, what they did was
they were getting a lot of listeners to Monica Lewinsky on these Sunday shows, but they
were also driving away a lot of people who didn’t come back. I think that’s what
happened. The Sunday shows suffered despite a short-term rating boost. Also, most of
the anchors for those shows really were upset with the fact that the president hadn’t
resigned as they said he should. Want to take a break?

RITCHIE: Yes, great.
KAUFMAN: What time is it?
RITCHIE: Just about noon.
End of the Third Interview
Photos from top to bottom:
Vice President Dick Cheney reenacting the swearing in ceremony.
The Kaufman family in the Old Senate Chamber with Vice President Cheney and Vice

President-elect Biden.
The signed drawer from Senator Kaufman’s Senate desk.
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TEACHING ABOUT CONGRESS
Interview #4
Thursday Afternoon, August 18, 2011

RITCHIE: We were talking this morning about the Clarence Thomas nomination
and all of its ramifications.

KAUFMAN: Yes, there are a couple of things about Thomas I’ve just have to
say. First, is that we were very fortunate to have had a number of extraordinary
individuals on our Judiciary Committee staff over the years. This was the case during the
Thomas nomination. The staff was led by Ron Klain who was the Chief Counsel and Jeff
Peck who was the Staff Director. They were both exceptional individuals who did an
amazing job for us and have gone on to have great success.

After Bork, people learned a lot of lessons, Korologos’ rule and things like that.
It’s extraordinary that politicians get the reputation for saying whatever they need to say
to get elected, and not sticking with their positions. I have not found that to be the case.
Most politicians I know are super careful about keeping track of their promises and
meeting their promises. But Supreme Court justices are quite to the contrary. Since Bork
we’ve had very few Supreme Court nominees who have been candid during the hearings.
Thomas testimony was probably the most egregious. One of the most moving parts of the
hearings was when he said, “At the circuit court my office overlooks where they bring in
the prisoners to court. I’ve sat at my desk and looked out the window at those prisoners in
their handcuffs and I think there but for the grace of God go I.” Then he got on the
Supreme Court and he and Scalia voted on a case of a prisoner in the federal system who
was shackled hand and foot and beaten—the description of his injuries while he was
chained were just awful—and he voted that this was not cruel and unusual punishment. I
just think that there so many things that he’s done since he’s been on the court that are
just so different from who he claimed he was.

RITCHIE: Well, we had talked about this yesterday, but we’re approaching the
time when you decided to leave the Senate in 1994. Senator Biden was moving into

Foreign Relations by then.

KAUFMAN: No, he hadn’t yet, he was still chairing Judiciary.
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RITCHIE: But he had a significant position in the Senate, very well established.
Why was it at that plateau you decided to step out of the Senate?

KAUFMAN: It was a very personal decision. | had decided that I fell into a
category of people who wanted to be doing some work until I died, and I realized that in
order to do that, to keep working, and because I didn’t want to work at the level I was
working at, I didn’t want to continue to work 65 hours a week for the rest of my life, with
all the stress of being a chief of staff. So I decided that while I still had the energy—
because change is very stressful and it was going to take a lot of effort for me to put
together the right combination of things to do, I should leave. I didn’t want to go to work
for anyone. Two rules I made when I left was: one, I didn’t want to do anything
administrative. [ was totally burned out on doing things administrative. Two, I didn’t
want to do anything where [ worked for anyone else. So what I did was put together five
different pieces to this puzzle and do those, so I’d have some variability. Then I looked at
the rest of my life as kind of rolling those five things as it suited itself, maybe as time
went on reducing it to two or three. That was really what it was all about. I knew it was
going to take a lot of energy, so I didn’t want to stay around too long.

This happened to a lot of people. It happened to a lot of senators. You had Bill
Bradley, John Danforth, and Sam Nunn, they all left in their 50s. I think some of the
older senators, when they left, they were just too late to really do anything else. So they
just retired. I didn’t want to be in that position. So that’s why I left then.

RITCHIE: Then you went down to Duke?

KAUFMAN: What I always tell people who are getting ready to retire: start
planning three or four years in advance, especially for teaching. The way academic
institutions work, they need somebody to do a certain thing, at a certain time. There’s a
whole bunch of discussion about how do we fit it in. But once you get in and you’re
teaching a course, as long as you’re doing a good job and you’re keeping the students
interested in it, you can just go on forever. During Supreme Court nominations, what we
would do was we would bring in two lawyers who didn’t work for the Senate, one
usually was a constitutional law scholar and the other who was working for a law firm.
For Bork we brought in Chris Schroeder, who is a professor of law at Duke, and a
constitutional scholar. And we brought in Jeff Peck, who was a lawyer in Washington.
Both of whom have been very successful and involved with us ever since. After the Bork
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nomination was over, about 1990, Chris Schroeder came to me and said, “I want to teach
a course at Duke on the Congress. Would you teach it with me?” I said, “I’m chief of
staff to a senior senator, and I’'m working 65 hours a week. [ don’t think I can do it, but
let me think about it.” I went home and I talked to Lynne. I said, “You know, ’'m going
to be leaving the senate in two or three or five years, somewhere in there and this would
be a perfect piece to a puzzle.” It’s a little like when you’re building a shopping center
and you need an anchor store. I thought, this would be a great anchor store because I'd
really like to teach at Duke. So I worked it out with Chris so that I could travel back and
forth to Durham to teach the course. Since I taught it with Chris it did not require a whole
lot of heavy lifting by either of us. I got all the enjoyment of teaching the course, plus
Chris is a very good teacher, I learned a lot from him. I did that, and then when I got
ready to retire I knew that one of the things I wanted to do was to teach at Duke.

What I did then, I was teaching one course with Chris on “The Congress”. This
was all in the law school for law students and public policy students from Sanford
[School of Public Policy] came over and took the course, too. Usually it was half law
students and half public policy students. Then I added a course for law students and
MBASs on the relationship between government and business. I started teaching that in
’95. So Lynne and I started moving to Durham for the spring, for January and February
every year, while I taught those two courses. Why January and February? Because of the
basketball season. We did that for a number of years.

Then, fortunately for me, Senator Biden and Senator Helms decided to reorganize
the foreign policy establishment and decided to split up the U S Information Agency.
Basically, half the people in USIA were in broadcasting, and half the people were public
diplomacy, exchange programs and things like that. Biden and Helms set up a
Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) so that broadcasting would be independent, and
they set up the BBG as a firewall between the broadcasters and the rest of the
government, so that government officials couldn’t interfere in what the broadcasters were
saying. The broadcasters were the Voice of America and Radio Free Europe, Radio
Liberty, Radio and TV Marti. The Board had four Democrats, four Republicans, and the
secretary of state. Senator Biden fixed it so that I was nominated by President Clinton
and confirmed by the Senate. I went on to serve four terms. I was nominated and
confirmed twice by George Bush. So that was a big deal. That was an important part of
the puzzle. I did some consulting. After 94 a portion of my week was spent preparing for
Senator Biden’s 1996 campaign. So it was a good life. The big advantage was that I
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wasn’t doing any administrative work anymore. And even more important I could control
my own schedule.

I worked for Senator Biden for 22 years, and after the first three years I don’t
think he ever ordered me or even asked me to do anything. I was driven much more by
what he would want me to do, not what he was going to ask me to do. Occasionally, |
would find myself in places where I didn’t want to be, doing things I didn’t want to do.
So I enjoyed being in control of my schedule. But he was a great person to work for. If I
was never going to retire, I would probably have stayed his chief of staff forever. And I
still stayed very much involved with him.

One of the things I didn’t do—it’s like the old Sherlock Holmes story, The
Hounds of the Baskervilles, the dog that did not bark in the night—I did not go into
lobbying. When I started my search, I thought, “Well, I’'m doing five things and one of
them could be lobbying, I could make a lot of money. And I don’t need a lot of clients.”
So I went down and started talking to former chiefs of staff who were now running
lobbying firms. One of the things I found out very quickly was that a lot of the former
chief of staffs had not maintained warm relations with the senators they worked for, even
though many people in town thought they had good relations. What turned out was they
said that most of the senators did not want to look like they were giving favorable
treatment to their former chiefs of staff. In fact, the senators were bending over
backwards not to help them, and that led to some bad feelings.

The second thing I learned was that none of the issues that I supported and would
be willing to work for had the money to hire me. You really found out who has the
lobbying business in Washington, and it was on the other side of just about all of the
issues I favored. Then I also figured out, based on talking to the former chiefs of staff,
that it would really limit my ability to continue to help Senator Biden, and I wanted to do
that. I was committed to him and wanted to continue to do so. So I worked this out
without lobbying and it worked out very well.

RITCHIE: When you started to teach about the Senate and the Congress, did that
make you rethink the Senate once you were trying to explain it to students? How did the
Congress appear from the outside?

KAUFMAN: Oh, really, I'm a Senate guy. I think the Senate is great. That
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doesn’t mean it doesn’t have its failings. But the students were very good. It was very
helpful to my job working with students. You know, so much of when you’re working in
any job, but especially in this kind of a job, is tactical. You’re carrying around a pad with
40 things on it and you check them off at the end of the day. Then you have another list
of 40 things, tactical things, and a lot of undergrowth of ideas. When you’re talking to
students, they don’t know the undergrowth. They’re very smart, so they look over it and
connect the dots. I can remember one time I was giving my first class on campaign
finance reform. It was a two and a half hour class and an hour into it they had figured it
all out. That was the big thing where the students helped me while I was still working. I
was still working for three years after I started teaching.

Also, you make a good point, having to explain it to the students, again smart
people, sharpens what your views are. All those years teaching about the congress was a
very big advantage when I became a senator—there were a number of big advantages,
but one was I knew a lot of people. Two was, I said this for two years that the biggest
advantage I had coming to the Senate, especially over the other freshmen, was I really
understood that the Senate was a go-with-the-flow place. Governors especially have a
hard time when they come to the senate. This is true of all governors, every one of them.
As we said earlier, as governor they could set their own agendas, they could do what they
wanted. Now they were stuck with the vicissitudes of a body designed for delay. So one
of the big advantages I had when I came back to the Senate was, I understood what was
important, but you go with the flow. That was really helpful. But also that [ knew so
many of the members, and especially the senior senators.

When I was preparing for the press conference to announce that I had been selected
by Governor [Ruth Ann] Minner, I was thinking, she’s going to stress the fact that [ have all
this experience, and that I know people and all that. Then I started thinking of the list of
senators and between *94 and 2008 there was a lot of turnover among the senators. I looked
down the list of senators and boy, there were a lot of senators I didn’t know. I was puzzling
over this, but I looked at the list again and all of a sudden it came to me. I said, if [ was asked
this question—because it’s daunting to go before a press conference where they can ask you
anything about anything, as Caroline Kennedy, when she thought about running for the
Senate, found out, and as Sarah Palin found out, when you get up there, people can ask you
anything. And the federal government can produce a lot of complicated, arcane and esoteric
questions. One of the things I thought about was: Was the basic thing that Ruth Ann would
say about me when she introduced me true? I came up with this, and it turned out to be
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absolutely true. My answer, if I had been asked, would have been, “There’s been a lot of
turnover, but I know Senator [Daniel] Inouye who is chairman of the Appropriations
Committee. I know Senator [John] Kerry who is chairman of the Foreign Relations
Committee. I know Senator Leahy, who is chairman of the Judiciary Committee. I know
Senator [Max] Baucus, who is chairman of the Finance Committee. [ know Harry Reid, the
majority leader.” I never was asked the question, but that’s what it turned out to be, the
senior senators, especially Senator Leahy, Kerry, Levin and Lieberman, my committee

chairs were great to me.

Right from the beginning I was on Judiciary and Foreign Relations. We can get
into it later why I picked them, but Senator Kerry and Senator Leahy were just super to
me. [ also knew it wasn’t just personal because [ understood what they needed and what
they wanted. I went to both of them on the first day and said, “Let me tell you something,
Mr. Chairman, you call and the answer is yes.” [Laughs] Then when I got on Armed
Services, Carl Levin was fantastic, and Joe Lieberman on Homeland Security, so it was
great. Harry Reid was wonderful to me. Inouye was great. That was important. I knew
my way around, [ knew the staff, and I knew the way the place worked.

But one of the things that really helped me, especially with the media, was having
taught. There’s two perspectives on things. I used the engineering analysis, which is if
you have trouble with the water system in your house, you can go to a plumber. The
plumber will come in and say, “Well, I can see what’s happening over there, that’s like a
house I did two years ago. And I can see what’s happening over here, that’s like a house I
did this year.” They will use their experience to tell you, “What you need is this, that, and
the other thing.” That’s very helpful. If you bring in a mechanical engineer to look at the
system, they will want to go in and measure the flows and use the Bernoulli Principle, the
Venturi effect, and do all these things scientifically. One’s not right and one’s not wrong.
John Gardner who started Common Cause said that a society which values its
philosophers and devalues its plumbers will be a society where neither its plumbing nor
its ideas will work.! One is not better than the other, but when I came back after I had
been chief of staff to a senator and had been teaching, I could explain things very easily. |

'“The society which scorns excellence in plumbing as a humble activity and tolerates
shoddiness in philosophy because it is an exalted activity will have neither good
plumbing nor good philosophy: neither its pipes nor its theories will hold water.” John
Gardner, Excellence: Can We Be Equal and Excellent Too? (1961)
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could put things in perspective, and I’'m not just talking about how the Senate works but
also the issues. If the press came to me ask why is this happening—Xkind of like you get
asked historical questions—there were a lot of press that wanted to talk to me about the
issues, but they also wanted to talk about what did I think was going to happen, and why
did I think it was going to happen, especially in the 111th Senate because there was so
much process going on.

RITCHIE: It’s true that it’s hard to predict the future, but there are certain
patterns that you can see.

KAUFMAN: You are right, there are patterns. Recently, I told people that I had a
pretty good idea about what was going to happen with debt limit. I wrote two op-eds on it
and I pretty much laid out that this was going to be a lot more difficult than a lot of
people were saying. Most members of the House and Senate really wanted to pass the
debt limit because they were concerned about what it was, but the people in America did
not want to pass the debt limit. Therefore, you could have the president, and Harry Reid,
and John Boehner, and Nancy Pelosi, and Mitch McConnell sit down in a room and make
a decision, but when it went back to the members, the members were going to take into
account what their constituents thought, and their constituents did not want them to do
that. And they didn’t usually do things their constituents didn’t want them to do—and I
think that’s right, they do represent their constituencies.

I said, “This is not going to be something where you can sit five people in a room
and decide.” And that’s really what happened. It was clear to me that there would have
been agreement on some of President Obama’s proposals, but when Boehner went back
to the Republican caucus he found out they weren’t buying that at all. So I was pretty
good at predicting what was going to happen. We got to the last three days and reporters
kept calling me up and asking “Do you think it’s going to happen?” I said, “We are
totally in uncharted waters. We’ve never been in a situation like this before.” Many
journalists who were trying to report on it, they wanted to know that too, as I’'m sure you
know, because you do this all the time. “Well, no, there is no history on this. We’ve
never been there before.” One of the reporters asked me, “What are we going to do?”” |
said to him, “I don’t know what’s going to happen, but I can tell you what to write. Just
write that the Congress of the United States is in uncharted waters and no one knows
what’s going to happen in the next three days. Anyone who says they know what’s
happening in the next three days doesn’t understand the Congress.”
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RITCHIE: What did you find was the biggest difficulty in teaching about
Congress? What was the hardest thing to get across to students?

KAUFMAN: The hardest thing to do recently in teaching about the Congress is a
big change since 1991 when I started teaching. It’s been absolutely ingrained in
Americans as an article of faith that all elected officials care about is reelection. When
you’re trying to have a discussion about an issue, what Chris Schroeder and I have tried
to do is use the course to give people the information so they could tell, going forward,
why things are happening and the way things are happening. It isn’t just a historical
study. It’s like, “What’s going to happen with the debt limit bill? What’s going to happen
with healthcare reform?” So that as a viewer—a lot of my students end up in
Washington, or in state legislatures, or in government at different levels—just how does
government work? So you have a better idea of what is going to happen.

One of the things I’ve always stressed is we don’t want you coming into
class—especially the law students, but also the public policy students and the
MBAs—where you are sitting off to the side watching as a spectator in the gallery
watching the Congress. You’re never really going to understand the place that way.
You’ll understand some of it, because a lot of journalists do that. But to really understand
it you have to put yourself in a position as a member of Congress, and that’s very
difficult for people to do. Even back when we started the class, the students believed that
the biggest problem in Washington was partisan bickering, and that interest groups have
inordinate power. But they also believe that members only care about is their reelection.
I’d tell them, when I met with students, and lots of other groups when I was a senator,
“There’s a contradiction here when you say that you think all senators only care about
reelection.” I say, “How many people in this room think that senators have big egos?”
Every hand in the room goes up and they laugh because they know I was a senator. I say,
“Then what you have to believe is that someone, not too different from you, decides they
are going to be a senator. They go out through the process of a campaign, putting
themselves and their families on the line, raising the money, kissing babies and all that
stuff. And then when they get elected they come into office and tell their staffs, ‘Okay,
bring me the polling data so I know how to vote on this next issue, because I want to get
reelected.’ I said, “That just isn’t the way people think.” They do it because they want to
make a difference. They don’t do it just so they can be called senator.
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My favorite story is about Fritz Hollings. They asked him when he was running
for president, “What about vice president?” He said, “Oh, no, I’ve already ridden in a
limousine.” They don’t do it so they can ride in limousines, because they don’t get
limousines. They do it because they want to make a difference. If they want to make a
difference, that means they’re not going to be slaves to whatever is going to get them
reelected. Then I tell the Henry Hyde story, which is one of my favorites. Henry Hyde
was famous for his anti-abortion positions and the fact that he chaired the impeachment
proceedings against Clinton. But he did a great thing. They have an orientation program
for new members in the House, and every Congress he would come to the orientation
program and say, “The most important thing to think of as a freshman member of
Congress, the most important thing if you want to be a success at this, is to decide an
issue on which you are willing to lose the election.” I think that is the best advice. If you
could give just one piece of advice to an elected official, it would be that. Because if you
don’t, you can just fall into that category where reelection does drive everything.

I can remember that after Senator Biden was elected in 1972, in 1978, for a lot of
reasons which I won’t go into but which you can read about in any of the books, we had
the largest desegregation case in history in terms of the number of people involved, and it
became clear that Senator Biden could lose his reelection race. I remember riding in on
the train together one time and the two of us were talking that the worst of all worlds
would have been if he had come in in 73 and then done everything so he could get
reelected in *78, and then lost in *78. It would be bad because you would lose, but what
would be even worse about it is that all you would have demonstrated is that you could
win a race. Really, the reelection is the vindication of the fact that at least on prima facie
evidence you’re a pretty good senator. Anyway, it’s not been my experience that senators
are like that—far from it.

But here’s the problem, when this is an article of faith—and by the way, it’s
totally driven by the media. If you pick up a newspaper, like on the debt limit bill, you’ll
never read a piece that says, “John Boehner took this position because he really does
think that we should not be raising taxes.” Everything is put in the context of the
motivation being politics and reelection. One of the other advantages of the course was
one of the students as part of a project went back and looked at coverage of the State of
the Union address by Newsweek or Time and documented the evolution of the coverage
of it. I think it was Newsweek that on one of Eisenhower’ State of the Union address, the
only coverage they gave was they printed what he said. Over the years, the coverage
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became less and less what the president said and more and more about analysis of his
motivation for what he was doing.

There’s another great anecdote on the same thing and that is when Ed Muskie was
running for president and was in New Hampshire—not the time he cried, but another
time—he was speaking to a group and he had a heckler. He called the heckler up on the
stage and he allowed the heckler to say what he wanted to say into the microphone. We
didn’t have all the things we do now, like You Tube. I think the heckler spoke for two or
three minutes. That night, CBS News ran it on the national news. That heckler received
more time for what he actually said than any presidential candidate has received on
national television since 1972. You have more and more analysis and less and less
coverage. There’s been this erosion. Now, when I teach the course, it’s a constant battle
throughout the whole course, because everything you talk about, the students want to put
in the context of political strategy. Last semester, when we had health reform, it was very
difficult to get the students to think that maybe the Republican senators really cared
about this, maybe the Democratic senators really cared about this. Especially the
healthcare reform, senators really had strong opinions on certain, not on everything, but I
guarantee you that there was something in the healthcare bill that every senator had a
strong personal visceral reaction to. It may have been that his mom was in an institution,
or they had a kid that was involved in healthcare, or someone close to them had a
preexisting condition, or got their healthcare cut off, or couldn’t afford insurance. I
guarantee you, there was something every senator would have voted on, it didn’t matter
about reelection, regardless.

Really, the hardest thing to teach, and by the way, to go back to sports and
celebrities, people believe none of them are real, too. People don’t think that movie
actors, or baseball players, or senators are real people. Many have a superficial,
cardboard opinion, and I think a lot of it is driven by the incredible growth in celebrity of
performers of all kind. The two years that [ was a senator, when I talked to people, and
I’m not talking about people in Delaware because I talk to them all the time, but when
I’m traveling and seeing people (and I saw this for years with Vice President Biden,
when he was a senator), the response would be, “Well, you’re not at all like what I
thought you would be.”

There’s this wonderful study they did, I think it was [Mark S. ] Mellman, the
pollster, this was a number of years ago but I’'m sure it’s even truer today, they asked
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about what people think about senators. They asked where they thought they lived. “Oh,
they live in big homes with lots of servants.” That’s totally untrue. I mean, it’s true for
Jay Rockefeller and John Kerry, but it’s not true for most senators. They asked, if you
went to dinner at a senator’s house what would it be like. “Well, there would be a big
table with lots of food, and everybody would be very nice to you, and the staff and the
senator would be very nice to you.” And what would the senator be thinking? “The
senator would be thinking, I can’t wait for this thing to be over and have these people out
of here.” That’s what makes it hard.

If you’re trying to teach a course, especially law students but policy too, they’re
taught to do research and look at things from the outside and report what’s happening,
not as the protagonist, not the person on the field, or the Teddy Roosevelt quote about the
person in the arena, suffering the slings and arrows, fighting for what they believe in, but
more the person sitting in the stands watching. It’s very difficult for them to do that. You
almost have to stop every discussion and say, “Do you really think Harry Reid is thinking
that right now?” You’ve been in Washington now,” because the students have been in
Washington and we encourage them to read Roll Call, and The Hill, and the rest of that.
“If you read that,” I say, “and see all the votes that Harry Reid has taken that are going to
kill him in Nevada, and you still think he’s doing totally everything to get reelected?” If
you look at what Harry Reid did in our Congress, compared to what he needed to do to in
order to get reelected—I'm not saying that there was nothing he did that did not help his
reelection, but my God there were loads of tough votes he took—and he could determine
whether we voted or not! He was the guy sitting there saying, “Well, we’re going to vote
on this or vote on that.” He would set the agenda, I said, “You don’t have to like Harry
Reid. You don’t have to like any of these men or women, but if you’re going to
understand what’s going on, you’ve got to be a lot more realistic. They’re a lot more like
you, and they are driven a lot more like you in terms of what you would do.” I would say
to the student, “How many of you in this room would go to the Senate and just do what
was needed to get reelected? I wouldn’t.”

The second thing with students, the big change between *91 and now is, there
always used to be a number of very ideologically driven conservative and liberal students
in the class. There used to be some student that whenever I asked for comments was
going to take one position or the other. And boy, they’ve just dwindled off to practically
none. I’'m not saying that the students don’t have opinions, they do. But you don’t have
the: “I’'m going to go out to make Michele Bachmann president of the United States, and
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I’'m leaving in 15 minutes.” Or “I read The Spectator or The New Republic every week
and I really believe everything they say.” You don’t have as many students like that.
They care, but you don’t have students at the extremes.

RITCHIE: When you were describing the problems of senators having to make
decisions based on what they need to do versus what would get them reelected, it
reminded me of the first chapter of John Kennedy’s Profiles in Courage, which is all
about what do you do when your conscience or your rational examination of the issues
clearly runs contrary to the mood of your constituents. Kennedy doesn’t have an answer
for that, but he suggests it’s a continual problem for those in public office. I wondered,
when you were teaching, did you find some authors more reliable than others that you

would recommend? Were you teaching from experience or from books?

KAUFMAN: Oh, no, I could send you the syllabus, which would be helpful. No,
we used [Roger] Davidson and [Walter]| Olszek, we used their book [Congress and Its
Members]. That’s the text. Then we have Kathleen Hall Jamieson, a book she wrote with
Joseph Cappella. Doris Graber. You can just go down the list of who’s who. David Price.
It’s very much of an institutional course where you learn what the different theories are,
most of them by academics.

RITCHIE: Do you find yourself arguing with the sources, or do you find the
sources are pretty good?

KAUFMAN: Well, we pick sources we think are pretty good. We did put The
Broken Branch in, by Tom Mann and Norm Ornstein, who I like a whole lot although I
don’t agree with some of The Broken Branch. We put that in because it’s such a good
book. But when we talk about the conflicts that members face, one of the big ones we
talk about is Profiles in Courage. | would argue with Kennedy a little bit, and I think the
world of him and I use the book and I encourage my students to read the book. That’s a
perfect example of what it really is, as opposed to what you read in the press, because
there are lots of profiles in courage, people who cast votes that make you go, “My God,
why?”” But I don’t think reading history would make it easier for you to cast a profiles in
courage vote. | think a profiles in courage vote is the same kind of decision making it
takes as if you were in someone’s home and there was a five dollar bill lying there. You
pick it up or you don’t pick it up. The kind of decisions that everybody faces about
what’s right and what’s wrong.
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This isn’t a bad time to go into one of the key things about the Senate. It’s an
insight that really is not mine, it came from Senator Biden, and that is one of the keys to
success in the Senate, if not in life, is not to question people’s motivations. Senator Mark
Pryor got the freshman senators together, right after I came, and started talking about
civility. As I’ve said before, I don’t think civility is nearly the problem it’s been in the
past. The problem is the basic real differences that people in the country have. But I told
him that if anybody wants to read about civility, they should read Senator Biden’s speech
when he left the Senate to become vice president. One of the things he talked about there,
and has talked about a lot over the years, is never question a colleague’s motivation.
There’s two reasons not to question motivations. One is, you don’t know what their
motivation is. Let’s say that 50 percent of the time you get the motivation absolutely
right, but when you don’t get it right—and people will get upset if you question their
motivation under any circumstances—but the 50 percent when you question their
motivation and you’re wrong, you have got yourself a real buzz saw. You don’t know
what their motivation is. That’s the reason we have trials, you don’t know.

Take my own personal example. Something happened that taught me how really
important it was to have the kind of criminal justice system that we have, and to make
sure that we honor it every step of the way, because we really don’t know who’s guilty.
My personal example was from the *70s. I was home one night and we had been having
some trouble. One of the kids on the street who was like 10 was having a tong war with
one of our daughters, who was 10. They didn’t like each other. It was Saint Patrick’s day
or something like that. About eleven o’clock that night and we were in bed when all of a
sudden, “Bang!” Somebody had put a cherry bomb or a firecracker inside of our door. It
blew the whole screen door off. Not the main door, the door outside. The next morning,
somebody said they’d seen this 10 year old and he had some firecrackers. We were
absolutely convinced that this 10-year-old kid had set off the firecracker. About three
days later—no, no, it was much later—there was a family next door that we were very
close to. Their oldest son was away at college. He was home and I was talking to him,
and he said, “Boy that was really something on Saint Patrick’s day.” I said, “What’s
that?”” He said, “The firecracker that blew the front door off your house. I said, “Oh,
yeah, that was really something. I think we know who did it.” He said, “Oh, really?
Because I just happened to be standing by the window. I looked out and this car came
down the street. Somebody got out of the car and went over and put the firecracker in
your door. The firecracker went off, and they jumped in the car and went down the
street.”
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RITCHIE: It was not a 10-year-old kid.

KAUFMAN: It was not a 10-year-old kid that had done it. Some things just bring
it home to you. When you start questioning somebody’s motivation, it’s like that, it’s like
figuring out the 10-year-old kid. I used to tell the freshmen, “I think the single biggest
thing to do to help civility”—although I don’t think civility is the problem—*is just
encourage all senators to stop questioning another Senator’s motivation.” I said there was
another time there was a member—this was really very nice—a senator who came to me
and said, “Can we go to breakfast sometime?” I said yes and we went to breakfast. He
said, “I’m really having a problem. There’s this one issue and I really, really care about
it, but I think I’m alienating some of my colleagues.” I said, “The answer is, you are.” He
said, “What do I do about it.” I said, “Don’t stop arguing your issue, but just look at your
colleagues and listen to them. There’s a reason why they say ‘My friend from Indiana’
and ‘My friend from Illinois,” and they don’t use pejoratives. Truer words were never
spoken that in the Senate, votes make strange bedfellows. The senator that you may be
totally opposed to, 15 minutes later may be your number one supporter.” (Mark Warner
who I worked with, it was really funny, we were working on this one issue, we worked
on and we went down on the floor to have a colloquy about it. I think the same day he
was down on the floor just ripping me on the substance of another issue. On the same
day! You can’t take this personally.)

So what I said to him—this was about the time of the healthcare debate, after the
bill had passed. I said, “Did you see what Senator [Charles] Schumer did on the meeting
we had after the healthcare bill was over?” I said, “If you notice what he did was, when
we came into the caucus, clearly he was going to have the leadership take over managing
the healthcare bill from that moment on.” Max Baucus had been leading the fight as
chairman of the Finance Committee, but clearly Schumer and the leadership wanted to
take it back. So I said, “Did you see what Schumer did? He got up there and he praised
Max Baucus at length, said positive things about him and called for rounds of applause,
and then essentially said, ‘Okay, but from now on the leadership is going to take it over.
Max, thank you for what you’ve done.” I said, “Now, he could have done it a totally
different way. He could have gotten up and said, ‘Max, you’ve really made a mess of this
thing. The healthcare bill has taken way too long to pass,” and been honest about it. But
he was honest about it, too. He didn’t say anything that wasn’t true.” But I said, “I think
that’s the model for how you get along in this place. People make fun of ‘My good
friend’ and all the rest of that, but there’s a reason why people do that, and it goes mainly
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to the fact that today’s opponent may be tomorrow’s ally, and you do not want to burn
bridges with colleagues.”

Just don’t question your colleague’s motivations. You don’t know. Now, you can
question their judgment. You can even question his or her intellect. You can question a
lot of things about people, and you can be critical of a lot of things about people, you
don’t want to make it personal, but you can. But the one thing that’s never questioned, is
“The reason you’re doing this is because so-and-so gave you campaign contributions.”
Oh, my God! If you know for a fact that’s why they did it, if you’ve got it down in black
and white that’s why they did it, but many times, you know, as I said earlier, they believe
something and that’s an alliance with the people who contribute to them.

RITCHIE: I can remember talking to some of the people who were famous
“head counters” in the Senate, and they said never take a vote for granted because there
can be all sorts of personal reasons behind why a senator votes for something.

KAUFMAN: Exactly, and that’s why I said I learned so much from that New
Castle county executive primary in 1971, where I didn’t count the votes right and my
candidate lost . It is difficult when you’ve got a list of 50 people, and you sit down and
try to predict what they’re going to do. And the other thing, one of the things we use in
the course is a book by Wolpe and Levine called [Lobbying Congress: How the System
Works]. In it they say to be successful you have to listen carefully to what you are told
because people sometimes want you to believe they have made a commitment when in

fact they haven’t.

It’s great because it’s really, really true. These men and women are experts at
saying something and people walk away thinking “Well, he’s for me.” But he never said
he was for you. He said, “It’s a good idea.” He said lots of things, but unless you’ve got
somebody who looks you in the eye and says, “I’m voting yes on this bill,” you can’t be

sure.

RITCHIE: That’s like the secret ballots that are taken on leadership races.
Members walk into the caucus convinced that they have the votes, and they come in third
or fourth in the balloting.

KAUFMAN: Kennedy and Byrd race was famous. For me it all goes back to
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what I learned in that first New Castle county race. Once you go through that—I mean,
counting is a lost art, it’s very difficult, but knowing how to do it is incredibly important.

RITCHIE: Moving on to the other things you were doing during this period, you
brought up the fact that you were on the boards of directors of the government
broadcasting operations, for Voice of America and other radio operations. What exactly
did a member of the board have to do?

KAUFMAN: Yes, this is always difficult. It was the Broadcasting Board of
Governors; four Republicans, four Democrats, and the secretary of state. They oversee
broadcasters, one is the Voice of America. The VOA is the broadcasting arm we’ve used
for over 50 years to broadcast around the world about America and our view of the
world. It’s much like the BBC. In many countries the BBC is more popular, and in others
the VOA is more popular than the BBC. We’ve done that since the Second World War.
What we determined as a country is that there was another whole different function of
broadcasting, and that is broadcasting what’s actually happening in the country. It’s a
little like when you turn on the 6:30 network evening news, you find out what’s going on
in the world, but if you turn on a half hour earlier you get what’s going on in your city.
So it was determined during the Cold War that in Eastern Europe in addition to VOA we
needed to do “surrogate broadcasting.” That is, broadcasting into those countries what a
free press would be broadcasting about what’s going on in those countries if a free press
was allowed. We started Radio Free Europe and Radio Liberty, so that if there was a
demonstration going on in Kiev, nobody would know about it because the Soviet media
wouldn’t report it, so we’d report it and sent it in shortwave. Or what was happening
during the Prague Spring [in 1968], letting everyone in the old Soviet Union know that
the Russians were sending tanks into Prague. Then we decided to have a radio and
television station into Cuba after [Fidel] Castro.

When I came on board, we had just started the Broadcasting Board of Governors.
It used to be that the broadcasters were part of the U.S. Information Agency and was part
of our whole public diplomacy effort. But it was determined by Biden and Helms that
really, broadcasting should be done separately, because for broadcasting to be credible it
should be run by journalists. You didn’t want government employees interfering with
what the broadcasts were. Because there were many countries that the U.S. government
wants to keep a good relationship with, but if you’re going to report the news, the news is
not good. Uzbekistan is a perfect example. In Uzbekistan we used their airbases to fly
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into Afghanistan, the U.S. government had contracts with them, but Radio Free
Europe/Radio Liberty would report on the fact that journalists were getting locked up
there, and that there were demonstrations and the rest of it. So one of the Boards biggest
functions there was to provide a firewall. We also decided, in the same bill, to start Radio
Free Asia, which was the surrogate broadcasting into Asia. And then later on we started
the Middle East Broadcasting Network.

Being a board member was like you were on a board of directors that actually ran
the organization. You were the firewall. You made all the budget decisions. You made all
the decisions. It was like a super board. I said many times I’ve had jobs that were more
fun. I had jobs that were more technically challenging and interesting. And I had jobs that
made a difference. But I never had a job where the three of them combined. It was just
fascinating working with what kind of media mix do you need in each of these countries,
how you deliver the media, what the programs should be about, all those kinds of things,
and at the same time deal with how you get the things done, like transmission sites. We
have shortwave transmission sites all around the world, all of them having problems with
being in a foreign country.

I made a number of trips to Africa—not like trips like my friends take where
you’re on safari. When you’re in Mali, in Bamako, or when you’re in Niger, out in the
countryside, or in certain parts of Botswana, or South Africa. [ went to Kenya, Ethiopia,
Nigeria, Ruanda, Eretria, Angola, and others because that’s where we broadcast from. I
used to say it was really great because when you went on a trip like that, and because
Africa is in such bad shape, and people have so many problems, but the good news is that
people listen to VOA in Africa. A lot of people listen to VOA. You’d come home and
you’d have all these ideas about what to do. Not just about programing necessarily, but
about how to make it better and expand listenership. There was just such a great feeling
to be able to come home from a trip like that and feel like there was something you could
do to make things better. It was true wherever you traveled. U.S. international
broadcasting really can make a difference. But it was hard, and the traveling wasn’t fun.
We don’t broadcast to France or Germany or any of the places you’d like to go.

RITCHIE: I had a Voice of America reporter come to interview me recently and
she does Mandarin Chinese. They’re very much afraid that their budget will be cut by
Congress. It seems very shortsighted, but I'm sure there are political pressures from
China—
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KAUFMAN: No, no, the reason why they want to cut Mandarin—and there are
people on the present board who want to do that—is because the Chinese jam everything
we broadcast, very little of the broadcasting gets through. They’re basically saying why
should we spend so much money on China when it’s not getting through. It would be
better to spend it in the Middle East, or spend it someplace in Africa where it’s not being
jammed. It’s not straight up pressure from China. I don’t think pressure from
China—Cohina is really totally completely infuriating. I don’t even like to think about it.
Here China is with China TV (CCTV), and China Radio International, both being
broadcast all over the United States, but they will not only not allow VOA in China, they
jam it. We’re just dumb, fat and happy. No reciprocity at all. But when you look at what
China is doing—yes, that’s the reason why they want to cut Mandarin, primarily because
they say, “We can cut the budget in half and not reduce the number of people listening.”
The problem is it rewards bad behavior and encourages other dictatorships to jam our
broadcasts

RITCHIE: When you were a senator you were active in lifting Internet
restrictions. Was that an outgrowth of your work on these boards?

KAUFMAN: Absolutely, I started the International Internet Freedom Caucus.
One of the big challenges for China is that the Internet is growing, and with it they lose
control of all the information.. They do a lot of work to jam it, but it’s very hard to jam it.
For U.S. international broadcasting, this is a kind of Catch-22 because the countries you
want to broadcast to are the most unfree and repressive and are the ones that are the
hardest to broadcast into. So you’ve got this kind of Catch-22 that China and Russia are
two of the places you most want to broadcast to, but they’re the hardest to get your
broadcasts through. But the Internet is an incredible tool for getting information to people
who want to get it. In China, the Voice of America—without saying anything that’s
confidential—spent a lot of time and effort over the years to make sure that people in
China get their programs on the Internet through the government blocking. There’s a
war—it’s much like the battle that went on with the Soviet Union during the cold war,
where they would try to jam our radio broadcasts and we’d come up with ways to get
around it, back and forth. So what’s going on in China is a constant battle between us and
the Chinese government. They’re blocking the Internet. Of course, the attempt to censor
Google dust-up is just another public battle, but there’s another very private battle going
on. But the Internet is just incredible because—there’s so many things in broadcasting
that you would never think of, it’s so fascinating but it makes everything so difficult.
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You want to broadcast into a foreign country like Iran. You want to influence
what’s going on in Iran, you want people to know what’s really going on in Iran, with the
demonstrations and things like that. But you also want to communicate with the diaspora.
You want to communicate with all the Iranians outside of Iran. Well, before the Internet
you just broadcast into Teheran, and you couldn’t get to the Iranians who were in Syria
or the Iranian who were in Egypt. Now with the Internet, anyone in the world who wants
to hear, in Farsi, what’s going on in Iran, whether they’re in Beijing or anywhere except
the United States (and even in the United States they can do it) is go on the Internet and
they’ve got it in their own language. It’s the same way with all the different languages. If
you are born and raised in Nigeria, you can get up every morning and go on the Internet
and find out what’s happening in Nigeria.

RITCHIE: Every once in a while when I’'m interviewed on NPR, the first person
who responds is my nephew in Tokyo.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, it used to be shortwave. People used to be able to pick up a
lot of this stuff on shortwave, but now not many people do shortwave.

RITCHIE: You mentioned that the board of governors was equally divided
between the parties. Was their general unanimity in thinking or were the meetings
contentious?

KAUFMAN: One of the reasons why I took it is that international broadcasting is
not partisan. It was the Biden-Helms bill that created the board. There really wasn’t any
division on the first board, there was turnover and everything was fine , and then we got a
chair, Ken Tomlinson [2003-2005], who basically believed that the party in power should
be able to dictate everything. There was some ideology in it, he was very conservative,
but most of it was he wanted to name all of the heads of the broadcasters and everything
else. By happenstance, he was also the head of the Corporation for Public Broadcasting.
That was an elected position and he was essentially fired from that position for
essentially the same approach. He used to say, “To the winners belong the spoils. A
Republican is president and I get to say and the board members should go along with
me.” We ran on consensus until Ken got to be chair. Even then we didn’t have that many
votes, we had a few, and then Ken saw that he was going to lose so we stopped having
votes. Then we got into this other thing and it was very unfortunate. I don’t think the
broadcasting suffered that much, but it was unpleasant. It was a perfect example of
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personalities, people getting along and not getting along.

The secretary of state usually didn’t come. The undersecretary for public affairs
would come. What they did, after a number of years [ was on, I think it was in *98 or ’99,
they decided, that was again Helms-Biden, to take the USIA and move it into the State
Department. We convinced them that they shouldn’t put broadcasting in the State
Department, because that we would lose credibility and would make our position
untenable, so they separated it out. And then after that, the undersecretary for public
affairs would come, representing the secretary, which led to one of my great experiences.
For a number of years Karen Hughes held that post. As you know, Karen Hughes was
very close to George Bush and communications director at the White House. Somebody,
again, who on most issues we wouldn’t agree but on broadcasting we totally agreed, but,
then again, just about everybody on the Broadcasting Board of Governors totally agreed.
She’s a very, very qualified person. I could see why George Bush wanted her in the
White House. One of my great experiences was when she left as undersecretary she had a
going away party at the State Department. I think there were five speakers. The first three
speakers were, in this order, President George Bush, Secretary of State Condoleezza
Rice, and Ted Kaufman.

Tom Korologos, who was in the Reagan White House, again someone outside of
broadcasting I don’t agree a lot with, he was on the board. David Burke, who was Ted
Kennedy’s chief of staff and went on to be head of CBS News, was on the board. Alberto
Mora was general counsel in the navy and was one of the people who had spoken out
against the Bush administration position on torture. Bette Bao Lord, Jim Glassman was a
chair. Cheryl Halpern was a very prominent Republican, Norm Pattiz who started
Westwood One, Jeff Hirschberg a very knowledgeable person, Joaquin Blaya who ran
Univision at one time. It was a super-qualified board and a wonderful experience.

RITCHIE: I noticed that you were also on the board of directors of WHY'Y here
in Wilmington.

KAUFMAN: That’s really Philadelphia, but you’ve got a good point, the license
is in Wilmington. Wilmington, Delaware, does not have a commercial broadcasting
station. WHY'Y was, even though it’s licensed in Wilmington, is headquartered in
Philadelphia and run out of Philadelphia. They always have Delaware board members on
it. So I was on that.
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RITCHIE: Was there any connection between being on the board of—

KAUFMAN: No, it’s totally separate. Under the rules, none of the broadcasting
on U.S. international broadcasting can be broadcast in the United States. But what was
good, the reason why I took it was because at that point I knew a lot about how
broadcasting worked, about programing, how you made decisions. I think that’s the
reason why they picked me, because [ understood the business and also knew Delaware.

RITCHIE: It’s interesting that there are certain states that are in between
broadcasting markets. New Jersey, for instance, is in between Philadelphia and New
York, and Delaware is another one that doesn’t have a station for itself. That must be a
real detriment for a political campaign.

KAUFMAN: Oh, yes it is. It’s much like New Jersey. The northern part of
Delaware is out of Philadelphia and the southern part is out of Baltimore. At least in New
Jersey there are some stations that broadcast out of New Jersey. The big ones are
Philadelphia and New York. What has happened is as the cost of broadcasting has gone
up and up and up in Philadelphia, it’s made it very difficult for a challenger to win in
Delaware, unless they were independently wealthy, because 94 cents out of every dollar
they spend goes to New Jersey and Pennsylvania. It’s like you said, if
You are running for a congressional seat in southern New Jersey and you have to buy
Philadelphia TV, they’re faced with almost as bad a situation as ours. Even worse if
you’re in northern New Jersey and have to buy TV time in New York. It’s another reason
why Delaware is so much retail politics. The cost of television, frankly, even radio is
very expensive.

RITCHIE: I noticed that you kept your hand in politics in Delaware. You were
on the transition team for the governor in 2000 and you were on Beau Biden’s campaign
for attorney general. Was that ongoing?

KAUFMAN: Yes, [ had known Ruth Ann Minner for years. Ruth Ann is a great
story. The first time I met her was when I went to work for Joe Biden and was in the
state. The governor was Sherman Tribbitt, whom I’ve said we helped to get the
nomination. The governor’s office used to be in legislative hall. The legislature was on
the first floor and the governor’s office was on the second floor. They had these wide
steps. You’d walk up the steps and before you got to his office there was a receptionist
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there. The receptionist was Ruth Ann Minner! That was the first time I met her. She went
on to get elected to the state senate. Then she asked me to be on her advisory committee
when she ran for governor. I was on that, and then afterwards I was on her transition
team. So it was really more a labor of love. Ruth Ann, I really wanted to help her. Little
did I think she’d ever be in a position to appoint me to something.

Then Beau Biden—I’ve known Beau since he was two or three. I'm just a big fan
of him, so when he was running, I just cut back on some other things—that’s the
advantage of my model of having five things to do. I could say, “Okay, for the next year
and a half, part of what I’'m doing every week is helping Beau Bidden get elected
attorney general.”

RITCHIE: I was going to ask if given the fact that your first campaign for Joe
Biden was in 1972, and now you were helping the next generation, have campaigns
changed much over that time?

KAUFMAN: Well, the big difference was Joe Biden was running for the Senate
and Beau Biden was running for attorney general. Big, big, big difference. The Senate
race is just bigger, with a lot more media attention and other attention. The attorney
general race is—I could use the term “below the radar.” It’s not below the radar but it’s a
lot lower down on the radar than the Senate. By the way, the basic campaign is identical.
And the budget for Beau Biden for attorney general was bigger than the original budget
for Biden for the Senate. You still are doing the same things.

This is a good point to make about how visibility impacts on the substance of
campaigns. It is a substantial difference if you’re running for attorney general or for the
Senate, only because there’s a lot more press coverage, a lot more interest in the Senate,
so it affects everything that you do. The classic example is Christine O’Donnell. When
Christine O’Donnell ran against Chris Coons, it was a totally different race. It was the
number one race in the country. It was a totally different Senate race in Delaware than if
Chris Coons had run against Mike Castle. So when you get this kind of visibility, or lack
of visibility, it changes things. It’s easier to get volunteers when you’ve got the visibility,
but you have to spend more time worrying about the media. It’s harder to get volunteers
when you don’t have the visibility, but you don’t have to worry as much about the media,
just to use two examples. It’s easier to raise money, but you’ve got to spend a lot more

money. But the basic building blocks of the campaigns are more similar than dissimilar.
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RITCHIE: Over time there was a lot more filing of public records on campaign
finances. Has that complicated things?

KAUFMAN: No, it hasn’t complicated campaigning. It means you’re a lot more
concerned about who your treasurer is. The public disclosure, and the ease of disclosure,
you know the Center for Responsive Politics and the fact that anybody can go on for a
Senate race and see who gave to you, and put together lists of bankers who gave to your
campaign, and things like that. Clearly, the biggest changes have been not the mechanics
but the raising money.

RITCHIE: When they were doing the remodeling in the Dirksen Senate Office
Building, there was a question of why there was a safe in every senator’s office. Bob
Bennett stood up and said that he had been his father’s administrative assistant, and back
then when they built the building in the ’50s, so many campaign contributions were made
in cash that every senator’s office had a large stack of cash on hand so they needed a safe
to lock it. Now all of that’s illegal.

KAUFMAN: Yes, that’s exactly right, although the numbers now are just so
much greater. If you went back and saw how much was spent on campaigns then, it
wasn’t a lot of money, even correcting for inflation and the rest of it. If you look at
expenditures in real dollars, the growth has been exponential. Now, also one of the
interesting experiences in my life was in 1980, when Joe Biden became ranking member
on Judiciary. Judiciary Chairman James O. Eastland had retired and he used to be
chairman of the Senate equivalent of the House Un-American Affairs Committee. It was
called the Senate—

RITCHIE: Internal Security Subcommittee.

KAUFMAN: —Internal Security Subcommittee, yes. Mark Gitenstein was our
chief counsel on Judiciary and one of the things we did right away was to go around and
pick office space. We had to negotiate with Thurmond over who gets what offices. We
went around and started looking at all the different office space, and we came to the
space that was the Security Subcommittee. They had all these shredding machines
working, and they had this great big safe down in the basement, and they were just taking
files out and shredding them, because they had been in there since the heyday of the
McCarthy anti-Communist hearings.
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RITCHIE: Well, there are a lot of records of that subcommittee in the National
Archives, but I'm sure there were more that never got there.

KAUFMAN: Oh, I can tell you—you may have suspected that but Mark
Gitenstein and I can tell you there are a lot of records that got shredded. Because we
watched them. They were shredding just as fast as those little shredding machines
worked.

RITCHIE: That’s one of the jobs of the Senate Historical Office, to protect and
preserve those records, but a lot of it disappears before we can get it.

KAUFMAN: Well, Eastland was—when we passed the government in the
sunshine rule where committee hearings had to be open, do you know what Eastland did?
Eastland found a room over in the Capitol where you could only fit the committee and a
few staff people. Every once in a while when something was not going his way, he would
adjourn the committee and reconvene in this other office so that there would only be
senators and staff.

RITCHIE: For all of his reputation, I hear stories about the fact that he could sit
down over a glass of Scotch with a liberal senator—

KAUFMAN: Over a Bourbon and branch.

RITCHIE: With a Gaylord Nelson or a Birch Bayh and cut the deal, approve the
judge.

KAUFMAN: Right. Joe Biden used to go over to his office. Joe Biden doesn’t
drink—he’s never had a drink in his life—but he used to go over and sit with Eastland.
Right now in Joe Biden’s home he’s got some pictures from the Senate. One of them is a
picture of James O. Eastland with some farmer with a long beard and bib overalls,
everything short of a stick of wheat in his mouth. They’re just standing there. They’re not
looking at each other. They’re standing together looking in the distance. He tells the story
that he saw the picture in Eastland’s office and Eastland said he’s the Democratic chair in
some county and “there isn’t a vote that comes out of there that Clem doesn’t send to
James O.” Joe asked him for a copy of the picture.
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There’s two famous stories with Biden and Eastland. One was when freshman
senators were seen and not heard. Joe Biden had a strong feeling about campaign finance
reform, and they had a caucus meeting on campaign finance reform, and very
uncharacteristically for a freshman, Biden got up and told his story about the people out
in Greenville who asked him about taxes— the story I told earlie—and when he got
finished the room was totally silent. Eastland said, “Senator Biden, I understand that you
are the youngest man ever to serve in the United States Senate.” He was actually the
second or third youngest. He said, “Well, you give many more speeches like that and
you’re going to be the youngest one-term United States senator to have ever served in the
senate.”

The other thing was the old Senate dining room across the hall that is for senators
only—when I was a senator I found that very few people use it anymore because we have
all the caucus lunches and so many other meetings at lunch—but back in the *70s the
senators used to use it a lot. They have a number of tables, but they have one big table
like they have in a lot of clubs where you just get your food and sit down at the table and
any other senator may sit down at the same table. Senator Biden’s reelection race in *78
was a tough race because of busing—people were opposed to busing and Biden was
perceived as a liberal and therefore they thought he would be in favor of it. He was not in
favor of busing. One of the things that I thought he was right on when I worked on his
campaign was busing, because I really felt that busing was counterproductive. But the
story goes that he came into the dining room one day and Eastland said, “Joe Boy”—he
called him “Joe Boy”—*“You’re flunking the slope of the shoulders test.” All the years
that [ was in the Senate, Senator Biden and I used to talk about people up for reelection.
You didn’t have to see their polling data, you could check the slope of their shoulders. I
think that was the story, but he said, “You don’t look good, Joe, what’s wrong?”” He said,
“Well, Mr. Chairman, I’'m in a very tough race and I really think I could lose over this
busing issue.” Eastland said “ is there anything James O. can do for you”. Joe said “ Mr
Chairman, there are places where you would help and others where you would hurt”.
Eastland said “Joe I will come in and campaign for you or against you whichever will
help you the most.”

[Interview interrupted by a lengthy phone call]

RITCHIE: I was building up to the fact that Senator Biden decided to run for

president again, and here after some many years you went into another presidential
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campaign, and I wondered if you could tell me some of the back story to that, about how
he came to that decision. He was chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee and he
had so much going for him in the Senate, why did he throw himself back into the
presidential pool?

KAUFMAN: It’s really interesting. I guess a year or so before that the New
Yorker was doing a profile of him, and the thrust of it was: He’s on all these Sunday talk
shows, and he always sounds so authoritative, and so confident, why is that? I told the
reporter that he’s confident because he knows the issues. You get on one of these shows
and you get asked a question, he knows enough to know what it is. A lot of the people
who are on these shows, they know a lot about one area, but they don’t know nearly as
much as he does. Coming out of that, the reporter asked me, “Why is he still in the
Senate?” There are a number of senators who retired, Bradley and Nunn, “Doesn’t he
think about retiring?” I said to him, “Senator Biden and I are about the same age (he’s a
little younger than I am) and when you talk to people our age, many people (and this is
especially true about him and me) and you say, ‘What do you want to do at this point in
your life?” One of the things you’d like to do is you think at this point in your life you’ve
learned something, hopefully, and it’s the old give-back: take what you’ve learned and
try to help people and help the situation.” I said, “Senator Biden knows more about
foreign policy than anybody in the country, maybe in the world, right now. He’s been
doing it for a long time. He’s smarter than your average bear about it.” I said, “The idea
to be on the Senate Foreign Relations Committee and be able to use what you’ve learned,
not just in foreign relations but in everything else, in order to help the world, that’s a
pretty compelling reason to stay involved in what you’re doing .”

I said, “He’d like to spend more time with his grandchildren and he’d like to do
some other things, but I think his potential for being able to do good with what he learned
is really high.” He didn’t run for president in 2008 because he wanted to hear “Hail to the
Chief” and live in the White House. As a matter of fact, we had discussions about that as
time went on. He went from someone who enjoyed going down to the White House in
the Carter administration to someone who just didn’t like to go down to the White House.
He said, “It’s just power, and that’s not something that’s attractive to me.” But I think
what happened was he decided not to run in 2004, and I think after that he pretty much
decided that he didn’t want to run for president in that he had a pretty good life. As you
said, you hit a couple of the high spots, he was chief of the Foreign Relations Committee,
he has some wonderful grandchildren, who lived close by so he could spend quality time
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with them. Jill is wonderful and they have a great relationship. They haven’t done a lot of
things that they’d like to do because they’ve both been very busy in their lives. He’s not a
person that has made a lot of money. He could get out and make a lot of money.

But I think it’s a little like how do you look yourself in the mirror? What did you
do during the war, Daddy? Am I the kind of person that because it would be more fun or
more interesting to not run for president—he knew there was an easier life if he didn’t
run for president. Jill agreed, but both of them were of the opinion that he had really a
responsibility to try to do it. I think one of the most interesting things for me in the last
15 or 20 years of my life has been that more and more I’ve been able to internalize this
“try” idea. What you’re able to accomplish—I said to a lot of people in interviews when I
first got appointed and people would say, “What are you going to accomplish?” I would
say, “I’m going to accomplish everything I set out to do.” Because I said, “I’m past the
stage where passing bills or getting my names on bills matters. I’'m old enough to realize
that as long as I can go home every day and look inside of myself and say, ‘Have I tried
the hardest I can to do what [ want to do?” That’s all it takes. It’s an incredible blessing.”

Growing old is not a whole lot of fun, but one of the advantages of my age is you
really can try. Joe Biden is the same way. What would he think of himself if he didn’t
even try to be president? But ’'m not all sure that when the campaign was over—I mean,
he’s a very competitive guy, but when the campaign was over people would call me up
like the next week or so and ask, “How’s he doing?” I’d say, “He’s doing great. He’s out
playing golf.” [Laughs] I said, “He doesn’t like losing, but the big blessing was we got
crushed. It wasn’t like we were sitting around thinking if we had done this or done that.
We got crushed. In terms of not being president, that is not all bad. Being able to do the
things he wants to do, and being chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, is a
pretty good gig. I think most of these people run—that’s another example of the
cardboard cut-out view people have of politicians, all they care about is reelection—they
run because they want to be president. Who would want to be president of the United
States today? Who would want it? Look at the pictures of Obama and the graying of his
hair. Who wants to be president for personal aggrandizement? You want to be president
because you have some ideas and some things you want to do and you do it. I think a lot
of it comes out of an obligation to serve. It’s the same reason why Barack Obama didn’t
go to work on Wall Street when he got out of Harvard and went to work as a community
organizer. It’s an extension of that. It’s all about how you are hardwired about how

important service is to you. And with Joe Biden, service is his life. It’s an incredibly
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important part, so that’s why he ran.

RITCHIE: So there’s 20 years in between those two campaigns in 1988 and
2008. How different was it running a campaign in 2008 as opposed to *88?

KAUFMAN: Oh, in a lot of ways it was much, much, much easier. It’s never
easy. But he was a lot older, a lot more experienced, and a lot more grounded. It was just
the difference between running in your 40s and your 60s. He was very mature obviously
to get elected to the Senate when he was 29, so he had been through a lot. So it was a
very different campaign. Also he had his two sons, Beau and Hunter who were incredibly
helpful. As I said, running for president is impossible, but he didn’t have so many
advisors, which was good in that first campaign but made decision-making hard, because
you had so many smart people sitting around the table. I’'m not talking about turf wars,
but just trying to come to a decision about something. So decision-making was a lot more
centralized and a lot easier. We had been through it all before and we knew what was
coming. It hadn’t changed much in terms of how you deal with the media, and campaign
strategy in lowa and New Hampshire, and how you campaigned in those states, how you
raised money. Everything was pretty much the same.

RITCHIE: The Gallup Poll organization published a large book on the 2008
election [Winning the White House, 2008]. They started polling right after the

congressional election of 2006, and the leading candidate for president then was “don’t
know.”

KAUFMAN: Yes.

RITCHIE: It was about as wide-open a race as possible. But as it shaped up, the
veteran senators in the race, like Christopher Dodd and Senator Biden, who had all this
experience, didn’t get the kind of traction that the freshman senator Obama and the
relatively junior senator Hillary Clinton had from the start. The race pretty quickly got
down to the two of them. What was it about 2008, that experience wasn’t a major

criteria?

KAUFMAN: Well, let’s go down them one at a time. The thing was in ’87, the
candidates were called the seven dwarfs—and look what’s going on with the Republican
field right now. There’s another accepted theory that says anybody that’s been known for
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more than 13 months in modern society never gets elected. Literally, they have the
numbers to demonstrate that after you’ve been known for more than 13 months you can’t
be elected president. The Republicans have usually taken people who lost the last
nomination and win the next nomination, Ronald Reagan, Bob Dole, John McCain, and
the rest.

With all due respect, I think saying that Hillary is a junior senator is a totally
absolutely misstatement. One of the things you learn in the Senate is very few senators
are identifiable. I can remember when Senator Biden was in the Senate, for years the only
senators people could identify were Bill Bradley and John Glenn. I’ll guarantee you, in
2006, the only senator that the public could identify would be Hillary. So Hillary started
out with an incredible lead. The equation was, there was going to be Hillary and there
was going to be somebody else. Now, what happened was what always happens in these
races. Somebody becomes the personification. Howard Dean became the personification
in 2004 because he was the only one running who had not compromised with George
Bush on something, so he was the only one who could get up and say, “I would never
compromise with George Bush on anything,” and completely, in my opinion, demagogue
that issue, and pick up all the people that hated George Bush. So he rose to the top in
Iowa until he and Gephardt got in a fight, and then Kerry came through and won the
nomination and [John] Edwards came in second.

So you get to our race. First off, Hillary is the 300-pound gorilla. She’s going to
win. It’s going to be poll to poll. Obama’s not going to run. John Edwards, the previous
vice presidential candidate, went out to lowa and spent all of his time out there. By the
time we got to lowa, he had been in lowa and people were committed to him. He had just
worked Iowa like he was the senator from lowa, and it really paid off for him because it
gave him credibility in lowa, and that gave him credibility nationally and helped with his
fund-raising and all those kinds of things. The one unknown wild card was Obama. And
it was just like how Joe Biden won in 1972, Obama turned out to be an extraordinary
candidate. Whether he was a freshman senator or whatever, he just turned out to be an
extraordinary candidate with an extraordinary campaign organization, like Jimmy Carter.
He had Axe [David Axelrod] and [David] Plouffe and those guys. Axe and Plouffe ran
the campaign much like Jody [Powell] and Hamilton [Jordan] ran the campaign for
Carter. Two guys, which meant decision-making, this is it. [ Snaps fingers]

Now why did we think we could win even when the lowa race showed Hillary

153



and Obama ahead with big organizations and lots of money, and John Edwards being a
very tight third? The reason why we thought we could win was a real simple concept, and
that was: three is an unstable number. Whenever my children got together with two of
their friends it would be this week Mary and Meg were against Jane, and the next week
Jane and Meg were against Mary. You learn that three is a very unstable number.
Number two, you look back at history, the past is prologue. In 2004, what happened?
Well, if you look at the numbers, Dean and Gephardt were the prohibitive favorites going
into January. I can remember that six weeks out, Kerry and Edwards were nowhere. They
were just where Biden and Dodd were—in fact, I think Biden and Dodd were doing
better than Kerry and Edwards were. Then what happened was Dean and Gephardt both
felt they had to win Iowa. They got into a death spiral where they both started to run
negative ads against each other. People in Iowa hate negative ads, so Kerry came through
and Edwards streamed right in behind them, and they won.

I saw the same scenario. The way I described it to people was it was like a horse
race that was only three horses wide. There was no way you can get around until one of
the three horses falls back. At some point one of these three horses will go negative. It
will hurt them and it will hurt the other two. It’s going to be a free-for-all at the end.
We’ll go to the wire, we’ve got a good organization in lowa, and Biden wins. So with 30
or 45 days out I saw this scenario. As we got closer, it was clearer to me that all three of
them were reading the polls too and realizing that they didn’t want to repeat what Dean
and Gephardt had done. But I still thought the competition would drop to two at some
point. That’s essentially what happened. We would have done a lot better in lowa—if the
turnout had even been double what it was before, we still would have had a lot of
delegates. The problem with lowa is once you get further down the line you lose
delegates almost exponentially, not arithmetically. I remember in the district [ went to,
when I saw how many of our people showed up, I figured we were going to get three or
four delegates out of fifteen or something like that. Then the doors opened and my God
they poured in! In the end, we got no delegates. The numbers were such that the way the
process worked, we ended up with no delegates, even though we had what in 2004 would
have been a good number of the people there. Again, it goes back to my thing about
presidential campaigns. If you think you’re in control of what’s going on, it’s illusory.
We were crushed.

RITCHIE: That Gallup Poll book also showed that for a long period from 2007
to 2008, that Hillary Clinton and Rudy Giuliani were the two frontrunners for the two
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parties, for pretty much the same reason, because people recognized their names more
than anybody else.

KAUFMAN: Yes, and people weren’t interested. The big thing is that in 2007 no
one was interested in presidential politics except for 400 people who were totally
obsessed with it. So it really isn’t about recognition.

RITCHIE: But then, after that candidates have to stand on who they are, and the
negatives turned out to be very high, as well as their name recognition.

KAUFMAN: Well, Hillary to be fair, in my opinion—you can look at the Gallup
polls and the rest of it, but in my opinion Obama just ran a fantastic campaign. It was
hard for Dodd and Biden to get a larger percentage of the vote—because Hillary was
going to get her vote. Hillary’s vote was there, they knew Hillary, they wanted to vote for
Hillary, and so Hillary got her vote. The problem for her was the same as for us, which
was that Obama got this incredible vote and then it turned into a race. Now, once it was a
race, then the flaws in the Hillary Clinton operation, and theory, and everything else, just
went to pieces. If our race in 1987, we had a great big head with little spindly legs,
Hillary had a head like this! [Throws arms out wide] I mean, she had every goddamn
consultant. She had the whole Clinton brain trust, with 47 million different ideas and
opinions on everything, running the campaign. It was the campaign from Hell.

I 'had a good friend who was not involved in the campaign but knows Hillary
well. I used to say, “Whenever things got bad, I thought ‘Oh, thank God we’re not in
Hillary’s campaign!”” I remember David Wilhelm was our lowa coordinator in 1987 and
then went on to become involved in Clinton’s campaign, and actually managed Clinton’s
campaign in 1992, and became chairman of the DNC. He was very helpful in our
campaign, and we were talking about the Clinton campaign, because they had the “ragin’
Cajun” [James Carville] and [Paul] Begala, and all the different people, and all the
Hillary people, just a lot of talent in that campaign. He said, “The good thing for us [the
Clinton campaign in 1992] was we just got ahead and we stayed ahead. If we had ever
started down, the whole thing would have blown up.” The beauty of the Biden campaign
is even though we lost, everybody stuck together. People didn’t leave, we stayed together
because a lot of the people involved in the campaign had been with him for a long time.

RITCHIE: The interesting thing I thought was that even though Biden lost, he
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acquitted himself very well in that campaign.

KAUFMAN: That’s an excellent point. I told him right from the beginning, when
we were talking about how difficult it would be. I don’t know what it’s like to go through
childbirth, but contemplating a presidential campaign, if you are a consultant you are
thinking, “Oh, boy, this is going to be great.” But from where we were sitting, this was
not something that you say, “I can’t wait. It’s going to be great!” It’s awful. I said to him
that “one of the real positives of this campaign is that you’re in an incredibly enviable
position right now. I believe the American people are looking for a candidate to nominate
for president who they believe is telling them what he genuinely believes, the kind of
McCain Straight Talk Express. When I sit in meetings throughout this campaign, you’re
going to hear me say time and time again on what positions you should take on issues,
‘Joe, what do you think?’ ‘What do you think?’ Because whatever happens, the single
best thing you can say and do in an event is the best thing you think you should say and
do.” I said, “That’s an incredible advantage in this campaign.” And when you look at that
campaign, that’s exactly what Joe Biden did.

First of all, he knew more about this stuff than any of the other candidates
running. Chris Dodd is close, Chris Dodd has been on the Foreign Relations Committee,
but Joe Biden was the chair. Chris Dodd is great, but Joe Biden knew more than any of
the rest of them. When you saw the debates and people were impressed, I think there
were two things that impressed them. Number one, I often say this, the one thing
Americans really know how to do is watch television, and Americans can tell a phony on
television faster than anyone else. When they looked at that screen they saw things. They
saw a guy who was incredibly knowledgeable about the issues, but not in a jargon way,
not because he said big words. A lot of the cognoscenti and the people that follow this in
Washington watched this and said, “Oh my God!” I remember when they did the panel
on what’s the most dangerous country in the world, they went around and said Iran, Iran,
Iran, Iran. When they came to Joe he said Pakistan. They said, “Why Pakistan?”” He said,
“Well, if Iran is a real problem because they may have nuclear weapons, Pakistan is a
problem because they already have nuclear weapons and the capacity to deliver them,
and they could become a Muslim radical state. They could become Iran, only they’ve got
nuclear weapons and the delivery vehicles.” The guts it took to say that! Everybody else
was saying Iran and the safe thing to say was Iran. Joe said Pakistan and anybody who
was thinking said, “You know, he’s right about Pakistan.” And then they could tell that
he was just saying what he believed.
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I absolutely think that the reason why Obama picked him for vice president was
because of watching him on the Foreign Relations Committee and going through the
debates with him. This is a guy who is very, very knowledgeable and also self-confident,
not in a bang your chest way but self-confident in that he’s willing to say what he
believes in.

RITCHIE: Watching the way vice presidents are chosen, there’s often an
impulse to pull somebody out of the hat who’ll be a big surprise and draw attention to the
ticket. But it seems to work better when the candidate has proved themselves on the
hustings during the race for the nomination because then they don’t have to prove
themselves during the campaign.

KAUFMAN: They don’t have to be vetted, and you don’t have the Quayle
problem or the Palin problem. But I think what’s happened is—and I’ve felt this for a
while before this race—and it’s amazing how poor the punditry is. They still want to go
with this “pick somebody who’s going to give you North Carolina, John Edwards.” If [
was advising the person who was going to get the nomination for president of the United
States, Barack Obama or anybody else, on their vice presidential selection, where it’s
been for the past 12 years, I’d say “Mr. Nominee, this is the first decision that people will
see you make as a potential president of the United States. They’ll be looking at that
through a lot of different prisms, but the biggest prism and the biggest question they will
have for you, Mr. Nominee, especially if you haven’t been around for a long time, is: Is
this a guy going do what he believes is right for the country, or is he going to do the
things that are going to get him elected and reelected? I think that your first decision
should send a message that you’re more concerned with governing.”

Not to be critical of you, but just to make the point, you say “how he performed
on the hustings.” I would say, that’s exactly what you don’t want to do. You don’t want
to pick somebody that’s going to be on the hustings. You don’t want somebody who’s
going to give you a state. You don’t want somebody who’s going to help you in a
political campaign, because they’re really going to vote for you. Who you pick as vice
president—now, I think Joe Biden was incredibly helpful to Barack Obama, okay?—but
the big thing is, you pick Joe Biden and they say, “Delaware?”” There’s a great feeling in
the country that goes back to 50 years ago when you wanted to pick a vice president who
was going to deliver votes. You pick a guy with electoral votes? When he was running
for president they would say, “Why, he can’t win, Delaware only has three electoral
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votes.” I said, “Where you’re from is totally irrelevant anymore. It doesn’t matter
anymore. You’re 50 years out of date.” But you pick Joe Biden, the guy who’s most
qualified to govern; you all of a sudden give yourself a great big shot in the arm of being
a guy who’s more interested in governing the country than you are in getting elected.

RITCHIE: What [ meant was someone who already has a track record, the public
knows who this is and they don’t have to be introduced to them as someone who’s going
to be in the second spot. I think Bush did that with [Richard] Cheney, also from a three-
electoral vote state.

KAUFMAN: I think you are right, the thing that happens is, and I think you’re
also saying in terms of the vetting is that you don’t go through the beginning of the
campaign where it’s all about Dan Quayle or it’s all about Sarah Palin. You want it to be
all about Barack Obama. I think that was the main point you were making.

RITCHIE: Part of it is that a candidate has been out there and told everybody
who they are.

KAUFMAN: And no one is vetted. I can remember one the saddest times I felt
for a candidate was when the story about inhaling marijuana came out for Clinton.
Clinton was actually in a press conference and said, “You know, I ran for governor of
Arkansas and this was never an issue.” I thought, you poor soul, if you thought that
running for governor of Arkansas is like running for president of the United States! I
know he didn’t mean that, but the point is until you run for president—Ilike when Bill
Bradley called Joe up and said, “Why are they questioning my integrity?”” There is no
vetting.

RITCHIE: It’s a little like when members run for the House and no one
questions them, but then they run for the Senate and reporters look at their record
differently. Then they run for president and reporters look at them in a completely
different way. The same thing with the vice president.

KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: But by 2008, Joe Biden was a well-established persona.
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KAUFMAN: Warts and all, absolutely.

RITCHIE: So, when he was being considered for vice president, did he have any
qualms about the position?

KAUFMAN: Oh, yes. I think it’s been pretty well reported that he didn’t want to
be VP. He had some rather serious considerations. What are the ground rules? One was
that he was going to be doing something substantive, and the other was he was going to
be the last person in the room with the President. Those are two pretty serious
requirements, but he was not interested in being vice president. In the end, I think the
only reason he allowed Obama to do his background checking was kind of the same
reason why he ran for president. It wasn’t that he wanted to be vice president. How do
you look yourself in the mirror and say, “It was a terrible inconvenience? I’d rather be
chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, and that’s the reason why I didn’t do it.”
So I think to a large extent in the end it came down to an extension of the same decision
he made to run for president. And I think a lot of it had to do personally with Obama:
“This is a transformational presidency. And if Barack Obama thinks that I can help him
be president, who am I to say no?”” The campaign part of it wasn’t that much. If he ran in
the campaign and they lost, it wasn’t about worrying about winning or losing, it was
really about—not did he want to be a candidate for vice president but did he want to be
vice president.

RITCHIE: Obama had been a member of his committee, on Foreign Relations.
How well did they get along while they were in the Senate?

KAUFMAN: Well. But remember, Obama pretty soon was doing a lot of
traveling. But they got along real well, and they got along real well during the debate. I
think they liked each other’s style.

RITCHIE: Obama also got along really well with Richard Lugar, when Senator
Lugar was chair of the committee before that, so I wondered if that continued.

KAUFMAN: Well, Lugar and Biden got along very well, and Kerry and Lugar.
Lugar, especially in his later years, has just been a model United States senator. By any
definition of a great senator, he is a great senator. And again there are a lot of issues that I
don’t agree with Lugar on, although on foreign policy, and broadcasting, he’s wonderful.
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But that says more about Lugar, he’s kind of special.

RITCHIE: I read that Obama’s staff, when he first came to the Senate told him:
Don’t spread yourself thin. If you’re going to go to a hearing, stay with it, don’t just
come in and ask a question and leave. Apparently the first time that Lugar really noticed
Obama was when he realized that at the end of a hearing they were the only two senators
left sitting at the podium.

KAUFMAN: And that’s what I did. That’s why I only took two committees
(although at the end I wound up on four committees, but that’s a whole other story). And
John Kerry sat through the whole hearings. It would be Kerry and I, and Jeanne Shaheen
was there a lot of the time, and others were there. But my basic approach was learn from
the hearings. The hearings, if used properly, are incredibly informative.

Before Obama made his announcement on what he was going to do about
Afghanistan, John Kerry put together an excellent set of hearings, and I sat through
practically all of them. There weren’t a whole lot of senators that did, although a number
of them sat through some of them. We had a hearing right after Obama made his
decision. A number of my colleagues came in, and I respect them and I like them but
after they asked a question, you’d think, “Are you from Mars? You really would have
benefitted from having sat in on some of those hearings.” I think that’s one of the biggest
problems with the Senate now, the fact that they are beginning to correct it. They allow
people on too many committees, so they’re spread too thin. And you’re allowed to chair
too many committees, so you're chairing subcommittees and committees and you can
participate and therefore you don’t get the advantage of the incredible knowledge about
what the hell is happening there. So you’re operating on what you read in the newspaper
or what your staff gives you, or something like that. You have a basis—but for something
that’s changing, like Afghanistan was, where there was dramatic change going on in
terms of what the strategy is and how the whole place can work, you can’t do the job
right. What time is it?

RITCHIE: It’s about twenty after three.

KAUFMAN: Oh, good.

RITCHIE: Senator Fulbright used to call his committee meetings “educational
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hearings,” and his hearings may not have changed policy on Vietnam but they certainly
informed a lot of people about what was going on.

KAUFMAN: I think that’s right, and as I said, John Kerry did an incredible job.
The hearings he had on Iran, the hearings he had on Afghanistan, the hearings he had on
Iraq, on so many issues he really did put together hearings that did affect policy and did
affect the administration and were educational.

Now, in Judiciary we never have any hearings that are just educational. [ mean,
not that they’re not educational, there are some, but the bulk of the hearings are oversight
hearings or they’re hearings about nominations. But there’s still a lot of information on

Armed Services and Homeland Security, which I was put on later on.

RITCHIE: That raises a question about committees. It’s a truism that senators go
on a committee because they’re interested in that particular issue—

KAUFMAN: Well, to oversimplify it, [ used to say there are three reasons why
senators select a committee. If you went to senators and asked them: “Why are you on
this committee?” I think you’d come back with a range of these three things. One, you’d
be on a committee that helps you back home politically. Two, you’re on a committee that
you’re very interested in the substance of what’s going on. And three, you’re on a
committee to raise money. It isn’t just they have an interest. I have tried so hard with
senators and staff who ask me. I say, “Politics back home can cut both ways. If you’re
interested in an issue, you’re just going to be so much more productive than the rest of
it.” One of the smartest things that Joe Biden did was move from Judiciary to Foreign
Relations when he did, I think it was 2000.

RITCHIE: In the 50-50 Senate of 2001, wasn’t it?

KAUFMAN: Yes. Because—and you don’t read this in the text but it was really
true—he’d been on Judiciary for so many years and the chance to go and become
chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee was like opening all these other presents,
all these other issues. When he was chairman, we always used to sit down in the fall,
when [ was chief of staff, and even after I was chief of staff I’d participate in these
meetings, and come up with a list of what are we not going to do in the coming year. Not
what are we going to do, what are we not going to do. We quickly learned that if he’s on
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Judiciary, Judiciary gobbled up a lot of time and Foreign Relations didn’t. The first time
the reason would be clear would be when the secretary of state is testifying in Foreign
Relations and the Attorney General is testifying in Judiciary, and you’re the chairman of
the Judiciary Committee. That’s a little scheduling thing that makes it clear that when
you are chair of a committee you can’t be as big a player on other committees—you can’t
go to the educational meetings of Foreign Relations, let’s put it that way. Biden got a
whole new lease on life when he moved over and was chairman of the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee.

RITCHIE: Judiciary has a reputation of being a very polarized story, too.

KAUFMAN: Great story about that. When I came back to the Senate as the most
junior member on the Democratic side, I was sitting there at the end of the table. The
table turns around and there were so many Democrats that [ was around the curve. [ was
sitting there looking at the Republicans. Chuck Schumer came by and I said, “Chuck,
what the hell have you done to this committee since I left? I mean, look at that lineup!
You’ve got Sessions and [Jon] Kyl and [John] Cornyn, and [Tom] Coburn. That’s a
pretty ideological lineup you’ve got over there.” Chuck said, “Hey, look at our side.”
There was Leahy and [Dianne] Feinstein and [Russell] Feingold and [Dick] Durbin, and
Schumer. It was like: “Yeah, you want to see ideology man? I’ll give you ideology!”

Yes, the Judiciary Committee, as you know, more legislation passes the Judiciary
Committee than any other committee. And the issues are so diverse. I remember when
[Birch] Bayh was head of the constitutional subcommittee. School prayer would be on
the schedule, “Okay, you want a constitutional amendment for school prayer? Let’s talk
about a constitutional amendment on burning the flag, let’s talk about a constitutional
amendment on abortion.” It was like fireworks. Then you’ve got the Justice Department
and all the civil rights battles that we had, not just on busing. It is the battleground for a
lot of the social issues. Then of course there are the judges.

I don’t think it was quite as polarized back when he first got there. The issues
were difficult, but there wasn’t as much emphasis on the social issues. There was concern
about them, but they didn’t have the visibility. We didn’t have any of the confirmation
problems that we have now, and that is really a constant sore rubbing at every meeting,
whether to report someone out or not.

162



RITCHIE: Whereas Foreign Relations was a committee that senators with an
international bent usually went on, which meant there usually was a lot of unanimity until
Jesse Helms arrived and served as a counterpoint.

KAUFMAN: Yes, but he came around. I think there’s a natural pressure in
foreign relations to come around. The institution, and the reality of the job, and the idea
that politics stops at the water’s edge, and all that stuff, does push people. But right now
you’ve got some very conservative members of that committee. [James] Inhofe is on that
committee, and [John] Barrasso. There were a lot of conservative members, and then
there was Barbara Boxer, and Chris Dodd, and John Kerry and [Robert] Menendez. On
Foreign Relations there was little peace with Helms, but it was like my experience on the
Broadcasting Board of Governors. After Ken Tomlinson left it went back to the way it
had been. After Helms left, the Foreign Relations Committee went right back, especially
with Lugar as chair. The same if Johnny Isakson gets to be the chair, or [Bob] Corker.

For years the Foreign Relations Committee had just one unified staff. Even now
there’s just incredible cooperation with staff. Again, if you look at the problem—of my
statement of the problem with Congress is not civility but it’s the differences in the
country that are reflected in the representatives of the people—then Foreign Relations is
where there is the least difference in the country over how we should proceed. Which is
really interesting, when you think about it. It just shows you how the left has become so
much more “un-angry,” mellow than it was in response to Vietnam. We kind of got it all
out of our system in the *60s and *70s, and now the Republicans are going through it. But
when you look at the reaction to Afghanistan and Iraq, it is truly, absolutely amazing to
me that there haven’t been sit-ins and things like that. Now, the biggest reason why it’s
not like Vietnam is because of the draft. Most of the people who protested the war were
worried about the draft. As they say, “Where you stand depends on where you sit.” And
“There’s nothing to concentrate the mind like the prospect of hanging.” Well, there is
something more—the prospect of being sent to Vietnam would pretty much concentrate
the mind. But it is extraordinary that there hasn’t been more outrage about Iraq and
Afghanistan. When members get up and speak about it, especially in the House, but a lot
of senators too, they clearly aren’t happy. Clearly the electorate is not happy. But it’s the
foreign relations and it’s the water’s edge.

RITCHIE: I suppose when members of Congress speak today, they’re not
hearing the same response from their constituents as they were hearing back in the 1960s,
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and ’70s.

KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: And in the *60s and ’70s members were hearing from their own
children. You hear that story quite often, the fights over the breakfast table that took
place.

KAUFMAN: One of the favorite stories I tell my staff is that in Joe Biden’s
Senate office, when you came in the door and turned the right corner, there was a third-
grade picture of a tuna. His daughter, Ashley, got involved in tuna in the gill nets and the
rest of that stuff in school, and by God, Joe came in one day and got started. He talked to
Barbara Boxer and everything else. If there’s one person that every tuna in the world
that’s swimming around should be thankful for, it’s Ashley Biden.

RITCHIE: It’s good to know they can have influence.

KAUFMAN: Well, they do. I had a case in my class about the Clean Air Act and
the amendments to change it for all the exceptions that Robert Byrd wanted, the big
battle between Byrd and Mitchell. I talk about how Byrd had been leader and then was
Chairman of Appropriations, and about how this was the first big fight. I have a series of
about 7 questions I would ask the students, “Are you for it or against it” Then I would
give them more information. The played the role of a Democratic senator who is thinking
about running for the presidency, and the Sierra Club says they will not support you for
president if you support the Byrd Amendment. (I’'m thinking of Senator John Glenn.)
You say okay, and now you are called by the Chamber of Commerce from your home
state, they believe this is going to make them non-competitive, and they will never give
you a campaign contribution for as long as they live if you vote that way. Now how do
you vote? Usually it comes out they vote with Byrd. My final question is, it’s the day
before the vote and you’re home, and your 11-year-old daughter wants to have a
discussion with you. She tells you that they’ve been talking in class about this new act
and how important the Clean Air Act is, or else we won’t be able to breathe, and she’s
very thankful that you’re the person that’s going to lead the fight for the Clean Air Act,
and she just wants to tell you how proud she is because every day she goes to school and
they say you’re one of the leaders for good. Now how do you vote? And they change
their vote. Then I ask them the million-dollar question. I say, Okay all those who said

164



that you’re going to vote with Byrd and against the Clean Air Act, what do you tell your
11-year-old daughter? You know the best answer I got to that? You don’t say anything to
your 11-year-old daughter. You go to her class and you explain to the class about the
issues. But that’s real life. Real life is your spouse. I guarantee there are a lot of senators
when it comes to a pay vote who are between their constituents and their spouse.

RITCHIE: I'm sure that’s not an easy choice.

KAUFMAN: Well, it is for some, but I’m just saying I’m sure there are a lot of
spouses who care about how you vote on the pay raise bill.

RITCHIE: Well we’re about 25 to, and we have yet to talk about your Senate
period.

KAUFMAN: Right. What’s your schedule for next week?
RITCHIE: My week is wide open except for Friday.
KAUFMAN: Well, why don’t we try Tuesday?
RITCHIE: Tuesday would be great.

KAUFMAN: I think we could spend two more days on this productively. Why
don’t we put down Tuesday and Wednesday, and then we may not do Tuesday and
Wednesday.

RITCHIE: Well, we’ll do at least Tuesday and hold Wednesday as a possibility.

KAUFMAN: That’s what ’'m saying. Well, what do you think? Do you think we
can get it done on Tuesday?

RITCHIE: Well, that depends. I want to talk about your Senate period, but then
go back and discuss some broad questions in general. It just depends on how much it
engages you and you want to talk about. I’'m willing to come back.

KAUFMAN: Well, we have a few minutes before you have to make the train. Let
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me show you the notes I’ve made. | have a whole big section on civility, which I think
would be good to talk about, the George Packer article and the rest of that. Obviously, the
accomplishments we’ll go through. I would like to talk about the media. Being on the
Senate Foreign Relations. Then we ought to talk about “hit the ground running,” and
beyond “go with the flow.” Then you know what I’d like to talk about? I’d like to talk
about late votes and the food in the caucus room. And then how did this happen? Why
did you decide? What went on? I spoke to the chiefs of staff—I really had a great time
talking to the chiefs of staff, but in it there’s a lot of stuff that I think would be
interesting. Two Supreme Court justices. There’s a lot of it.

RITCHIE: I’ve got questions on all of these, but if we get to the end and |
missed an area, that will be a time to go back over this.

KAUFMAN: I’ve got a lot of anecdotes. Some of them will just roll out, as they
have, but some of them won’t, so at the very end we can go through this list and do these

one after another.

RITCHIE: That will be great. You know, each person remembers things in
different ways and organizes them in different ways. I interviewed Frank Valeo, who was
the secretary of the Senate who swore Senator Biden in the first time.

KAUFMAN: I know, he swore him in right down here in Wilmington, in the
hospital.

RITCHIE: Frank said, “Give me a list of senators.” I'd throw out a name and
he’d have a story for every person.

KAUFMAN: That is a great idea.

End of the Fourth Interview

Photos on the following page, from top to bottom:

Senator Ted Kaufman with Senators Jeanne Shaheen and Bob Casey.
With Senators George P. Mitchell and John Kerry.

With Senator Amy Klobuchar.

With Senator Jon Tester.
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SENATOR FROM DELAWARE
Interview #5
Tuesday Morning, August 23, 2011

RITCHIE: The last thing we talked about was the vice presidential campaign in
2008, and I noted that you were on Senator Biden’s transition team, but also when you
were a senator you introduced a bill about creating an earlier transition process. What
was your experience in that transition that shaped your thinking?

KAUFMAN: First off, let me spend a minute on the selection. Senator Biden was
reluctant to participate in the [vice-presidential selection] process. He had been through it
a number of times. He’d been at the periphery, being talked about before. His basic
approach was, “I don’t think I want to do this. I don’t want to go through the process.”
He did everything he could to find out—sub rosa—*Is this serious? Am I just one of 20
names?” The feedback was pretty strong, that Barack Obama had been talking about, for
quite a while, selecting Joe Biden. He, after a lot of family discussion, said okay, they
could tell Senator Obama that he would go through the process, which he did. He met
with Obama in Minnesota, and said, essentially, “If I am your VP, I want to be the last
person in the room on decisions,” you decide and I will go with your decision, but I want
to have a chance to give you my ideas at the very end of the process “and this has got to
be serious, and the rest of that.

Then, as a little sidelight, I had two friends and we decided that we were going to
take a course in motorcycle riding. We signed up for the course and the first day I was in
the classroom, the three of us went. Then at three o’clock the next morning I got a call
that Obama had picked Biden to be vice president. I never got to ride a motorcycle after
that.

As soon as he was selected, he appointed Mark Gitenstein and me to be co-chairs
of the vice-presidential transition team. Mark is a remarkably talented person who had
joined the Biden staff in the very beginning, had been general counsel of the Judiciary
Committee and stayed involved with us ever since. He and his wonderful wife Lib have
become very close friends of the vice president, Jill, Lynne and me. He was a partner in
the Washington office of the Mayer-Brown law firm. So, we started going to the
meetings of the Obama transition team, led by John Podesta. I was amazed at the
extent—it was like Germany at the end of the Second World War, and North Vietnam, I
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mean there was this incredible infrastructure, a gigantic organization, totally below the
media radar. It had to be kept below the media radar. There was one story at one point
about it, which went with the standard line: “Obama is building this transition. He’s
measuring the drapes in the White House. He’s convinced he’s going to win.” That was
the one story you wanted to avoid, and the reasons why you didn’t do transitions.
McCain was faced with the same thing.

John Podesta had a group of about 25 people who used to meet regularly, at a law
firm in Washington. And then there were 25 behind that, and 25 beyond that. Podesta had
set up an operation where he had literally mirrored the government and had people all
over doing it. I was incredibly impressed. And the other thing that was amazing was that
the Bush White House was incredibly cooperative. I mean incredibly cooperative.
Looking back historically, because we got a lot of historical data, it probably was one of
the most cooperative transitions. That was Josh Bolton, because he was the chief of staff
in the White House. That was probably his doing, and President Bush’s doing. President
Bush deserves credit for doing that, in my mind. But it all had to be kept below the radar.

Then Obama and Biden were picked. The convention was just surreal. To think
that Joe, after all the conventions that he had been at, all the times we had been there, all
the work that we had put into two presidential campaigns—for naught—and then Barack
Obama wakes up one morning and says, ““You’re going to be our vice president.” All of a
sudden, Joe Biden, and Jill, and Beau, and Hunt, and Ashley, and everybody, are all on
the stage. [ remember David Strauss, who was a Senate chief of staff [to Quentin
Burdick, chairman of the Environment and Public Works Committee], and then was in
the Clinton administration. I passed him one day in the hall and he said, “Well, you
passed the Hi David test.” I said, “What’s that?”” He said, “When you see me you say, ‘Hi
David.”” All of a sudden you’re an important person. And by the way, you are an
important person. I never got used to it. In fact, frankly it took me a long time to get used
to, after he was elected, that he was actually vice president.

In a strange way, it was even a tougher transition than seeing me as a senator.
Clearly, it was a bigger shock that [ was a senator than he was vice president. It was a
shock to me, I guess seeing him do it, as opposed to not seeing myself do it. I can
remember the first time it really finally nailed me. I was in Pakistan—Peshawar—and we
went into the U.S. counsel’s office. There on the wall in this not very big counsel’s
office, in a rundown building in bad shape, and you walk in the door and there’s a picture
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of Barack Obama and a picture of Joe Biden. I said, “Oh, my God, he is really vice
president”

I’ve said many times that being a senator was truly historic. I’ve answered the
question, “Did you ever dream of becoming a senator?” by saying, “I never dreamed
about being a senator. I never thought about being a senator.” I used to give this speech
in my class and to groups who asked me if I felt bad about being a staff person—I
remember Lynne one time asked me in 1973, “Don’t you feel bad about being behind the
scenes?” I said, “No, no, no.” My father, in 1952, when Joe Clark became mayor of
Philadelphia, he was one of the people who applied to be commissioner of welfare, and
he became deputy commissioner of welfare in charge of children. He had a good friend,
Max Silverstein, who was over at the house one time. I said, “Gee, isn’t it a shame that
Dad didn’t get to be commissioner?” He said, “No, no, no, Ted, you want to be the
number two, don’t be number one.” I’'m not sure if that affected my whole life, but I
never forgot that. You know, being number two is really good—the analogy I came up
with, which fit me perfectly, was volleyball, with strikers and setters. When you look at a
good volleyball team, people talk about the strikers, but without a good setter you’re not
going to be a good striker. Staff people are basically setters and senators are strikers. |
said, “Most good setters are not good strikers, and most good strikers are not good
setters.” I felt comfortable with that. I completely revised that after being a senator. ’'m
absolutely convinced that most chiefs of staff I met would make good senators. Whether
senators would make good chiefs of staff, I'm not quite sure, and I have no confidence
that most chiefs of staff could win the election.

One of the stories I told the most, when I was in the Senate, was after I had been
there for about two or three weeks I got on an elevator after a vote with three other
senators, which is what normally happens after a vote. Mel Martinez, a senator from
Florida, who later resigned, said, “Ted, tell us, what’s harder, being chief of staff or being
senator?” Without even thinking, I said, “Chief of staff.” I could tell right away I had not
answered the question properly. So I spent a lot of time thinking about it. I found that
senators work harder. They work longer hours than chiefs of staff, although chiefs of
staff work long hours Senators are on call all the time. The media and others do call at
home when you’re a chief of staff at eight o’clock or nine o’clock at night, or on
Saturdays and Sundays, when they want answers to requests, but it is the senators who
have to be on the shows and parades and other appearances on weekends — staff shares
the burden . You do shows, and you stay late as a senator for votes. When I was chief of
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staff [ used to get on the train at 6:30 practically every night. Joe Biden would be there
until the Senate finished voting until he got on the train. But senators get a lot of fun
things to do. We can get into that later on.

People used to say to me, “It must be great being chief of staff, you have a lot of
fun.” I would say, “No, you don’t have a lot of fun. It’s a very difficult job. But you
never go home at night wondering what you’re doing with your life.” Being chief of staff
was great, and I really do think it was harder. For instance, when I was a senator, |
showed up at the wrong place, not any important or big things, but if from some kind of
mess-up in scheduling, I showed up at the wrong room (which never happened to me,
because my scheduler, Kathy Chung, was absolutely incredible), it wouldn’t bother me
that much. So what? But boy, when I was chief of staff, if they had sent Senator Biden to
the wrong place, I would have been so upset—not with everybody else, just with myself.
There’s a lot more stress.

I remember we were at a meeting one time, this was like 30 years ago, and
everybody was introducing themselves. Senator Metzenbaum’s chief of staff got up and
introduced himself by saying “my job is to worry.” No one ever described a chief of
staff’s job better than that, because it is to worry. If you were chief of staff and you
weren’t waking up one or two nights a week staring at the ceiling, you really weren’t
doing your job. As a senator, I never once woke up at three o’clock in the morning. And
the final piece is | had a wonderful chief of staff, Jeff Connaughton, who I had worked
with for many years in different capacities. He went to Alabama and then had an MBA
from Chicago, and went to Stanford law school, graduated near the top of his class, was
in the White House counsel’s office, and then law and lobbying firms. When he agreed to
come to work for me, I put my hands on his shoulders and said, “Jeff, I was chief of staff
for 19 years. I don’t want to be chief of staff again.” [ used to sit in meetings and Jane
Woodfin, my Legislative Director, who had been Joe Biden’s legislative director for
years, who I had hired way back when, a smart and wonderful person, when she and Jeff
and I many times were sitting around, they’d start talking about something, and I would
say, “Oh, oh, chief of staff , 'm out of here,” and I’d get up and walk out of the meeting
because I didn’t want to deal with a chief of staff issues.

To go back to the transition, it was a wonderful transition but you had to keep
everything beneath the radar. So when I got to the Senate, one of the things that was clear
that was wrong with the Senate was the confirmation process. What everybody knew was
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that there were a number of things that we should do. If you went back and read the last
five reform commissions—every once in a while the Senate decides we’re going to have
a reform commission. Adlai Stevenson had one when I first came—Adlai Stevenson III,
the son of the presidential candidate, the senator from Illinois. He chaired one of them,
and I used to get involved with them every time. One of the things that came up was that
senators were on too many committees—we’ll talk about that again, but clearly that had
gotten out of hand. It was bad when I left the Senate, it was horrible when I came back,
so you had to do something about reducing the number of committees senators served on.
They had gotten on to extra committees through waivers, so you had to cut the waivers
back.

The second thing you had to do was something about the confirmation process.
There were just too many confirmable posts. The Senate spent way too much time on it.
Every committee had its questionnaire and its own set of guidelines. Being on the
Judiciary Committee, let me tell you something, their form was so long—every time
somebody came up with a new idea, it got added to the form. I remember when I went
through the confirmation process for the BBG and had to fill out all these forms, I
thought, “Oh, my Lord! I knew it was bad but I had no idea it was this bad.” So I knew
that was really a bad situation. Max Stier, who heads up an organization for the
advancement of federal employees [Partnership for Public Service], had pretty much put
together a good program of what should be done. So what [ wanted to do was introduce
the idea of change in this area and build some credentials on it.

What I decided to do was start out with the Presidential transition, because
working on the Obama Biden transition, I found out that the fact that it was all sub rosa
made everything difficult. This was true even though people were allowed to go in and
meet with government officials, thanks to the Bush administration. Then you hit election
day, and you found out that it was crazy to put a whole administration together in such a
short time. I tell my students, a lot of them are MBAs and law students, and they have
business experience, I say, “You’ve just been hired to run General Motors at its
height—only a thousand times bigger—and the day you walk in the front door of the
headquarters, your top 2,000 managers walk out the back door. You have to carry on
your labor relations, your finance, manufacturing, marketing, everything else, and your
top 2,000 employees walk out the back door.” It’s just crazy. You also have to put
together all the things you want to do.
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So what I decided, in order to start this process, was to introduce a Presidential
Transition bill. And I first asked and got very good support from—this is Senate
101—Joe Lieberman and Susan Collins, who were co-chairs of the committee on
Homeland Security, which has dealt with this in the past. Then I asked George
Voinovich, who served on the committee, and he cosponsored it with me. What I did was
write a bill that said that the day after you were nominated by a major party, or by a
minor party that reached a certain threshold, kind of the standard rules that are in
existence to allow third parties or fourth parties or fifth parties to participate, that the
GSA, the General Services Administration, would set up a space in Washington for you
to go. You’d be able to get all the security clearances you needed. It would all be public.
And you had to set it up. So now no one could criticize a candidate for planning a
transition. [ got support from John McCain and his people. I got a number of prominent
Republicans and Democrats, people around DC, Donna Brazile, Ed Gillespie, Tom
Korologos, Tom Mann and Norm Ornstein, John Podesta, just a lot of Democrats and
Republicans around town. Ed Gillespie and Donna Brazile wrote an op-ed in Roll Call
supporting it. Essentially to put in place this system, so the transition could hit the ground
running and wouldn’t be sub rosa, and therefore you’d be able to put all these things
together in advance. Fortunately, it got passed in the Senate, and got passed in the House.
It may have been among the last 10 or 12 bills that passed in the 111" Congress. It was
great to write a bill and have it pass.

As I was saying earlier, it was historic being a senator, but I really felt at the time
that the most historic thing that happened to me, probably in my life, was that just two or
three days after the election of Barack Obama, I got on an airplane with Mark Gitenstein
and Joe Biden and on November 5" and flew to Chicago, Illinois, and sat down with
Barack Obama, Joe Biden, Mark Gitenstein, John Podesta, Pete Rouse, Valerie Jarrett,
Jim Massina, David Axelrod, and Rahm Emanuel—just those people—and began to plan
the Obama administration. I mean, I had to pinch myself. I thought this could be an
incredibly important administration. We had run on change, and we were going to have
critical change. The idea to be able to sit with them and talk about who the cabinet
secretaries should be, what our economic policies should be, and what the priorities
should be for the administration. I went out there, I guess, for four meetings. The last one
was on November 19", because right after that I was selected by Governor Ruth Ann
Minner, who said she was going to nominate me. So at that point I stepped off the
committee. But it was a remarkable, historical, incredible situation to be sitting in a room
with eight or ten people and planning the Obama administration.
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RITCHIE: What is the role of the vice president when a president is setting up
an administration? How much does the vice president get to suggest? Does he get an area
to work on or does he talk about things in general?

KAUFMAN: Well, we could probably spend a whole day on this, because the
more I got into it, the more I found out about it, and the more I began to realize. The
shorthand is that it varies. Every president can do it any way that president wants to. It’s
been done all kinds of different ways. You can tell from those names, Rahm Emanuel
and John Podesta were involved in the Clinton administration, and the difference
between the way Clinton did it and the way Obama did it was quite striking, based on
their personalities and their modus operandi, and the way they do things. One of the
things, again, having experienced in Washington, the vice president-elect had, when he
met with Obama in Minnesota, and said, “Clearly, we don’t know how this is all going to
work out, but I just want to know that I’'m going to be in the room when you make the
important decisions, and I’m the last person in the room before you make the decision.”
Obama honored that every which way. That’s really the key to how this one worked.

The vice president, I think it’s been demonstrated, has had a very important role. I
think it was unusual that the president would have a meeting to make these decisions and
would invite the vice president—not only the vice president but have the vice president
bring two of his staff people to the meeting. We were treated as total equals, Mark
Gitenstein and 1. Now, there’s a separate question, and I’'ll just do shorthand on this, and
that is: What is the role of the vice president? I’ve done a number of press interviews on
this. About two years into the administration in 2010 they’d say, “Well, Ted, the vice
president said that he was going to be this, that, and the other thing, but now his role is
this and what do you think about that?” I said, “Well, if you want to go back and compare
his role now and his role then, that’s fine, but you’ve got to remember that his role back
then is very difficult to articulate, because outside of “the last person in the room,” what
happens in any administration—now that I’ve been through this it’s easier for me to see,
I’'m sure it’s the same way in a corporation—is the president comes in and the first
question you have to answer is: What’s the role of the president? Then you pick the role
of the vice president. Like the CEO comes in: What’s the role of the CEO? Then, what’s
the role of the vice president for manufacturing? Barack Obama had a lot of experience
in a lot of different things. What were the things that he was going to want to do himself?
And then what was he going to pass off to the vice president, based on his and the vice
president’s talents.
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In those early discussions, I said to the vice president-elect that [ was absolutely
convinced that he would have an incredibly busy vice presidency. First off, there were so
many issues on the table that the president had to, and would, delegate a great deal. So
you’re not in a presidency where the president can handle all these things. Like Barack
Obama knew a lot about foreign relations, he was on the Foreign Relations Committee,
but I thought, “He’s going to want Joe Biden to do a lot of foreign policy.” But that
wasn’t clear at the beginning. So when you’re vice president and people ask you what’s
your role going to be, one of the things you can decide is institutional. A big institutional
decision the vice president made, after talking to a lot of people and studying history, is
“I’m not going to have a portfolio.” Al Gore had a portfolio. A number of vice presidents
had a portfolio. He said, “I do not want a portfolio.” And I think that was smart. He had
so many interests and so many talents that to lock himself in—Ilike Gore took Russia and
then Reinventing Government. What Joe Biden said, “Look, if there’s a project, put me
into the project, but I want the project to end.” Because there may be something coming
up that’s more important.

Really, when determining what the VP should be doing at any time you’ve got to
use the old economic term that is what is the “highest and best use,” for Joe Biden. After
the president picks his priorities, you’re going to want Joe Biden working on the next
highest priority, the best use of his time at any particular time. We met with a number of
vice presidential scholars. My basic approach, and you can ask the vice president about
this, ever since I was on the staff, we’d sit down and do scheduling at the beginning of
the year. I’d say, “The problem is not what we are going to do, the problem is what we
are we not going to do.” When you’re Joe Biden, as his committee assignments grew,
there were so many things he could do. I would say, “We should brainstorm.” The fun
part is planning all the things you could do, which is what we did. But I said, “The hard
work in this is selecting what you don’t do, because if you try to do all these things that
you’re good at you're stretched too far.

In the discussions with the vice presidential scholars, we started talking about
foreign policy, and one of the scholars said, “Oh, foreign policy, you know every world
leader. You’ve been doing this for 35 years.” I happen to think that Joe Biden knows
more about foreign policy than anyone else, period. He went on the committee in 1976
and he literally has met with every world leader—and when they weren’t leaders. He
used to travel to the North American Alliance, where all the parliamentarians from
around NATO would come. He’s been through so many issues, he knows so much about
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what’s going on. So we talked about it, and this one vice presidential scholar said, “You
should do nothing but foreign policy. With all the credentials and experience you have,
you should do nothing but foreign policy.” So then a little bit later we were talking about
congressional relations and the lame duck sessions. “Oh, congressional relations, not
only do you know everybody in the Senate, you know Nancy Pelosi and John Boehner.
You should spend all of your time doing congressional relations.” Then he did such a
good job on the stimulus bill, he dealt with governors and mayors, plus he settled a
bureaucratic food fight in the administration at one point and the president said to him,
“Hey, would you go talk to the people involved and straighten this out?”” which he did.

I said, “What you have to do is really simple to me.” I’'m an engineer and that’s
how I approach things, an engineer and an economist, where the two of them cross.
“You’ve got to figure out what’s the highest and best use of Joe Biden today” Or next
week, something like that. Maybe going to Iraq is the best thing he should be doing.” I
can remember during the lame duck session, he went to Iraq and there was criticism that
he wasn’t back doing the lame duck problem because he was in Iraq. All he was trying to
do in Iraq was end the war and bring our troops home, and Joe Biden knew all the sides.
He knows the head of the Kurds, Jalal Talabani. He knows Prime Minister [Nouri al-]
Maliki. He knows the Sunni leaders. He knows all the players, and they all trust him.
They’re all on the record as saying how much they trust Vice President Biden. The same
thing in Afghanistan. So in the end, those meetings on what he did as vice president came
down to, “I’m the last person in the room. I want to be there when the decisions are
made. And no portfolio.” That’s pretty much the way it’s worked out.

RITCHIE: While you were still on the transition team, before you had been
appointed to the Senate, were you thinking about joining the administration, taking a job
with Vice President Biden or somewhere else in the administration?

KAUFMAN: No, I was not. This again could be a long story, but it’s essentially
all the reasons I talked about when I left Joe Biden’s office. I wanted to spend more time
with my family. I wanted to have a series of jobs, a bunch of pieces that I could do for the
rest of my life. I did not want to retire. I didn’t want to stop and just spend time with my
family, and play golf and tennis, and read books, which is good and a very important part
about what [ was doing till the day I died, and the ratios changed. With seven
grandchildren, there’s more family to see. Plus my three youngest are in London, the next
two are in Detroit, and the two oldest are in Washington. Those are the grandchildren not
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counting the children. So I wanted to have more time for family, and I think there are
different stages in life. There’s a time when you get more contemplative. As I said
earlier,  wanted to get away from administrative work. I didn’t want to work for
somebody else. So I put together this wonderful model for my life and it was moving
along just well, and I was not interested in going back to working 65 hours a week, or
more. Not because I didn’t want to work but because this was what I was doing and I was
perfectly satisfied. So I was not going to go to work in the administration.

It’s hard to explain this to people. You can explain it to people who are older, but
it’s very hard to explain to others who have this view that everybody in politics is just
super-ambitious and would run over their grandmother in a car. It’s hard for them to
believe otherwise. The whole time I was in the Senate there were people who couldn’t
believe that I didn’t want to run for reelection. It took them a while to figure out that |
was serious. [ wasn’t going to run for reelection. I didn’t want to run. I didn’t want to
serve beyond the two years. So I did not, and would not, take a job in the administration.

Then one night we were flying back from Chicago and Vice President Biden’s
son Hunter, his children are special to me, as special as they can get when they’re not
blood. Joe Biden always says “Blood of my blood.” It’s hard to believe sometimes that
they’re not blood of my blood, but they’re wonderful young people. I hold them in the
highest regard, and would do anything for them, Beau, Hunter and Ashley. Anyway,
Hunter is riding back with the vice president and Mark and me, in the plane, and we
started talking about who was going to take his place in the Senate. There were a number
of names floating around. Hunter said, “Why not Ted?” He said all sorts of nice things
about me, that I could hit the ground running, and the senators knew me. My initial
response was oh, no. [ wasn’t taking a job in the administration; I knew the answer to that
question. Being senator, that takes a lot of time and I had a lot of concerns about it. But I
went home and started talking it over with Lynne.

I just had a lot of concerns. One was going back and changing my life the way it
was. The problem with that was pretty quickly I was facing the same situation that Joe
Biden was faced with. How do you look in the mirror and say you’re not going to be
something like this, because you’ve got a better life and you want to spend more time
with your family. That’s where he came out, and that’s where I came out. But I also had a
bunch of other concerns about being a senator. First off, I believe in the spikers and
setters analogy I talked about earlier. I was a setter, not a spiker. When I had been a staff
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person I really did not like talking to the media. As a senator I would have to do a lot of
that, and that’s not what I wanted to do. I was commuting to Washington, but if I got a
place in Washington I’d lose connection with my friends back home. Just a whole bunch
of things.

But, in the end, because of the fact that I'm hard wired for public service—I think
I’ve already talked about this, but it’s kind of key to how I view the world. I tell young
people that we’re all hard wired on a continuum with Gordon Gecko at one end and
Mother Theresa at the other end. I had learned through my life that I was more towards
the Mother Theresa end, that’s the way it was, that’s how I was hard wired. I went
through business school and the rest of that but clearly trying to make a difference in my
life outweighed other concerns. What it basically came to was the vice president-elect
said, “Ruth Ann is going to call me. Do I tell her that you would be an excellent choice?”
In the end, I said yes.

On November 21*—I remember the date—Lynne and I had packed our bags. We
were going to London where my daughter, Meg, her husband, Tom and my three
youngest grandchildren Calvin, Martha, and Lincoln live. Meg always points out to me
that I sometimes leave her off, and just mention the grandchildren. But we were going to
London. We had our bags packed. We were getting ready to go to the airport to fly to
London for Thanksgiving. A large part of our luggage was filled with Thanksgiving
things, because obviously they don’t celebrate Thanksgiving in England. We make a
constant effort to remind our grandchildren—a greatly failing effort—to remind our
grandchildren that they are half American. The telephone rings, and it’s Ruth Ann
Minner, the governor.

I talked to you earlier about how well I knew Ruth Ann. I had known Ruth Ann
for years, ever since she was the outside reception for Governor Sherman Tribbitt, and I
had worked on her transition when she became governor. She called and said, “Ted, I’ve
put a lot of thought into it, and I’ve thought of a lot of people, but I think you would
really be the best choice. I'd like to ask you if it’s okay if I nominate you for Senator
Biden’s seat?” I said that I already knew the answer for me. I thanked her and I said,
“Sure, that’s great, Ruth Ann, I really appreciate it,” and all those things. I had always
had a great relationship with Ruth Ann. And then I said, “But we’re going to go to
England for Thanksgiving. We’ll be back in a week. Can we wait and announce it then?”
She said, “Oh, fine, whenever you want to do it, that’s fine. We’ll hold off until you get
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back from England.” I then called the vice president-elect and told him about the
governor’s call, and there’s silence on the other end of the line.

I’ve got to give a little background to this. Joe Biden and I had worked together
for years, and I think he’ll say, and I can say that we rarely approached a new problem
the same way. It was different sides of the brain: me being an engineer and him being a
lawyer. But the vast majority of times we ended up in the same place. The other thing
was, [ am an engineer and a business school graduate. My greatest happiness comes in
putting together a plan for the next two weeks, two months, two years, and then
implementing the plans step by step as we go along. I mean, I’'m open to changes, and |
say that nothing’s cast in stone, but putting all the dominos out there and watching them
fall down just makes me feel good. Joe Biden is someone who every moment of every
day is trying to figure out: Is this the best use of my time? Now, I realize that he’s locked
into some things, but I’ll never forget during one of his campaigns, we were distributing
these brochures. It took us a long time to write these brochures. If you ever see them,
they are very well written, very well done. I didn’t have anything to do with writing
them, so I can say that, but Valerie and Joe Biden, really wrote them. They’re fabulous.
They’re funny and they’re on point, and they took a long time to write. Then we had to
rent a truck and have someone drive to New Jersey to get 180,000, and bring them back,
and we’d have all the volunteers ready to distribute them around the state. I think this
was the 78 or 84 campaign, but we did this in every campaign, at least the first three or
four campaigns. So the truck was up there, it picked up the paper, it was coming back, we
had people all lined up to come into headquarters from all over the state to pick up the
brochures, and Joe Biden called Valerie and me and said, “I don’t think we should
distribute this.” It was like, “What? I don’t believe this.” He said, “There’s no point in
putting it out. It was great when we wrote it, but things have changed and that’s not the
priority now, and we should just not distribute it.” Boy, it just threw me for a loop. But
we didn’t distribute it, and he was absolutely, totally right. One of the great things I
learned from Joe Biden was to temper the dominos instinct and think more about taking
each decision separately and checking it out. It was one of the many big things that I
learned from him, and it’s really helped me in my life.

Anyway, there’s silence on the other end of the phone. Then Joe Biden said,
“Ted, I know you’re scheduled to go to England for Thanksgiving, but do you really
want this to hang around for 10 days? Do you really think it will stay a secret for 10
days? Do you think you ought to put off your trip to England and maybe what you ought
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to do is have a press conference this Monday?” I thought for just a second and said, “As
usual, you’re absolutely right on this.” [Laughs] “You put your finger on it, I do not want
to wait on this thing.” So I called Ruth Ann back and said, “Ruth Ann, we ought to do it
this Monday.” I could hear the sigh of relief on the other end of the line, “Oh, thank
God!” [Laughs] So Lynne got on a plane and went to England before Thanksgiving and |
stayed around. We didn’t do it on Monday, I can’t remember what it was but some big
story came up and we didn’t do it Monday. As I remember it, we did it on Tuesday.

There’s one other humorous sidelights. I was home all alone. When you’re home
all alone at night you can think of all kinds of things. On Saturday night, I think it was, I
woke up at five o’clock in the morning and thought, “I can’t do this. The media’s going
to be a problem. I’ve never done this before. There’s going to be incredible pressure on
me. There’s going to be all kinds of things I’m supposed to know. I’ve seen how different
it was to be a senator, and I really don’t think that staff can make good senators.” And so
on and so on. I called Lynne, because it was later in the morning there. I said, “I just
can’t do this. I’ve got to call Ruth Ann back and tell her I can’t do it. I’'m not a public
person, I’'m a private person. I can’t do it.” I called Lynne in London and started to go
through it. She called my daughter Meg and said, “Meg, get on the phone, you’ve got to
talk to your father.” Meg is my youngest, my three daughters are wonderful and I go to
them for advice all the time. It took a couple of minutes for Meg to get to the phone, she
got on and said, “What’s going on?”” Both her mother and she talked me down off the
ledge.

So everything passed and a week later [ was in England. I had been there for a
while, and finally Meg and I were alone one time. She said, “Dad, I’ve got to tell you
this.” I said, ““What’s that?” She said, “When Mom called me and said ‘Y our father wants
to back out.” She said, “I thought, oh my God, he is having an affair!” [Laughs] I
thought, oh, yeah, right, life is simple. The other thing that was great about it was my
youngest grandson, who was then about one and a half and just talking, when the whole
thing went on. It was on CNN and on the news even in England. I was doing a press
conference. His name is Lincoln, and Lincoln looked at it for a minute and then he went

around the back of the TV looking for me, which is a standard thing with young people.

So okay, I'm going to do it. We’re going to have a press conference. All of a
sudden I start focusing on the press conference, and I'm thinking, “Wow, press
conferences, they can ask me anything!” Fortunately, Margaret Aiken, who had been
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Senator Biden’s press secretary, and Alexander Snyder-Mackler, who was his press
secretary, and my communications director, sat down with me and went through
everything, which really helped. And then it was wonderful, my other two daughters,
Kelly drove up from Baltimore, Murry flew in from Detroit to be with me, and my
granddaughter Ginna, who was at the University of Pennsylvania came in from Penn, so I
had all this support group.

But it was truly scary for several reasons. One is they can ask you questions about
anything in your background or history, and it’s on the air. I had never done a press
conference before that I can think of, and I definitely had not done a press conference
where there were so many cameras in the room. We were just getting into the You Tube
generation, so you make a mistake to television and it goes viral on the Internet. It’s
totally different than making a mistake five years or ten years previously. One of my
favorite sayings is there’s nothing like the prospect of hanging to concentrate the mind. I
was thinking: They could ask me just about anything! When I look at Caroline
Kennedy’s short senate campaign in New York, I look at the Quayle campaign, I look at
the Palin campaign, I just don’t know how people make the decision to do a job and then
have a press conference when they know so little about what they’re talking about. And
then everybody’s so surprised. I mean, Caroline Kennedy, I’ve met her, she’s a
wonderful human being, but to ask her to get up in front of a camera and deal with all the
issues you have to deal with as a United States Senate candidate, or Sarah Palin as a vice
presidential candidate, or even Dan Quayle, that disaster. So I knew how bad it could be,
but fortunately I had a lot of help from people and a lot of support from friends who

came down to the news conference.

And Ruth Ann was great. Another one of my concerns, just to give you an
example of the kind of things that you think about when you’re going into one of these
things, here she was going to say, which was true, was that my biggest strength was
being able to hit the ground running; nobody knows the Senate any better than Ted
Kaufman; I had taught about it for 20 years; I had been there at work for 20 years; he’s
an ideal selection. When you’re looking at it from a governor’s standpoint, what would
you rather have in Washington, for you personally? Would you rather have somebody
who really knew what they were doing, could help Delaware, knew who to talk to about
getting appropriations, or somebody who’s new and has to learn the game? In Ruth
Ann’s case, by the time that person learns, Ruth Ann’s going to be out of office. So there
were a lot of practical reasons why it made sense to pick me. That was good. It was a
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good storyline, and it overwhelmed the other line, which was: He’s just getting picked
because he’s a friend of the vice president’s. That was expressed in some of the early
stories but died out quickly, thank God, because I think people began to believe the
second story, which was I knew what I was doing.

“Hit the ground running” was based on the idea that “he’s worked in the Senate
for 22 years and he knows a lot of senators.” But remember, I had left the Senate in 1995
and there had been a lot of turnover between 1995 and 2008, a lot of turnover. Just the
value of sitting with people and talking about it—in this case this was something I came
up with on my own—but you go through “What do I say about this?”” “What do I say if
they ask that?” and having people help me with that. So I came up with the answer to
“Do you know all of the senators?”” My answer would be, “No, you know there’s been a
lot turnover in the Senate, and there are a lot of senators I frankly don’t know. I’'m
looking forward to meeting them, because they look like they’re good people. But one of
the advantages is that among the senators I do know, I know Senator Pat Leahy, who is
chairman of the Judiciary Committee, I know Senator John Kerry, who is chairman of the
Foreign Relations Committee, and I know Senator Inouye, who is chairman of the
Appropriations Committee, Senator Baucus, who is chairman of the Finance Committee,
and that will be a big help.” Which was absolutely, totally true, and turned out to be even
much truer than I even believed. All of those, and a bunch of others, were so incredibly
good to me, not counting all the staff that helped—*“One of our guys made it.” It was
great.

RITCHIE: I’d like to go back to that press conference. What was it like facing
the press? How well did they treat the story?

KAUFMAN: Oh, the story, they treated it very well. There was some of this “this
is a deal.” There was this whole idea that Beau Biden was going to run. I had told Ruth
Ann when she called that, “I will not run for reelection. Two years is great.” And the
reason [ wouldn’t run—after [ was there I had a lot of kind people come up to me saying,
“You’re doing a great job. Why don’t you run?” I was fortunate that most of the
comments were positive. Some had the idea was that [ was really a stalking horse for
Beau Biden, and that I wasn’t going to run so he could do it, which totally was not the
case. I said I wasn’t going to run. That story died when Beau Biden announced he wasn’t
running. Everybody came to me and said, “Oh, you’re going to run now.” I said, “No.
Did you listen to what I said?” I was just not running. My colleagues were great. Harry
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Reid called me and said, “I know you said you weren’t going to run, but would you
reconsider it?” I said, “No, Harry, ’'m not running.” People on street and other senators
said the same thing.

So I announced that I wasn’t going to run. But the story was a good story. Very
quickly the story went to “hit the ground running.” Here’s a guy who the day he starts is
going to do it. It was easy for me to decide not to run for reelection. I think I said earlier
about my discussion with Roland Burris, when he was making his consideration, after I
made mine. I said, “You can either spend two years with 65 percent of your time running
for election, not just money but organization and things like that, or you cannot run and
spend two years as a United States senator.” It was the easiest decision I ever made. I'd
like to claim credit that it was a tough decision and I made the right decision, but it was a
no-brainer to announce that [ wasn’t going to run.

Now, that being said, the press conference turned out very, very well. I was
thrown a whole bunch of soft balls. I wasn’t asked any tough questions. We have a thing
in my family—we’re all worriers to a certain extent—sometimes one of us
“catastrophizes,” which is the ultimate obsession. Take some little subject and the next
thing you make it into a catastrophe. So despite my worrying it went very well. One of
the things I found out, one of the biggest surprises of this whole process, and I’'m always
semi-embarrassed when I say it, but it’s so true, I had not liked talking to the media at all.
I had avoided talking to the media all the time when I worked for Joe Biden. I dreaded it.
And then I became senator and did this press conference, and TV shows, and I loved it. It
was the biggest surprise. It’s really quite simple, it didn’t take me long to figure it out,
but when I was working for Joe Biden, if I screwed up, I screwed up Joe Biden. When I
was senator, if [ screwed up, I screwed myself up. And I was at a point in my life where
you’re very philosophical about what you’re doing. So it really didn’t bother me. But it
was great from the standpoint of doing media because I’'m a very competitive person.
The opportunity to put my ideas out there and find the best way to put them out there,
and being successful, which I was, fortunately, for a lot of reasons—a lot of it was just
the times, and what I was, and what my strengths were, and what people were looking
for, so I came off in these things very well.

What I learned was when you’re standing in front of a TV camera, you really
think hard. I went on a lot of TV shows, and I don’t think there was one of them that I
didn’t come out without having a greater insight into the subject matter than I had going
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in. Again, back to my saying that the prospect of hanging concentrates the mind, when
you’re on television these days, you know that you say something wrong you’ll be on the
You Tube hit parade, so it really does concentrate the mind. But I never once was
nervous. I really enjoyed it. I looked forward to it. I can remember, it was really funny,
when [ was younger and on the Senate staff, the high point of a senator’s life was to get
on Sixty Minutes. That was really a big deal. In 2010, Sixty Minutes did a show on high-
frequency trading, which I had been talking about a lot, and I'm on the show. I got a lot
of comments after being on Sixty Minutes.

Later on in the fall of 2010—this is the truth—some of my grandchildren came to
me and said, “Well, Pop Pop, we know you’re important but you’ve never been on The
Daily Show.” 1 said, “But I’ve been on Sixty Minutes and I’ve done all these other
shows.” “Yeah, Pop Pop, but you’ve never been on The Daily Show.” So many good
things happened to me over which I had no control. The Daily Show decided that I should
be on the show [October 26, 2010]. You go to the show, and you go early. I’'m there
about an hour and a half before the show starts. 'm in the green room with Jeff
Connaughton, my chief of staff, and Lynne was there, and Amy Dudley, who was the
press secretary, and we are there for a long time. The way the show works, Jon Stewart
comes down—and they told me this beforehand—and spends five minutes talking to you.
He only had one guest a night, which I never focused on. It’s a half hour show, so it’s not
like he has to do a whole lot of preparations. Just based on the questions the producer
asked our press secretary, they put together this thick book. Jon Stewart looks at it, 'm
sure, and then comes down and talks to the person and figures out what’s the show going
to be about.

He was great to me, and I enjoyed doing it. The big thing was, an hour and a half
before and then on the show, never once was I nervous. I was amazed. If anybody had
told me two years before that, [ would have thought I’d be petrified, because The Daily
Show is a tough show. It’s not just getting on and making your arguments like on other
shows. It’s a funny show. I had seen very, very good senators not do well on some of
these shows. Joe Biden always did well, but Joe Biden is Joe Biden, and I’'m not Joe
Biden. I was also concerned that basically there are a lot of negative feelings about the
Senate and the Congress, which there should be, going back to the fact that people should
be skeptical about the Congress, but they shouldn’t be cynical. Well, Jon Stewart and The
Daily Show are many times cynical. When he came in to meet with me, he said,
“Washington is just a terrible place. All these things are going on.” I can’t argue with
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that, but I said, “You know, Jon, you’re absolutely right. There’s only one place worse.”
He said, “What’s that?” I said, “In New York, it’s called Wall Street.” He said, “You’re
absolutely right.”

My big worry was they were going to start attacking the Senate to be funny. I
love the Senate. I think the Founders knew what they were doing when they created the
Senate. I think what makes our democracy great is the Senate. I think, with the filibuster,
the idea that you protect political minorities is the key to America. For years people have
been saying, “take democracy around the world.” They say, “democracy is about
elections.” Democracy is not about elections, elections are about majorities. What makes
us great is the protection of minorities, and not just racial, ethnic, religious minorities but
political minorities. In many countries, somebody takes over, Hamas takes over and just
crushes everybody else. The same thing has happened to a certain extent in Iraq and
Afghanistan. You win an election and then you rule. We’re about the protection of
political minorities, and the best protection of political minorities is the Senate with the
filibuster. You’ve got to get 60 votes and the political minority can stop things unless you
deal with them.

Well, that’s a pretty esoteric argument to be making on The Daily Show. I didn’t
want to get into an attack, but it worked out very well. I’'m sure there are people who love
Jon Stewart and hate Jon Stewart, but he is really an extraordinary individual. It’s just
like I have a friend, Norm Pattiz, who is very big in radio broadcasting. He said, “Rush
Limbaugh is in a class by himself—as an entertainer.” I don’t agree with Rush Limbaugh
on anything, but this guy really knows his stuff. He said, “All the rest of them are okay,
but Rush Limbaugh is in a class by himself as an attraction.” He’s the one who got
conservative radio going, not conservative ideas, because this guy is so incredible. I think
that’s true, and I think the reason The Daily Show has been so successful is because of
Jon Stewart. Now, I got a chance to meet with the writers and all the people on the show.
They were great too. But this is a long way to get to the point that it was a big surprise. I
never thought that I would go on a show like The Daily Show, that it would come out
okay, and that [ would so totally enjoy it.

The other point was that it is totally remarkable how many people watch The
Daily Show. The number of people who came up to me on the street, not counting friends
and family, who said, “I saw you on The Daily Show,” was much higher than Sixzy
Minutes. Anyway, those were my concerns, and a big negative turned out to be a big
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positive.

RITCHIE: There are some in political life, Sarah Palin comes to mind, who
complained about the press and their “gotcha” moments. Did you ever have problems
with the press in that regard?

KAUFMAN: You know, when I talk about the big surprises of being a senator,
one of them was—it’s hard sometimes to explain it—but never in my wildest dreams
thought that I would make it through two years as a senator of the United States and not
have some issue which really engendered bad feelings from a sizeable proportion of
people in Delaware. I never thought that would happen. Joe Biden was incredibly popular
in Delaware but there were times, like when we went through the Panama Canal Treaty,
when it was just a horror and there was a big chunk of people who were upset that he was
voting for the treaty. Now, people say healthcare reform, and in Delaware healthcare
reform was a big issue. But I talked to everybody and I never had people coming up to
me in the streets, like they had occasionally when I was chief of staff, saying, “Why are
you doing this?”

A big issue that could have been negative for me was credit card reform. There
was a major credit card bill that was passed, and I had some concerns. Credit card
companies are probably the major private employer in Delaware, so [ was concerned
about that, being from Delaware. That affected 25,000, 30,000 people. But there’s
600,000 people who have credit cards. So assuming that I would be for the credit card
bill because we’ve got credit card companies in Delaware, even my representative
function, talking about being a representative or trustee and what’s best for the country, I
wasn’t quite sure that not having major reform of credit cards, so these 600,000 people
didn’t have to pay these incredible late charges and have their interest rates change, I
wasn’t quite sure that was going to work out. So I thought that I might have a real
problem. I thought there well could be a credit card bill that I would vote against, which
could make a lot of people in Delaware unhappy. Fortunately for me, the Federal Reserve
came up with a whole program on what we should be doing. It was excellent. The credit
card companies decided: We can’t beat this, so we might as well join it. So the credit
card bill turned out to be an easy bill.

I was surprised by the fact that it was a very positive and smooth time for me. The
vast majority of people were very positive about what I was doing—I would be hard
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pressed to come up with an exception—I was down at the state fair and I went by the
Republican booth, and there was a very conservative woman there who lambasted me.
But I did not have people come up to me on the street to protest. I spent practically every
weekend in Delaware, [ was in Delaware a lot, and I didn’t have people come up to me
on the street saying, “Why did you do this?” really about anything I had done, which was
another gigantic surprise to me.

So there wasn’t anything that came up that the media went after me on. I think the
media, nationally, and locally, and regionally, on the issues that came up, the financial
issues, the foreign policy issues, the judicial issues, all the issues that I dealt with, there
wasn’t really anything negative. I had no negative stories, if you read my press for those
two years. The vice president used to call me and say, “What in the hell is going on? I’ve
never seen press coverage like this!” If I had bet I would have lost a fortune, because I
would have bet there’s going to be a period where the press is going to be on me and this
is going to be negative. What happens with the modern press more and more is that a
reporter will start with a hypothesis. They’re so busy in so many areas, and there are so
many complex areas, that most press people start with a hypothesis. And then,
unfortunately, they gather primarily the data that supports this hypothesis, because “I’ve
got to get this story written.” So if you tell them something that doesn’t fit their storyline,
they don’t want to put it in there because that opens up a whole bunch of different
questions. I think the national press, to the extent that they were interested in me at all,
and the regional press and local press kind of bought into the fact that I knew what I was
talking about. I didn’t say things that I hadn’t thought through or that weren’t thoughtful.
The mix of issues that we dealt with during those two years were not issues that I didn’t
know what I was talking about. So I got, really, a free ride in terms of coverage.

RITCHIE: My sense of the press is that they’re looking for somebody who can
provide reliable information, and when they find somebody who does, they like to call
back. So if you have a reputation in Washington as a good source of information, that

stands you well.

KAUFMAN: Yes, that’s true, but the other side of it is that, having taught the
course and studied the media, if you look at the coverage they would much rather cover
scandal. They would much rather cover personality, like People magazine. I remember,
Joe Biden was in People magazine and I never had so many comments about him. So
many people said, “I was in the doctor’s office and I saw that story about Joe Biden in

186



People magazine.” Or, “I was on an airplane.” Nobody every subscribed to People
magazine that I ever met. It was always I read it somewhere else. But that’s the area
where people want to burrow in on. And they do have a very negative perception of
members of Congress. They think members of Congress do bad things. So you’re
running counter to what’s out there if you are positive about a member. So [ don’t rate
this to me, I rate this to an incredibly fortunate series of circumstances.

And you’re right, I know reporters call you because you’re the historian and they
want to get the facts. Lots of press people say—I remember sitting in a meeting, Joe
Lieberman and Lamar Alexander had a bipartisan breakfast group (we stopped meeting
during healthcare). But for the first several months I used to go to it, and we started
talking about what we should do about reconciliation with healthcare and the rest of it.
They had brought the parliamentarian back—he had been there earlier.

RITCHIE: Bob Dove?
KAUFMAN: I can’t remember, a big beard?
RITCHIE: That’s Bob.

KAUFMAN: Yeah, Bob Dove. So we’re sitting there. There’s 12 senators in the
room and we’re talking about the Budget Act, and there’s only two people in the room
who were around when that passed, Bob Dove and me. So many times at the elevators, or
at votes, or on the train, or at calls, the press would call me and ask me, “How does this
compare with that?” “What did this do?” “How did that work?” So that part, you’re right,
I think people thought I knew what I was talking about. That is always a good thing to
have when you’re talking to a press person. They say, “Oh, yeah, Kaufman knows what
he’s talking about.” I would like to think that after 22 years on the Senate staff and over
20 years teaching about it that I would know what I was talking about.

RITCHIE: Was there much difference between the Delaware press and the
national press, in the types of things they were interested in?

KAUFMAN: No, not really. What we have now, which is a big change from 73,
is if you read a newspaper in Atlanta, Georgia, it would be a very different one from one
in Washington, D.C., or Seattle. At the Newseum, in Washington, you can walk by and
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see the front pages of all the papers and it’s amazing how similar all the papers are. A lot
of it obviously is driven by television. There’s a woman, Elaine Povich, who wrote a
wonderful book on Congress and the media. The last time I talked to her she was
working at Newsday. She pointed out that the days are done when people would get up in
the morning and look at the headline on their morning newspaper and say, “Oh, my God!

",

Harry, we’ve declared war!” Those kinds of stories, like sports stories, when you write a
newspaper sports story you assume that the people picking up the newspaper have
already heard on radio or television what the results of the baseball game or the football
game was and so you have to do analysis. So the questions that Nicole Gaudiano, who
covered me for the [Wilmington] News Journal, asked, and people from the national
media asked, really weren’t very different. You didn’t have to have two different stories.
For that matter, when I was downstate, and I met with the downstate papers, the
Delaware State News, and the Coastal Press, and the others—I don’t want to leave
anyone out—the papers and the media groups, WBOC-TV out of Salisbury, WDEL and

WILM radio stations. They are very informed, and they’re asking the same questions.

RITCHIE: One of the big stories at that time was about appointed senators,
because there were so many coming in at once.

KAUFMAN: Yes.

RITCHIE: You were appointed for two years, and I think you expressed some
sentiment that maybe special elections might be better. Have you thought more about that
whole issue?

KAUFMAN: Yes, it’s a good point. I came and said, when they asked me about
it, that always it’s better to have elected officials than appointed officials. Appointed
officials are great for a lot of positions, but I think for senators, and representatives, and
governors, mayors, that really it’s better to have democracy, to have the people elect
them. I thought that probably a special election would be better. And I still think that, but
I would not sign on—I remember Senator [Russ] Feingold had a constitutional
amendment to make this happen. We should leave appointment process up to the states.
That’s clearly something the states can make decisions on.

I did kind of change my position slightly. I was replaced by Chris Coons, who is
very smart. But he had just finished a gigantic Senate race with Christine O’Donnell. I
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understand there was more coverage of that than any other race in the country in 2010.
He’s elected, and then 10 days later he becomes a United States senator. He’s done a
great job, but I look at some of the appointed senators who only served for two years, and
I don’t know if the electorate isn’t better served by picking an appointed senator. Paul
Kirk, for instance, who was picked to fill out Kennedy’s seat, it wouldn’t have been at all
bad if Paul Kirk had served two years. George LeMieux came in [to fill a Senate seat
from Florida]. I'm not sure that if the governors choose wisely—and again this is self-
serving—but I think you could pick someone who knows what they’re doing in
Washington, I think Paul Kirk in my experience comes to mind as someone who knew
what he was doing when he showed up. For two years it might not be better having the
governor select.

So I started out being very much in favor of having democracy pick the officials,
but I’'m not so sure that with two years it might not be better to have the governors pick
someone who hits the ground running, is experienced, can concentrate on serving. And
then Kirsten Gillibrand and Michael Bennet, both of who ran for election, did great jobs
as interim United States senators. I do lean more towards appointees serving for two
years and then not running, for all the arguments I’ve said before. I made a personal
decision but it’s good for society. Again, looking at Michael Bennet and Kirsten
Gillibrand, who I think are going to be great senators, you’ve got to think that through,
too.

RITCHIE: Well, with a state like Delaware it’s also a little easier to have a
special election than a state like California.

KAUFMAN: Yes, but my problem with a special election, even in Delaware, is
that you have a special election, you put someone through a campaign, and then you
throw them right into office. Probably, if they’ve gone through a special election they’re
going to run for reelection. Personally, I would not go through a special election with the
idea that I was just going to serve for two years. You’re going to weed out the field, so
only people who are going to serve longer would run, which is not necessarily a good
way to weed out. Then they do this campaign and bang they’re in the Senate. I know
what you’re saying, California would be impossible, and Illinois and Florida, but even in
states like Delaware, and Rhode Island, and Wyoming, I’'m not sure it’s a good idea.

RITCHIE: Even in those states, a special election would probably bring out a
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very small percentage of the registered voters.

KAUFMAN: Oh, yes, although in small states, picking a United States senator is
a big deal. But you would get a much smaller turnout, just like you get a smaller turnout
in elections held in non-presidential years.

RITCHIE: Historically, a lot of governors have chosen to pick people who
weren’t going to run, in part so that would leave an open race for the nomination. That
way they don’t have to choose among the major players in their state. Someone once said
that when governors make a choice they make one person happy and a lot of people
unhappy.

KAUFMAN: Well, there’s Napoleon’s rule, which I found to be absolutely true,
about patronage. According to Napoleon for every appointment you make nine people
unhappy and create one ingrate. [ hope Ruth Ann doesn’t think of me as an ingrate, but
based on my experience of appointments that have been made—not by Senator Biden,
because he didn’t make that many appointees—but having watched the scene and seen
appointees, not only are a lot of people unhappy but you’ve got a lot of incredible
ingrates, people who were not happy with the appointing authority.

RITCHIE: Well, you’ve been appointed and you walk into the U.S. Senate as a
senator, after 19 years as a chief of staff, 22 years on the staff, what was it like that first
day?

KAUFMAN: It was really extraordinary. What happened was we put together the
swearing in and we were going to have a party. Lynne and I went down to Washington
for the swearing in. Senator Biden had resigned from the Senate but he had not yet
become vice president, so Dick Cheney presided over the Senate. Joe Biden and Tom
Carper came to my swearing in and marched down the aisle with me, and I was sworn in.
It was running late and I had a sizeable group of my D.C. friends and my Delaware
friends waiting for me to come to the [re-enactment for photographers and guests of the]
swearing in.

After it was finished, I was standing in the back of the Senate Chamber trying to
figure out how to get out. Again, once more Senator Biden was in the moment and I'm
thinking down the road. Senator Carper was speaking and I started to leave. The vice
president grabbed my arm and said, “Ted, you can’t leave while Senator Carper is
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speaking.” And I know right away [snaps fingers], instantaneously, he’s absolutely right.
So I listened to Senator Carper and remember, I had never spoken on the floor. The vice
president elects grabs me and whispers, “Ted, when he finishes, pick up the microphone,
right here” on one of the desks in the back “and say something nice about Senator
Carper.” So Senator Carper finished and a lot of my friends and family are still in the
gallery, because they’re not going to go down to the room—but the room’s full—until
they see that I'm going to be there. So I picked up the microphone and said some nice
things about Senator Carper, who is a wonderful United States senator, I could not have
served with anybody better, who was so supportive every step of the way, and who’s
such a good person. And I was so glad that the vice president was there. Then I went
down and everyone is commenting, “Boy, you really looked like you knew what you
were doing on the floor.” I said, “Well, you know, if you’re going to be staffed, you
might as well be staffed by a vice president.” [Laughs]

The swearing in party was great. It was just wonderful to see my family and
friends so happy. In some respects it was like being at my own memorial service. |
mean, people were saying nice things about me that no one would ever normally say
about me. The press was asking questions, and everyone else was enjoying the party.

I was on the Broadcasting Board of Governors for 13 years and the main time I
would be in Washington during those 13 years would be for the board meetings. At
Union Station, or downtown, or coming to and fro I would bump into people that [ had
worked with during those 22 years, and with a lot of them, at one point or another we had
done very pretty intense things, we had been in foxholes together during wars for
different issues that had come during that time. Former staff people, former chiefs of
staff, interest group people, people downtown, people involved with the Democratic
Party, former senators. I had said to Lynne, one of the things that really bothers me is this
instant psychobabble about people, someone who says, “Well, I never met President
Clinton, but I think the problem was with the way he was raised,” that kind of stuff. One
of the arguments | always made was that Lynne and I have been married for over
S0years, and I think we know each other about as well as anybody has ever known
anybody. We dated before we were married for a number of years. But she never ceases
to amaze me, in terms of she’ll just say something.

She has had a very good life in Wilmington, a lot of friends, doing things she’s
really interested in. Anyway, so long before this, in 2008, just coincidentally, I guess it
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was after the Iowa caucuses and Senator Biden was out of the race, and his friends and
family decided that after all these years of people thinking he was going to be president,
he was not going to be president, turning our back and closing that door. What made it so
ironic was that he did gets to be vice president. I said to her, earlier, just in passing,
“There are lots of people in Washington I really like. I’'m not going to be part of any
administration, clearly not any Biden administration. But I’d like to spend some time
living in Washington, because there are people I bump into down there, people I see and
a lot of friends,” expecting her to say, “Okay, that’s fine if you want to do it, but I’ve got
a good life here in Wilmington.” Instead she said, “That’s a great idea.” So it was a great
surprise. Lynne just really enjoyed those two years. She met a lot of new people, got
involved with the Senate spouse club and also spent time with old friends.

It was great to be in Washington. One of my favorite stories is, I had been in the
Senate for about a month or so. It was dusk and I was walking back from the Capitol. I
crossed Constitution Avenue and was walking into Dirksen, because that’s where my
office was in the beginning. This car came to a screeching halt. I can hear somebody
yelling. I turn around and this guy has rolled down the window on the passenger side and
he shouted, “I’m so-and-so from Senator Thurmond’s staff.” I had just got the Senator
Thurmond’s staff and couldn’t hear his name. It was dusk, so I couldn’t really see who it
was. He said, “We are so proud of the fact that one of our guys made it. It’s so great that
you’re a United States senator. I just wanted to tell you that.” Meanwhile, it was a minute
or two experience but you know what that intersection is like. Without anything more, he
rolls up the window and drives off. I never knew who it was. But it turned out to be a
wonderful two years in terms of seeing so many old friends. Being able to talk to them
and seeing them happy, so many of the former chiefs of staff from both sides of the aisle
happy. It was a very positive experience.

RITCHIE: Well, living in Washington was so different from your experience of
commuting while you were on the staff.

KAUFMAN: Exactly.

RITCHIE: And yet, more senators now commute rather than live in Washington.

KAUFMAN: Yes, but they don’t commute every day. One of the things that’s
interesting is that while everybody talks about how they commute, but they lose sight of
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the fact that every night most of them are not going home to their spouses and families,
because their spouses and families are back home. So they spend time together. They
spend more time working during those hours, and they spend more time with their
colleagues. Some of them live in the same areas as their colleagues. Clearly, one of the
big negatives, though, is not having the families in Washington and the fact that senators
spend Friday, Saturday, Sunday and Monday traveling back and forth to their home
states.

RITCHIE: I was going to ask if the fact that your wife was with you whether that
gave you an opportunity to socialize more in Washington.

KAUFMAN: Oh, yes. And as I said my wife got very involved in Senate
spouses’ club. In fact, she started a book club for the Senate spouses, which had never
been done before. They chose books and started reading and discussing. And she made
great friends. When people talk about partisanship and civility, I found a lot more
partisanship when I came back but a hell of a lot more civility. People were friendlier.
One of the nice things about being a senator is that once each year all the senators and
their spouses have dinner together and have a speaker. It’s a really nice event. Many of
the spouses from around the country come in, a majority of them. Both times, as you
know in life, your spouse is the one who sets things up. You come into a room and there
aren’t assigned tables. The next thing I know my wife has picked out a table. I think in
the two dinners, there were tables for ten, and both times we sat with four Republican
senators and their spouses, and we had a great time. So it’s not civility, it’s not because
their spouses are away that somehow there’s a bad feeling in terms of personal
relationships, which is what civility is about. I found a lot of civility, and a lot more than
in ’95 when I left.

In ’95, remember, we had gone through a tough pace. The approval ratings of the
Congress were as low as they had ever been. I attribute much of it to—this sounds
partisan, but I really think when you look at the data—now a lot of it was the House
banking scandal. The Democrats had been in control of the House for 40 years and it
probably was time for us to leave, so there was a lot of that. But Newt Gingrich had done
a very effective job of attacking the House, but also attacking the Congress. If you look at
the data, Chris Schroeder, who I taught with at Duke, who I worked with on the Bork
nomination and is a professor at Duke Law School, who is now an assistant attorney

general, and had been acting assistant attorney general in the Clinton administration, and
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really a great guy, he and I started in 1995 a Center for the Study of Congress, in the
Duke Law School, based on the idea that it’s okay to be skeptical about the Congress and
about power in Washington, but you shouldn’t be cynical. I’d like to think that because
of this, the approval ratings of Congress went straight up from there, but if you look at it,
they went straight up after that, and the reason for that is because the Democrats, who
basically believe there is a role for Congress, never really attacked the Congress when the
Republicans were in charge of the House and Senate, as an institution. They attacked
Republicans but not the institution. The Republicans did attack the institution, and in my
opinion they went after the institution again in 2009. They decided that the way to
reverse the horrible results for them in 2006 and 2008 was to attack the institution. But if
you look back at the numbers in 1997 and 1998, the approval ratings started going back
up again. We finally discontinued the Center because the approval rating had gone up.

In °94 there were a number of United States senators who were not civil to each
other. I think some of it came out of so many senators coming over from the House,
where it’s toxic. Part of it was Gingrich’s fault, in my opinion, part of it was the House
Democrats’ fault in the way they were draconian in the way they treated the minority,
because they had been in power for 40 years. I talked about that earlier, they had been in
power for 40 years and they never thought they would lose it. Therefore they didn’t give
the minority staff and they didn’t treat them well. Then Gingrich was a very toxic person.
I can remember very early on one of the things that started this lack of civility was Newt
Gingrich had headed up GOPAC, which had been started by Pete DuPont when he was
governor of Delaware in order to build a bench for the Republicans. One time, I think it
was when Frank Luntz was working for him—he’s a Republican pollster whose
speciality was words and the power of words, he’s brilliant, I’ve talked to him several
times. GOPAC worked with Republican state representatives and state senators and state
elected officials who then would come along and build a bench to run for Congress. He
sent out the 35 words that should be used against your opponent, like “traitor” and “liar.”
It raised the level of incivility much higher.

Gingrich came in and then proceeded to really, according to the Democratic
congressional people I know, do all the things that he had criticized the Democrats of
doing. So people coming over from the House to the Senate during the early *90s were
much more used to a lack of civility, so they brought that with them. But I think the
biggest thing was, and I’ve never seen this written but it’s my opinion when I look at the
people who caused the problems, when I first came to the Senate staff, senators were
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very courtly. They went out of their way to say positive things about each other. And the
seniority system was ingrained as an article of faith, so the junior senators were not seen
nor heard. You worked your way up the chain of command, kind of like at a law firm
where you come in as an associate and you eventually get to be a partner. Or at university
where you come in when you’re not tenured, and then you work your way up to be
associate professor and then a full professor. That’s the way the Senate was. What
happened was we as a country in the late *70s and ’80s started talking about term limits.
Term limits were very important at one point. In fact Tom Foley was Speaker of the
House and one of the reasons why he lost his congressional seat, they say, was because
he opposed term limits. I also think of that race as one of the things that’s really striking
about people’s understandings of the process. According to the polling data at that time,
as [ remember it, 40 percent of the people believed that if the Republican beat Foley in
the election he was going to become Speaker of the House. There was a lot of
misunderstanding.

So they came over, and it’s fair to say that when the term limit folks showed up
they weren’t interested in seniority. They weren’t interested in the rules. Not only that,
they basically believed as an article of faith, and they had argued that senators who had
been in the Senate for more than 12 years were the problem. Robert Byrd was the
problem. Dan Inouye was the problem. Bob Dole was the problem. That was not good for
civility! Because if you’ve been through this whole process, to have the new guys show
up who didn’t believe in the process but also believed that you personally were the
problem, because you were a “career politician” really didn’t help civility. And part of it,
I think, was personalities. There were a number of senators back then who were very
abrasive in the way they approached things. I don’t find that now. There are senators that
I don’t agree with, but when I first came to the Senate two of the most conservative
senators, John Ensign and Sam Brownback, called me and said, “Would you have coffee
with me and let’s talk?”” I went to a lot of the bipartisan group meetings. I just didn’t find
a lack of civility. I don’t think during my two years I was treated in a way that I would
say was not civil. We had differences of opinion.

Now, as I said before, one of the key things that I signed onto was the idea that
you don’t question someone’s motivations. A lot of lack of civility that I saw on the floor
sometimes was when a senator was questioning another senator’s motives, especially in
some cases where you didn’t get the motives quite right there’s a problem. But I just
didn’t find civility as a problem. My main reason why there is such a split is first, that the

195



Republicans in the Senate, under Mitch McConnell, it’s clear now, decided to adopt the
Newt Gingrich 1994 strategy, which was: If we do everything we can to slow down the
Senate, whatever passes is not going to be good, because it’s going to come out of this
gigantic group in the House. You go back to George Washington and Jefferson, that the
Senate is the saucer that cools the hot passions of the House. There’s been a lot of
legislation coming out of the House that the Republicans weren’t going to want. The
main part of the strategy was that basically if they stopped all legislation in the Senate
that would be good for them because the voters would blame the Democrats who
controlled Presidency, House and Senate for the gridlock, and would reward the
republicans when they were up for election in 2010. So they started out early. What’s
ironic is they were successful.

Gridlock was a word I heard a lot when I was a senator, and since then I’ve read a
lot about. You can say a lot of bad things about the Senate. You can say it’s broken. But
gridlock is a tough word when you pass more legislation than any other Congress did
since FDR, and maybe more than FDR passed. Tom Mann at Brookings and Norm
Ornstein at AEI are two of the people I look to as being really knowledgeable about the
Congress who do not work for Congress. They say that more legislation was passed than
any Congress since FDR, more than was passed by LBJ. When you look at the number of
major bills that were passed it’s clear to me that it was true. I mean, healthcare reform,
whatever you think about it, you may not like it, but it was historic. So many other
presidents, and majority leaders, and Speakers, had tried to pass healthcare and hadn’t.
So just that alone, but then you look at the Dodd-Frank legislation, which was historic.
The credit card reform act. The stimulus bill. The Kennedy National Service Act. Lilly
Ledbetter. The Defense Procurement Act. Just so many bills were passed. Any one or
two of them would have been historic in my almost 40 years around the place, and then
you just add them all up.

When you look at Chris Dodd and the major role he played in healthcare reform,
and then the major role he played in Dodd-Frank, and then he got the credit card reform
bill passed. I don’t know anybody in my experience who was instrumental in passing
three bills the size of those three bills. I said he should go right to the Senate Hall of
Fame for having passed the trifecta. The only senator, I think, that ever did anything
close to that, in terms of having the power, maybe not pass the legislation, that wasn’t a
majority leader or minority leader, was Scoop Jackson, who during the energy crisis in

the *70s was thought to be more powerful than anybody else in the country. The problem
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that we have is not that there’s gridlock in Washington. Ever since I’ve been involved,
polling data says that partisan bickering is the single thing that people don’t like. Partisan
bickering implies that there aren’t real differences, and that if we could get rid of the
partisan bickering everything would go together, and they point to September 11", and
how the Congress came together. Well, the Congress came together because the country
came together, and if you were president you could do a lot of things because the country
came together. But if you look at where we are as a country, on the major issues. Look at
healthcare reform or the debt limit that just passed. The country is split down the middle.
These are deep differences.

What’s come out in recent data is that it isn’t just the issues we’re split on, but it
is the fact that we live in communities with people who we agree with, that are not
heterogeneous, in terms of positions on what we should be doing as a country, but are
homogeneous in terms of being very conservative or liberal. I saw the other day, the
numbers aren’t exactly right, but if you looked at 1976, the congressional districts where
the presidential candidate had won by more than 20 percent—you call those landslide
districts—that in the mid-"70s 28 percent of the districts qualified as landslide districts.
Then in 2008, almost 50 percent were landslide districts. So if you use the old
terminology of “red” states being Republican states and “blue” states being Democratic,
you now have red congressional districts and blue congressional districts, and you now
have red communities and blue communities.

After the 2004 election, Charlie Cook was speaking to my class and one of my
students said: “I looked at the data, and the exurbs, which are the places where people
drive long distances out of the city to get to anything, Bush just carried the exurbs in big
numbers. We should go after the exurbs.” Charlie Cook kind of laughed and said, “Take
a look at the exurbs. They weren’t put there involuntarily. These are people who decided
they didn’t like the cities, and they didn’t like the suburbs. They were self-selected. So
you’re not going to find that as a very hospitable group for Democrats to go after.” So
that’s what’s happened. I think we trivialize the problem by attributing it to civility. It is
a much more difficult problem to fix than just having everybody sing “Kumbaya” and
join hands and start liking each other. It goes to much more basic splits in the country.

Part of it has to do with media. People say, “The media is so partisan. Fox News
is so Republican and CNN is Democratic, and MSNBC and the rest of it.” My biggest
problem with Fox News is not that they’re Republican, but that they say they are “fair
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and balanced.” I think one of the other problems in this country is too many people take
something that is not true and just use it and say it. Clearly, Fox News is not “fair and
balanced.” But I don’t have any problem with them being highly Republican. What
happens is that more and more people are turning to the media, but it’s much more like
the European situation. I travel to England because of my grandchildren, and you get
your newspaper based on what your political positions are. You look at one of the things
that’s so negative about where we are in terms of this thing is just how the media now
supports and drives these partisan positions. I felt for a long time that the Republican
caucus in the Senate was united and so negative about doing anything. It wasn’t just
healthcare reform, it wasn’t just Dodd-Frank, it wasn’t just the stimulus bill, it wasn’t just
confirmations. They didn’t want to pass anything. I think in the beginning it was kind of
a strategy to adopt the Gingrich approach, but as it went on it reached the point where it
was very difficult for the senators to stand up to the negative media, who would not let
you alter your position. I think that’s a lot of what drove this recent debt limit fight, why
Republicans would not accept any tax increases at all, under any circumstances. And the
Republican presidential candidates, in the debates, oppose it, even if it was ten times
spending cuts to one time tax increases, they wouldn’t vote for it.

RITCHIE: You mentioned earlier about some of the Republican senators calling
you up and inviting you to coffee. When you met with a Brownback or an Ensign, were
they looking for areas of common ground, some place where you might introduce a bill
together?

KAUFMAN: No, in both of those cases that was not the case. It was just 'm
going to get to know everybody because I’'m going to work with everybody. It turned out
Brownback and I started the Global Internet Freedom Caucus. We would have done that
even if we hadn’t had coffee together. I have a couple of examples on the civility issue
and Republicans and Democrats, and one was—which you can go and look at the C-
SPAN tapes—was the stimulus bill, the Recovery Act. I presided for three hours the day
that was voted on. The Republicans came down and ripped it to shreds, said there wasn’t
anything good about it. The Democrats came down and said that’s what we needed. If
you looked at it, you would think this was a civility problem, and you’re right, there isn’t
a whole lot of civility.

It was right before a recess, and one thing that hasn’t changed about the Senate is
if you’re going to have an important vote, have it before the recess, because if anybody
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wants to get up and speak, there’s an added reason not to get up and speak if you know
you’re holding up the recess. If you hold up a recess, it’s kind of like when you’re in
Marine boot camp: one guy makes a mistake and everybody in the platoon has to do
push-ups. If you speak and senators start missing their planes, not only do you miss your
plane but you’re not going to be very popular with your colleagues. So it was right before
a recess and we had the vote, and I was just amazed after the vote, because it was a very
tense vote—and it was the same thing with healthcare reform, which was a very tense
vote, we did that sitting at our desks and there was a lot of tension there—boy it was like
all of a sudden everybody was old friends. If you look at the tape, the Republicans are on
the Democratic side, the Democrats on the Republican side. People are hugging. I got
hugged by Bob Corker. The only thing I could compare it to is high school or college
right before you go away on summer vacation. “Hey, Ted, what are you going to be
doing on the recess? When do you get back? Hope you have a great time.” If you look at
the tape, it’s hard to make the argument that these people don’t like each other at all.

The other example I use is when I was presiding one day and John Ensign came
to the floor and gave a long speech about what was wrong with the D.C. bill, because
they were going to eliminate vouchers. He had pictures of some very attractive students
who were going to lose their ability to continue at private schools. It was a very good
presentation. And then Dick Durbin came to the floor right away. Dick Durbin is
incredible. He came down with no notes and started speaking. You could just write it
down, whether you agreed with him or not. The other guy like that was Senator [Byron]
Dorgan. Those two could go to the floor and start talking. No notes. The other person like
that was Arlen Specter. I sat next to Arlen Specter during the Sotomayor hearings. He
came in and they gave him his book. He looked at his book and he got one of those little
Senate pads and started writing notes down. Then when it came time to question
Sotomayor he questioned her for half an hour, just based on those few notes he made. It
was really extraordinary. Anyway, Durbin came to the floor and he argued against what
Ensign was saying. They argued back and forth. It wasn’t ugly, but you thought if there
was a lack of civility in the Senate this would be one of the instances, but what many
times we use “a lack of civility” for a substantive disagreement. There was a very strong
disagreement between Durbin and Ensign on the wisdom of this bill, on the judgment of
the people who were promoting this bill, all those things, not on their motivation. Later
that evening, as I walked out of the Senate Chamber, in the back on the Republican side
Durbin and Ensign were sitting side by side, not even speaking. Clearly, they had
searched each other out and they felt comfortable enough with each other. It was just
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like one of those things that happen between friends. So it was clear that there weren’t
any civility problems between Senator Durbin and Senator Ensign. I didn’t see it.

There’s the old saw about your children: you never say your child is dumb, but
you say your child may do some dumb things. I disagree with many things that
Republicans —and by the way and Democratic senators say. In fact, I really was much
more upset many times by what Democratic senators were doing than what Republican
senators were doing. I disagreed with the Republicans much more on substance but just
on the way things were done I had problems. I don’t buy civility being a problem. I buy
the fact that there are real basic differences and these come down to being very partisan.
They reflect the fact that this is a representative democracy and to a certain extent
members of Congress should represent their constituents. If you look at the polling data,
the vast majority of Republicans are opposed to healthcare reform, and the vast majority
of Democrats are in favor of healthcare reform. That’s not a lack of civility. That’s not
partisan bickering. That’s the way a representative democracy works.

After the vote on healthcare reform, people used to stop me on the street and say,
“Wasn’t that terrible about what went on in Washington about healthcare reform?” 1
would say, “No, no, with all due respect, you need to listen to what went on around the
country, where there was uncivil behavior at these town meetings.” Mike Castle, our
congressman, had a town meeting downstate and it was just awful. The lack of civility is
not on the Senate floor, not on the House floor, but in schools and meeting halls around
the country where people are questioning members’ motives, and who they are, and
attributing to them motives for their positions that are just off the wall.

RITCHIE: You’ve mentioned a couple of times presiding over the Senate, which
freshmen senators spend a good amount of time doing. What’s it like presiding in the
Senate?

KAUFMAN: Well, in the beginning it’s daunting because you’re there and the
C-SPAN cameras are on, and these are very complex decisions. First when you recognize
a senator you’ve got to make sure you’ve got the right state the senator is from, just to
start with. Then what they say, and who you recognize, and how it works. You take a
slight orientation course and then you’re into the mix and you’re presiding. What I
learned very quickly, and I think most of my colleagues learned very quickly, is that if
you listen to that voice that’s sitting right in front of you [the Senate parliamentarian and
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his staff], you will avoid having any problems. It is truly daunting when you start because
so many things can happen and you don’t know how to deal with them. There are so
many questions. And you’re on television. But after you do it for a while it’s not a totally
negative experience. It gives you time during a very busy day to bring your thoughts
together. But also it’s interesting to listen to the debate. A number of the positions I
took—Wyden-Bennett, which was the major amendment to the healthcare bill put in by
Ron Wyden and Bob Bennett, I got interested in that by hearing Ron Wyden give a
speech on the floor. I learned a lot, sharpened my arguments many times when the
Republicans were speaking—or the Democrats—but mostly what the Republicans were
saying. [ would listen to what they were saying and think, “Well, that really makes sense,
but that doesn’t comport with this.”

It was a good opportunity to do that, so I look on presiding as a very positive
thing that you do as a freshman. As you get to be more senior—which gets to the real
problem in the Senate, which is that senators are on too many committees and have too
many responsibilities. In 1984, when Senator Biden was thinking about running for
president in ’88, he dropped down to just two committees, and that was the smartest thing
he ever did. I never felt he was constrained in any way by just being on two committees,
and eliminating the subcommittees, too. So when I came to the Senate, I said, “I want to
be on just two committees.” When Harry Reid called me, I said I thought that would
make a lot of sense. I was only going to be there for two years. I understood the
substance of most of the issues on Foreign Relations and Judiciary, having dealt with
them for most of the 22 years I was on the Senate staff, so I felt comfortable with that.
Maybe I should get on a different committee, but I thought it would take an investment of
time to learn the new issues—even though I knew most of the Senate issues, because I
had been there for so long, and had dealt with them, and had been interested in them. So I
just said I wanted to be on two committees. It turned out to be a great decision. I got to sit
in on a lot of committee meetings and hearings that other people missed.

One of the problems with senators being on so many committees is they can’t go
to the hearings. I remember one day something important was going on in both Judiciary
and Foreign Relations and I was going back and forth between them. I can’t imagine if
you had four committees and all the subcommittees on top of it. It’s a real mistake, and |
spoke about this in the caucus, I spoke to everybody I could about it. What had happened,
there were rules to limit how many committees a senator could serve on, but the waivers

had just grown and grown. 